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WHEREUPON, the f o l l o w i n g proceedings were had a t 

10:05 a.m.: 

EXAMINER STOGNER: This hearing w i l l come t o 

order. I'm Michael Stogner, appointed Hearing Examiner f o r 

t h i s case. 

At t h i s time I ' l l c a l l Case Number 12,816, which 

i s t he A p p l i c a t i o n of TMBR/Sharp D r i l l i n g , I n c . , f o r 

compulsory p o o l i n g , Lea County. 

C a l l f o r appearances. 

MR. KELLAHIN: Mr. Examiner, I'm Tom K e l l a h i n of 

the Santa Fe law f i r m of K e l l a h i n and K e l l a h i n , appearing 

on behalf of the Appl i c a n t i n t h a t case. 

I n a s s o c i a t i o n w i t h me today i s Mrs. Susan 

Richardson. Mrs. Richardson i s an a t t o r n e y , a member of 

the Texas bar. She represents TMBR/Sharp i n the D i s t r i c t 

Court l i t i g a t i o n against A r r i n g t o n . She made a 

pr e s e n t a t i o n w i t h me t o the Commission hearing of the 

p e r m i t t i n g p o r t i o n of t h i s d ispute a couple of months ago, 

and she's here t o a s s i s t me today. 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, Scott H a l l , M i l l e r , 

S t r a t v e r t and Torgerson law f i r m , Santa Fe, on behalf of 

David H. A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas, Incorporated. 

I do have three witnesses today i n these r e l a t e d 

cases, and we'd p r e f e r t o have a l l of them sworn i n a t t h i s 

time. 
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MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, Jim Bruce of Santa Fe, 

rep r e s e n t i n g Ocean Energy, Inc. Our case numbers are 

12,841 and 12,860, and I have f o u r p o t e n t i a l witnesses, and 

I would ask t h a t a l l f our cases be conso l i d a t e d f o r 

hearing. 

MR. CARR: May i t please the Examiner, my name i s 

W i l l i a m F. Carr w i t h the Santa Fe o f f i c e of Holland and 

Hart, L.L.P. We represent Yates Petroleum Corporation i n 

t h i s matter. I do not have a witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other appearances? 

Mr. K e l l a h i n , would you l i k e t o make a statement 

a t t h i s time i n request f o r c o n s o l i d a t i o n ? 

MR. KELLAHIN: Mr. Examiner, I have spoken t o a l l 

counsel of record, and they have agreed t h a t TMBR/Sharp may 

proceed w i t h i t s p r e s e n t a t i o n f i r s t . We're the lowest-

docketed case on the docket sheet. I n a d d i t i o n , a l l the 

other cases are i n o p p o s i t i o n t o the p o s i t i o n taken by 

TMBR/Sharp. We move t h a t they a l l be con s o l i d a t e d . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, how many witnesses do 

you have? 

MR. KELLAHIN: I have f o u r witnesses t o be sworn. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: And again, Mr. H a l l , how many? 

MR. HALL: Three. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: Four. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: At t h i s time I ' l l c a l l Case 

Number 12,859, which i s the A p p l i c a t i o n of David H. 

A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas, In c . , f o r compulsory p o o l i n g , Lea 

County; 

also Case 12,860, which i s the A p p l i c a t i o n of 

Ocean Energy, I n c . , f o r compulsory p o o l i n g , Lea County; 

and Case Number 12,841, which i s also an 

A p p l i c a t i o n of Ocean Energy, I n c . , f o r compulsory p o o l i n g , 

Lea County, New Mexico. 

These are the fou r cases I understand t o be 

consolidated? 

MR. BRUCE: Yes, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: And they are now con s o l i d a t e d 

f o r purposes of t a k i n g testimony. 

I s t h e r e any need f o r opening statement, or do we 

need t o j u s t get started? 

MR. KELLAHIN: I ' d l i k e t o make an opening 

statement, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, Mr. K e l l a h i n , before you 

do, Mr. Carr? 

MR. CARR: Mr. Stogner, I j u s t want t o be c l e a r 

t h a t the record shows t h a t Yates i s appearing i n a l l f o u r 

cases. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Well, now i t ' s on the record, 

okay. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Mr. Kellahin? 

MR. KELLAHIN: Did you want t o swear the 

witnesses before we s t a r t , or would you l i k e t o do t h a t 

a f t e r t h e opening statements? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Let's go ahead and get the 

opening statements f i r s t . 

MR. KELLAHIN: Okay. Bobby, would you d e l i v e r or 

d i s t r i b u t e the e x h i b i t books? 

Mr. Stogner, Mr. S u l l i v a n i s d i s t r i b u t i n g the 

e x h i b i t books t h a t Ms. Richardson and I are going t o 

present on behalf of TMBR/Sharp t h i s morning. Make sure 

Steve gets a copy. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: There may be some new people 

j u s t coming i n . We have consolidated f o u r cases, 12,860, 

12,841, 12,859 and 12,816. At t h i s time we have opening 

statements. 

Mr. Kellahin? 

MR. KELLAHIN: Thank you, Mr. Stogner. I f y o u ' l l 

t u r n t o the TMBR/Sharp e x h i b i t book and open the book, 

y o u ' l l f i n d t h a t there's a cover sheet l i s t i n g t he proposed 

t a b l e of contents of the e x h i b i t s . 

I f y o u ' l l t u r n past t h a t t a b l e , t h e r e i s a 

t i m e l i n e . I ' d l i k e t o go through the t i m e l i n e w i t h you and 

h i g h l i g h t c e r t a i n items i n the t i m e l i n e t o t r y t o g i v e you 

a time sequence of a c t i v i t y as the p a r t i e s have proceeded 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

13 

through t h i s d i s p u t e . 

You can see t h a t i t ' s organized i n such a way 

t h a t you have a date, then the next column i s the 

TMBR/Sharp a c t i v i t y , f o l l o wed by Ocean i n the next column, 

and then other a c t i v i t y i s i n the l a s t column. 

What has occurred here, t o t r y t o move forward t o 

the p o i n t of the Blue Fin 24 w e l l , i f y o u ' l l t u r n t o 

E x h i b i t Tab 12, there's two d i s p l a y s . The second d i s p l a y s 

— The f i r s t d i s p l a y shows you w e l l l o c a t i o n s , and the 

second d i s p l a y shows you a c o n f i g u r a t i o n map. 

The f o u r sections involved i n the d i s p l a y — 

t h e r e ' s Section 23, 24, 25 and 27 [ s i c ] — t h i s area was 

e x t e n s i v e l y s t u d i e d by Louis Mazzullo as a g e o l o g i s t t o 

look f o r o p p o r t u n i t i e s f o r deep gas e x p l o r a t i o n . He 

commenced t h a t a c t i v i t y a number of months ago. He w i l l 

t e s t i f y on behalf of our c l i e n t and t a l k about th e t i m e l i n e 

or the chronology of h i s development of h i s hypothesis 

about the geology and the subsequent e v o l u t i o n of h i s 

s t o r y . 

As a r e s u l t of h i s work product, y o u ' l l f i n d t h a t 

as we go through t h i s t i m e l i n e — you s t a r t halfway down, 

and i f y o u ' l l look a t an e n t r y i n November 22nd, TMBR/Sharp 

i s commencing t o d r i l l the Blue Fin 24 w e l l . The 24 w e l l 

i s i n the southwest quarter of Section 24, j u s t t o the 

n o r t h of Section 25. Section 25 i s the disputed s e c t i o n . 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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There are not yet any deep gas w e l l s i n Section 25, and the 

dis p u t e has t o do w i t h the p r i o r i t y of how w e l l s are 

d r i l l e d and a c o n s o l i d a t i o n of the acreage f o r t h e 

ap p r o p r i a t e spacing u n i t . 

The f i r s t e n t r y of s i g n i f i c a n c e w i t h r e l a t i o n t o 

the Blue Fin 2 5 i s t h a t y o u ' l l see i n January, on the 31st 

of January of l a s t year, Mr. Nearburg, Mark Nearburg, and 

Mr. Mazzullo met w i t h r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s of Ocean i n a p r i v a t e 

showing of Mr. Mazzullo's geologic work product. 

At t h a t time h i s geologic work product includes 

seismic e v a l u a t i o n . He had access a t t h a t time t o more 

than j u s t seismic data a v a i l a b l e on the market common 

market. Chesapeake has shot t h i s area on a s p e c i a l seismic 

shoot, and as a r e s u l t of f a i l u r e t o get a l l p a r t i e s 

approving of the seismic shoot, the settlement of t h a t 

d i s p u t e r e s u l t e d i n having the data turned over t o 

TMBR/Sharp on the p r o p e r t i e s a f f e c t e d by t h a t seismic 

trespass. 

So Mr. Mazzullo had a l l the seismic data t h a t he 

then analyzed w i t h the assistance of a g e o p h y s i c i s t , and he 

showed h i s conclusions t o Ocean a t a meeting i n January. 

As a r e s u l t of t h a t meeting, Ocean made a choice 

a f t e r l o o k i n g a t the data and decided t h a t the d r i l l i n g of 

the w e l l s i n 24, 25 and I t h i n k 23 — t h i s was p r i o r t o 

spudding — what's a f t e r the 25 well? What's a f t e r t he 24 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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w e l l ? Time sequence, Mazzullo meeting i n r e l a t i o n t o the 

24 w e l l ? 

MS. RICHARDSON: The 24 w e l l was spudded March 

29th. 

MR. KELLAHIN: Okay, t h i s i s p r i o r t o the 

spudding of the 24 w e l l . So i n January they're meeting 

w i t h Ocean. Ocean's t e c h n i c a l people decide t h a t Mr. 

Mazzullo's proposed l o c a t i o n s f o r w e l l s i n 23, 24 and 25 

was s t r u c t u r a l l y too low and was too wet. So they d e c l i n e d 

f o r t e c h n i c a l reasons t o p a r t i c i p a t e , and I b e l i e v e Ocean 

had a t l e a s t t h r e e o p p o r t u n i t i e s t o review t h a t data. 

Then you f i n d i n March 27th t h a t a d i s p u t e now 

occurs because a f e l l o w named Huff takes some top leases. 

They are top leases associated w i t h the northwest q u a r t e r 

s e c t i o n of 25. 

The base leases, as Mr. Brooks may remember, are 

a disputed t r a c t i n which the base leases are c o n t r o l l e d by 

TMBR/Sharp, and they're c a l l e d the Hamilton and Stokes base 

leases. 

At t h i s p o i n t i n March, Huff has top-leased the 

TMBR/Sharp leases, and then he subsequently assigns those 

i n t e r e s t s t o A r r i n g t o n . 

You then f i n d two days a f t e r t h a t , on t h e 29th, 

TMBR/Sharp spuds the 24 w e l l i n the southwest q u a r t e r of 

24. They proceed w i t h the d r i l l i n g of t h a t w e l l and i t i s 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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a successful w e l l . 

Then i f you t u r n t o the next p o r t i o n of the 

t i m e l i n e y o u ' l l f i n d t h a t i n the end of J u l y , on t h e 17th 

and 18th, A r r i n g t o n has f i l e d a p p l i c a t i o n s f o r permits t o 

d r i l l , one of which included an a p p l i c a t i o n t o d r i l l a w e l l 

u sing a west-half d e d i c a t i o n i n Section 24. That was h i s 

T r i p l e Hackle Dragon w e l l . He got a permit from the Hobbs 

O f f i c e of the D i v i s i o n as t o those. 

Mr. C a r r o l l , when he represented A r r i n g t o n i n the 

Commission Hearings, advised us t h a t A r r i n g t o n , when he 

acquired these permits, had no i n t e n t i o n of d r i l l i n g t h i s . 

And as of the time of the Commission Hearing, he advised 

the Commission t h a t they s t i l l had no i n t e n t i o n of d r i l l i n g 

these w e l l s , despite having the permits. 

I n August, then, the next important item i n the 

t i m e l i n e i s August 6th, 7th and 8th. TMBR/Sharp f i l e s an 

a p p l i c a t i o n f o r an APD w i t h Mr. Williams. The Section 2 5 

APD i s f o r a n o r t h - h a l f spacing u n i t f o r what TMBR/Sharp 

c a l l s the Blue Fin 25 w e l l . They have the successful 24 

w e l l , t hey're seeking t o d r i l l the second w e l l now. 

And Mr. Williams denies the TMBR/Sharp APD's 

because A r r i n g t o n ' s APD's have blocked h i s approval. They 

were th e r e f i r s t , and they blocked t h a t approval. 

The next t h i n g t h a t occurs a f t e r Mr. W i l l i a m s ' 

d e n i a l of the TMBR/Sharp APD i s t h a t because of t h i s t i t l e 
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di s p u t e over whether or not the top leases are i n e f f e c t or 

not, TMBR/Sharp f i l e s s u i t i n D i s t r i c t Court on August 

24th. 

I n a d d i t i o n , on September 20th the Commission 

holds an Examiner Hearing before Examiner Brooks, and we 

t a l k about the p e r m i t t i n g issue, we t a l k about the issue of 

p r i o r i t y , whose APD should be approved, and who should go 

forward as a r e s u l t of the t i t l e d i s p u t e . We make t h a t 

p r e s e n t a t i o n t o Mr, Brooks. 

And y o u ' l l also see on t h i s t i m e l i n e t h a t i n 

November, on the 14th, Ocean and A r r i n g t o n reach an 

agreement. That agreement, when you see i t , w i l l be dated 

September 10th, but i t was signed by a l l p a r t i e s on the 

14th of November. 

Then y o u ' l l see on November 20th, TMBR/Sharp i n 

the D i s t r i c t Court pleadings f i l e s f o r summary judgment. 

That i s argued, everybody i s before the D i s t r i c t Court. 

And on December 27th, the D i s t r i c t Court enters 

an order g r a n t i n g the summary judgment p o r t i o n of t h a t case 

t o the ex t e n t the D i s t r i c t Court determines the top leases 

are not i n e f f e c t , t h a t the u n d e r l y i n g base leases h e l d by 

TMBR/Sharp are perpetuated and s t i l l i n e f f e c t . 

And then t h a t case proceeds t o t r i a l , which has 

not occurred y e t , on the damage issue t o determine t o what 

ex t e n t A r r i n g t o n by h i s t o r t i o u s i n t e r f e r e n c e has damaged 
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TMBR/Sharp, and t h a t i s the primary remaining p o r t i o n of 

the l i t i g a t i o n . 

Ms. Richardson represents TMBR/Sharp i n the 

l i t i g a t i o n , and i f there are questions about the l i t i g a t i o n 

or t he s t a t u s of t h a t a c t i v i t y , I b e l i e v e she can answer 

those t h i n g s . 

S h o r t l y a f t e r the D i s t r i c t Court has decided, 

Examiner Brooks, from the September hearing, on December 

13th, enters the D i v i s i o n Examiner Order over the 

p e r m i t t i n g d i s p u t e . His Order s a i d t h a t t h e r e was the 

appearance of c o l o r of t i t l e as a r e s u l t of the top leases, 

and he sa i d t h a t a t t h i s p o i n t i n time the A r r i n g t o n APD's 

would be i n e f f e c t because he was f i r s t i n time and a t 

l e a s t represented a c o l o r a b l e t i t l e through the top leases. 

TMBR/Sharp appealed t h a t Examiner t o the f u l l 

Commission, which subsequently heard t h a t issue. The w e l l 

proposals f o r Ocean — Ocean's a p p l i c a t i o n s f o r f o r c e 

p o o l i n g and t h e i r w e l l proposals a l l took place a f t e r t h i s 

occurrence. Ocean has two f o r c e p o o l i n g a p p l i c a t i o n s . One 

i s i n the west h a l f , proposing t o d r i l l a w e l l i n the 

northwest qua r t e r . There's another a p p l i c a t i o n f o r 

d r i l l i n g a w e l l on the southwest q u a r t e r . I n a d d i t i o n on 

the docket t h i s morning i s Mr. A r r i n g t o n ' s A p p l i c a t i o n t o 

f o r c e pool the east h a l f of 24, which i s i n c o n f l i c t w i t h 

t h e TMBR/Sharp approvals. 
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So on March 22nd, the Commission has a Commission 

Hearing t o t a l k about and decide what t o do w i t h t he 

p e r m i t t i n g d i s pute. And they decide t h a t the A r r i n g t o n 

APD's had not been approved i n accordance w i t h t h e i r b e l i e f 

t h a t you needed t o have c o l o r a b l e t i t l e , because h i s t i t l e 

had f a i l e d a t l e a s t through the D i s t r i c t Court process. 

They voided h i s APD's, they advised him t h a t they were 

doing so through Mr. Williams and t h a t order. 

And y o u ' l l see i n the pleadings t h a t we have, we 

do have the Commission d e c i s i o n i n t h a t case. I f y o u ' l l 

t u r n t o E x h i b i t 7, y o u ' l l see the Commission's work product 

i n t h a t d e c i s i o n . 

At the Commission Hearing A r r i n g t o n and Ocean 

argued then, as they continue t o argue now, t h a t the f o r c e 

p o o l i n g process can trump the p e r m i t t i n g process. They 

r a i s e the argument t h a t the Commission ought t o postpone 

i t s d e c i s i o n on which APD's were v a l i d u n t i l a f t e r the 

Examiner Hearings on the f o r c e p o o l i n g cases. That was one 

of the s p e c i f i c arguments t h a t Mr. C a r r o l l and Mr. Bruce 

advanced f o r t h e i r c l i e n t s back i n the March 2 6th hearing. 

Y o u ' l l f i n d i n the Commission Order, under 

Fin d i n g Number 25, the Commission i s summarizing t h a t 

issue, and they repeat the Ocean-Arrington argument. They 

say i f the Commission were t o adopt t h i s approach, Ocean 

then argues t h a t compulsory p o o l i n g would be made 
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meaningless. 

And t h a t ' s not what they d i d . They simply r e j e c t 

a l l these e f f o r t s t o continue the p e r m i t t i n g process and t o 

have t h a t occur a f t e r the p o o l i n g hearing. And as a r e s u l t 

of t he Commission's a c t i o n , they've allowed TMBR/Sharp t o 

go forward w i t h t h e i r permit, and TMBR/Sharp has commenced 

d r i l l i n g the w e l l i n the northwest q u a r t e r of Section 25. 

That w e l l was commenced on the 7th of May, 8:30 i n the 

morning. 

As of the 14th of May, we t a l k e d a t the pre­

hearing conference on Tuesday t h a t I advised you t h a t 

TMBR/Sharp had d r i l l e d t h a t w e l l a t t h i s p o i n t t o a depth 

of 3900 f e e t . I understand from TMBR/Sharp t h a t t h i s i s a 

45-day a n t i c i p a t e d d r i l l i n g schedule, a f t e r which t h e r e i s 

a completion r i g and o p p o r t u n i t y t o t e s t and evaluate the 

w e l l . 

You may remember a t the prehearing conference on 

Tuesday, t h a t conference, prehearing conference, was t o 

address a motion t o dismiss t h a t I had f i l e d , as w e l l as a 

request f o r continuance. I had f i l e d t o request t h a t the 

TMBR/Sharp fo r c e p o o l i n g case be postponed u n t i l t h e 

r e s u l t s of the d r i l l i n g w e l l were known. I n a d d i t i o n , we 

moved t o dismiss the f o r c e - p o o l i n g cases f i l e d by A r r i n g t o n 

and Ocean because of the a c t i o n taken by the Commission. 

You have denied t h a t request t o continue or 
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dismiss, so we have a d i f f e r e n c e of o p i n i o n w i t h respect, 

Mr. Stogner, on how t o i n t e r p r e t the Commission a c t i o n . 

We b e l i e v e a t t h i s p o i n t , pursuant t o the p o o l i n g 

s t a t u t e , t h a t what should occur i s t h a t we be provided the 

o p p o r t u n i t y t o complete t h a t f o r c e p o o l i n g a c t i v i t y , t o 

c o n s o l i d a t e the remaining owners i n the n o r t h h a l f of the 

s e c t i o n a f t e r the w e l l i s d r i l l e d . Under the s t a t u t e , as 

you and I both know, you can pool before or a f t e r . Under 

t h i s circumstance, we're proposing t o complete t h a t 

a c t i v i t y afterwards. 

And i f you agree w i t h us today and issue us a 

p o o l i n g order, the purpose of our p r e s e n t a t i o n w i l l be t o 

a f f o r d those people who are not already committed t o 

A r r i n g t o n t o have a f r e e r i d e , which i s the p o i n t . 

Y o u ' l l f i n d out i n our testimony t h a t as of 

today's hearing, t h a t TMBR/Sharp has cons o l i d a t e d on a 

v o l u n t a r y basis more than 80 percent of the n o r t h h a l f . 

Of the i n t e r e s t owners t h a t haven't been 

co n s o l i d a t e d , t h e r e are two people we can't f i n d w i t h t i n y 

l i t t l e f r a c t i o n a l i n t e r e s t s . The remaining i n t e r e s t s have 

a l l been consolidated by Mr. A r r i n g t o n , so he c o n t r o l s the 

balance. 

What we say, then, should occur under t h e s t a t u t e 

i s t o c o n s o l i d a t e the remaining p o r t i o n of the n o r t h h a l f 

of t h e s e c t i o n t o commit those p a r t i e s l i k e Mr. A r r i n g t o n 
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because of h i s adverse p o s i t i o n t o us, t o now be committed 

by the p o l i c e powers of the s t a t e i n t o p a r t i c i p a t i n g i n our 

w e l l . 

What we bel i e v e should not occur i s t o have a 

dis p u t e w i t h you over o r i e n t a t i o n of the spacing u n i t a t 

t h i s time. We t h i n k t h a t t h a t ' s not what should occur, and 

so w e ' l l have a d i f f e r e n c e of op i n i o n about t h a t issue. 

But because of your r u l i n g on Tuesday, we are 

f u l l y prepared t o go forward t h i s morning, t o show you the 

sequence of a c t i v i t y , t o present Mr. Louis Mazzullo's 

t e c h n i c a l study on the seismic data so t h a t you can see how 

he's developed h i s concept of the r e s e r v o i r i n where he 

says these w e l l s ought t o be d r i l l e d . 

I n a d d i t i o n , we have witnesses t o t a l k about the 

sequencing of a c t i v i t y and the e f f o r t s t o c o n s o l i d a t e the 

i n t e r e s t owners. 

Time i s of an issue f o r everybody i n t h i s case. 

The u n d e r l y i n g base leases t h a t TMBR/Sharp have have a 180-

day d r i l l i n g o b l i g a t i o n between w e l l s . We're i n some 

p o r t i o n of t h a t a t t h i s p o i n t . 

A The other p a r t of t h i s issue i s a time component 

t h a t Ocean r a i s e s . They say t h e i r farmout i n t e r e s t i n the 

southeast quarter of Section 25, which they obtained i n 

J u l y of l a s t year, i s due t o exp i r e a t the end of June of 

t h i s year, and w e ' l l f i n d out from them what the s t a t u s i s 
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of t h e i r i n t e r e s t . 

So i f you're l o o k i n g a t the west h a l f , i t ' s a 

southwest-quarter dispute i n which Ocean, apparently 

pursuant t o some farmouts, c o n t r o l s t h a t and, as a r e s u l t 

of a l e t t e r agreement w i t h A r r i n g t o n , proposes t h a t some of 

t h a t i n t e r e s t be shared w i t h him. 

I n the northwest q u a r t e r , t h a t i s 100 percent of 

TMBR/Sharp's acreage a t t h i s p o i n t , based upon the s t a t u s 

of the c u r r e n t l i t i g a t i o n i n D i s t r i c t Court. 

I n the northeast q u a r t e r , TMBR/Sharp's acreage 

i n t e r e s t s p i l l s over i n t o t h a t q u a r t e r s e c t i o n . C u r r e n t l y 

i t ' s now subdivided between A r r i n g t o n ' s c o n t r o l and 

TMBR/Sharp's c o n t r o l w i t h two missing p a r t i e s t h a t we can't 

f i n d . 

So we inte n d t o present f o u r witnesses. 

We'll present Mr. Nearburg t o t a l k about the 

development and sequence of the land issues t h a t got him t o 

t h i s p o i n t . 

We'll present J e f f P h i l l i p s , who i s an engineer 

and i s a p r i n c i p a l w i t h TMBR/Sharp t o t a l k about h i s 

a c t i v i t i e s , t a l k about h i s conversations w i t h Mr. A r r i n g t o n 

over t h i s w e l l , t a l k about the various conclusions reached 

from these discussions. 

We w i l l present t o you Mr. Dennis Hopkins, who 

d i d the f i n a l d e t a i l s on the ownership and can now v a l i d a t e 
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the c o n s o l i d a t i o n of the acreage i n the n o r t h h a l f of the 

s e c t i o n . 

And then l a s t l y w e ' l l present Mr. Mazzullo's 

s c i e n t i f i c study of the r e s e r v o i r . 

Thank you, Mr. Stogner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you, Mr. K e l l a h i n . 

Mr. Hall? 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, TMBR/Sharp's p e r c e p t i o n 

of the process i s e x a c t l y backwards throughout t h i s e n t i r e 

proceeding. 

What caused us t o get t o where we are today i s an 

act — or a f a i l u r e t o ac t , I should say, an omission on 

the p a r t of TMBR/Sharp t o abide by the express terms of 

t h e i r o i l and gas leases r e q u i r i n g them t o f i l e pooled u n i t 

designations w i t h the Lea County Clerk's o f f i c e . 

By t h a t f a i l u r e , t h a t s i n g l e f a i l u r e d i c t a t e d the 

r e s t of events t h a t have brought us here today. That same 

omission has d i c t a t e d the p o s i t i o n t h a t TMBR/Sharp has had 

t o take before the D i s t r i c t Court and here. 

TMBR/Sharp has represented t o the D i s t r i c t Court 

judge i n Lovington t h a t f i l i n g a pooled u n i t d e s i g n a t i o n i s 

not necessary; a l l you must do i s mere f i l i n g of a C-102 

p l a t w i t h the D i v i s i o n ' s D i s t r i c t O f f i c e i n Hobbs, and they 

say t h a t i s s u f f i c i e n t t o preserve t h e i r leases. 

I won't belabor the p e r m i t t i n g issue much longer, 
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because I t h i n k i t ' s l a r g e l y i r r e l e v a n t , and I t h i n k i t 

doesn't have much t o do w i t h the issues you're going t o 

hear today. Why we went i n t o the r e c i t a t i o n , t h a t h i s t o r y , 

again, i s l o s t on me. I t h i n k TMBR/Sharp's p o s i t i o n i n 

t h a t regard i s b e l i e d by the f i n d i n g s i n paragraph 34, 

Order R-ll,700-B. I t addresses the p e r m i t t i n g issue square 

on, and I t h i n k we should bear i t i n mind today as we 

proceed i n what would otherwise be generic compulsory 

p o o l i n g cases. 

I n t h a t f i n d i n g the Commission s a i d , "Issuance of 

the permit t o d r i l l does not prejudge the r e s u l t s of a 

compulsory p o o l i n g proceeding, and any suggestion t h a t the 

acreage d e d i c a t i o n p l a t attached t o an a p p l i c a t i o n t o d r i l l 

somehow 'pools' acreage i s expressly disavowed." 

I n other words, what the Commission i s t e l l i n g us 

i s t h a t the f i l i n g of an acreage d e d i c a t i o n p l a t does not 

d i c t a t e the outcome i n compulsory p o o l i n g cases, as you 

w e l l know. I t i s r a r e circumstance where a p a r t y comes 

before you, having d r i l l e d the w e l l f i r s t , before 

undertaking t o pool or otherwise c o n s o l i d a t e i t s i n t e r e s t . 

I can t h i n k of only one other case i n my 20 years of 

p r a c t i c i n g before t h i s body where t h a t ' s occurred. I t i s a 

r a r e day, indeed, where t h a t happens. 

With t h a t issue obviated by the Commission's 

r u l i n g , the only cases before you here today are r e a l l y , 
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t r u l y generic compulsory p o o l i n g cases. You needn't 

consider the p e r m i t t i n g issues a t a l l . 

What's going t o decide t h i s case i s geologic 

evidence, engineering evidence and e q u i t a b l e evidence as 

t h a t data has a bearing on the pr e v e n t i o n of waste, the 

avoidance of d r i l l i n g unnecessary w e l l s and the p r o t e c t i o n 

of c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . That w i l l determine the outcome i n 

t h i s proceeding. 

We w i l l also look a t good f a i t h e f f o r t s t o secure 

v o l u n t a r y p a r t i c i p a t i o n i n the various proposed u n i t s , 

standup and laydown. A l l of those c r i t e r i a , the evidence 

i n a l l of those matters w i l l decide the outcome, not the 

p e r m i t t i n g issues. And t h a t ' s what we're here prepared t o 

address f o r you today. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, TMBR/Sharp has 

performed us a favor here. I f you could t u r n t o E x h i b i t 9 

i n t h e i r booklet, they d i d do a nice l i t t l e c h a r t here. 

The X's are wrong i n the c h a r t , but nonetheless they've 

done us a favor because as Mr. H a l l s a i d , the t h i n g you're 

going t o have t o look a t here i s the geology and t h e 

engineering, not the p e r m i t t i n g issues. 

When you look a t the geology i t ' s going t o show 

t h a t the r e s e r v o i r s , p o t e n t i a l r e s e r v o i r s f o r the w e l l t h a t 

the people want d r i l l e d , are i n the west h a l f , and the west 
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h a l f only. When you look a t t h a t , t h a t means t h a t when you 

get t o t h e i r c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s , i f the r e s e r v o i r s are i n 

the west h a l f , then t h a t ought t o be the u n i t , a standup 

west-half u n i t . 

With respect t o unnecessary w e l l s , t h a t ' s a good 

issue, because i f TMBR/Sharp gets i t s n o r t h - h a l f u n i t , 

there's going t o be three w e l l s d r i l l e d i n t h i s immediate 

area, i n s t e a d of the two w e l l s t h a t should be d r i l l e d . 

Economic waste. 

As I sa i d , the geology w i l l d i c t a t e t he 

o r i e n t a t i o n of the u n i t , and f i n a l l y , the dates the 

prospect was developed or proposed. 

Both Ocean Energy and A r r i n g t o n , along w i t h our 

opponents, have been out here f o r a number of years. Ocean 

has d r i l l e d or p a r t i c i p a t e d i n over 20 w e l l s i n t h i s area. 

When you look a t a l l the f a c t o r s , you j u s t take 

t h a t column of X's and move i t over t o Ocean, and t h a t ' s 

what you're going t o see i n the testimony today. 

So w i t h t h a t , l e t ' s proceed. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Carr? 

MR. CARR: Mr. Stogner. I have no opening 

statement. 

MR. KELLAHIN: When has t h a t ever happened 

before? 

MR. CARR: I'm j u s t doing so w e l l today — 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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(Laughter) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, a t t h i s time I'm going 

t o have a l l the witnesses stand, and I should have 11 t o my 

count. 

(Thereupon, the witnesses were sworn.) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Kell a h i n ? 

MR. KELLAHIN: Thank you, Mr. Examiner. At t h i s 

p o i n t I ' d l i k e t o t u r n over our witness q u e s t i o n i n g t o Mrs. 

Richardson. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: T e l l you what, before we get 

s t a r t e d l e t ' s k i n d of maybe plan the day out. The best 

time t o eat lunch i n t h i s town i s about 11:30, so l e t ' s 

proceed t o 11:30, take an hour lunch, and then proceed w i t h 

as long as we can t h i s evening. That w i l l depend upon our 

co u r t r e p o r t e r , and t h a t ' s my plan a t t h i s p o i n t , and t o 

get us s t a r t e d as e a r l y as possi b l e tomorrow, should we go 

i n t o tomorrow. 

So w i t h t h a t , are there any suggestions? 

MR. HALL: I ' d l i k e t o invoke the no-coat r u l e . 

(Laughter) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: What i s the no-coat r u l e ? 

MR. HALL: You get t o take o f f your coat when 

i t ' s h ot. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Feel f r e e , t h i s i s an i n f o r m a l 

proceeding. I t i s going t o get hot i n here. I n f a c t , I'm 
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g l a d you brought t h a t up. The temperature i n t h i s room 

w i l l get higher t h i s afternoon, and w i t h the many people i n 

here. So I apologize about t h a t , I have no c o n t r o l over 

the environmental c o n t r o l s i n t h i s b u i l d i n g . But f e e l f r e e 

t o loosen your n e c k t i e , except the a t t o r n e y s . 

(Laughter) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, Mr. K e l l a h i n . 

MR. KELLAHIN: Thank you. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Mr. Stogner, we'd l i k e t o c a l l 

Mark Nearburg t o the stand. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Ms. Richardson, since you're 

s o r t of new t o me — 

MS. RICHARDSON: Yes, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: — l e t me have you in t r o d u c e 

y o u r s e l f , i f you don't mind, j u s t f o r the recor d . 

MS. RICHARDSON: Surely. My name i s Susan 

Richardson, I'm w i t h the — a shareholder i n the law f i r m 

of Cotton, Bledsoe, Tighe and Dawson. I've been p r a c t i c i n g 

f o r 27 years. I'm b o a r d - c e r t i f i e d i n o i l and gas i n Texas, 

and a primary p a r t of my p r a c t i c e i s o i l and gas 

l i t i g a t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: And where do you l i v e ? 

MS. RICHARDSON: I n Midland. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I n Midland. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Midland, Texas. 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you, nice t o be here. 

MARK K. NEARBURG. 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RICHARDSON: 

Q. Mr. Nearburg, w i l l you please s t a t e your name, 

f u l l name? 

A. Mark K. Nearburg. 

Q. And who are you a f f i l i a t e d with? 

A. Ameristate O i l and Gas. I'm appearing on behalf 

of TMBR/Sharp i n t h i s hearing. 

Q. And what business i s Ameristate O i l and Gas in? 

A. Ameristate generates o i l and gas e x p l o r a t i o n 

prospects, p r i m a r i l y i n southeast New Mexico. We are not 

an o p e r a t i n g company. 

Q. And could you give us a l i t t l e b i t about your 

background, where you grew up, your education? 

A. I grew up i n Roswell, New Mexico. I have an 

economics degree from Texas A&M U n i v e r s i t y and a master i n 

communication from the U n i v e r s i t y of Texas. I've worked 

p r i n c i p a l l y i n southeast New Mexico since 1981 as a landman 

and own my own company now. 

Q. Okay. And you're aware the nature of the 
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proceeding today involves compulsory p o o l i n g i n Section 25? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Could you please e x p l a i n t o the Examiner the 

nature of — the h i s t o r y of your company and TMBR/Sharp's 

involvement i n t h i s area of southeast New Mexico? 

A. Mr. Stogner, i n the p a r t i c u l a r area — I b e l i e v e 

you have the land p l a t . Do you know which e x h i b i t t h a t i s ? 

Q. Turn t o E x h i b i t Number 12, please. 

A. Okay. P r e t t y much the p a r t i c u l a r area i n 

question. I began working i n t h i s township t h a t 

i n c o r p o r a t e s t h i s map i n the l a t e 1980s, i n c o n j u n c t i o n 

w i t h a p a r t n e r . We d i d extensive work and began — 

geologic work, and began purchasing leases i n 1991. 

We continued t h i s l e a s i n g up through the present 

time, we've continued t o develop the prospect through, 

f i r s t , the geologic work, then the d r i l l i n g of w e l l s , then 

2-D seismic purchase and, i n the s p r i n g of 2000, the 

a c q u i s i t i o n of 3-D data t h a t l e d t o the d r i l l i n g of the 

w e l l i n question i n Section 25 and the w e l l i n 24 and 

another w e l l located on t h i s p l a t . 

Q. And when d i d you f i r s t begin c o l l e c t i n g geologic 

i n f o r m a t i o n and studying the area? 

A. I n the l a t e 1980s. 

Q. What were the two prospects t h a t your group was 

l o o k i n g a t a t t h a t time? 
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A. We had a prospect on the west side of t h e 

township, and we had — t h a t a d j o i n s t h i s prospect, and 

then we had t h i s p r o j e c t on the east side of the township. 

Q. Okay. Was one c a l l e d the Edson Ranch? 

A. Edson Ranch — Eidson Ranch a c t u a l l y i n c o r p o r a t e s 

Sections 2 3 and 26, the Big Tuna prospect i n c o r p o r a t e s 

Sections 24 and 25 and other lands t h a t are not shown on 

t h i s p l a t , t o the east. 

Q. Okay. I f you could e x p l a i n i n a l i t t l e more 

d e t a i l who was involved i n the p r o j e c t , who d i d the 

g e o l o g i c a l work t h a t you were r e l y i n g on, and then w e ' l l 

t a l k about the l e a s i n g a c t i v i t y . 

A. The p r o j e c t began w i t h Tom B e l l , who I grew up 

w i t h i n Roswell. Our i n i t i a l geologic work was done by 

John Herbig i n Midland. He worked w i t h us from 1991 — 

a c t u a l l y continued t o work w i t h us i n a support basis on 

the geology as we d r i l l e d w e l l s . 

I n 1995 we brought Louis Mazzullo i n t o help us 

w i t h what we were f i n d i n g i n the d r i l l i n g of w e l l s out here 

and t o f u r t h e r d e f i n e the prospects. At t h a t p o i n t we 

purchased some 2-D seismic t o help enhance t h a t . 

Once we acquired — Well a l s o , i n 1997, we began 

work w i t h TMBR/Sharp t o d r i l l the w e l l s , s p e c i f i c a l l y the 

w e l l s i n 23, 26, 24 and 25 on t h i s p l a t , and they came i n 

as operator and took c o n t r o l of the p r o j e c t from t h a t 
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sta n d p o i n t . 

We continued t o work w i t h TMBR/Sharp t o develop 

the prospect from a land and t e c h n i c a l s t a ndpoint w i t h 

them. 

I n 1995, Louis Mazzullo j o i n e d the e f f o r t , John 

Herbig continued t o work w i t h us. 

At the p o i n t i n time, somewhere around 1997 when 

we bought the 2-D seismic, we obtained the help of Ed 

Luckabaugh, who's a geophysicist i n Midland. When we 

acquired the 3-D seismic, we continued w i t h Mr. 

Luckabaugh's involvement, Mr. Mazzullo and Mr. Herbig 

continued t h e i r involvement. 

When we were working on the 3-D, we also took Mr. 

Luckabaugh's i n t e r p r e t a t i o n and — on a c o n s u l t i n g basis, 

h i s work was on a c o n s u l t i n g basis — and we h i r e d a f e l l o w 

i n Denver, Robert Scolman, who has experience working i n 

t h i s area f o r Ocean, t o look a t our data. He d i d not have 

a c o n f l i c t i n t h a t . And he helped i n t e r p r e t our data t o 

f i n d the f e a t u r e s t h a t we were t r y i n g t o t a r g e t i n Sections 

— s p e c i f i c a l l y i n Sections 24 and 25. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Was there some p r e l i m i n a r y d r i l l i n g 

i n Sections 23 and 26 t h a t provided some i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t 

made the Big Tuna prospect i n 24 and 25 seem more 

a t t r a c t i v e ? 

A. Yes, we o r i g i n a l l y d r i l l e d the TMBR Eidson 23-1 
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i n t he southwest quarter of Section 23. That w e l l was 

p r i m a r i l y a t e s t f o r the Atoka. We d i d take i t deeper f o r 

a deeper marker, and t e c h n i c a l l y I ' l l leave t h a t t o Mr. 

Mazzullo. We completed t h a t w e l l i n the Wolfcamp 

fo r m a t i o n . The deeper zones were not p r o d u c t i v e . 

We fol l o w e d t h a t up w i t h the TMBR Eidson 26 

Number 1 w e l l i n the northwest q u a r t e r of Section 26. Same 

t h i n g happened as the Eidson 2 3 Number 1 w e l l . But a t the 

conclusion of d r i l l i n g the 2 6-1, we d i d r e a l i z e t h a t t h e r e 

were deeper s t r u c t u r e s and features i n here t h a t we needed 

more i n f o r m a t i o n about. That's when we s t a r t e d 

i n c o r p o r a t i n g the seismic. 

Follow-up t o t h a t , we d r i l l e d the TMBR Eidson 23 

Number 2 w e l l i n the northwest quarter of Section 23 on a 

west-h a l f u n i t . That was possi b l e because the 2 3 Number 1 

was a Wolfcamp o i l w e l l . The Eidson 23-2 was completed i n 

the Atoka and then the Strawn as a gas w e l l on a west-half 

u n i t . 

A l l of t h i s a c t i v i t y occurred from 1997 t o 1999. 

I n the southeast quarter of Section 23, once we 

had acquired the 2-D seismic i n 2 000, we attempted r e - e n t r y 

of t he Del Apache Stokes w e l l . I t had only been d r i l l e d t o 

around 10,000 or 11,000 f e e t . 

We t r i e d t o deepen t h a t w e l l based on what we had 

learned from the 3-D. That was a mechanical f a i l u r e . That 
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w e l l was abandoned. 

We then looked a t Section 24 and 25. We had 

enough i n f o r m a t i o n , we thought Mr. Scolman and Mr. 

Luckabaugh had given us enough i n f o r m a t i o n t o d r i l l t a r g e t s 

w e l l below the Atoka down i n the Chester. The depths, 

again I ' l l leave those t o Mr. Mazzullo. 

And we d r i l l e d the Blue F i n 24- Number 1 w e l l , we 

commenced operations i n March of l a s t year and f i n i s h e d the 

w e l l i n May. 

We then — Well, then the i n t e r f e r e n c e began from 

Mr. A r r i n g t o n and we ended up i n D i s t r i c t Court. And w i t h 

the i n t e r f e r e n c e from Ocean, t h a t ' s how we get t o Section 

25 . 

Q. Can you t e l l me when you f i r s t began t a k i n g 

leases i n Section 24 and 25, and i f you would, i f you would 

t u r n t o the f r o n t of your witness notebook and look a t the 

t i m e l i n e ? 

A. I s t h a t Number 1? 

Q. Well, i t ' s r i g h t behind — 

A. Oh, before Number 1. 

Q. — the index. 

A. Okay. 

Q. Yes, s i r . When d i d you f i r s t o b t a i n Stokes 

Hamilton acreage i n Sections 24 and 25? 

A. I n 1994. We renewed those leases i n 1997, and 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

36 

again we took an extension, a six-month extension from 

December t o June p r i o r t o d r i l l i n g the w e l l i n Section 24, 

which incorporated Stokes Hamilton acreage. And our 

operations were performed before and over t h e e x p i r a t i o n of 

the primary term of t h a t lease. 

Q. Okay. And you — a t t h a t p o i n t , Ameristate 

entered i n t o an operating agreement w i t h TMBR/Sharp i n J u l y 

of 1998 which covered these p r o p e r t i e s ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. And then a t some p o i n t the Stokes Hamilton leases 

were t o e x p i r e , and d i d you o b t a i n an extension of your 

l e a s i n g arrangement w i t h the Stokes Hamilton group? 

A. The lease taken i n 1997 was extended, which gave 

us — When we saw we weren't going t o be able t o commence 

the d r i l l i n g under t h a t primary term, we d i d extend t h a t 

lease so t h a t we could do our d r i l l i n g . 

Q. Okay. Then TMBR/Sharp f i l e d a w r i t t e n u n i t 

d e s i g n a t i o n and a p p l i c a t i o n f o r a permit t o d r i l l t he Blue 

Fi n 2 4 i n November of 2 000? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Okay, and received a permit. During t h a t time 

p e r i o d t h a t the process of g e t t i n g a permit t o d r i l l t he 

Blue F i n 24 on Section 24 and before d r i l l i n g s t a r t e d , d i d 

you have occasion t o meet w i t h or discuss w i t h Ocean Energy 

t h i s Big Tuna prospect? 
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A. Yes, and I b e l i e v e you're t a l k i n g about the time 

p e r i o d November 22nd, and then j u s t up through a p o i n t t o 

where we commenced operations. 

Q. Right, r i g h t . 

A. I don't have the exact date. We met w i t h Ocean 

i n Midland i n the f a l l of 2000 and t a l k e d t o them about the 

p r o j e c t . 

Q. Why were you a l l meeting w i t h Ocean a t a l l ? 

A. We — TMBR/Sharp had par t n e r s t h a t d i d not agree 

t h a t the r i s k t o d r i l l these w e l l s was a p p r o p r i a t e . They 

f e l t i t was too r i s k y , and they d i d not want t o d r i l l t he 

w e l l . We had i n t e r e s t t o s e l l i n the prospect and these 

w e l l s , and we were t r y i n g t o f i n d p a r t n e r s , i n d u s t r y 

p a r t n e r s , t o d r i l l w i t h us. 

Q. And what k i n d of i n f o r m a t i o n i n the f a l l of 2 000 

d i d you provide Ocean about the Big Tuna prospect? 

A. I t was general i n f o r m a t i o n about where the 

prospect was and what the o b j e c t i v e s were. At t h a t time we 

d i d not get i n t o the d e t a i l e d i n f o r m a t i o n w i t h them t h a t we 

d i d l a t e r . 

Q. Okay. And then d i d you have f u r t h e r 

communication w i t h Ocean i n January of 2001? 

A. Yes, i n the f a l l of 2000 when we were v i s i t i n g 

w i t h Ocean, there were general conversations. There was a 

conference held i n Houston f o r a l l the o i l and gas i n d u s t r y 
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t o show prospects, and we were going t o t h a t prospect 

showing i n January, i t ' s the l a s t week of January. 

During e a r l y January we t a l k e d w i t h Mr. Maney and 

Mr. Messa a t Ocean. They requested t h a t we — Well, i t was 

m u t u a l l y requested t h a t we have a showing p r i o r t o the 

p u b l i c showing a t the e x p o s i t i o n t o show them th e prospect 

p r i o r t o the p u b l i c being able t o view i t . 

On or about January 28th or 29th, we had a 

meeting i n Ocean's o f f i c e i n Houston, attended by myself, 

Tom B e l l , Louis Mazzullo, Derold Maney, Frank Messa, Bob 

S i l v a [ s i c ] , Gerald Grocock and one other manager who I 

don't know, and t h a t was a d e t a i l e d geologic, seismic and 

land p r e s e n t a t i o n t o Ocean of t h i s p r o j e c t . 

Q. And when you say a d e t a i l e d geologic 

p r e s e n t a t i o n , d i d Mr. Mazzullo have h i s laptop computer 

w i t h h i s a n a l y s i s on i t where he could show them the a c t u a l 

s t u d i e s and i n t e r p r e t a t i o n s he had done? 

A. Yes, we showed Ocean the r e l a t i o n s h i p between the 

prospect we wanted t o d r i l l , both g e o l o g i c a l l y and 

s e i s m i c a l l y and from a land ownership s t a n d p o i n t , and 

c o r r e l a t e d t h a t t o a w e l l they had d r i l l e d up i n s e c t i o n 10 

of t h i s same township, which was a very good w e l l , proved 

up t h a t t h i s r e s e r v o i r could produce, and i t was a d e t a i l e d 

r e l a t i o n s h i p between our p r o j e c t and what they had done i n 

the area. 
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Q. And d u r i n g the course of those discussions w i t h 

Ocean Energy where they were p u r p o r t i n g t o express i n t e r e s t 

i n the p r o j e c t , d i d you a c t u a l l y show them the l o c a t i o n s 

t h a t TMBR/Sharp had picked f o r the Blue F i n 24, the Blue 

Fin 25 and the Leavelle 23? 

A. Mr. Examiner, we d i d not give them s p e c i f i c 

l o c a t i o n s , but we s p e c i f i e d t h a t we f e l t t h a t the northeast 

q u a r t e r of 23, the southwest quarter of 24 and the 

northwest q u a r t e r of 25 were the pros p e c t i v e l o c a t i o n s f o r 

w e l l s , based on the seismic and geology t h a t we presented. 

Q. And as a r e s u l t of those conversations, d i d Ocean 

agree t o p a r t i c i p a t e w i t h TMBR/Sharp i n the p r o j e c t ? 

A. They declined. They d i d not d e c l i n e the day t h a t 

we showed i t t o them i n t h e i r o f f i c e , but the next day a t 

the prospect e x p o s i t i o n they made i t very c l e a r t h a t they 

f e l t — w e l l , a c t u a l l y Mr. S i l v a made i t c l e a r the day 

before i n the p r i v a t e showing t h a t he f e l t we were low and 

wet t o t h e i r w e l l i n 10 due t o the crossing of a subsurface 

f e a t u r e which I ' l l l e t Mr. Mazzullo address. And they d i d 

not f e e l t h a t our p r o j e c t had the geologic or seismic m e r i t 

t o be a v a l i d p r o j e c t . 

Q. Did they ever suggest t o you t h a t i t wasn't the 

geologic prospect t h a t was problematic, but t h a t they 

d i d n ' t l i k e the terms under which the prospect was being 

o f f e r e d ? 
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A. No, t h e i r r e j e c t i o n was based s o l e l y on t e c h n i c a l 

m e r i t . We d i d present terms f o r the sale of the prospect. 

They never presented any counterproposal or counter-terms, 

we were simply r e j e c t e d t h a t the prospect d i d not have 

t e c h n i c a l m e r i t . 

Q. At t h a t time d i d Ocean Energy d i s c l o s e t o you 

t h a t they had an AMI i n the area w i t h A r r i n g t o n O i l and 

Gas? 

A. No. 

Q. Did they d i s c l o s e t o you t h a t they had personal 

i n t e r e s t i n the prospect and intended t o go out and get 

fa r m - i n acreage? 

A. No, they d i d not. 

Q. Did they ever d i s c l o s e t o you t h a t they intended 

t o not p a r t i c i p a t e w i t h you but intended t o be i n 

co m p e t i t i o n w i t h you i n t h a t very section? 

A. No, they d i d not. 

Q. Did you ask them t o si g n a c o n f i d e n t i a l i t y order? 

Were you concerned about t h e i r t r u s t w o r t h i n e s s a t t h a t 

p o i n t ? 

A. Mr. Examiner, a t t h a t p o i n t we had had a 

r e l a t i o n s h i p w i t h Ocean t h a t had always been honest and 

d i r e c t regarding our e f f o r t s and areas. At t h a t p o i n t we 

had no reason t o question t h a t they would t r y t o go around 

us and l a t e r become involved i n our play based on the 
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t e c h n i c a l m e r i t s we presented t o them. 

Q. Then moving forward, TMBR/Sharp spudded the Blue 

Fi n 24 on March 29th, 2001? 

A. Correct, we received an approved APD from the 

Commission and commenced d r i l l i n g on a west-half u n i t the 

Blue F i n 24 Number 1 w e l l . We d r i l l e d t h a t w e l l pursuant 

t o t he terms of not only the Stokes Hamilton lease, but a l l 

the leases incorporated i n t o t h a t u n i t . We've had 

continuous operations through the d r i l l i n g , completion and 

pr o d u c t i o n of t h a t w e l l t o t h i s day. 

Q. And the a c t u a l production of hydrocarbons 

occurred on June 29th, 2001? 

A. I ' l l take your word f o r t h a t . 

Q. Okay, a l l r i g h t . And then p r o d u c t i o n was f i r s t 

s o l d i n August of 2001? 

A. Correct. 

Q. With respect t o the p e r m i t t i n g issues which have 

been decided by the Commission, I ' l l j u s t ask you, but f o r 

the f a c t t h a t Mr. A r r i n g t o n had a p p l i e d f o r and received 

permits on Section 2 5 and 23, was i t the TMBR/Sharp group's 

i n t e n t i o n t o move forward w i t h d r i l l i n g those w e l l s a f t e r 

i t completed the Blue Fin 24? 

A. Yes, Mr. Examiner, we were d r i l l i n g 13,000-plus-

f o o t w e l l s i n a w i l d c a t area a t the time we d r i l l e d t he 

Blue Fin 24. You know, i t was a very r i s k y p r o p o s i t i o n . 
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We wanted t o see the production. We planned t o move 

immediately t o the w e l l i n 25 and then the w e l l i n 23. 

Due t o the — Obviously, the logs were not kept 

t i g h t . A r r i n g t o n and Ocean saw the logs from someone, and 

they proceeded t o i n t e r f e r e w i t h t i t l e t o our leases and 

development of our prospect. 

Q. Okay. Drawing your a t t e n t i o n t o E x h i b i t Number 

1, which are the 1997 Stokes and Hamilton leases t o 

Ameristate — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — i f y o u ' l l look t o the t h i r d page, the E x h i b i t 

"A" of the Stokes lease, can you describe t o the Examiner 

what a 180-day continuous d r i l l i n g clause i s and what 

o b l i g a t i o n i t imposes on the lessee? 

A. Mr. Stogner, as you're aware, we d r i l l e d over the 

e x p i r a t i o n of the primary term, which t r i g g e r e d the 

continuous development of 180 days t o commence a second 

w e l l on the Stokes Hamilton lease. That was from the 

completion of one w e l l t o the commencement of d r i l l i n g of a 

subsequent w e l l . So a t t h a t time we f e l l under continuous 

development. 

That's very important, because i t creates the 

time c o n s t r a i n t s and has a l o t t o do w i t h the reason we 

were fo r c e d t o commence the w e l l i n 25 j u s t r e c e n t l y . The 

Stokes Hamilton lease covers a p o r t i o n of Section 23, 24, 
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25, 26 and Section 13, so i t ' s not an i s o l a t e d lease. I t 

r e q u i r e s continuous development on a d d i t i o n a l t r a c t s w i t h 

a d d i t i o n a l w e l l s . 

Q. What happens i f the 180 days lapse w i t h o u t 

d r i l l i n g on the Stokes Hamilton acreage? 

A. A l l acreage t h a t ' s not i n c o r p o r a t e d i n t o a 

producing p r o r a t i o n u n i t expires and we lose the r i g h t s t o 

t h a t lease, t h a t p o r t i o n of the lease t h a t we have not 

d r i l l e d and developed. 

Q. And l o o k i n g again a t your E x h i b i t 12, what 

p r o p o r t i o n of the n o r t h - h a l f u n i t i n Section 25 does the 

Stokes Hamilton lease represent? 

A. I t represents the e n t i r e northwest q u a r t e r , being 

50 percent of the u n i t . 

Q. You are aware, are you not, t h a t the D i s t r i c t 

Court has r u l e d t h a t the TMBR/Sharp Stokes Hamilton lease, 

base lease, i s v a l i d , and t h a t the A r r i n g t o n top leases are 

not? 

A. That i s t r u e . Mr. Examiner, the D i s t r i c t Court 

has r u l e d t h a t our lease i s v a l i d and t h a t we have the 

r i g h t t o continue operations on t h a t lease. Obviously t h a t 

has t o be done i n accordance w i t h the NMOCD, but we c l e a r l y 

have the r i g h t t o develop t h i s lease. 

Q. And a f t e r TMBR/Sharp and your company and a l l the 

i n v e s t o r s received the order of the Commission on the 2 6th 
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of A p r i l , what d e c i s i o n was made w i t h regard t o going 

forward, now t h a t the company had the permit t o d r i l l i n g 

Section 25? 

A. Okay, I want t o go back t o timewise. 

Q. Surely. 

A. Catch up w i t h you. 

Q. That would be great. 

A. Are we back i n — Where are we going? 

Q. Where we need t o go i s t o A p r i l 26th, 2002, the 

OCC order withdrawing A r r i n g t o n ' s permits and g r a n t i n g 

TMBR/Sharp. 

A. Okay. 

Q. Once t h a t order was received, d i d we then r e c e i v e 

communication from Chris Williams from the Hobbs O f f i c e 

t h a t A r r i n g t o n ' s permits a c t u a l l y had been withdrawn and 

TMBR/Sharp's permit t o d r i l l on 25 had been granted? 

A. Correct. Mr. Examiner, a t the p o i n t i n time t h a t 

t h i s happened, I b e l i e v e , i f y o u ' l l c o r r e c t me i f I'm 

wrong, a t the p o i n t i n time t h a t the t i t l e d i s p u t e went 

before the D i s t r i c t Court, we received f o r c e majeure on the 

180-day continuous development. 

At the p o i n t i n time, on A p r i l 2 6 t h , t h a t our 

permit was approved and Ar r i n g t o n ' s permits were denied — 

and i t should be noted, Ocean has f i l e d no permit t o d r i l l 

a t t h i s p o i n t — t h a t our clock began running again on our 
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180-day continuous development. 

To m i t i g a t e damages, as d i r e c t e d by the D i s t r i c t 

Court, and t o operate under the terms of the lease, we were 

l e f t no choice, and i t was our d e s i r e t o continue 

development of t h a t lease w i t h the spudding of the w e l l i n 

the northwest quarter of 25 on a n o r t h - h a l f u n i t as 

approved by the NMOCD. 

Q. Okay. And i f I could draw your a t t e n t i o n t o 

E x h i b i t Number 16 — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — t h i s was the communication t h a t we rece i v e d i n 

a l e t t e r dated May 1st, 2002, from Chris W i l l i a m s of the 

O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n , the D i s t r i c t D i r e c t o r , t h a t the 

two permits t h a t A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas had on Section 25 

had been withdrawn and t h a t we were granted the r i g h t t o 

d r i l l and permit t o d r i l l i n Section 25? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And then the w e l l on Section 25, the n o r t h h a l f 

of Section 25, was spudded by TMBR/Sharp on May 7 t h , 2002? 

A. Correct. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you, pass the witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Hall? 

MR. HALL: Mr. Nearburg — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Oh, f o r the record, s o r r y , Mr. 

Nearburg's q u a l i f i c a t i o n s have been accepted f o r , and 
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assuming there's no ob j e c t i o n s — 

MR. BRUCE: No o b j e c t i o n , Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: — so q u a l i f i e d . 

MR. HALL: I don't t h i n k he's been tendered as an 

expert i n any p a r t i c u l a r f i e l d , and t o now he's not been 

asked t o render an opin i o n , so otherwise we have no 

o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. 

THE WITNESS: My q u a l i f i c a t i o n s have been 

accepted p r e v i o u s l y by the Commission as an expert land 

witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Anyway, Mr. Hal l ? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HALL: 

Q. Mr. Nearburg, as an expert land witness can you 

t e l l me, j u s t out of c u r i o s i t y , how many compulsory p o o l i n g 

cases have you been involved i n before the D i v i s i o n ? 

A. Couldn't count them, Mr. H a l l , don't know. I 

could go back and f i n d i t f o r you, but we wouldn't be out 

of here today. 

Q. Yeah. Close t o a hundred, wouldn't you say? 

A. I doubt i t . 

Q. Between 150, safe t o say? 

A. Probably 50. 

Q. I n any of those p o o l i n g cases, d i d any of those 
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i n v o l v e a w e l l t h a t was d r i l l i n g before a compulsory 

p o o l i n g a p p l i c a t i o n order was entered? 

A. I b e l i e v e back i n the 1980s, i f we want t o argue 

about t h a t , we can go f i g u r e i t out. But I do b e l i e v e 

t h e r e were one or two w e l l s when I worked f o r Nearburg t h a t 

t h a t was the case i n the mid-1980s, yes. 

Q. One or two out of 50? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. E a r l i e r you made some re p r e s e n t a t i o n s about your 

knowledge of the orders issued by the D i s t r i c t Court i n 

Lovington. Now, I bel i e v e I understood you t o say t h a t t o 

s a t i s f y one of the D i s t r i c t Court's r u l i n g s , TMBR/Sharp was 

compelled t o commence d r i l l i n g i n Section 25 t o s a t i s f y the 

180-day continuous operations clause. I s t h a t accurate? 

A. That's my understanding. That's a complicated 

proceeding. I would r e f e r t o Ms. Richardson — 

Q. Well, I want t o ask you — 

A. — on a t e c h n i c a l — 

Q. — since you r a i s e i t — 

A. — answer. However, i t i s my understanding t h a t 

t o preserve our r i g h t s we d i d have t o continue the 

continuous development a t the p o i n t i n time t h a t we 

received a permit t o d r i l l . 

Q. And you are aware also, are you not, that the 

District Court has determined that a condition of force 
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majeure e x i s t s so t h a t the f o r c e majeure p r o v i s i o n of the 

Stokes o i l and gas lease i s i n o p e r a t i o n so t h a t t he 

o b l i g a t i o n t o commence d r i l l i n g was suspended. Are you 

aware of t h a t ? 

A. I be l i e v e you're wrong on t h a t . 

Q. With whom d i d you — 

A. But again, I would ask you t o get w i t h Ms. 

Richardson, but I be l i e v e — 

Q. With whom — 

A. — you're wrong. 

Q. Well, l e t ' s t e l l us w i t h whom you co n f e r r e d t o 

reach your conclusion, anyway, t h a t TMBR/Sharp was under an 

o b l i g a t i o n t o commence the w e l l i n Section 25 immediately. 

A. Commence the — 

Q. What's the basis of th a t ? 

A. My conversations w i t h Ms. Richardson. 

Q. What else d i d Ms. Richardson t e l l you about t h a t 

p a r t i c u l a r p o i n t ? 

A. About — 

MS. RICHARDSON: Objection, your Honor — 

THE WITNESS: — which point? 

MS. RICHARDSON: — p r i v i l e g e d . 

MR. HALL: P r i v i l e g e has been waived. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I concur w i t h Mr. H a l l . 

Answer the question i f you can. 
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THE WITNESS: Well, I'm confused about h i s 

question a t t h i s p o i n t , Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Do you want t o r e s t a t e your 

question? 

Q. (By Mr. H a l l ) Who i n i t i a t e d the conversation 

about TMBR/Sharp's o b l i g a t i o n t o commence i t s w e l l i n 

Section 25 i n order t o s a t i s f y the continuous operations 

clause? Was i t you or Ms. Richardson? 

A. I b e l i e v e i t was Ms. Richardson i n her 

r e p r e s e n t a t i o n s a t the law f i r m . 

Q. And what d i d she t e l l you? 

A. You know, Mr. H a l l , I was not d i r e c t l y i n v o l v e d 

i n t h a t . I t was my understanding t h a t the f o r c e majeure 

has been r e l i e v e d on Stokes Hamilton. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. Now, t h a t may not — I don't know about the 

a c t i o n s of Mr. A r r i n g t o n or David H. A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas, 

Inc. They may not have been r e l i e v e d on Stokes Hamilton. 

There's been a l o t of i n t e r f e r e n c e i n our business here, 

and I may be confused on t h i s . But I was under the 

impression t h a t we have a s i t u a t i o n where we've been 

allowed t o continue our development of t h i s p r o j e c t and 

t h a t t h a t was a c t i o n we needed t o take. 

Q. You've made two i n c o n s i s t e n t statements t o me 

now. I n the most recent statement, as I understand, your 
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understanding i s t h a t TMBR/Sharp d i d not have the 

o b l i g a t i o n t o commence the Section 25 w e l l i n order t o 

s a t i s f y i t s continuous operations p r o v i s i o n — 

A. Well — 

Q. — i s t h a t accurate? 

A. — why don't you ask Ms. Richardson? 

Q. Well, I'm asking you, i s t h a t accurate? You're 

the one who rendered the testimony. 

A. My understanding i s t h a t we had t o go ahead and 

continue continuous development of t h a t lease. 

Q. Force majeure r u l i n g notwithstanding? 

A. Now, i f I'm wrong, I'm wrong. Okay. But t h a t ' s 

my understanding. 

Q. What i s your understanding of the f o r c e majeure 

r u l i n g from the D i s t r i c t Court? What does i t do? 

A. The f o r c e majeure — as t o Section 25 or — 

Q. Yes. 

A. — 23 or 24? There's a l o t of them. 

Q. 25. 

A. Well, obviously you t h i n k I'm wrong. You're an 

at t o r n e y , I'm not, so I ' l l defer t o you on t h i s . 

Q. No, I want t o know your understanding, i s a l l . 

A. I've t o l d you three or fo u r times, Mr. H a l l , my 

understanding i s , we needed t o go ahead and develop these 

leases. 
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Q. Does TMBR/Sharp or Ameristate p l a n on pr e s e n t i n g 

an a d d i t i o n a l landman witness t o t e s t i f y about the e f f o r t s 

t o secure the v o l u n t a r y p a r t i c i p a t i o n of A r r i n g t o n i n i t s 

n o r t h - h a l f w e l l i n Section 25? 

A. Yes, they do. 

Q. Who i s t h a t ? 

A. Dennis Hopkins. 

MR. HALL: A l l r i g h t . Nothing f u r t h e r , Mr. 

Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Bruce? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Mr. Nearburg, you sa i d t h a t some of the a c t i v i t y 

got going i n here because Ocean's w e l l i n Section 10 k i n d 

of proved up the prospect, d i d i t not? 

A. I t d i d not prove up t h i s prospect, or I b e l i e v e 

they would have purchased an i n t e r e s t i n i t . I t proved up 

the f a c t t h a t t h i s r e s e r v o i r was prod u c t i v e i n the 

township. 

Q. Okay, so Ocean was the f i r s t one out t h e r e t o do 

th a t ? 

A. As f a r as I know. 

Q. And then you showed the prospect t o Ocean, what, 

i n — w e l l , i n d e t a i l i n what, January, 2001? 

A. Discussed i n the f a l l of 2000, and t h e r e was a 
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very d e t a i l e d showing i n January of 2001. 

Q. And you also showed i t t o the e n t i r e i n d u s t r y a t 

the NAPE convention i n January of 2001? 

A. Correct. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: What d i d you r e f e r t o t h a t 

convention as? 

MR. BRUCE: NAPE, N-A-P-E. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Uh-huh. 

MR. BRUCE: I f o r g e t what the acronym i s f o r . 

MR. HALL: North American Petroleum Expo. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, t h a t was j u s t f o r the 

record. 

THE WITNESS: A c t u a l l y the North American 

Prospect E x p o s i t i o n , I t h i n k . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) And what were the terms you 

o f f e r e d t o Ocean on t h i s ? 

A. We o f f e r e d i t a t $250 per net acre, 75-percent 

net revenue i n t e r e s t and a 2 5-percent back-in a f t e r payout 

on a w e l l - b y - w e l l basis. 

Q. Okay. 

A. Which, by the way, are the terms upon which i t 

was subsequently s o l d , so... 

Q. Now, you said something about a Robert Scolman 

doing work f o r you? 

A. Correct. 
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Q. I s n ' t i t David Scolman? 

A. David Scolman? 

Q. His name i s Dave, i s n ' t i t ? 

A. Could be. How about Mr. Scolman? 

Q. How about Dave? 

A. How about Dave? 

Q. Now, he's a former Ocean employee, i s n ' t he? 

A. I don't know. When we contacted him he was a 

co n s u l t a n t i n Denver. 

Q. Okay, j u s t a couple more t h i n g s . I haven't been 

i n v o l v e d i n the D i s t r i c t Court proceedings, Mr. Nearburg, 

but i s n ' t the basis of the Court's r u l i n g on the 

maintenance of your bottom lease, i n e f f e c t , i s because the 

f i l i n g of a form C-102 i n the Hobbs OCD D i s t r i c t O f f i c e 

s a t i s f i e d the p o o l i n g clock, I believe? 

A. Are you asking about the w e l l i n 24? 

Q. Yes, s i r . 

A. Okay, and what i s your question? 

Q. I s n ' t the basis of the D i s t r i c t Court's summary 

judgment r u l i n g i n favor of TMBR/Sharp on maintenance of 

the lease, keeping the lease i n e f f e c t , based on the f i l i n g 

— based on the a s s e r t i o n t h a t the f i l i n g of a C-102 

acreage d e d i c a t i o n p l a t i n the Hobbs OCD D i s t r i c t O f f i c e 

s a t i s f i e d the p o o l i n g clause of t h a t lease? 

A. I b e l i e v e so, but I would defer t o Ms. Richardson 
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f o r the d e f i n i t i v e answer. 

Q. Okay. 

A. I w i l l say t h a t i t d i d agree, we performed under 

the terms of the lease. 

Q. Could you look a t your E x h i b i t 12, Mr. Nearburg? 

A. Okay. 

Q. And I d i d n ' t catch a l l the w e l l s t h a t you have 

d r i l l e d or plan on d r i l l i n g out here, but I presume one of 

them i s the TMBR/Sharp Eidson 2 3-1? 

A. Correct. 

Q. What i s the o r i e n t a t i o n of t h a t u n i t ? 

A. That's a Wolfcamp w e l l , i t ' s e i t h e r a 40- or an 

8 0-acre p r o r a t i o n u n i t . 

Q. Did i t d r i l l t o t e s t the Morrow? 

A. I ' l l defer t o Mr. Mazzullo on the a c t u a l t o t a l 

depth of the w e l l . 

Q. What about the TMBR/Sharp Eidson 26-1 w e l l ? 

A. That again was a deeper t e s t . I ' l l d e f e r t o Mr. 

Mazzullo on the a c t u a l t o t a l depth. I t has also been 

completed i n the Wolfcamp as a 40- or 8 0-acre p r o r a t i o n 

u n i t . 

Q. As t o the deeper formation, was i t a standup or 

laydown u n i t ? 

A. That was a n o r t h - h a l f u n i t . The w e l l i n 2 3 was a 

west- h a l f u n i t . 
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Q. And what about the u n i t f o r the w e l l i n the 

southwest q u a r t e r of 24, the Blue F i n 24-1? 

A. That's a west-half u n i t . 

Q. And of course, then, the Leavelle 23-1 would also 

be a standup u n i t , would i t not? 

A. I t would be an east h a l f of 23 u n i t . 

Q. Now, j u s t f o r f u t u r e reference, Mr. Nearburg, 

j u s t t o get a couple of the names s t r a i g h t i n here, you 

have been out here probably i n d i v i d u a l l y and as Ameristate 

O i l and Gas, I n c . ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And some of your i n f o r m a l p a r t n e r s out here have 

been Mr. Mazzullo? 

A. Uh-huh — yes. 

Q. And Mr. B e l l , Tom Bel l ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And a company t h a t he i s i n v o l v e d i n i s Fuel 

Produces; i s t h a t correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Do you and Mr. B e l l have a p o s i t i o n w i t h 

TMBR/Sharp a t a l l , or are you j u s t p a r t n e r s w i t h them? 

A. We generated the prospect, we s o l d t h e idea t o 

them i n i t i a l l y , we've helped them w i t h the development, 

we're working i n t e r e s t owners and o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y owners 

w i t h them. 
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Q. And I don't know i f you mentioned t h i s or not, 

but you — or Fuel Products and Ameristate d i d s e l l a 

prospect f u r t h e r west t o Ocean Energy, d i d i t not? 

A. Correct. 

Q. The Eidson Ranch fee leases? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . They were not associated w i t h 

these Eidson leases, but — 

Q. Correct. 

A. — they were on the same ranch. 

Q. Yeah, i t ' s a separate lease? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Was David H. A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas a co m p e t i t i v e 

bidder w i t h Ocean on t h i s ? 

A. On which? This — 

Q. Further west. 

A. Yes, they were. 

Q. Okay, so you knew — And you've been i n t h i s 

township f o r several years, so you know t h a t A r r i n g t o n has 

prospects or has leases i n t h i s area, do you not? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Have you or Fuel Products ever top-leased anyone 

i n t h i s township? 

A. Yes, we have. 

Q. Who? 

A. On the leases we turned t o Ocean, which we 
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d i s c l o s e d a t the time we made the deal, we do have a top 

lease. However, there's a s i g n i f i c a n t d i f f e r e n c e between 

t h e i r s and ours and the actions of Mr. A r r i n g t o n . 

Q. You d i d top-lease Ocean, d i d n ' t you? 

A. Oh, we d i d top-lease Ocean, and ours i s 

s t r u c t u r e d so i t does not i n t e r f e r e w i t h t h e i r o p e r a t i o n s , 

and we've allowed them t o d r i l l several w e l l s w i t h o u t 

i n t e r f e r e n c e . 

Q. Have you released t h a t top lease? 

A. The way our top lease i s worded, i t i s not 

r e q u i r e d t o be released, i t does not i n t e r f e r e w i t h t i t l e 

t h e way i t ' s s t r u c t u r e d , Mr. Stogner. 

MR. BRUCE: That's a l l I have. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Carr. Note t h a t he's not 

here. 

Any r e d i r e c t , Ms. Richardson? 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RICHARDSON: 

Q. I f you could t u r n w i t h me, Mr. Nearburg, t o 

E x h i b i t Number 13 — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — t h a t e x h i b i t i s the Response of David 

A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas, Inc., t o P l a i n t i f f ' s Motion f o r 

P a r t i a l Summary Judgment Regarding T o r t i o u s I n t e r f e r e n c e . 
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And i f you would look to page 5, please, sir, paragraph 

14 — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — i t says " A r r i n g t o n — " 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Again, what paragraph? 

MS. RICHARDSON: Paragraph 14 on page 5. 

Q. (By Ms. Richardson) A l l r i g h t , the l a s t sentence 

of t h a t paragraph says, " A r r i n g t o n asserts t h a t on August 

8, 2001, the OCD denied TMBR/Sharp's a p p l i c a t i o n f o r a 

permit t o d r i l l the Blue F i n '25' No. 1 Well i n t h e N/2 of 

Section 25... A r r i n g t o n f u r t h e r admits t h a t t he OCD denied 

the a p p l i c a t i o n by reason of the previous issuance of the 

permit f o r A r r i n g t o n ' s T r i p l e Hackle Dragon '25' Well No. 

1." Do you see th a t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. Has TMBR/Sharp and your group s u f f e r e d 

damages as a r e s u l t of t h a t i n t e r f e r e n c e by Mr. A r r i n g t o n 

which prevented TMBR/Sharp from g e t t i n g i t s permit t o 

d r i l l ? 

MR. HALL: Objection, Mr. Examiner. 

THE WITNESS: Yes, we have. 

MR. HALL: Objection. Just a minute, Mr. 

Nearburg. The question i s both leading and includes a 

l e g a l conclusion t h i s witness i s not q u a l i f i e d t o t e s t i f y 

about. No foundation l a i d t h a t he's so q u a l i f i e d t o 
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t e s t i f y about. 

MS. RICHARDSON: May I give some background? 

I ' l l t r y t o l a y a foundation. 

MR. BRUCE: And i f I could second t h a t o b j e c t i o n 

and s t a t e t h a t we're not here on a damages issue, we're 

here t o f o r c e - p o o l . This i s t o t a l l y i r r e l e v a n t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Ms. Richardson, go ahead 

and — 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you, Mr. Stogner, I ' l l l a y 

the foundation and then w e ' l l move forward. 

Q. (By Ms. Richardson) You are aware, are you not, 

Mr. Nearburg, because you're a p a r t y t o the l i t i g a t i o n , 

t h a t D i s t r i c t Judge Clingman i n Lea County has he l d — 

MR. HALL: Objection, Mr. Examiner, I ' l l o b j e c t 

t o any leadi n g testimony on d i r e c t such as t h i s . 

Q. (By Ms. Richardson) Let me ask i t t h i s way: Are 

you aware of what Judge Clingman has r u l e d w i t h respect t o 

t o r t i o u s i n t e r f e r e n c e by Mr. Arrington? 

A. I b e l i e v e so. 

Q. And what i s that ? 

A. That he has t o r t i o u s l y i n t e r f e r e d w i t h our 

attempts t o develop our acreage, t h a t we have t h e r i g h t t o 

do under our leases. 

Q. As a r e s u l t of t h a t i n t e r f e r e n c e , has TMBR/Sharp 

and the group s u f f e r e d damages? 
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MR. HALL: Objection, he's not q u a l i f i e d t o 

render an op i n i o n on damages. The most he can s t a t e i s 

t h a t they're c l a i m i n g damages i n a l a w s u i t , but t h a t ' s 

t o t a l l y i r r e l e v a n t t o t h i s proceeding. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I concur w i t h Mr. H a l l i n t h i s 

i nstance. 

Q. (By Ms. Richardson) Has TMBR/Sharp — Since 

TMBR/Sharp was not able t o d r i l l u n t i l i t got i t s permit t o 

d r i l l , i t of course was not able t o produce any 

hydrocarbons i n Section 25, correc t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. I f you would look, please, a t E x h i b i t 10, which 

i s t he Answer t o Defendant A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas of James 

Huff, P l a i n t i f f s T h i r d Amended Complaint f o r Declaratory 

Judgment, e t cetera, and i f you would look t o — i t ' s not 

— the pages aren't numbered, but i t ' s a f t e r paragraph 87, 

the F i r s t A f f i r m a t i v e Defense on the next page, " P l a i n t i f f s 

have f a i l e d t o m i t i g a t e t h e i r damages." 

What a c t i o n has TMBR/Sharp and the group taken t o 

m i t i g a t e i t s damages f o r l o s t p r o d u c t i o n on Section 2 5? 

MR. HALL: Again, Mr. Examiner, I'm going t o 

o b j e c t . What Mrs. Richardson i s doing i s simply t r y i n g t o 

e s t a b l i s h some record testimony f o r purposes of her 

D i s t r i c t Court l i t i g a t i o n . You shouldn't a l l o w t h a t . 

MS. RICHARDSON: Mr. Examiner, the reason f o r a l l 
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of t h i s , the urgency f o r d r i l l i n g a w e l l was, we were going 

t o lose the lease, as Mr. Nearburg has t e s t i f i e d , because 

we had a continuous d r i l l i n g o b l i g a t i o n , and we got a 

permit t o d r i l l , which meant we had no more l e g a l 

impediment t o d r i l l i n g , and Mr. A r r i n g t o n was t a k i n g t he 

p o s i t i o n t h a t t o m i t i g a t e our damages — t h a t i s , l o s t 

value of production — we had t o have p r o d u c t i o n . And I 

t h i n k i t 1 s very r e l e v a n t t o the f a c t of the t i m i n g of our 

d r i l l i n g i n Section 25. 

We had two reasons: 180-day continuous d r i l l i n g 

and the duty t o m i t i g a t e , and t h a t ' s a l l I want t o 

e s t a b l i s h w i t h t h i s witness. 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, I t h i n k there's been a 

misr e p r e s e n t a t i o n t o the D i v i s i o n about the D i s t r i c t 

Court's r u l i n g . There was an order issued i n v o k i n g the 

fo r c e majeure p r o v i s i o n of t h i s lease, and w e ' l l produce 

the r u l i n g f o r you probably a f t e r lunch. I t obviated the 

o b l i g a t i o n of TMBR/Sharp t o proceed w i t h i t s w e l l i n 

Section 2 5 a l t o g e t h e r , pending the outcome of l i t i g a t i o n . 

Furthermore, I don't t h i n k Mrs. Richardson can 

e s t a b l i s h t h a t there's any relevance t o t h i s question i n 

the testimony i t seeks t o e l i c i t t o the issues of waste, 

p r o t e c t i o n of c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s , conservation and the 

pre v e n t i o n of the d r i l l i n g of unnecessary w e l l s . That's 

what you need t o look a t here, not damages. 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: I concur w i t h what Mr. H a l l s a i d . I 

don't want t o take any more time on t h i s issue. I t ' s 

completely i r r e l e v a n t t o a f o r c e - p o o l i n g proceeding. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Your Honor, i t was only 

presented f o r the t i m i n g of the d r i l l i n g of Section 25. 

And w i t h a l l due respect t o counsel, and I b e l i e v e t h a t 

w i t h your able l e g a l counsel t o i n t e r p r e t f o r you, the 

D i s t r i c t Court s a i d we were excused from f u l f i l l i n g our 

lease o b l i g a t i o n s so long as something prevented us which 

was out of our c o n t r o l . That i s , we couldn't d r i l l w i t h o u t 

a pe r m i t . And u n t i l we got a permit, we were p r o t e c t e d by 

f o r c e majeure. 

At the point we got a permit, we no longer had 

the protection of interference by Mr. Arrington, we no 

longer had the excuse that we couldn't drill. Any party 

that has a permit to drill in the State of New Mexico has a 

right to drill. Therefore, we have lost our protections of 

the force majeure. 

And Mr. Hopkins w i l l t e s t i f y , t h i s wasn't the 

only lease, Stokes Hamilton lease wasn't t h e only one we 

were w o r r i e d about. We had others t h a t were e x p i r i n g i n 

J u l y , one t h a t p o t e n t i a l l y had expired i n March. We had 

seve r a l leases which are i n jeopardy i f we d i d n ' t go 

forward. 
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(Off the record) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, I'm going t o s u s t a i n the 

o b j e c t i o n s i n t h i s instance, and l e t ' s move on. 

Q. (By Ms. Richardson) A l l r i g h t . One l a s t 

q u estion, please, Mr. Nearburg. Over the time, beginning 

i n t he l a t e 1980s through today, what amount of money has 

your group invested i n t h i s prospect area? 

A. I n excess of $7.5 m i l l i o n . 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you, no f u r t h e r questions. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions of t h i s 

witness? 

MR. HALL: B r i e f l y , Mr. Examiner, because new 

m a t e r i a l was r a i s e d . 

RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HALL: 

Q. Mr. Nearburg, i n response t o a question of Mrs. 

Richardson, you i n d i c a t e d t h a t the reason the w e l l was 

d r i l l e d — one of the reasons the w e l l was d r i l l e d , t h a t 

t h a t would p r e c i p i t a t e damages t o TMBR/Sharp and Ameristate 

was because you would be unable t o produce, because you 

d i d n ' t have an APD. Do you remember t h a t testimony? 

A. You're going t o need t o c l a r i f y t h a t f o r me. 

Q. Didn't you say e a r l i e r t h a t TMBR/Sharp and 

Ameristate would be unable t o produce the w e l l i n Section 

25 because i t d i d not have an APD i n hand? Wasn't t h a t 
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your testimony? 

A. I d i d n ' t say we couldn't produce i t . 

Q. I s i t your testimony t h a t you can produce i t ? 

A. I f I said "produced", t h a t ' s not the word I meant 

t o say. 

Q. What d i d you mean t o say? 

A. Y o u ' l l have t o ask me the question t h a t i t was 

r e l a t e d t o . 

Q. You don't r e c a l l your testimony i n t h a t regard? 

A. I f you can't r e c a l l the question, I'm not going 

t o t r y t o r e c a l l the testimony. Now, i f y o u ' l l work w i t h 

me here, I ' l l t r y t o answer your question. 

Q. I s i t your p o s i t i o n today t h a t you can produce 

the w e l l w i t h an APD? 

A. I n Section 25? 

Q. Yes, s i r . 

A. I b e l i e v e under NMOCD Rules we would need a l l the 

v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r , we would need t o c a r r y those people or 

we would need t o have the p o o l i n g before or a f t e r we 

d r i l l e d t he w e l l t o consolidate the ownership i n the u n i t . 

Q. And you don't have any of those t h i n g s today, do 

you? 

A. Well, we've got an A p p l i c a t i o n t o pool the 

i n t e r e s t s i n the w e l l , Mr. H a l l . 

Q. So the answer t o my question i s no? 
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A. I f t h a t ' s how you see i t . That's not my answer. 

Q. Your answer i s yes? 

A. My answer i s — 

Q. Let's be c l e a r . 

A. — t h a t when the p o o l i n g hearing i s f i n i s h e d , and 

we are given — and we know where we are, then we can 

produce the w e l l . 

Q. So l e t ' s be c l e a r f o r the record. You don't have 

v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r i n your w e l l today? 

A. We have v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r except f o r Mr. 

A r r i n g t o n and except f o r two owners t h a t we cannot l o c a t e . 

Q. You don't have a communitization agreement? 

A. Not necessary i n t h i s case. 

Q. And you don't have a po o l i n g order? 

A. Not necessary i n t h i s case. 

Q. Pooling order i s not necessary i n t h i s case f o r 

you t o produce the w e l l ; i s t h a t your — 

A. To produce the w e l l we need a p o o l i n g order. To 

d r i l l the w e l l we don't. 

Q. And you don't have a p o o l i n g order? 

A. Correct. 

MR. HALL: Nothing f u r t h e r , Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions? 

RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 
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Q. Just one follow-up on your E x h i b i t 12, Mr. 

Nearburg. The w e l l i n the northeast q u a r t e r , t h e Leavelle 

23-1 — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — t h a t ' s a TMBR/Sharp w e l l , proposed w e l l ? 

A. Proposed w e l l . 

Q. Has not been commenced? 

A. No. 

Q. That's an e a s t - h a l f u n i t ? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And t h a t would include acreage i n the leases a t 

issue? 

A. I t would. 

MR. BRUCE: That's a l l I have. 

THE WITNESS: I t ' s not located on the leases a t 

issue, though, which i s another issue. 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) What other issue? 

A. You want — Well, t o perpetuate the lease, we 

need the w e l l located on the lease i n question i n case we 

complete i n a shallower zone, c o r r e c t ? 

Q. Well, I'm not answering the questions today. 

A. Okay, I ' l l t e l l you. 

Q. I f the east h a l f i s pooled, i t reserves t h a t 

lease, does i t not? 

A. I t does not, because the Leavelle i s not lo c a t e d 
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on the Stokes-Hamilton lease. 

Q. You mean — Are you t e l l i n g me t h a t under your 

lease the w e l l s have t o be on t h a t lease? 

A. No, Mr. Bruce, you know as w e l l as I do t h a t i f 

you d r i l l a w e l l f o r a deeper t a r g e t , you pool t h e acreage. 

I f you do not complete on a u n i t t h a t i s pooled f o r 

p r o d u c t i o n , you know, from a deeper zone on a 320, and your 

w e l l i s not located on the lease t h a t has continuous 

development, i f you come up shallower you're not going t o 

preserve a l l leases located i n the 320-acre u n i t . There i s 

not a geologic reason t h a t we f i n d t o put a w e l l i n the 

southeast q u a r t e r of Section 23. 

So the Leavelle i s located i n the northeast 

q u a r t e r where we f e e l there's geologic m e r i t , but i t i s not 

on the Stokes Hamilton lease. 

Q. And you could simply f i l e a p o o l i n g d e s i g n a t i o n 

and maintain t h a t lease i n e f f e c t under your 180-day 

continuous d r i l l i n g o b l i g a t i o n , could you not? 

A. Because of the — 

MS. RICHARDSON: Objection, he's asking — Excuse 

me, o b j e c t i o n . He's asking f o r a l e g a l conclusion on t h a t 

s u b j e c t . This witness c e r t a i n l y doesn't have t o answer 

l e g a l questions regarding c o n s t r u c t i o n s of other p o r t i o n s 

of t he lease which are not germane t o t h i s hearing. 

MR. BRUCE: He's already volunteered t o say t h a t 
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i t won't satisfy the terms of the lease. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Objection o v e r r u l e d , answer 

the question i f you can. 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) I said you could f i l e a p o o l i n g 

d e s i g n a t i o n and commence the w e l l i n the northeast q u a r t e r 

of Section 23, and t h a t would s a t i s f y the 180-day 

continuous d r i l l i n g o b l i g a t i o n under your lease, would i t 

not? 

A. Well, I would l i k e t o defer t o Mrs. Richardson on 

t h a t . Because of the ac t i o n s of Mr. A r r i n g t o n , t h a t ' s a 

d i f f i c u l t question t o answer. 

Q. You have an approved d r i l l i n g permit on the east 

h a l f of 23, do you not? 

A. I b e l i e v e we do. 

Q. And the Blue Fin w e l l i n the southwest g u a r t e r of 

24, t h a t i s not on your acreage, i s i t ? 

A. On which acreage? We c o n t r o l a l l of the west 

h a l f of 24. 

Q. I t ' s not on the Stokes lease, i s i t ? 

A. No, i t i s not. 

Q. On your E x h i b i t 2, t h a t Blue F i n w e l l i s not — 

A. I don't t h i n k so, I don't t h i n k so. I ' d l i k e t o 

check t h a t . 

Q. Go ahead. 

A. I ' d l i k e t o check t h a t . 
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Q. Please check i t r i g h t now. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: While he's checking t h a t , I'm 

going t o remind everybody, t h i s i s going t o be a long, 

drawn-out case, e s p e c i a l l y i f we continue i n t h i s mode. 

There's a l o t of emotion going on through here. S t i c k t o 

the f a c t s , i f you would, everybody. We can get through 

t h i s , h o p e f u l l y , i n a shor t order. 

THE WITNESS: The Blue Fin w e l l i s l o c a t e d on a 

lease w i t h the Sumrulds, I b e l i e v e , not the Stokes Hamilton 

lease. 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Okay, i t ' s not on the Stokes 

Hamilton lease? 

A. Correct. 

MR. BRUCE: Thank you. That's a l l I have, Mr. 

Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions of t h i s 

witness? 

MS. RICHARDSON: Nothing f u r t h e r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I have nothing f u r t h e r . I t ' s 

11:30, l e t ' s take an hour recess f o r lunch, and w e ' l l 

reconvene a t 12:30. 

(Thereupon, a recess was taken a t 11:30 a.m.) 

(The f o l l o w i n g proceedings had a t 12:37 p.m.) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: This hearing w i l l come t o 

order. Again, I'm going t o ask everybody, t r y t o move i t 
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along a l i t t l e b i t . I'm not going t o put any time 

s t i p u l a t i o n s , but we'd a l l l i k e t o get through t h i s as 

p a i n l e s s l y and as soon as p o s s i b l e , so keep t h a t i n mind. 

Ms. Richardson? 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you, Mr. Stogner. I ' d 

l i k e t o c a l l J e f f r e y P h i l l i p s t o the stand. 

JEFFREY D. PHILLIPS, 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RICHARDSON: 

Q. Mr. P h i l l i p s , w i l l you please s t a t e your f u l l 

name and what you do? 

A. My name i s J e f f r e y David P h i l l i p s . I'm the 

pr e s i d e n t of TMBR/Sharp D r i l l i n g . 

Q. And how long have you been employed by TMBR/Sharp 

D r i l l i n g ? 

A. I've been employed by TMBR/Sharp about seven 

years t h i s March. 

Q. And can you t e l l us a l i t t l e b i t about your 

background, where you grew up, your education? 

A. I grew up i n Odessa, Texas, was educated i n 

Lubbock a t Texas Tech, graduated w i t h a BS i n petroleum 

engineering, worked f o r an independent, Adobe O i l and Gas, 

through 1992, and worked f o r a couple other independents 
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and wound up seven years ago w i t h TMBR/Sharp D r i l l i n g . 

Q. Okay, and you are appearing here today i n your 

c a p a c i t y as presi d e n t of TMBR/Sharp d r i l l i n g ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. Could you please t e l l t he Commission a 

l i t t l e b i t about the h i s t o r y of d r i l l i n g t he Blue F i n 24 

and what the c u r r e n t s t a t u s of t h a t w e l l i s ? 

A. The cu r r e n t s t a t u s of the w e l l , some of the 

h i s t o r y has already been covered, so — 

Q. Sure. 

A. — I'm not sure where you want me t o s t a r t . We 

made a d e c i s i o n t o d r i l l the Blue F i n 24 f o r the Chester 

o b j e c t i v e and d r i l l e d i t down and found a 35-foot t h i c k , 

roughly, c h e r t i n t e r v a l , which i s the Chester. We d r i l l e d 

deeper i n t o the M i s s i s s i p p i a n and found p r o d u c t i o n i n the 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n lime i t s e l f , deeper. We attempted an i n i t i a l 

completion t h e r e . I t d i d produce gas, i t has commercial 

reserves, and we ca r r y i t as PDNP reserves i n our reserves. 

We opted sometime back — I'm not sure of the 

date now — t o come up the hole and complete the Chester 

i n t e r v a l , as i t was our primary o b j e c t i v e i n t h i s w e l l . 

I t ' s c u r r e n t l y producing about 4 m i l l i o n cubic f e e t of gas 

a day, 220 b a r r e l s of condensate per day a t a t u b i n g 

pressure of about 1950 pounds. 

Q. And a t the p o i n t the Blue Fin 24 was d r i l l e d , d i d 
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you have plans t o d r i l l other w e l l s i n the Big Tuna 

prospect? 

A. We d i d , we had three p o t e n t i a l l o c a t i o n s i n the 

Big Tuna area. One was the Leavelle 23-1 l o c a t i o n i n the 

east h a l f , northeast guarter of Section 23. One was the 

Blue F i n 25 l o c a t i o n i n the northwest q u a r t e r of 25, 

Section 25. 

Q. And a t the time you d r i l l e d the Blue F i n 24, you 

had already picked the a c t u a l l o c a t i o n s you intended t o 

d r i l l i n 25 and 23? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Why d i d you d r i l l 24 before 25 and 23? 

A. We opted t o d r i l l the l o c a t i o n i n Section 24 

f i r s t because — w e l l , f o r several reasons, the f i r s t being 

t h a t our acreage p o s i t i o n was c l o s e r — was b e t t e r 

c o n s o l i d a t e d i n Section 24, c l o s e r t o being ready t o d r i l l . 

Secondly, they're s i m i l a r i n s i z e . T h i r d l y , we f e l t l i k e 

i t was c l o s e r t o production, we f e l t l i k e i t had t h e best 

secondary o b j e c t i v e s and t h a t the w e l l i n Section 25 would 

be a l i t t l e b i t f u r t h e r away from what we f e l t could be 

secondary o b j e c t i v e s . 

Q. Okay. The Blue Fin 24 was completed about June 

29th, 2001. What was the next p e r i o d i n which TMBR/Sharp 

had t o d r i l l i n order t o preserve i t s Stokes Hamilton 

leases? 
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A. There was a 180-day continuous-development clause 

i n the lease, so we had t h a t time frame w i t h i n t o d r i l l the 

next w e l l . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Did you — Well, your p l a n , then, was 

t o d r i l l sometime before the end of 2 001? 

A. That's c o r r e c t , provided t h a t we had e s t a b l i s h e d 

commercial production from the Blue Fin 24 i n the Chester 

i n t e r v a l , we would have s t a r t e d — the next w e l l would have 

been the w e l l i n Section 25, sometime a f t e r observing t h a t . 

Q. At some p o i n t i n time d u r i n g the d r i l l i n g of the 

Blue F i n 24, before or a f t e r , were you contacted by Mike 

Canon, a t t o r n e y f o r the Stokes Hamilton group? 

A. Yes, t h a t was when we f i r s t became aware t h a t 

t h e r e was a top lease, was when an a t t o r n e y i n Midland 

named Mike Canon c a l l e d us and informed us t h a t the people 

who had taken the top lease contended t h a t the leases were 

now i n e f f e c t and our lease was i n v a l i d . 

Q. And l o o k i n g a t the time l i n e which i s a t the 

f r o n t of the book j u s t behind the index, i f I could focus 

you on the March 27th, 2 001, e n t r y . Do you see t h a t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How d i d you a l l l e a r n t h a t i t was Huff who had 

a c t u a l l y acquired the top leases from Ms. Stokes and Ms. 

Hamilton? 

A. I b e l i e v e we performed a search of the records 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

74 

and found Huff's name i n the record. 

Q. At t h a t p o i n t d i d you know whether Huff was 

a c q u i r i n g those leases f o r anyone else's i n t e r e s t ? 

A. We d i d not know a t t h a t time. 

Q. Okay. When d i d you subsequently l e a r n i t was f o r 

the i n t e r e s t of A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas? 

A. I t was, I t h i n k , about J u l y the 24th, yeah. 

Q. Okay, and can you describe the circumstances 

under which you learned t h a t i t was A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas 

who had top-leased? 

A. Yes, I had — We suspected i t was David A r r i n g t o n 

because of previous associations we had seen him have w i t h 

Huff, but we d i d n ' t know t h a t t o be f a c t . I bumped i n t o 

David i n the Petroleum Club i n Midland, Texas, and having 

known him s o c i a l l y and i n business before, we t a l k e d f o r 

s e v e r a l minutes, c i v i l l y and ca u s a l l y . 

Before we parted ways, I came out and asked David 

i f t h a t was he t h a t had top-leased us i n the area. 

And h i s response was — 

MR. HALL: Mr. Examiner, l e t me int e r p o s e an 

o b j e c t i o n here. Sounds l i k e we're about t o get some 

hearsay testimony. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, o v e r r u l e d . 

THE WITNESS: Okay, I asked Mr. A r r i n g t o n i f i t 

was he t h a t had top-leased us i n the area. 
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And he sa i d a couple of times, Oh, please don't 

ask me t h a t r i g h t now. 

And I s a i d , Well, David, i t was you, wasn't i t ? 

And he sa i d , Well, I d i d n ' t know t h a t t h a t was 

you and Tom i n the area. I thought i t was Tom B e l l . And 

he s a i d — 

Q. When he said "you and Tom", who was he r e f e r r i n g 

to? 

A. Myself and Tom Brown. He's the chairman and 

c h i e f executive of TMBR/Sharp D r i l l i n g . 

I s a i d , Well, i t was, David, and i t amounts t o an 

e i g h t h of the w e l l we've j u s t d r i l l e d . 

And he sai d , Well, I ' l l come see you and Tom. 

And I sai d , You need t o , because i t amounts t o as 

much as h a l f of the next two w e l l s w e ' l l d r i l l . 

And he sai d , Well, we're going t o f i g h t you on 

those. He s a i d , You know, we were very s u r p r i s e d t h a t you 

a l l got the f i r s t w e l l d r i l l e d . We were watching and we 

were s u r p r i s e d when you got a r i g i n t h e r e and d r i l l e d . 

But we're sure t h a t you won't get the next two w e l l s 

d r i l l e d . 

Q. Did you know what he meant a t t h a t time? Did you 

understand what he had done? 

A. Well, no, I d i d n ' t — 

MR. HALL: Again, Mr. Examiner, l e t me j u s t s t a t e 
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f o r the record, t h i s w i l l be a c o n t i n u i n g o b j e c t i o n t o the 

ongoing hearsay testimony. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: So noted. 

MR. HALL: I understand your r u l i n g . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: So noted. 

Q. (By Ms. Richardson) Go ahead. 

A. Did I understand what he meant by he was sure we 

wouldn't get d r i l l e d ? 

Q. Right, do you know — 

A. No, I d i d not know. What was i n my mind a t the 

time was, somehow, t h a t he had us blocked from d r i l l i n g 

those next w e l l s . 

Q. Okay. 

A. We found out three days l a t e r t h a t he had f i l e d 

d r i l l i n g permits i n Section 23 and i n the northwest q u a r t e r 

of Section 25. 

Q. And how d i d you l e a r n he had f i l e d permits i n 

those sections? 

A. I b e l i e v e t h a t we found them i n the Anderson 

r e p o r t s , or some r e p o r t s . 

Q. And what d i d TMBR/Sharp then do about t r y i n g t o 

o b t a i n i t s own d r i l l i n g permits t o Section 25 and 23? 

A. Well, we knew t h a t we had t o f i l e our permits i n 

th e r e . We were already i n co n t e n t i o n w i t h Mr. A r r i n g t o n as 

t o whether or not he owned the leases or we d i d . We were 
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i n t he process of preparing t o f i l e a l a w s u i t i n the 

D i s t r i c t Court. 

We judged a t t h a t time t h a t we needed t o go ahead 

and f i l e our permits, even i f they were r e j e c t e d , so t h a t 

— and the Commission would see t h a t we had f i l e d them, and 

we would have some record as t o why they were r e j e c t e d . 

Q. And a f t e r you f i l e d f o r your permits i n 25 and 

23, what happened? 

A. They were r e j e c t e d . 

Q. Because of Mr. A r r i n g t o n ' s p r i o r permits? 

A. They were r e j e c t e d because th e r e were two 

e x i s t i n g permits w i t h u n i t designations. 

Q. Did TMBR/Sharp then f i l e an a c t i o n i n D i s t r i c t 

Court i n Lea County on August 21st, 2001? 

A. We d i d . 

Q. Okay. And d i d TMBR/Sharp appeal the d e n i a l of 

t h e i r d r i l l i n g permits on 25 and 2 3? 

A. We d i d . 

Q. Okay. What other a c t i o n d i d TMBR/Sharp take t o 

preserve i t s leasehold p o s i t i o n i n t h i s area, and 

p a r t i c u l a r l y i n Section 25? 

A. We have t r i e d a m u l t i t u d e of avenues t o preserve 

our leasehold. One was f i l i n g of the l a w s u i t i n i t i a l l y , 

and we have f i l e d several l a w s u i t s against s e v e r a l p a r t i e s , 

and have attached several p a r t i e s , i n an e f f o r t s o l e l y t o 
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m a i n t a i n our p o s i t i o n hold. 

We have appeared before the OCD re g a r d i n g the 

perm i t s , and we have f i l e d f o r a p o o l i n g hearing, and when 

we d i d i t was simply one of the only avenues a v a i l a b l e t o 

us a t the time t o continue t o t r y and p r o t e c t our i n t e r e s t s 

i n t h a t area. 

We f i l e d a l a w s u i t f o r — as was mentioned 

e a r l i e r , t o p r o t e c t our lease. 

Q. TMBR/Sharp made a p p l i c a t i o n t o pool the i n t e r e s t 

i t d i d not c o n t r o l on January 25th, 2002? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. How much of Section 2 5 d i d TMBR/Sharp c o n t r o l 

p r i o r t o January 25th, 2002, approximately? 

A. About 84 percent. 

Q. The acreage t h a t TMBR/Sharp d i d not c o n t r o l , 

t here's been testimony t h a t i t was e i t h e r d i v i d e d between 

Mr. Huff and Mr. Douglas, a c t i n g f o r A r r i n g t o n , or two 

p a r t i e s we couldn't reach; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Why d i d TMBR/Sharp f e e l the need t o begin 

d r i l l i n g the Section 25 w e l l a f t e r the r u l i n g of the 

Commission on A p r i l 26th, 2002? 

A. There are several reasons why we were compelled 

t o s t a r t d r i l l i n g the w e l l . The f i r s t reason i s t h a t we do 

and d i d have leases e x p i r i n g . We had a lease — and I'm 
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not the landman, I don't know a l l the p a r t i c u l a r s , but we 

had one lease expired p o s s i b l y i n March, other leases i n 

J u l y . 

We also — 

Q. Leases other than Stokes Hamilton? 

A. Yes. 

We also had an o b l i g a t i o n t o m i t i g a t e our damages 

i n our D i s t r i c t Court case, and we also f e l t we were no 

longer under the p r o t e c t i o n of the f o r c e majeure order. So 

i t was — and the clock was again running on our leases. 

Q. At the time t h a t TMBR/Sharp f i l e d i t s p o o l i n g 

A p p l i c a t i o n i n January, d i d i t have a permit t o d r i l l a t 

t h a t time? 

A. No, we d i d not. 

Q. Okay. 

A. I b e l i e v e our permit was granted March the 2 0th. 

Q. And an order came down A p r i l 26th? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Have you done a study t a k i n g i n t o account the 

ownership i n t e r e s t s i n the f u l l Section 25 and t r y i n g t o 

address the c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s of the p a r t i e s who are 

appearing i n t h i s hearing? 

A. I have p a r t i c i p a t e d w i t h others i n t h a t study. 

Q. Okay. I f you could t u r n t o E x h i b i t Number 17, 

please, s i r . I f you could e x p l a i n t o the Examiner and Mr. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Brooks what t h i s p i e c h a r t and then the accompanying 

c o r r e l a t i v e - r i g h t s a n a l y s i s represents. 

A. These p i e charts are based on our e s t i m a t i o n of 

reserves i n the s e c t i o n and the maps t h a t we h o l d where 

these r e s e r v o i r s l a y i n the s e c t i o n , and as t o the Chester 

depth or r e s e r v o i r . 

I f you look a t the f i r s t p i e c h a r t and you 

a l l o c a t e ownership of those reserves t o the miner a l 

i n t e r e s t s as they are i n the s e c t i o n now, t h a t ' s t he way 

the ownership looks. 

I ' l l e x p l a i n , and i t w i l l be easier t o see when 

they see our maps i n here, Lou Mazzullo's testimony, t h a t 

we made an e s t i m a t i o n of reserves t h a t the s t r u c t u r e t h a t 

lays i n the northwest corner of Section 25 holds, say, 4 

BCF of reserves, and there i s a s i m i l a r but smaller 

s t r u c t u r e t h a t l a y i n the south h a l f of the s e c t i o n , i n our 

maps, n e a r l y s t r a d d l i n g the c e n t e r l i n e n o r t h and south, 

t h a t i s about 1 BCF. That would be a worst-case look a t 

these d i s t r i b u t i o n of reserves. I f the bump i n the south 

h a l f i s l a r g e r , these reserves w i l l j u s t be d i s t r i b u t e d i n 

the same manner, but t o a va r y i n g — d i f f e r e n t degree. 

The second chart i s how the reserves are 

d i s t r i b u t e d i f the w e l l s are spaced on a n o r t h - h a l f / s o u t h -

h a l f u n i t d e s i g n a t i o n , p r o r a t i o n u n i t . Ownership of those 

reserves would be such as the c h a r t i n the middle. That's 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

81 

i f our maps are the way i t i s , and the r e are two closed 

lows, i s what we're d r i l l i n g here, they're not s t r u c t u r e s , 

they're r e s e r v o i r s , bowl-type r e s e r v o i r s , as t o the Chester 

only. 

So the c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s i n the n o r t h -

h a l f /south-half spacing are very n e a r l y the same as they 

are w i t h i n the s e c t i o n i t s e l f and where the reserves l a y . 

I f you look down a t the l a s t p i e c h a r t , i t shows 

the ownership of those reserves i f you have e a s t - h a l f / w e s t -

h a l f spacing. And you can see t h a t the red i s reduced by 

almost h a l f and t h a t the other — the blue, Ocean's 

i n t e r e s t , has increased g r e a t l y . The percentages are on 

the next page t h e r e , but the blue and the black are 

increased. 

The black i s a l i t t l e l a r g e r i n an east-half/west 

h a l f spacing than i t i s i n the n o r t h - h a l f / s o u t h - h a l f , but 

i t ' s about the same i n e i t h e r of those. Ocean's i n t e r e s t 

increases d r a m a t i c a l l y w i t h an e a s t - h a l f / w e s t - h a l f spacing. 

The p o i n t of these graphs i s t h a t t o keep the 

c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s most nearly the same as they are w i t h 

respect t o ownership of the r e s e r v o i r s as we see them, the 

n o r t h - h a l f / s o u t h - h a l f spacing most n e a r l y accomplishes 

t h a t . 

Q. Thank you. Last couple of questions. Can you 

t e l l me the c u r r e n t s t a t u s of the d r i l l i n g of the Blue F i n 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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25 i n Section 25? 

A. We have spudded the Blue Fin 25 Number 1 w e l l . 

I t ' s d r i l l i n g t h i s morning a t a depth of about 42 00 f e e t . 

Q. How long w i l l i t take you, i f t h i n g go w e l l , t o 

complete the well? 

A. We estimated — w e l l , from t h i s p o i n t forward, 

probably another 3 0 days. 

MS. RICHARDSON: A l l r i g h t , thank you. Nothing 

f u r t h e r , pass the witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, Mr. Hal l ? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HALL: 

Q. Mr. P h i l l i p s , I understand t h a t the compulsory 

p o o l i n g A p p l i c a t i o n f i l e d by TMBR/Sharp i n t h i s case was 

f i l e d w i t h the D i v i s i o n on January 25th of t h i s year; i s 

t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Can you e x p l a i n t o the Examiner why TMBR/Sharp 

made no e f f o r t t o secure A r r i n g t o n ' s v o l u n t a r y 

p a r t i c i p a t i o n i n i t s n o r t h - h a l f u n i t and w e l l before i t 

f i l e d the A p p l i c a t i o n ? 

A. We sent Mr. A r r i n g t o n an AFE and a w e l l proposal, 

and I'm not c e r t a i n of what the date i s . I b e l i e v e i t was 

p r i o r t o t h a t . 

Q. But you don't know? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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A. But I don't know t h a t f o r c e r t a i n . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. Mr. Hopkins could p o s s i b l y answer t h a t . 

Q. Can you also e x p l a i n t o the Examiner — 

A. Let me continue, please. 

Q. Go ahead. 

A. We are also a t t h a t time i n v o l v e d i n , as I s a i d 

before, m u l t i - f a c e t e d l i t i g a t i o n i n the D i s t r i c t Court, and 

our a b i l i t y t o simply go over and t a l k t o Mr. A r r i n g t o n i s 

l i m i t e d . 

Q. Can you e x p l a i n t o the Examiner why you d i d n ' t 

proceed t o hearing on the compulsory p o o l i n g A p p l i c a t i o n 

f i l e d i n January u n t i l today? What was the reason f o r 

t h a t ? 

A. I t was, and i s s t i l l , our o p i n i o n t h a t we 

should have been allowed t o pool t h i s a f t e r we d r i l l t he 

w e l l . 

Q. Can you answer my question? Why d i d n ' t you 

proceed t o hear the case, r a t h e r than continue the case a 

number of times? Why d i d n ' t you j u s t proceed d i r e c t l y t o 

hearing, the f i r s t opportunity? 

A. We f e l t t h a t the permit issue had t o be resolved 

f i r s t . 

Q. Why d i d you f e e l t h a t way? 

A. I b e l i e v e t h a t ' s been s t a t e d i n here before, but 
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we f e e l t h a t the permitting process controls the 

or i e n t a t i o n of the u n i t , and that once i t was decided th a t 

we had the permit t o d r i l l and the designation of the 

north-half u n i t , that we had the r i g h t to pool, ei t h e r 

p r i o r t o or a f t e r the d r i l l i n g of the w e l l . 

There are — Well, that's the answer. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . And so you agree with the 

representations your attorney Mr. Kellahin has made to the 

Division t h a t compulsory pooling proceedings are not 

necessary any longer? 

A. I don't believe I'm going t o agree with t h a t 

statement. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Well, do you also disagree t h a t the 

f i l i n g of an acreage-dedication p l a t does not contr o l u n i t 

designation — u n i t configuration, I should say? 

A. Restate the question, please. 

Q. Is i t your position that the f i l i n g of a C-102 

acreage dedication p l a t ultimately determines the 

configuration of a u n i t i n a section? 

A. I believe i t controls. I believe that what i s 

found i n a compulsory pooling hearing w i l l u l t i m a t e l y 

determine how i t i s oriented. 

MR. HALL: A l l r i g h t . Nothing f u r t h e r , Mr. 

Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Bruce? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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MR. BRUCE: Just a few questions. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. On your E x h i b i t 17, Mr. P h i l l i p s , on the second 

page of i t — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — I j u s t want t o c l a r i f y a couple of t h i n g s . 

You s a i d t h i s i s f o r the M i s s i s s i p p i a n only, f o r t h e 

Chester? 

A. For the Chester only. This includes no reserves 

i n the — what I discussed e a r l i e r was deeper i n t o the 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n lime i t s e l f . 

Q. The Mi s s i s s i p p i a n or A u s t i n lime, as i t ' s 

sometimes — 

A. Correct. 

Q. Okay. 

A. This i s i n the Chester d e t r i t u s . 

Q. And t h i s would be dependent on what, Mr. 

Mazzullo's geology? 

A. I t i s dependent on Mr. Mazzullo's geology. 

Q. And I j u s t want t o — and then when you say the 

northeast q u a r t e r , you are s t a t i n g here t h a t the northeast 

q u a r t e r has no Chester r e s e r v o i r i n i t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. 
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A. According t o our i n t e r p r e t a t i o n . 

MR. BRUCE: That's a l l I have, Mr. Examiner. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Just a couple of questions. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RICHARDSON: 

Q. What i s the t a r g e t — What was the t a r g e t depth 

f o r t h e Blue F i n 24? 

A. For the Blue Fin 24? 

Q. Right. 

A. I don't remember what we had as the t a r g e t depth. 

I b e l i e v e i t was 13,200. 

Q. What d i d you a l l — What was the t o t a l depth 

d r i l l e d ? 

A. I b e l i e v e i t was around 13,200. 

Q. And what i s the t a r g e t depth f o r the Blue F i n 2 5? 

A. I b e l i e v e i t i s 13,200. 

Q. I f you would t u r n w i t h me b r i e f l y t o E x h i b i t 

Number 14, I know you d i d n ' t prepare t h i s c h a r t , Mr. 

Hopkins worked on t h i s . But I want t o ask you, was i t 

TMBR/Sharp's i n t e n t , a f t e r d r i l l i n g the 25, t o pool t h a t 

acreage such as the Mark and Bonnie Caldwell lease t o 

Douglas, George O'Brien lease t o Douglas, those i n t e r e s t s , 

was i t the i n t e n t of TMBR/Sharp t o compulsory pool those 

i n t e r e s t s which i t d i d not c o n t r o l a f t e r i t had completed 

the w e l l i n Section 25? 
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A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. So i t wasn't TMBR/Sharp's p o s i t i o n t h a t i t 

d i d n ' t t h i n k i t had t o compulsory p o o l ; i t was j u s t a 

matter of who and when? 

A. That's c o r r e c t , i t was a t i m i n g issue. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you, no f u r t h e r questions. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions of t h i s 

witness? 

MR. BRUCE: No, s i r . 

MR. HALL: (Shakes head) 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER STOGNER: 

Q. I do have a question on 17, the c o r r e l a t i v e 

r i g h t s analyses. 

What was the top c h a r t again? 

A. The top c h a r t i s the d i s t r i b u t i o n of the reserves 

as we see them — and y o u ' l l see our maps i n a minute and 

how we have the r e s e r v o i r s g e o g r a p h i c a l l y l o c a t e d i n the 

s e c t i o n . 

I f you take the ownership t h a t , as i t a c t u a l l y i s 

l o c a t e d i n the s e c t i o n , those reserves are owned i n these 

percentages. The percentages themselves are on the next 

page; the c h a r t j u s t provides a v i s u a l r e p r e s e n t a t i o n . 

So as the reserves are owned now, w i t h o u t a 

p r o r a t i o n u n i t assigned t o i t , e i t h e r n o r t h h a l f or west 
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h a l f or anything. 

EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BROOKS: 

Q. And based on your i n t e r p r e t a t i o n of where you 

be l i e v e the reserve — the — 

A. — the r e s e r v o i r , yes. 

Q. — a c t u a l l y e x i s t s underneath the surface? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, thank you f o r c l a r i f y i n g 

t h a t . 

Any other questions? 

Mr. Carr? 

MR. CARR: No questions. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: You may be excused. 

Ms. Richardson? 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you. Mr. Stogner, we'd 

l i k e t o c a l l Dennis Hopkins t o the witness stand. 

DENNIS J. HOPKINS, 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RICHARDSON: 

Q. Mr. Hopkins, w i l l you t e l l t he Commission who 

you are and what you do f o r a l i v i n g ? 

A. My name i s Dennis J. Hopkins, I'm an independent 
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landman out of Midland, Texas. I con s u l t e x t e n s i v e l y w i t h 

TMBR/Sharp D r i l l i n g . 

Q. Do you have other c l i e n t s besides TMBR/Sharp? 

A. I do. 

Q. Okay. And how long have you been i n the land 

business? 

A. This i s my 24th year. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . And what — You have some 

p r o f e s s i o n a l associations and c e r t i f i c a t i o n s , I believe? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I f you could t e l l what those are. 

A. I'm a c e r t i f i e d p r o f e s s i o n a l landman, c u r r e n t l y 

s e r v i n g on the AAPL C e r t i f i c a t i o n Committee which approves 

the c e r t i f i c a t i o n c r e d e n t i a l s and memberships, Permian 

Basin landmen, New Mexico, e t cetera. 

Q. Can you t e l l the Commission what a s s o c i a t i o n 

you've had w i t h t h i s Big Tuna prospect, what your r o l e has 

been e i t h e r d i r e c t l y or i n a supervisory capacity? 

A. I would c a l l i t a supervisory c a p a c i t y , 

overseeing the le a s i n g type operations. 

MS. RICHARDSON: At t h i s time, Mr. Stogner, we'd 

l i k e t o tender Mr. Hopkins as an expert landman. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objections? 

MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n . 

MR. BRUCE: No, s i r . 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

90 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Hopkins i s so q u a l i f i e d . 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you. 

Q. (By Ms. Richardson) I'm s o r r y , could you repeat 

your answer, what your involvement i n t h i s p r o j e c t has 

been? 

A. Oh, I c a l l i t supervisory. We have f i e l d landmen 

t h a t have done the l e a s i n g a c t i v i t y , the o r i g i n a l t a k e o f f s , 

e t c e t e r a , on i t . I k i n d of oversee i t f o r the company's 

record-keeping. 

Q. P r i o r t o the f i l i n g of the compulsory p o o l i n g 

a c t i o n i n t h i s matter on January 25th, 2002, what 

percentage i n t e r e s t i n the Section 25 d i d TMBR/Sharp 

c o n t r o l ? 

A. At about t h a t time I be l i e v e i t was, i f not 85 

percent, almost 85 percent. 

Q. Okay. And i f you would t u r n w i t h me t o E x h i b i t 

Number 3, and could you e x p l a i n t o the Commission what t h i s 

is? 

A. This i s a l a t t e r on January the 22nd, sent by 

Federal Express t o James D. Huff a t , I b e l i e v e , h i s 

residence, proposing the d r i l l i n g of the Blue F i n 25 Number 

1 w e l l . 

Q. Why i s i t t h a t a t t h a t time TMBR/Sharp d i d not 

send n o t i f i c a t i o n t o A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas? 

A. At t h a t time, t o my knowledge, Mr. Huff was s t i l l 
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the r e c o r d t i t l e owner of those i n t e r e s t s . 

Q. Of some of the leases i n the northeast q u a r t e r of 

Section 25? 

A. Yes, uh-huh. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . And i t ' s t r u e , i s i t not, t h a t by 

January 22nd TMBR/Sharp was already i n l i t i g a t i o n , not only 

w i t h A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas but also Mr. Huff i n d i v i d u a l l y ? 

A. I b e l i e v e t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . With TMBR/Sharp they 

were i n l i t i g a t i o n ; I'm not sure i f Mr. Huff was named a 

p a r t y . 

Q. Okay. Well, I t h i n k the pleadings t h a t are p a r t 

of t h i s e x h i b i t w i l l r e v e a l t h a t Mr. Huff was a p a r t y . 

Did TMBR/Sharp receive any response from Mr. Huff 

t o t h i s proposal? 

A. No, he received — Excuse me, I b e l i e v e h i s w i f e 

received the package, and there was no contact a f t e r t h a t . 

Q. Then i f you would t u r n w i t h me t o E x h i b i t Number 

14, please, s i r , and I ' d l i k e t o cover what the c u r r e n t 

s t a t u s of the ownership i n the n o r t h h a l f of Section 25 i s . 

The p a r t i e s who are l i s t e d here — Were the p a r t i e s who are 

shown leased t o TMBR/Sharp, were those leased p r i o r t o the 

f i l i n g of the A p p l i c a t i o n f o r pooling? 

A. I b e l i e v e the A p p l i c a t i o n f o r p o o l i n g was January 

24 — 

Q. January 25th. 
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A. 25th? 

Q. 25th. 

A. Okay, thank you. We had been i n contact and 

n e g o t i a t i n g w i t h these f o l k s over the course of probably 

s e v e r a l months. Some of the leases were taken as of 

January 23rd, t h a t ' s when they were mailed out, when t h e 

broker was able t o prepare the leases. The vast m a j o r i t y 

of them on t h i s page would be January 25th. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . And then going down t o the p a r t i e s 

who have not y e t leased t o TMBR/Sharp, Mr. Edsel, what was 

the s t a t u s of the contact w i t h Mr. Edsel about t h i s w e l l ? 

A. Mr. Edsel was contacted l a s t year, I b e l i e v e i t 

was, i n the s p r i n g — 

Q. 2001? 

A. Yes, ma'am. 

Q. Okay. 

A. — i n the s p r i n g , and Mr. Edsel does not r e s i d e 

i n the country. From what I understand, he's i n I t a l y . 

His a d m i n i s t r a t i v e a s s i s t a n t , executive a s s i s t a n t , r e l a y e d 

t h a t he would lease f o r a six-month lease, one-quarter 

r o y a l t y and no bonus, or p a r t i c i p a t e . 

Q. Okay. 

A. I t was a short-fused lease. We decided we would 

w a i t and come back t o him a t a l a t e r date. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . And then Jacqueline W i l l i a m s 
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apparently leased t o Mr. Douglas? 

A. They d i d e v e n t u a l l y lease t o Mr. Douglas, I 

b e l i e v e i n February. 

Q. What i s the r e l a t i o n s h i p of Dale Douglas, James 

Huff and A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas, i f you know? 

A. This i s an understanding, I've never had a 

conversation, you know, so I guess you could c a l l i t 

hearsay. I b e l i e v e Mr. Huff and Mr. Douglas are c o l l e g e 

f r i e n d s , kept up a good f r i e n d s h i p a l l these years. Mr. 

Douglas, I know, does work f o r Mr. A r r i n g t o n , and he 

represents i n these hearings f r e g u e n t l y . 

Q. You have been i n hearings where he has been a 

witness f o r Mr. Arrington? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Okay. How about Harle, Inc.? 

A. Harle, I n c . , I spoke w i t h Mr. Harle a f t e r he 

received the w e l l proposals t h a t were sent out about two 

weeks ago, I b e l i e v e i t was, and he has i n d i c a t e d t h a t he 

wishes t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n the d r i l l i n g of the w e l l . 

Q. Okay. And Yates Petroleum? 

A. I've spoken t o James Bullock a t Yates Petroleum 

Corporation, who also represents Yates D r i l l i n g 

C orporation, Myco and Abo Petroleum, and he s a i d he would 

w r i t e i t up and put i t before management and see i f they'd 

want him t o p a r t i c i p a t e . 
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Q. Okay, and then James Huff we've t a l k e d about. 

How about Branex Resources? 

A. Branex Resources I have spoken t o , and they have 

r i g h t now taken the p o s i t i o n t h a t they would r a t h e r w a i t 

and see what the OCD r e s u l t s are. 

Q. Okay. And then we see the remaining persons. I 

would l i k e t o ask you s p e c i f i c a l l y about the Caldwells. I 

b e l i e v e t h a t the Commission has received a correspondence 

from the Caldwells, t h a t they had not been contacted. When 

d i d t h e Caldwells lease t o Dale Douglas? 

A. I b e l i e v e t h a t lease was mid-February of 2002. 

Q. Okay. I t h i n k you had t o l d me January 2 8 t h , 

2002? 

A. That's p o s s i b l e . I could c l a r i f y t h a t . 

Q. What e f f o r t s were made t o f i n d Robert B u l l o c k , as 

t r u s t e e , and V i r g i n i a Bernhardt? 

A. Mr. Bullock, we have never had contact. He — 

I t ' s Robert Bullock, Sr., as I understand i t , t r u s t e e f o r 

Robert Bullock, J r . , who was the Speaker of the House, or 

Speaker of the Senate f o r the State of Texas, t h a t d i e d a 

few years ago. We've contacted neighbors, have h i t dead 

ends on how t o get i n touch w i t h Mr. Bull o c k , Sr. 

Q. Okay. And I t h i n k t h i s record i s going t o 

r e f l e c t — I want t o c l a r i f y so i t w i l l be c l e a r — t h a t 

the Caldwells wrote a l e t t e r on January 29th. I f you would 
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look a t the second page of t h i s e x h i b i t , which i s 14, I 

b e l i e v e i t ' s a copy of the f i r s t page of an o i l and gas 

lease dated January 28th, 2002, between Mark Caldwell and 

Dale Douglas, does t h a t r e f r e s h your r e c o l l e c t i o n about the 

date of the Caldwell lease? 

A. Yes, i t does. Thank you. 

Q. Thank you. I b e l i e v e t h a t a d d i t i o n a l l e t t e r s 

have al s o been sent out. I f you could look a t E x h i b i t 4, 

and could you e x p l a i n t o the Commission what t h i s l e t t e r 

i s ? 

A. This i s a l e t t e r proposing a w e l l t o our — what 

I ' l l r e f e r t o as our Blue Fin prospect p a r t n e r s , which 

includes Mr. Nearburg's company; TMBR/Sharp, of course; 

Fuel Products, Incorporated; several i n d i v i d u a l s . 

Q. This was s o r t of an i n t e r n a l proposal, i f you 

w i l l ? 

A. I would c a l l i t in-house p a r t n e r s . 

Q. And everybody signed on? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And then I would also l i k e you t o look a t 

E x h i b i t Number 5, and i f you could e x p l a i n what t h i s i s . 

A. This i s a w e l l proposal t h a t I mailed on May 1st, 

c e r t i f i e d m a i l , t o Mr. Dale Douglas and David H. A r r i n g t o n 

O i l and Gas, proposing the d r i l l i n g of the Blue F i n 25 

Number 1. 
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Q. And by t h i s time i n May, A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas 

had a record t i t l e i n Section 25? 

A. Yes, ma'am. 

Q. And d i d you receive any response from A r r i n g t o n 

O i l and Gas or Dale Douglas i n response t o t h i s proposal? 

A. No response t o the proposal. I d i d r e c e i v e the 

d e l i v e r y r e c e i p t from the A r r i n g t o n o f f i c e , and as of 

yesterday, which i s not unusual, the green m a i l i n g r e c e i p t 

f o r Mr. Douglas has not appeared. 

Q. Okay. Were you aware t h a t Mr. Douglas may have 

had some h e a l t h problems? 

A. I was j u s t made aware of t h a t here r e c e n t l y . 

Q. Okay. Can you t e l l the Commission, please, w i t h 

respect t o Section 25, other than Stokes-Hamilton, what 

leases may have expired or were s h o r t l y going t o e x p i r e i f 

t h e r e were not d r i l l i n g ? 

A. Okay, i f I could look a t — 

Q. Sure. 

A. — what I sometimes c a l l my b r a i n s . We have a 

s e r i e s of leases — there were s i x of them — t h a t would 

e x p i r e i n J u l y 19th of t h i s year. 

Q. J u l y 19th, 2002? 

A. Yes, uh-huh. 

Q. Six leases? 

A. Excuse me, f i v e . 
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Q. Five leases? 

A. Five. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. One would have expired March 19th of t h i s year, 

2002. 

Q. Okay. 

A. And a l l s i x of those p a r t i e s have been top-leased 

by Mr. Dale Douglas. 

Q. Okay. I f TMBR/Sharp d i d not d r i l l the Section 25 

w e l l p r i o r t o J u l y , 2002, what was TMBR/Sharp's e x p e c t a t i o n 

about these f i v e leases? 

A. We were i n the process of going t o renew them, 

u n t i l t he top leases appeared of record. 

Q. And i f we hadn't s t a r t e d d r i l l i n g t he w e l l , what 

would have happened i n J u l y , 2 002? 

A. Those would have expired. 

Q. And the top leases taken e f f e c t ? 

A. The top leases would have taken e f f e c t , I 

b e l i e v e , on the 2 0th. 

Q. The lease t h a t you say arguably might have 

terminated i n March, 2002, does TMBR/Sharp have a p o s i t i o n 

whether i t , i n f a c t , terminated or not? 

A. The p o s i t i o n t h a t ' s been taken i s t h a t i t ' s h e l d 

under the f o r c e majeure, t h a t we were prevented from 

d r i l l i n g on t h i s lease or pooled w i t h i t , due t o the 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

98 

c o n f l i c t of the d r i l l i n g permits. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you. No f u r t h e r 

questions, pass the witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. H a l l . 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HALL: 

Q. Mr. Hopkins, b r i e f l y , as an experienced landman, 

p r a c t i c e d i n New Mexico, are you f a m i l i a r w i t h t he 

p r a c t i c e s and procedures of the O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n 

i n terms of i n i t i a t i n g compulsory p o o l i n g proceedings? 

A. Yes. I wouldn't say I know the book from f r o n t 

t o back, but I'm f a m i l i a r w i t h i t . 

Q. Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the D i v i s i o n ' s p r a c t i c e 

t h a t before an operator proposes t o i n i t i a t e compulsory 

p o o l i n g proceedings, he's obl i g e d t o make a g o o d - f a i t h 

e f f o r t t o secure the v o l u n t a r y p a r t i c i p a t i o n of the other 

i n t e r e s t owners i n the proposed u n i t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And are aware t h a t i t ' s the p r a c t i c e of the 

D i v i s i o n t h a t you must have i n i t i a t e d those e f f o r t s t o 

secure v o l u n t a r y p a r t i c i p a t i o n a t l e a s t 3 0 days i n advance 

of i n i t i a t i n g p o o l i n g proceedings? 

A. I be l i e v e t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Can you e x p l a i n t o us why — As I understood, you 

t e s t i f i e d e a r l i e r t h a t the TMBR/Sharp p o o l i n g A p p l i c a t i o n 
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was f i l e d on January 25th, 2002? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. You need t o answer v e r b a l l y . 

A. I b e l i e v e t h a t ' s c o r r e c t , yes. 

Q. And i f y o u ' l l r e f e r back t o your E x h i b i t 3, 

t h a t ' s the l e t t e r from TMBR/Sharp t o Mr Huff s o l i c i t i n g 

p a r t i c i p a t i o n of h i s i n t e r e s t , anyway. What's the date of 

t h a t l e t t e r ? 

A. That l e t t e r i s dated January 22nd, 2002. 

Q. Can you e x p l a i n why e f f o r t s t o secure the 

v o l u n t a r y p a r t i c i p a t i o n of Mr. Huff was not i n i t i a t e d 

before t h a t time? 

A. This was an avenue t h a t we were i n l i t i g a t i o n a t 

t h a t p o i n t w i t h Mr. A r r i n g t o n . We were t r y i n g t o preserve 

— I b e l i e v e as Mr. P h i l l i p s t e s t i f i e d , t r y i n g t o explore 

every avenue t o preserve our leasehold p o s i t i o n out t h e r e , 

and we proposed the w e l l t o Mr. Huff, a t t h a t p o i n t knowing 

or having good knowledge t h a t Mr. Huff was a c t i n g on Mr. 

A r r i n g t o n ' s behalf, p o s s i b l y . That's my s p e c u l a t i o n a t 

t h a t p o i n t . And we f i l e d a compulsory p o o l i n g A p p l i c a t i o n 

on the 2 5th i n order t o preserve our leasehold p o s i t i o n . 

Q. I s n ' t i t t r u e t h a t t h e r e were owners of other 

i n t e r e s t s , not involved i n the Huff-TMBR/Sharp l i t i g a t i o n , 

whose v o l u n t a r y p a r t i c i p a t i o n TMBR/Sharp d i d not seek 

before f i l i n g compulsory pooling? 
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A. Yes, the r e was. 

Q. And would t h a t be Mark and Bonnie Caldwell? 

A. Yes. 

MR. HALL: I f I may approach the witness? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Please. 

Q. (By Mr. H a l l ) I f y o u ' l l r e f e r t o what's been 

marked as E x h i b i t H-l, H f o r Hopkins, 1, i t • s a l e t t e r t o 

Michael Stogner, dated January 29, 2 002, i n d i c a t i n g i n 

essence t h a t t h e r e had been no e f f o r t on the p a r t of 

TMBR/Sharp d r i l l i n g t o contact them a t a l l before they 

received the compulsory p o o l i n g A p p l i c a t i o n . 

Do you disagree w i t h anything t h a t ' s s e t f o r t h i n 

t h a t l e t t e r ? 

A. No, I don't t h i n k I can. 

Q. Y o u ' l l see there i n the middle of the second 

paragraph, i t says there's been no e f f o r t t o conta c t us, 

"nor some of the other mineral owners, t h a t I am f a m i l i a r 

w i t h . " Do you have any idea who he might be r e f e r r i n g to? 

A. There's a group of fou r people t h a t I b e l i e v e he 

r e f e r s t o — 

Q. Who those be? 

A. — as the other group. P u l l them up here. That 

would be Mr. and Mrs. Caldwell, Mr. and Mrs. W i l l i a m s , R.N. 

Willi a m s — 

Q. I s t h i s from your E x h i b i t 14? 
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A. I be l i e v e i t may be. Yes. George O'Brien, and a 

predecessor i n t i t l e t o Mary Frances A n t w e i l , which was Bar 

Mar, Incorporated. Those fo u r acted as — g e n e r a l l y as a 

group. 

Q. What i s your understanding of when the Douglas 

and A r r i n g t o n i n t e r e s t s i n the n o r t h h a l f of Section 2 5 

f i r s t appeared of record? 

A. The Douglas would have appeared — I ' l l take a 

look a t t h i s lease, I t h i n k I can — I want t o say i t would 

be e a r l y t o mid-March. 

Q. And you agree t h a t the E x h i b i t 4 w e l l proposal, 

your s o - c a l l e d in-house w e l l proposal, t h a t was not sent t o 

Dale Douglas or Mr. A r r i n g t o n , c o r r e c t — 

A. No, i t was not. 

Q. — on May 3rd? Okay, j u s t so the re c o r d i s 

c l e a r , I understand the f i r s t e f f o r t t o o b t a i n v o l u n t a r y 

p a r t i c i p a t i o n f o r the Douglas-Arrington i n t e r e s t s was on 

May 1st, 2002. That's shown on your E x h i b i t 5; i s t h a t 

c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, s i r , c o r r e c t . 

MR. HALL: Nothing f u r t h e r , Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: Just a couple of t h i n g s . 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 
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Q. Mr. Hopkins, on your E x h i b i t 14 under Branex 

Resources, are you aware t h a t they've informed P h i l Brewer, 

who i s one of the attorneys f o r TMBR/Sharp, t h a t they would 

only approve standup u n i t s ? 

A. No, I was not aware of t h a t . 

Q. And your E x h i b i t 3, which i s your l e t t e r t o Mr. 

Huff, I guess, there's an AFE attached which appears t o be 

dated, up i n the upper ri g h t - h a n d corner, 22 January 2002. 

Are you aware of any other AFE f o r t h i s w e l l ? 

A. Yes, the AFE t h a t was sent t o Mr. Douglas and 

David H. A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas, Incorporated. 

Q. On May 1st? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Okay. 

A. That was a rev i s e d AFE. 

MR. BRUCE: I t h i n k t h a t ' s a l l I have, Mr. 

Examiner? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Carr. 

MR. CARR: I have no questions. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Redirect? 

MS. RICHARDSON: Just a couple of fo l l o w - u p . 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RICHARDSON: 

Q. You had advised me e a r l i e r , Mr. Hopkins, l o o k i n g 

a t your E x h i b i t 14, t h a t the W i l l i a m s , the Caldwells, 
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O'Brien and An t w e i l had a l l released t o Dale Douglas on 

January 28th, 2002? 

A. Yes, ma'am. 

Q. Okay. And was the f a c t t h a t Mr. Huff and 

A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas were represented by counsel, 

i n c l u d i n g Ernest C a r r o l l and Rich Olson, any impediment t o 

personal discussions w i t h them about the compulsory 

pooling? 

A. I would have t o say yes. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Nothing f u r t h e r . 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER STOGNER: 

Q. Mr. Hopkins, i n lo o k i n g a t E x h i b i t Number 14, 

what's these percentages add up to? 

A. Those would be t h e i r u n i t p a r t i c i p a t i o n 

percentage i n a n o r t h - h a l f u n i t . 

Q. And what does t h a t come out to? 

A. I'm h o r r i b l e w i t h o u t a c a l c u l a t o r , excuse me, 

but — 

Q. I assume the remaining would be TMBR/Sharp; i s 

t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, uh-huh. 

Q. Because obviously t h i s doesn't come out t o 100. 

A. I f you take Mr. A r r i n g t o n and TMBR/Sharp and Mr. 

Douglas, the remainder would be e s s e n t i a l l y what's on t h i s 
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l i s t . Or excuse me, leave Mr. Douglas out of t h a t l a s t 

statement. 

Q. So I can add these f i g u r e s up, and then the 

remaining of i t would be TMBR/Sharp? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, t h i s n o r t h - h a l f i n t e r e s t , as your l i s t here 

on 14, i s t h i s a d i v i d e d or undivided i n t e r e s t ? 

A. This i s a d i v i d e d i n t e r e s t . 

Q. I t i s a d i v i d e d i n t e r e s t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . I t ' s s p l i t i n t o the northwest q u a r t e r , 

the east h a l f , northeast q u a r t e r , and the west h a l f , 

n o r t heast q u a r t e r . 

Q. And I be l i e v e you go i n t o some d e t a i l on what, 

E x h i b i t Number 3 or — one other e x h i b i t I t h i n k you 

r e f e r r e d t o , 5 1 t h i n k i t was? I b e l i e v e t h a t l i s t s up — 

A. Yes, i t breaks out what the percentages are i n 

each of those t r a c t s . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions o f t h i s 

witness? 

MR. BROOKS: No, I don't b e l i e v e so. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Nothing f u r t h e r , Mr. Stogner, 

thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you, Mr. Hopkins. 

THE WITNESS: Thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Ms. Richardson, do you wish t o 
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admit the associated e x h i b i t s w i t h t h i s witness, or are we 

going t o take them a l l a t one time? 

MR. KELLAHIN: I t h i n k we have covered a l l t he 

e x h i b i t s i n t h i s e x h i b i t book. 

We have the geologic e x h i b i t s t o present t o you, 

but we would move the i n t r o d u c t i o n of E x h i b i t s 1 through 

19, I b e l i e v e i t i s . 

MR. HALL: I have some o b j e c t i o n s t o make, Mr. 

Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, s t a t e your o b j e c t i o n s . 

MR. HALL: I would o b j e c t t o the admission of 

E x h i b i t 2, based on relevance. 

I would o b j e c t t o E x h i b i t 3 as t o the AFE, as 

w e l l as t o E x h i b i t 4 as t o the AFE. There's been 

a b s o l u t e l y no e f f o r t t o tender t h a t through any witness. 

I would o b j e c t t o E x h i b i t 7, relevance. 

I would o b j e c t t o E x h i b i t 10, relevance. There's 

been no e f f o r t t o aut h e n t i c a t e i t . 

Same f o r E x h i b i t 11, relevance and au t h e n t i c a t e d , 

p l u s t h a t witness was a v a i l a b l e t o t e s t i f y i n person. 

E x h i b i t 13, ob j e c t on the basis of relevance. 

I ' l l l e t him s l i d e on E x h i b i t 19. I t ' s been 

o f f e r e d . P r o f e s s i o n a l courtesy. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Mr. Stogner, we would withdraw 

E x h i b i t 11. That was put i n a t a time we be l i e v e d t h a t Mr. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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P h i l l i p s might not be able t o make the hearing i n person. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, E x h i b i t Number 11 i s 

hereby withdrawn a t t h i s time. 

MS. RICHARDSON: I f need be, we can r e c a l l Mr. 

P h i l l i p s t o prove up the AFEs. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Why don't you r e c a l l him, and 

l e t ' s go over those e x h i b i t s — 

MS. RICHARDSON: Surely, s u r e l y — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: — please? 

MS. RICHARDSON: — be happy t o . He's not g u i t e 

as happy, but I'm happy t o . He thought he was done. 

JEFFREY D. PHILLIPS (Recalled), 

the witness h e r e i n , having been p r e v i o u s l y d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RICHARDSON: 

Q. Mr. P h i l l i p s , I be l i e v e you're s t i l l under oath. 

I f you would look a t E x h i b i t Number 3, please. 

A. Number 3? 

Q. Yes, s i r . 

A. Okay. 

Q. This i s a l e t t e r from you t o James D. Huff dated 

January 22nd, 2002. Can you e x p l a i n f o r me the p r e p a r a t i o n 

of the a u t h o r i z a t i o n f o r expenditure and how you or people 

under your su p e r v i s i o n went about preparing t h a t ? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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A. We simply estimated the costs t o d r i l l t h e w e l l , 

based on our experience i n d r i l l i n g the previous w e l l i n 

Section 24. This AFE i s dated January the 22nd, I b e l i e v e 

— yes. 

We found t h a t i n the process of d r i l l i n g the 

f i r s t w e l l , t h a t i t was necessary, or we f e l t i t s a f e r t o 

run a s t r i n g of 7-inch through the Chester h o r i z o n and then 

d r i l l i n t o the M i s s i s s i p p i a n or lower and run a l i n e r , i f 

you had p r o d u c t i o n down there. I t was a way — We j u s t 

e s s e n t i a l l y d i d t h i s . 

I n the Blue Fin 24 w e l l we ran 5-1/2-inch casing 

through the Chester and d r i l l e d out below t h a t w i t h a 4-3/4 

b i t , so i n the p r e p a r a t i o n of t h i s AFE we i n c l u d e d the cost 

t o run a 7-inch casing s t r i n g through the Chester so t h a t 

we'd have a l i t t l e b i t bigger hole t o go below i t . 

We f e l t l i k e t h a t i s the s a f e s t way t o do i t , 

because the Chester i n t e r v a l was s l i g h t l y overpressured and 

d i d n ' t have an extreme amount of — we d i d n ' t have 

extreme — we had some problems w i t h i t when we d r i l l e d 

i n t o i t , and t h e r e are a l o t of houses around t h a t area. 

So we though i t would be the best and s a f e s t way t o d r i l l 

the w e l l . 

And so I b e l i e v e t h i s — an engineer t h a t works 

f o r me prepared t h i s f o r me, and I reviewed i t . 

Q. Okay. The cost of completion versus the o r i g i n a l 
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d r i l l i n g , why i s the cost of completion so high? 

A. $433,000? I s t h a t the cost t h a t you're t a l k i n g 

about i t ? 

Q. Right. 

A. Well — 

Q. Are these complex w e l l s t o complete or — 

A. They are. I be l i e v e he has — I b e l i e v e i n t he 

subsequent AFE there i s some s t i m u l a t i o n t h a t * s not i n t h i s 

one, but there's q u i t e a b i t of s t i m u l a t i o n . There i s a 

l i n e r i n t h i s cementing job f o r the l i n e r . This one has a 

tank b a t t e r y and associated equipment. There's a l o t of 

cost associated w i t h completing the w e l l . 

Q. A l l r i g h t , thank you. I f you would look a t 

E x h i b i t Number 4. 

MR. BROOKS: I f I may i n t e r j e c t a t t h i s p o i n t , i n 

my book i t appears t h a t E x h i b i t 3 and 4 are the same 

document, and I don't t h i n k t h a t was intended t o be the 

case, based on the testimony. 

MS. RICHARDSON: I'm so r r y , Mr. Brooks, t h a t 

would be wrong. 

MR. BROOKS: I t ' s c o r r e c t i n the Examiner's — 

MS. RICHARDSON: I'm so r r y , I — 

THE WITNESS: I t ' s c o r r e c t i n mine. 

MR. BROOKS: — and the c o u r t r e p o r t e r ' s book, 

i t ' s j u s t a mistake i n mine. 
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MS. RICHARDSON: Let me give you the c o r r e c t 

E x h i b i t Number 4. 

MR. BROOKS: Okay. I don't know i f i t matters 

much t h a t I have i t . I t j u s t matters t h a t the Examiner has 

i t and the co u r t r e p o r t e r has i t . 

MS. RICHARDSON: Well, you can have mine. No use 

f o r i t t o be wrong. 

MR. BROOKS: Thank you. 

MS. RICHARDSON: I n f a c t , I apologize. I t seems 

l i k e every time we do t h i s we t r y t o get i t r i g h t and we 

don't. 

There i s another c o r r e c t i o n on the t i m e l i n e . I f 

you a l l wouldn't mind l o o k i n g a t your t i m e l i n e on the e n t r y 

on August 8 t h , 2001, i t says "OCD denies TMBR/Sharp's 

permit t o d r i l l the Blue Fin 25 No. 1 Well on the E/2..." 

That should be n o r t h h a l f . We cor r e c t e d i t one place but 

we f a i l e d t o c o r r e c t i t the other. 

Q. (By Ms. Richardson) I n l o o k i n g a t the AFE f o r 

E x h i b i t Number 4, Mr. P h i l l i p s , the estimated cost of the 

Section 25 w e l l has jumped from — what i s i t , $1,359,000 

t o $1,558,000? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay, and t o what do you a t t r i b u t e the 

d i f f e r e n c e ? 

A. We re v i s e d the AFE t o r e f l e c t c u r r e n t costs of 
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t u b u l a r s and servic e s , some of which had changed since we 

had made the f i r s t AFE out. You can see the cost of the 

7-inch casing had increased. 

A f t e r we had completed the Blue F i n 24 w e l l , we 

had t o f r a c t u r e - s t i m u l a t e t h a t w e l l t o produce a t the r a t e s 

we're producing now, so we added the cost of a f r a c t u r e 

treatment t o the second AFE, and t h a t was $100,000 up from 

$15,000. 

So there's various l i t t l e t h i n g s l i k e t h a t t h a t 

changed the p r i c e of the AFE. 

Q. Let me ask you j u s t a b i t of background, and then 

w e ' l l f i n i s h . TMBR/Sharp D r i l l i n g ' s primary business 

a c t i v i t y i s what? 

A. Our primary business a c t i v i t y i s the c o n t r a c t 

d r i l l i n g of o i l and gas w e l l s i n southeastern New Mexico 

and Texas. 

Q. Approximately how many w e l l s do you b e l i e v e you 

have p a r t i c i p a t e d i n or supervised the p r e p a r a t i o n of AFEs 

f o r i n the l a s t — 

A. Oh, gosh. 

Q. — j u s t — p i c k f i v e years, p i c k t e n years. 

A. Well, i n the seven years t h a t I've been a t 

TMBR/Sharp D r i l l i n g , we have d r i l l e d and operated i n excess 

of 45 w e l l s , and I prepared most of those AFEs and 

supervised most of the operations. 
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Q. Okay. I n your o p i n i o n , are these costs as 

r e f l e c t e d i n these AFEs f a i r and reasonable? 

A. I t h i n k they are. 

Q. Okay. I f you would look f o r me a t Tab Number 15, 

which was another, I b e l i e v e , t h a t was objected t o , and i f 

you could e x p l a i n what t h i s t a b l e i s . 

A. This appears t o be a — w e l l , i t i s a comparison 

of w e l l proposals and AFEs of d i f f e r e n t p a r t i e s t o t h i s 

hearing. 

Q. To t h i s compulsory p o o l i n g hearing? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Okay. Do you note t h a t the w e l l proposed by 

Ocean on the northwest quarter of the s e c t i o n i s AFE'd a t a 

t o t a l c ost of about $1,449,000, but the southwest q u a r t e r 

w e l l i s AFE'd a t $1,783,000? 

Do you know why there would be such a d i f f e r e n c e 

between those two proposals? 

A. I'm sure they have a good reason, but I don't 

know why t h a t i s . Number of p o s s i b i l i t i e s . 

Q. Given the range of these proposals, of a h i g h of 

$1,783,000 f o r one of the w e l l s , down t o A r r i n g t o n ' s 

northeast w e l l , northeast quarter of $1,418,000, do you 

consider t h a t a s u b s t a n t i a l d i f f e r e n c e f o r d r i l l i n g these 

kinds of wells? 

A. Between which and which? 
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Q. Between any of — 

A. Any of them? 

Q. — any of these w e l l s . 

A. No, not r e a l l y . Like I say, Ocean may have a 

h o r i z o n t a l l a t e r a l or — I don't know why the one i s more 

expensive than the other, but obviously t h e i r w e l l i n the 

northwest q u a r t e r i s very s i m i l a r t o our w e l l , i s very 

s i m i l a r t o A r r i n g t o n ' s w e l l . There's not a l o t of 

d i f f e r e n c e between the three proposals and costs as shown 

here. 

Q. Okay, thank you. With respect t o the pleadings 

t h a t were included i n these e x h i b i t s , you had t e s t i f i e d 

e a r l i e r the r a t i o n a l e of TMBR/Sharp f o r going forward w i t h 

d r i l l i n g the Section 25 w e l l . Were these pleadings 

included f o r the purpose of showing the p o s i t i o n A r r i n g t o n 

had taken and what e f f e c t t h a t might have had on TMBR/Sharp 

i n i t s decision-making? 

A. The pleadings included i n — 

Q. I n these e x h i b i t volumes, A r r i n g t o n ' s pleadings 

i n c l u d e d i n these e x h i b i t volumes. 

A. Yes, A r r i n g t o n ' s — Well, I'm g e t t i n g a l i t t l e 

l o s t , there's a l o t i n my head r i g h t now. 

Q. That's a l l r i g h t . 

A. I f y o u ' l l r e s t a t e i t t o me, I ' l l t r y t o answer 

your question. 
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MS. RICHARDSON: That's f i n e , w e ' l l q u i t . Thank 

you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Hall? 

MR. HALL: We'll withdraw our o b j e c t i o n t o the 

AFEs attached t o E x h i b i t s 3 and 4, maintain our o b j e c t i o n s 

as t o the pleadings i n the order, based on relevance. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Your o b j e c t i o n has been so 

noted. 

I'm going t o allow a l l the e x h i b i t s , 1 through 

19, admit them i n t o evidence a t t h i s time. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: You may step down. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Yes, thank you, Mr. P h i l l i p s . 

We won't c a l l you again. 

MR. KELLAHIN: Mr. Mazzullo i s the next witness. 

He has a s u b s t a n t i a l p r e s e n t a t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Let's take a 10- or 15-minute 

recess a t t h i s time. 

(Thereupon, a recess was taken a t 1:43 p.m.) 

(The f o l l o w i n g proceedings had a t 2:02 p.m.) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: This hearing w i l l come t o 

order. 

Mr. Ke l l a h i n ? 

MR. KELLAHIN: Thank you, Mr. Stogner. 

I'm going t o present Mr. Louis Mazzullo as our 
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geologic expert. 

LOUIS J. MAZZULLO. 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KELLAHIN: 

Q. For the record, s i r , would you please s t a t e your 

name and occupation? 

A. Louis Mazzullo, I'm a petroleum g e o l o g i c a l 

c o n s u l t a n t out of Albuquergue. 

Q. You're a c e r t i f i e d p r o f e s s i o n a l g e o l o g i s t ? 

A. Yes, I am, w i t h the American A s s o c i a t i o n of 

Petroleum Geologists. 

Q. On p r i o r occasions have you t e s t i f i e d both before 

the Commission and the D i v i s i o n of the O i l Conservation? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And on a l l those occasions have you g u a l i f i e d as 

a geologic expert? 

A. Yes, I d i d . 

Q. Does your background and experience a l l o w you t o 

analyze and evaluate 3-D seismic data? 

A. I could analyze and evaluate 3-D seismic data. I 

don't c l a i m t o be an expert or a g e o p h y s i c i s t , but I can 

evaluate i t t o the extent t h a t I need t o when I'm supported 

by other c o n s u l t a n t s . 
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Q. And have you done t h a t i n t h i s case? 

A. Yes, we d i d . 

Q. I want t o draw your a t t e n t i o n t o a f o u r - s e c t i o n 

area. I t ' s i n 16 South, 35 East of Lea County, New Mexico, 

Sections 23, -4, -5 and -6. W i t h i n t h a t f o u r - s e c t i o n area, 

are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the geology? 

A. Yes, I am, very f a m i l i a r . 

Q. I n a d d i t i o n t o t h a t immediate area, are you 

r e g i o n a l l y f a m i l i a r w i t h the deep gas geology w i t h i n t h i s 

v i c i n i t y ? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. And how long have you been working southeastern 

New Mexico as a geologist? 

A. I've been working i n southeastern New Mexico 

since 1981. I've been working t h i s area s p e c i f i c a l l y since 

the mid-1980s, and t h i s p a r t i c u l a r prospect, as Mr. 

Nearburg t e s t i f i e d i n p r i o r testimony, since 1995. 

MR. KELLAHIN: We tender Mr. Mazzullo as an 

expert witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any obje c t i o n ? 

MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Mazzullo i s so g u a l i f i e d . 

Q. (By Mr. K e l l a h i n ) Mr. Mazzullo, l e t ' s take 

E x h i b i t 18-A as a reference map so t h a t we can set the 

stage and the background f o r your work product. F i r s t of 
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a l l , l e t ' s have you i d e n t i f y what i t i s t h a t we're l o o k i n g 

a t . 

A. We're loo k i n g a t a base map of p a r t s of Townships 

16 South and 17 South, Range 35 East t h a t has most of the 

w e l l c o n t r o l on i t . This base map i s a l i t t l e b i t o l d i n 

terms of some of the a c t i v i t y t h a t ' s occurred i n the l a s t 

few months, but i t shows a l l the deep w e l l c o n t r o l — by 

"deep" I mean anything t h a t penetrated the lower Wolfcamp 

on down — by the w e l l symbols t h a t are c i r c l e d . 

I t also has on i t the l o c a t i o n s of sev e r a l 2-D 

seismic l i n e s i n dashed blue l i n e s t h a t we acquired f o r 

a n a l y t i c a l purposes p r i o r t o our a c g u i s i t i o n of the 3-D and 

the l o c a t i o n of fou r key w e l l s , i n c l u d i n g our Blue F i n 24 

Number 1. 

Q. Let's use t h i s i l l u s t r a t i o n as a s t a r t i n g p o i n t 

and t a l k about your f i r s t geologic a n a l y s i s of t h i s 

p a r t i c u l a r area. When d i d t h a t occur? 

A. That began i n around 1995 of t h i s p a r t i c u l a r 

prospect, when I hooked up w i t h Mr. Nearburg and Ameristate 

E x p l o r a t i o n . I t began i n i t i a l l y as an e v a l u a t i o n f o r new 

l o c a t i o n s centered around Sections 26 and 23. 

Q. At t h i s time, what k i n d of geologic data d i d you 

have t o work with? 

A. At the time, I was working w i t h a l l the downhole 

e l e c t r i c l o g data, p o r o s i t y logs, e l e c t r i c l o g data, as 
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w e l l as running samples on a l o t of key w e l l s . That's my 

area of e x p e r t i s e , i s l o o k i n g a t downhole samples or core 

t o evaluate d e p o s i t i o n a l environments, w i t h the — 

Q. Let's t a l k about t h a t d e p o s i t i o n a l environment. 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. For purposes of t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n i n t h e n o r t h 

h a l f of 25, what i s the primary formation t h a t i s the 

p r i n c i p a l t a r g e t of the well? 

A. This w e l l i s being d r i l l e d w i t h the upper Chester 

as the M i s s i s s i p p i a n , the upper Mississippian-Chester as 

the primary o b j e c t i v e . 

Q. I n 1996 when you s t a r t e d t h i s process w i t h the 

conventional l o g a n a l y s i s , the conventional geology, were 

you able t o make a d e c i s i o n or reach a conclusion about the 

d e p o s i t i o n a l environment of the Chester? 

A. I d i d not focus on the Chester i n 1995 when I 

began. My primary o b j e c t i v e a t the time, i t s t a r t e d out as 

i n f i l l or development d r i l l i n g f o r the lower Wolfcamp. I t 

then proceeded t o become a more widespread e v a l u a t i o n of 

the Atoka sands, which i s another primary pay o b j e c t i v e out 

i n t h i s area. 

Q. What caused you t o focus your a t t e n t i o n on the 

Chester? 

A. I i n i t i a l l y came upon the Chester p r i o r t o Ocean 

d r i l l i n g a Chester w e l l out t h e r e , t h e r e was another w e l l 
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out there that's indexed on this map. It's down in Section 

35, the B u f f t o n Number 1 Eidson. 

I was questioning — I questioned the f a c t of 

whether or not — what the pay zone was i n t h a t w e l l . I 

b e l i e v e i t was i n i t i a l l y , or s t i l l i s , r e p o r t e d as a Morrow 

producer. But I d i d n ' t see i t as t h a t , I saw i t as an 

upper M i s s i s s i p p i a n producer because of the way i t 

c o r r e l a t e d t o the Morrow s e c t i o n i n other w e l l s i n the 

area. 

I f i l e d t h a t away i n the back of my mind. The 

only reason I could t e l l t h a t t h a t was t h e r e a t t h e time 

was, i t was s i t t i n g alongside a major deep f a u l t , and I 

thought t h e r e was some r e l a t i o n , although I d i d n ' t know 

what the r e l a t i o n was a t the time, t o the occurrence of 

t h a t p o r o s i t y i n t h a t upper Chester s e c t i o n and t h a t deep 

f a u l t . 

Q. Let me ask you about the Chester. When we focus 

on t h i s , i s th e r e any disagreement or d i f f e r e n c e about 

nomenclature, about what you would c a l l Chester? 

A. There's always disagreement about nomenclature 

anywhere you go i n the o i l patch, and p a r t i c u l a r l y i n t h i s 

area, because of the complex s t r u c t u r e of t h i s area, t h e r e 

have been times when the Atoka has been mistaken f o r the 

Morrow, the Morrow has been mistaken f o r the Chester. The 

Chester a t f i r s t was thought t o be Morrow. I t might s t i l l 
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be thought t o be Morrow i n some w e l l s I'm not even aware of 

out t h e r e y e t , t h a t I haven't had the p r i v i l e g e of g e t t i n g 

data on y e t . 

Q. What next happened t o pique your c u r i o s i t y about 

analyzing t h e Chester? 

A. A c e r t a i n w e l l t h a t burned down, t h a t blew out 

and burned down. 

Q. Where i s that ? 

A. That's up i n Section 10, i t was d r i l l e d by Ocean 

Energy. 

Q. That was the Ocean well? 

A. That was the Ocean w e l l . I d i d n ' t know what i t 

was a t the time. I had no idea what i t blew out i n . Later 

on when w e l l logs were acquired, I c o r r e l a t e d the s e c t i o n , 

and I ran samples i n a w e l l adjacent t o i t , i n a Yates w e l l 

adjacent t o i t , and c o r r e l a t e d t h a t s e c t i o n t o the Ocean 

w e l l , and I was p r e t t y sure t h a t I was not d e a l i n g w i t h the 

Morrow, t h a t I was de a l i n g w i t h the Chester s e c t i o n i n t h a t 

p a r t i c u l a r w e l l . 

Q. Let's t a l k about the Chester f o r a second around 

the v i c i n i t y of the Ocean blowout w e l l — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — i n Section 10. Did the r e s u l t s of Ocean's 

e f f o r t i n t h a t w e l l r e s u l t i n other o f f s e t t i n g operators, 

i n a s o r t of a feeding frenzy, race out t h e r e and d r i l l a 
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bunch of wells? 

A. Well, I can't a t t e s t t o t h e i r r a t i o n a l e f o r 

d r i l l i n g w e l l s out the r e . I do know t h a t i n f a i r l y r a p i d 

sequence a couple more w e l l s were d r i l l e d down i n t h e r e , 

but I don't t h i n k they h i t the Chester. We l l , I know they 

d i d n ' t h i t the Chester, they h i t other o b j e c t i v e s . 

One other t h i n g I might p o i n t out, a f t e r t h a t 

w e l l was d r i l l e d — and what's not on t h i s map, f u r t h e r t o 

the south — a w e l l t h a t I p a r t i c i p a t e d i n also encountered 

Chester r e s e r v o i r . So the three w e l l s t o g e t h e r r e a l l y 

piqued my c u r i o s i t y a t t h a t p o i n t . 

Q. We had a number of hearings about the Ocean w e l l , 

and I t h i n k the nomenclature used a t t h a t time was t o r e f e r 

t o what you may c a l l the Chester as the Brunson i n t e r v a l . 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h t h a t ? 

A. I'm f a m i l i a r w i t h the term, but I don't apply any 

p a r t i c u l a r — I don't apply names or c o l l o q u i a l use, I l i k e 

t o j u s t — 

Q. Chester would be a geologic term? 

A. Chester i s a geologic, i t ' s a known f o r m a t i o n , an 

accepted formation name, and t h a t ' s what I use. 

Q. Without the seismic i n f o r m a t i o n , can you take 

r e g i o n a l geologic l o g data and c o n s t r u c t an a n a l y s i s t h a t 

w i l l t e l l you what the d e p o s i t i o n i s of t h i s r e s e r v o i r 
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you're seeking t o f i n d ? 

A. I had an idea from subsurface data because of the 

f a u l t i n g p a t t e r n i n t h i s area t h a t because of the l o c a t i o n s 

of the Ocean w e l l , the B u f f t o n w e l l and then t h e new Concho 

w e l l down south, they were a l l i n close p r o x i m i t y t o deep 

f a u l t s , and I s t a r t e d t o get the n o t i o n t h a t , knowing the 

h i s t o r y , the geologic h i s t o r y , from working t h i s area f o r 

over 2 0 years, I was s t a r t i n g t o b u i l d a n o t i o n of a 

d i f f e r e n t type of d e p o s i t i o n a l mechanism here t h a t was not 

r e l a t e d t o , f o r example, channel development. 

But I couldn't prove i t because I d i d n ' t have 

t h a t — you know, the three-dimensional seismic, or any 

seismic a t the time, r e a l l y , t h a t s u b s t a n t i a t e d i t . You 

know, those 2-D l i n e s , none of them crossed — except f o r 

the very t a i l end of one l i n e , none of them cross any known 

producing Chester w e l l . 

Q. Let me ask you t h i s about the Chester. Can you 

describe the t r a p p i n g mechanism, the s t r u c t u r e of the 

r e s e r v o i r or how the hydrocarbons are trapped i n these 

Chester r e s e r v o i r s ? 

A. Well, I can, and t h a t ' s going t o be addressed i n 

the model as we proceed through t h i s geologic d i s c u s s i o n . 

But f o r now — 

Q. Would i t help me a t a l l t o understand your 

d i s c u s s i o n , t o equate i t i n any way w i t h the channel r i v e r 
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system deposits of the Morrow? 

A. I don't b e l i e v e i t ' s channel-related. 

Q. How i s i t — What's i t r e l a t e d t o , how i s i t — 

A. I t h i n k i t ' s r a t h e r r e l a t e d t o l o c a l i z e d erosion 

along deep f a u l t s t h a t a f f e c t e d the Chester rocks s h o r t l y 

a f t e r they were deposited and p r i o r t o d e p o s i t i o n of the 

Morrow. 

Q. I s the e x p l o r a t i o n geology one t h a t can be 

a t t a i n e d w i t h conventional a n a l y s i s of l o g data and s o r t of 

check t r a c k i n g the size and the shape of the r e s e r v o i r w i t h 

d r i l l i n g , so you get a Morrow w e l l and you f i n d i t i n the 

channel and you can t e s t the s i z e and the l i m i t s of the 

channel? 

A. You could guess. I mean, there's a l o t of 

geologic l i c e n s e involved i n t r y i n g t o p r e d i c t l o c a t i o n s , 

w i d t h and thickness of channels i n any fo r m a t i o n . The 

Morrow may be a l i t t l e b i t easier, because i f they are 

f l u v i a l l y d erived m a t e r i a l there tends t o be more 

c o n t i n u i t y t o i t , and you might be able t o t r a c e i t from 

w e l l t o w e l l using the conventional subsurface data. 

Q. I f I'm l o o k i n g at Chester and t r y i n g t o f i n d 

those r e s e r v o i r pods — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — i s i t of use t o me i f I have a v a i l a b l e seismic 

data? 
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A. That, i n my mind, i s a key element i n f i n d i n g 

them. 

Q. I n terms of the progress of your a n a l y s i s , was 

th e r e a v a i l a b l e t o you at t h i s time any conventional 2-D 

seismic data? 

A. We acquired the 2-D seismic data t h a t you see 

here. The l i n e s v a r i e d i n q u a l i t y . U n f o r t u n a t e l y , they 

are two-dimensional i n nature, and they could not g i v e me 

t h i s p e r s p e c t i v e t h a t I needed, p a r t i c u l a r l y i n the areas 

where I needed them t o evaluate these r e s e r v o i r s . You can 

see t h a t none of them i n t e r s e c t the known producers a t the 

time. 

The only evidence t h a t I had of any mechanism 

t h a t c o n t r o l l e d t h a t production was my subsurface mapping 

and my p r o j e c t i o n of where deep f a u l t s l a y , based on the 

subsurface mapping. The 2-D data helped me l o c a t e some of 

the f a u l t s along trends, but not e x a c t l y i n the v i c i n i t y of 

the w e l l s t h a t were already e s t a b l i s h e d as Chester 

producers. 

Q. Having exhausted your o p p o r t u n i t i e s t o f u r t h e r 

r e f i n e your geologic a n a l y s i s w i t h the 2-D seismic, what's 

the next data event t h a t allows you t o elevat e your 

a n a l y s i s t o the next l e v e l ? 

A. I n about s p r i n g of 1990, our group — and when I 

say "our group" I mean TMBR/Sharp, Ameristate, Fuel 
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Products — acquired a c e r t a i n s e t , a p a r t i a l set of 3-D 

seismic data from another l i t i g a t i o n t h a t we had w i t h 

another company out i n the area. I t h i n k t h i s was 

addressed i n the p r i o r testimony. The seismic data covered 

approximately 6 1/7 or 7 square miles t h a t i n c l u d e d 

Sections 24 and 25 and p a r t s of 23 and 26. 

Q. As a r e s u l t of o b t a i n i n g t h a t data f o r the 3-D — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — were you given s u f f i c i e n t volume of data or 

access t o t h a t data t o analyze i t i n any way? 

A. Yes, we were given a l l the necessary raw data, 

which we promptly sent up t o Mr. Scolman i n Denver. 

Q. And what d i d he do? 

A. Mr. Scolman was charged w i t h generating s y n t h e t i c 

seismograms, t y i n g the data t o formation tops and doing 

some p r e l i m i n a r y mapping, time-mapping, on the data i n 

order t o give us an idea of what we were d e a l i n g w i t h . 

We also heard t h a t he was somewhat of an expert 

i n t h i s area and t h a t he would be the best person t o 

evaluate the data f o r q u a l i t y and f o r r e p r e s e n t a t i o n of the 

s e c t i o n . 

Q. Did he r e p o r t t o you any d e f i c i e n c i e s i n q u a l i t y 

or methodology of data c o l l e c t i o n ? 

A. No, he d i d n ' t . 

Q. Okay, what then happens? 
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A. He produced a series of maps that identified at 

the Chester l e v e l and a t the — w e l l , e v e r y t h i n g from 

b a s i c a l l y the top of the Atoka down through the 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n — a s e r i e s of maps t h a t i d e n t i f i e d a s e r i e s 

of low areas i n those rocks i n t h a t p a r t of the s e c t i o n . 

He also i d e n t i f i e d some of these what he c a l l e d 

closed lows as p o t e n t i a l gathering p o i n t s f o r r e s e r v o i r 

rock, p a r t i c u l a r l y i n the Chester. Where he got h i s ideas 

from i n terms of why he thought t h a t they were p o t e n t i a l — 

I j u s t assumed t h a t , you know, he had worked other areas up 

t o the n o r t h here. I heard somebody say t h a t he worked f o r 

Ocean Energy, and maybe he d i d the work f o r them too. But 

he was the recognized area expert i n terms of e v a l u a t i n g 

these closed low systems t h a t he i d e n t i f i e d f o r us. 

Q. His hypothesis i s , those closed low Chester 

systems — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — would contain hydrocarbons? 

A. Would conta i n rocks t h a t contained hydrocarbons. 

And t h a t ' s what f i n a l l y got my i n t e r e s t f u l l y piqued. 

Q. Okay, what then happened? 

A. I then took the i n f o r m a t i o n , and I had the 

seismic data set — w e l l , I took the i n f o r m a t i o n and I 

evaluated i t , and i t began t o make sense t o me i n terms of 

why those Chester rocks may have been where they were, 
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because he — I s a i d , Well, i f t h a t ' s the case, how d i d 

they get there? My f i r s t question t o myself was how d i d 

they get there? I t doesn't look l i k e — you know, these 

closed lows were separated by i n t e r v e n i n g highs, so i n my 

mind t h a t was not a good channel s i t u a t i o n . 

My next idea was, w e l l , I know t h a t i n t h i s 

r e g i o n t h e r e was a major t e c t o n i c event a t the end of the 

Chester t h a t set up a l o t of deep f a u l t blocks. Well, t h a t 

made a l o t more sense. These deep f a u l t blocks were 

exposed f o r a pe r i o d of time, m a t e r i a l eroded o f f of these 

f a u l t blocks, f i l l e d these lows. That made p e r f e c t sense 

t o me. 

And so I began l o o k i n g a t i t and agreeing w i t h 

Mr. Scolman's e v a l u a t i o n . I spoke t o him sev e r a l times 

over the phone, we discussed i t , and i t began t o make a l o t 

of sense t o me. And then I began t o evaluate the l o c a t i o n s 

t h a t he s p e c i f i e d i n Sections 24 and 25 as best I could 

from the subsurface data. I reconstructed some of my 

subsurface data. 

Q. Do you have an i l l u s t r a t i o n t h a t w i l l serve t o 

e x p l a i n t h i s v i s u a l l y ? 

A. Okay, i f you t u r n t o E x h i b i t 18-B, 18-B i s a 

west-to-east s t r u c t u r a l cross-section t h a t I constructed. 

I t goes from the southwest guarter of Section 2 3 — t h i s i s 

indexed on another map t o come. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

127 

Well, i t ' s — no, i t ' s not indexed on another map 

t o come, but b a s i c a l l y i t goes from the w e l l i n the 

southwest q u a r t e r of Section 23, up t o the Eidson 23 Number 

2 i n the northwest quarter of 23, and then i t goes across 

t o a w e l l i n the southeast quarter of 2 4 t h a t e x i s t e d — 

these w e l l s e x i s t e d a t the time I drew t h i s . This was 

p r i o r t o the d r i l l i n g of the Blue Fin 24 Number 1. 

Q. The Blue Fin 24 Number 1 i s the w e l l t h a t i s 

p r o j e c t e d as a proposed l o c a t i o n — 

A. That's c o r r e c t — 

Q. — on the display? 

A. — t h i s served as a means of t r y i n g t o promote 

t h i s prospect t o TMBR/Sharp. And yes, t h a t proposed 

l o c a t i o n , I have i t i n d i c a t e d as 660 f e e t from the south 

and west of 74. I t ' s approximately i n t h a t l o c a t i o n . I t ' s 

about 72 3 f e e t out of t h a t corner, but — 

Q. At t h i s p o i n t i n the a n a l y s i s — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — have you shared t h i s w i t h TMBR/Sharp? 

A. Oh, yes, they were — 

Q. They were p a r t of your c o l l e c t i v e group? 

A. Yeah, they were p a r t of the c o l l e c t i v e group. 

Q. Was i t shown t o anyone else? 

A. Not a t t h i s time. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 
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A. Okay? What I wanted t o convince TMBR/Sharp of 

was, why — you know, what was the mechanism t h a t 

c o n t r o l l e d t h i s ? 

And on the l e f t side of the c r o s s - s e c t i o n you 

n o t i c e t h a t two of t h e i r w e l l s , the Eidson 23 Number 1 and 

the 23 Number 2, were p r o j e c t e d as s u b s t a n t i a l l y 

s t r u c t u r a l l y higher than t h a t closed low system where the 

proposed l o c a t i o n i s located. And i n t h a t closed low 

system I showed cherty i n t e r c l a s t i c limestones, upper 

Chester, down towards the bottom of t h a t proposed borehole. 

Those were the m a t e r i a l s t h a t I thought were s p a l l i n g o f f 

of these emerging and co n s t a n t l y moving f a u l t blocks d u r i n g 

Chester time. 

And then on the r i g h t side I have the w e l l i n 

Section 24, which i s u p l i f t e d again. 

And the l o c a t i o n s of these f a u l t s were from the 

2-D seismic data, the l i m i t e d 2-D seismic data t h a t we had 

i n the form of l i n e — I need my reading glasses f o r t h i s 

— l i n e ERH-3 t h a t goes east west across 23 and p a r t of 24. 

So I based my e v a l u a t i o n of those f a u l t s — and 

i t was a s i m p l i f i e d e v a l u a t i o n because I couldn't see, you 

know, the i n t r i c a c y , the i n t r i c a c i e s of f a u l t i n g t h a t you 

can see on 3-D seismic now. So I put two major down 

f a u l t s , i n e f f e c t c r e a t i n g a graben a t the proposed 

l o c a t i o n where these closed lows were mapped by Mr. 
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Scolman. And t h a t was the idea — 

Q. And where d i d you f i n d a closed low? 

A. Well, i t ' s --

Q. You've got t o l o c a t e the Chester and f i n d the 

Chester, and then see where i t ' s dropped i n t o t h i s — i n t o 

a bowl — 

A. I n t o l i k e a bowl, i n t o l i k e a c i r c u l a r or some 

k i n d of s e m i - c i r c u l a r type of p a t t e r n , s t r u c t u r a l p a t t e r n . 

Q. Yeah, the seismic data w i l l a l l o w you t o perform 

t h a t f u n c t i o n ? 

A. Yeah, r i g h t . I couldn't close any s t r u c t u r e s , 

based on 2-D data, but now we had the 3-D data t h a t 

i n d i c a t e d t h a t these were a c t u a l l y closed s y n c l i n e s . 

Q. Okay. 

A. Okay, deep synclines. 

Q. You can manipulate the 3-D data t o g i v e you 

perspectives i n a l l angles and a l l degrees — 

A. Well, "manipulate" i s a bad word. 

Q. I n the sense t h a t you use i t i n geophysics. 

A. You can d i g i t i z e any o r i e n t a t i o n of l i n e you 

wish. 

Q. That's what I'm saying — 

A. Yeah. 

Q. — you can a r b i t r a r i l y s e l e c t — 

A. Right. 
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Q. — the angle you go and how f a r you go w i t h the 

data? 

A. Right. 

Q. Okay. When you're t r y i n g t o d e f i n e the l o c a t i o n , 

the s i z e and the shape of these Chester bowls — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — i s there any judgment t h a t you make as a 

g e o l o g i s t t h a t a f f e c t s a parameter t h a t w i l l change the 

l o c a t i o n or the s i z e and shape of the bowl? 

A. You can do t h a t t o a c e r t a i n e x t e n t i f you have 

good marker horizons on the seismic data, and I ' l l t r y t o 

address a l i t t l e b i t of t h a t i n a subseguent e x h i b i t . 

I n t h i s p a r t i c u l a r case, i t ' s a l i t t l e t r i c k y , 

a l l r i g h t ? You can get an idea of the magnitude of the 

closed low, but you don't know how much of t h a t may be 

f i l l e d w i t h porous m a t e r i a l . 

Q. Okay. 

A. Okay? 

Q. What then happens? 

A. We showed t h i s t o Mr. Brown, and a t the time I 

b e l i e v e , i f my memory serves me c o r r e c t , t h a t he was 

l o o k i n g f o r a d d i t i o n a l partners i n order t o a c t u a l l y get 

t h i s d r i l l e d . And so we went out, "we" being Ameristate 

and Fuel Products, went out and t r i e d t o promote t h i s t o 

i n d u s t r y , t h i s idea t o i n d u s t r y , i n order t o get another 
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p a r t n e r i n on the deal. 

Q. At any time d u r i n g t h i s process of promoting t o 

o b t a i n a d d i t i o n a l i n v e s t o r s , d i d you make a p r e s e n t a t i o n t o 

Ocean Energy? 

A. Mr. Nearburg and Mr. B e l l , as Mr. Nearburg 

t e s t i f i e d p r e v i o u s l y , had some i n i t i a l discussions w i t h 

Ocean personnel i n Midland. I was brought i n — I came i n 

on discussions w i t h them i n January of 2001, d u r i n g a 

prospect f a i r down i n Houston. 

We were asked by Ocean — we were going t o 

present t h i s — b a s i c a l l y , t h i s i s a cropped-down v e r s i o n 

of t he cr o s s - s e c t i o n — which i s much longer, i t shows 

other horizons up here — t h a t we were going t o present a t 

t h i s prospect f a i r i n order t o s e l l the deal. Ocean 

personnel asked i f they could see i t p r i o r t o us going 

p u b l i c w i t h i t , and having known a couple of the people a t 

Ocean we agreed t o do so the day before the prospect f a i r 

opened a t t h e i r o f f i c e s i n Houston. 

Q. Do you r e c a l l , Mr. Mazzullo, what Ocean 

r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s were present a t the p r i v a t e showing of your 

analysis? 

A. The e x p l o r a t i o n manager Gerald Grocock, t h e 

g e o l o g i s t Frank Messa, Bob S i l v e r was the g e o p h y s i c i s t , i s 

i t Darold Maney? Darold Maney, I b e l i e v e , was the landman. 

And one other engineer who came and went, and I can never 
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remember h i s name. I'm so r r y . I — 

Q. Summarize your p r e s e n t a t i o n . 

A. I had brought my laptop computer t h a t had the 3-D 

seismic data loaded i n t o i t w i t h i n t e r p r e t a t i o n s , w i t h 

basic i n t e r p r e t a t i o n s of the data t h a t I had made, i n 

a d d i t i o n t o the paper copies t h a t Mr. Scolman had made. 

I also brought the f u l l - s c a l e c r o s s - s e c t i o n , and 

we s a t down i n i t i a l l y , I b e l i e v e , and discussed some of the 

deal terms and some of the land issues, and then we got 

i n t o a geologic discussion. 

Q. At t h i s p o i n t , then, t h i s i s l o o k i n g f o r 

a d d i t i o n a l i n v e s t o r s f o r the Blue Fin 24 w e l l — 

A. Right. 

Q. — p r i o r t o d r i l l i n g t h a t w e l l ? 

A. Right. 

Q. The Ocean w e l l has already been d r i l l e d ? 

A. The Ocean w e l l was already d r i l l e d a t t h e time, 

yes. 

Q. Summarize the pr e s e n t a t i o n . 

A. B a s i c a l l y , I went through what I — some of the 

basic s t u f f I j u s t went through w i t h you i n terms of why I 

thought t h i n g s were the way they were i n the area and 

presented t h i s , which was a — the f u l l - s c a l e v e r s i o n of 

t h i s montage, which also included a seismic amplitude s l i c e 

map of the form t h a t Mr. Scolman had provided t o us, only I 
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generated i t t o paste i n t o t h i s montage. I t showed the 

l o c a t i o n s of the closed lows, the l i n e of t h i s cross-

s e c t i o n and t h i s 2-D s e c t i o n t h a t we had as w e l l t o 

s u b s t a n t i a t e what we thought was going on from the 2-D 

data, and t h i s geologic cross-section showing my concept of 

what I thought we were going t o encounter a t the proposed 

l o c a t i o n . 

Q. Did your a n a l y s i s show, i n your o p i n i o n , t h e 

l i k e l y o p p o r t u n i t y f o r the l o c a t i o n of these Chester bowls 

w i t h i n Section 23, 24, 25 or 26? 

A. The seismic amplitude map c e r t a i n l y d i d . But 

then we made the seismic database a v a i l a b l e on my l a p t o p t o 

Mr. S i l v e r t o evaluate, who took, oh, maybe a couple hours 

and d i d h i s own independent — you know, he took random 

l i n e s and took a look a t the data, and I b e l i e v e he t r i e d 

t o compare i t t o some of the data g u a l i t y t h a t they found 

on some of t h e i r own seismic data i n the area. And the 

r e s t of the time t h e r e was more or less spent p o r i n g over 

each other's shoulders l o o k i n g a t the seismic data. 

Q. What happened then? 

A. There was some t a l k from Mr. Grocock about, you 

know, the v i a b i l i t y of the deal. But then Mr. S i l v e r began 

t o question whether or not the s t r u c t u r a l s e t t i n g of t h i s 

area was too low t o be productive. I n other words, i t 

would l i k e l y be wet, based on the f a c t t h a t t h i s area here, 
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s t r u c t u r a l l y speaking, from a gross s t r u c t u r a l sense, was 

low t o the area — was regionally low t o the area up t o the 

north where they had made t h e i r i n i t i a l discovery. 

Q. Did you as a geologist see any geologic 

c o n t i n u i t y of a reservoir system that would have connected 

the Section 10 well t o what you were t r y i n g t o develop i n 

Section 24? 

A. No, the seismic data indicated a steep d e c l i v i t y 

of the structure down towards the south, but with 

intervening high areas i n between these various bowls. I n 

f a c t , the termination of most of the good closed low 

systems occurred under the 24 Number 1 location, and i t 

kind of died out towards the northwest i n t o Section 23. 

So I r e a l l y didn't see that the closed low system 

was viable much further north than the Section 23-24 l i n e , 

because we were getting — What happens over here i s t h a t 

i t ' s very complex structure. From t h i s cross-section you 

can t e l l t h a t when you're i n the low you have a substantial 

thickening of the section, including that of the overlying 

Atoka and the Chester. 

When you get up on these higher areas, the 

Chester act u a l l y pinches out. And there are areas here 

where there i s no Chester at a l l . You go d i r e c t l y from 

Atoka limestone i n t o lower Mississippian when you get r e a l 

high on the structure. 
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What I was seeing was t h a t we were g e t t i n g 

s t e e p l y higher towards the n o r t h , and the l i k e l i h o o d t h a t 

t h e r e was any c o n t i n u i t y a t a l l was p r e t t y s l i m . Closed 

lows cannot be defined any f u r t h e r t o the n o r t h . 

Q. Did the repr e s e n t a t i v e s of Ocean take advantage 

of your o p p o r t u n i t y t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n some way i n your 

w e l l ? 

A. No, the next day f o r m a l l y , I guess, w h i l e we were 

e x h i b i t i n g i n the e x h i b i t h a l l i n Houston, s e v e r a l of t h e i r 

personnel came by — I t h i n k i t was Mr. Grocock and Mr. 

Messa or some combination — came by t o inf o r m us t h a t they 

were going t o pass on the deal. 

Q. Did they i n d i c a t e the reasons t h a t they would 

pass on the deal? 

A. I t was pu r e l y t e c h n i c a l . They d i d n ' t t h i n k t h a t 

they could get low and productive. They thought i t would 

be low and wet. They d i d n ' t make any i n d i c a t i o n , a t l e a s t 

t o me, or i n f r o n t of me or i n f r o n t of Mark Nearburg and I 

t h a t had anything other t o do w i t h t e c h n i c a l issues. 

Q. What happens now? 

A. Well, we e v e n t u a l l y — as you've heard from p r i o r 

testimony, the w e l l was u l t i m a t e l y d r i l l e d i n — help me 

out here. A l i t t l e l a t e r on i n the year? 

MS. RICHARDSON: March 29th. 

THE WITNESS: March 29th of t h a t same year, which 
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was j u s t a couple months l a t e r , and we d r i l l e d and n e a r l y 

blew out i n the Chester lime. That's what Mr. — Mr. 

P h i l l i p s was d e s c r i b i n g how s p e c i a l care had t o be taken, 

l i n e r s had t o be set. 

We got through the Chester and d r i l l e d on and 

f i n a l l y went t o a t o t a l depth i n t o the lower M i s s i s s i p p i a n 

limestone and logged the w e l l and found over 2 4 f e e t or so 

of extremely porous m a t e r i a l a t the very top of t h e 

Chester. 

But we also found a very thickened s e c t i o n — an 

abnormally thickened s e c t i o n of the Chester which I 

suspected might have happened, but I never r e a l l y mapped i t 

i n t h e r e because I thought there was a f a u l t from the 3-D 

data t h a t may have cut the Chester s e c t i o n . Well, we 

encountered i t . Whether we encountered i t because the w e l l 

d r i f t e d a l i t t l e b i t or not, I don't know. But we 

encountered i t . 

So we got a repeat s e c t i o n of the Chester, and we 

d r i l l e d a l l the way through the Chester s e c t i o n u n t i l we 

were sure we were out of i t and encountered the porous 

m a t e r i a l t h a t we spoke o f , t h a t we were a n t i c i p a t i n g . 

Q. (By Mr. K e l l a h i n ) How does the data d e r i v e d from 

the proposed w e l l , the a c t u a l l y d r i l l e d Section 24 w e l l , 

compare w i t h your hypothesis about where t o put t h i s w e ll? 

A. I f you look at E x h i b i t 18-C, 18-C i s a 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

137 

duplication of Exhibit 18-B, but instead of a proposed 

location I've now inserted the actual w e l l log from the 

Blue Fin 24 Number 1. The scale i s j u s t a l i t t l e b i t 

d i f f e r e n t , because I had to extend the e x h i b i t , because the 

section that we d r i l l e d was so much thicker than what I 

show on the previous e x h i b i t . 

But i f you make a d i r e c t comparison between 

what's seen i n Exhibit 18-B and that which i s seen i n 18-C, 

there's p r e t t y good correspondence. We've got a thickened 

section of Atoka, as we anticipated, a thickened section of 

the Morrow shale above the Chester, we've got the Chester 

d e t r i t a l material i n that bowl, and the s t r u c t u r a l value on 

top of the Chester p r e t t y much mapped what I subsequently 

mapped out there seismically. And we've got that thickened 

section of Chester that was the r e s u l t of a repeat section 

from th a t f a u l t that cut the section. 

Q. Was there anything you obtained from the Blue Fin 

24 well t h a t caused you to go back and a l t e r any of your 

p r i o r analysis? 

A. Well, I'm happy to say f o r the f i r s t time i n my 

professional l i f e , I didn't have t o change a thi n g . 

Q. Can you display f o r us where you thin k we w i l l 

f i n d these Chester bowls w i t h i n Section 24? 

A. Okay, we'll turn to Exhibit 18-D, which i s a 

depth map to the top of the Chester formation. Now, I'm 
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talking about the top of the Chester limestone, which on 

the cross-section, on Exhibit 18-B and -C, is this brownish 

limestone p a t t e r n d i r e c t l y beneath the d e t r i t a l s e c t i o n . 

Okay? So we're t a l k i n g about the surface t h a t ' s on t o p of 

the limestone, and t h a t ' s what's mapped here. That's 

what's mapped i n E x h i b i t 18-D, the top of the Chester 

limestone. 

Q. Are we l o o k i n g a t a d i s p l a y i n terms of time, or 

have you converted t h i s t o footage? 

A. This has been converted t o depth, subsea depth. 

On the r i g h t - h a n d side i s the c o l o r bar, which i s the c o l o r 

code. I d i d n ' t b u i l d any f a u l t s i n t o t h i s a n a l y s i s . This 

i s a f a i r l y recent an a l y s i s and I haven't completed the 

whole area y e t , so I l e f t the f a u l t s out f o r s i m p l i c i t y . 

But the c o l o r scheme on the bar shows t h a t the h o t t e r 

c o l o r s , the oranges and yellows are higher s t r u c t u r e s , and 

the blues, purples and azures and deep blues are the lower 

s t r u c t u r e s i n the area. 

As you can see, there are t h r e e — there's a 

major low area t h a t extends — t h a t k i n d of pinches out 

i n t o Section 23 and opens up i n t o the southwest of 24 and a 

l i t t l e b i t of the southeast of 23. 

Q. That's the one I want t o focus on f i r s t . 

A. Right. 

Q. That's the bowl i n which you have d r i l l e d and 
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completed the Blue Fin 24? 

A. Right, the Blue Fin 24 i s i n t h a t deep blue 

b u l l ' s eye, low b u l l ' s eye r i g h t t h e r e . 

By the way, j u s t f o r — because I know somebody's 

going t o ask, those red hachured o u t l i n e s t h a t you see — 

Q. Yes. 

A. — i s my conservative e s t i m a t i o n of where the 

o u t l i n e s of the porous m a t e r i a l may be, and t h a t ' s based 

p r i m a r i l y on a look a t the amplitude c h a r a c t e r i s t i c s 

immediately above the Chester lime, but i t ' s by no means a 

d e f i n i t i v e o u t l i n e , but i t ' s my best guess of how l a r g e 

these f e a t u r e s are i n d i v i d u a l l y . 

Q. Well, help me understand now. I f you're 

i d e n t i f y i n g the l o c a t i o n and the s i z e of the Chester 

bowl — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — how do I r e l a t e the blue area t o the area 

t h a t ' s o u t l i n e d i n red w i t h the h o r i z o n t a l l i n e s ? 

A. Okay, I t h i n k t h a t ' s best addressed by l o o k i n g a t 

the next model, which on the map on 18-D i s l a b e l e d "West-

East Model". That's going t o be E x h i b i t 18-E. 

You open up E x h i b i t 18-E, the top p a r t of 18-E i s 

a west-to-east seismic s l i c e through the 3-D data, and 

below t h a t was my o r i g i n a l model, which I also showed Ocean 

when we were t h e r e . That was — The o r i g i n a l model t h a t ' s 
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on the bottom p a r t of 18-E was p a r t of t h a t montage t h a t we 

showed them down i n Houston. I t ' s a close match t o what 

you were seeing on the seismic s e c t i o n above. There's some 

more i n t r i c a t e f a u l t i n g i nvolved i n the lower p a r t of the 

s e c t i o n . 

But the yellow area t h a t I've o u t l i n e d i s 

probably too much. That represents about 2 0 m i l l i s e c o n d s , 

which t r a n s l a t e s anywhere between 70 and 90 f e e t t h i c k n e s s . 

I don't t h i n k they are t h a t t h i c k . Okay? I t h i n k the 

fe a t u r e s are smaller than t h a t , which i s what I t r i e d t o 

i n d i c a t e by those red hachured marks on 18-D. So the 

ext e n t of the yellow c o l o r a t i o n on t h a t west-to-east 

seismic s e c t i o n i s a c t u a l l y l a r g e r than those red envelopes 

t h a t I drew on the map, simply because I don't t h i n k they 

are t h a t t h i c k . They're not 70 or 80 f e e t t h i c k . 

Q. So the r e d u c t i o n i n size on some of the margins 

where I'm l o o k i n g a t the blue area — 

A. Right. 

Q. — t h a t represents what you have d e f i n e d as the 

l i m i t s of the bowls? 

A. The l i m i t s of the porous rock contained w i t h i n 

the bowl. The l i m i t s of the bowl are about those dark blue 

or dark blue t o purple t r a n s i t i o n zone. That's about the 

l i m i t of each of those bowls. 

Q. From a geologic perspective, Mr. Mazzullo, i f I'm 
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l o o k i n g a t the Blue Fin 24 w e l l — 

A. Uh-hun. 

Q. — i s t h a t s i n g l e w e l l i n t h a t bowl enough, or 

are you going t o have t o d r i l l some more w e l l s i n the bowl? 

A. I wouldn't recommend i t . 

Q. And why not? 

A. Because t h a t one w e l l w i l l s u f f i c i e n t l y d r a i n 

t h a t one f e a t u r e , and the next e x h i b i t w i l l i l l u s t r a t e why 

I t h i n k so. 

But l e t me go back t o t h i s model f o r a second, 

j u s t t o c l a r i f y what t h i s means on the bottom p a r t of 

E x h i b i t 18-E. You see a f a u l t block o f f on the r i g h t side 

where m a t e r i a l i s being eroded o f f and shedded i n t o a low 

area, i n t o a graben, and then another f a u l t on the l e f t 

s i de t h a t f a u l t s back up t o the other side of t h i s major 

low t r e n d . Okay? And t h a t ' s p r e t t y much what we're seeing 

on the 2-D seismic s l i c e . 

And bear i n mind t h a t t h i s was the model t h a t I 

was working on p r i o r t o our a c q u i s i t i o n of the 3-D. Okay? 

This i s not based on t h i s l i n e . 

Q. Right. 

A. Okay? I t ' s j u s t t o show the correspondence of 

the model t o the a c t u a l seismic data. 

Q. Having reached t h a t p o i n t , continue w i t h your 

next s l i d e . 
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A. Okay. On E x h i b i t 18-F, i f you w i l l r e f e r t o the 

— on E x h i b i t 18-D, i f you r e f e r t o the l i n e l a b e l e d 

"North-South Model", t h a t ' s what t h i s l i n e of s e c t i o n 

f o l l o w s , the north-south model l i n e from northwest i n t o 

Section 23, down through the Blue Fin 24, t o the Blue Fin 

25 l o c a t i o n , and then over t o another s m a l l , closed low i n 

the south h a l f of Section 25. 

And below t h a t s e c t i o n i s a schematic t h a t i s 

based upon t h i s l i n e . Okay? I t ' s a schematic 

r e p r e s e n t a t i o n of what I t h i n k t h i s l i n e i s showing us, 

f a u l t s and a l l . 

And what i t ' s showing us i s a s e r i e s of these 

bowls t h a t are f i l l e d i n w i t h m a t e r i a l t h a t I've 

h i g h l i g h t e d i n yellow, separated by i n t e r v e n i n g highs, 

okay? 

So here's a low, here's a hi g h , and here's 

another low, there's another l i t t l e h i g h and another low, 

which schematically on my s e c t i o n — on my schematic 

s e c t i o n on the bottom, i s shown as a s e r i e s of i s o l a t e d 

f e a t u r e s , i s o l a t e d closed low f e a t u r e s , which I t h i n k goes 

back t o — which goes back t o the t h r e e blue bowls t h a t are 

on the seismic s t r u c t u r e map. 

Q. From your a n a l y s i s , Mr. Mazzullo, you've 

s a t i s f i e d y o u r s e l f t h a t the Blue Fin 24 bowl i s separate 

and unique from the bowl t h a t contains the w e l l t h a t ' s now 
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being d r i l l e d , the Blue Fin 25 well? 

A. Yes, I be l i e v e t h a t they are separate f e a t u r e s . 

Q. And when we look a t the l a s t bowl, which i s the 

one i n the south h a l f of 25 — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — your an a l y s i s shows t h a t t h a t i s separate from 

the bowl i n the northwest quarter — 

A. Yes — 

Q. — of 25? 

A. — t h a t would be my i n t e r p r e t a t i o n . 

Q. When we look a t the summary sheet, l e t ' s come 

back t o E x h i b i t 18-D. 

A. -D? 

Q. Yeah, we're l o o k i n g a t the l o c a t i o n of the bowls. 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. You have i n Section 25 cross-hached the s e c t i o n 

i n t o t he qua r t e r sections? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. I s t h a t what t h a t l i n e — 

A. Yeah, those f a i n t dashed l i n e s are s u b d i v i d i n g 

the s e c t i o n i n t o quarter sections. 

Q. Okay. When we're l o o k i n g a t the Blue F i n 25 

Chester bowl, i s there any p o r t i o n of t h a t bowl t h a t 

extends i n t o the south h a l f of the section? 

A. No, as a matter of f a c t , I gave t h a t red-hachure 
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p a t t e r n probably more than i t deserved. 

Q. And what about the t h i r d bowl, the one t h a t does 

not y e t have the well? 

A. The t h i r d bowl, you know, i s — again, you know, 

i s as l a r g e as I care t o make i t , as I f e e l comfortable 

making i t , based upon an a n a l y s i s of l i n e s t h a t c u t through 

i t i n a d i p d i r e c t i o n . That's how I evaluated — I 

evaluated the s i z e of these fea t u r e s by t a k i n g a r b i t r a r y 

s l i c e s t h i s way and t h a t way. 

Q. Yeah. Well, you've approached t h i s from m u l t i p l e 

o r i e n t a t i o n s — 

A. Yeah, from m u l t i p l e o r i e n t a t i o n s . 

Q. — so t h a t you could determine the s i z e , l o c a t i o n 

and shape — 

A. Exactly. 

Q. — of the bowls? 

A. Exactly. 

Q. Recognizing t h a t w e l l s a t t h i s depth are spaced 

by the D i v i s i o n , a t l e a s t c u r r e n t l y , on 320-acre gas 

spacing — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — do you have a recommendation as t o how the 

s e c t i o n ought t o be developed i n terms of o r i e n t i n g those 

spacing u n i t s ? 

A. Well, obviously i f we o r i e n t e d a n orth-south 
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spacing u n i t , we wouldn't be able t o evaluate the southern 

closed low system, l o c a t i n g — f o r the Chester. 

Q. Uh-huh. 

A. Creating laydown east-west u n i t s a f f o r d s the 

o p p o r t u n i t y t o e f f e c t i v e l y evaluate two f e a t u r e s and get 

two w e l l s i n t o the Chester, whereas a north-south u n i t 

would only r e a l l y get one, maybe one and a h a l f . 

Q. Well, i f you're l o o k i n g a t 25 and you're l o o k i n g 

a t a west-half spacing u n i t — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — the west-half spacing u n i t , t he i n i t i a l w e l l , 

I guess, would be the one you're d r i l l i n g i n the northwest 

quarter? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. I f you're going t o t r y t o capture some share of 

the t h i r d pod — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — you're going t o have t o be over i n the east 

side of the southwest quarter of t h a t section? 

A. Yeah, r e a l close t o the lease l i n e , yes. 

Q. And i f you've got a standup spacing u n i t , what 

are you going t o do w i t h the r e s t of the r e s e r v o i r t h a t ' s 

i n t he east h a l f ? 

A. Oh, I see, yeah. 

Q. Yeah, what happens? 
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A. You can't do anything w i t h i t . 

Q. You e i t h e r can't do i t , or you have t o d r i l l 

another w e l l ? 

A. Or you have t o d r i l l another w e l l , t h a t ' s r i g h t . 

Q. What's the advantage of l a y i n g the spacing u n i t s 

down? 

A. Well, we w i l l e f f e c t i v e l y d r a i n t h a t l a r g e — 

t h a t — what I'm showing as the Blue Fin 25 Number 1 u n i t , 

w e ' l l e f f e c t i v e l y d r a i n t h a t f e a t u r e w i t h t h a t one w e l l , I 

would b e l i e v e . Okay? 

And then another w e l l could be d r i l l e d i n t o t h a t 

s o u t h - h a l f u n i t , and by my a n a l y s i s i t ' s not i n 

communication w i t h the one we're c u r r e n t l y d r i l l i n g . 

Q. Do you see i n your a n a l y s i s any other pods t h a t 

are of s u f f i c i e n t s i z e t o be a Chester bowl, t o j u s t i f y a 

w e l l i n t h i s section? 

A. At t h i s p o i n t , w i t h i n the confines of t h i s area 

t h a t ' s represented on the map, no, I don't. I don't. As I 

say, you lose s e c t i o n as you go up t o the northwest, even 

i n t h i s major — you know, even w i t h i n the confines of t h a t 

pale blue area you're l o s i n g s e c t i o n , and i t ' s a higher — 

h i g h r i s k . 

Q. Mr. Mazzullo, have you p a r t i c i p a t e d i n any way 

w i t h the engineering employees or personnel among your 

group t o t r y t o assess the recoverable gas or the amount of 
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gas contained i n any of these bowls? 

A. The only t h i n g I d i d was provide these acreage 

f i g u r e s t h a t you see on E x h i b i t 18-D f o r the sizes of these 

f e a t u r e s as I saw them. 

I d i d not c a l c u l a t e recoverable reserves on my 

own. I'm l e a v i n g t h a t t o the engineers. 

Q. So when Mr. P h i l l i p s t e s t i f i e s about a p p o r t i o n i n g 

shares — 

Q. 

A. 

through — 

Uh-huh. 

— i n Section 25, i t ' s based upon t h i s map? 

I assume i t i s , yes. 

MR. KELLAHIN: A l l r i g h t , s i r . 

That concludes my examination of Mr. Mazzullo. 

We move the i n t r o d u c t i o n of h i s e x h i b i t s 18-A 

MS. RICHARDSON: F. 

MR. KELLAHIN: -F. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objections? 

MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n . 

MR. BRUCE: No, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: E x h i b i t s 18-A through 18-F 

w i l l be admitted i n t o evidence a t t h i s time. 

Thank you, Mr. K e l l a h i n . 

Mr. H a l l , your witness. 

MR. BRUCE: I f I could go f i r s t , Mr. Examiner? 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, i n t h a t case, Mr. Bruce. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Just a quick follow-up t o Mr. K e l l a h i n * s l a s t 

q uestion t o you t h a t t h i s E x h i b i t 18-D i s then what was 

used by Mr. P h i l l i p s — 

A. Well, y o u ' l l have t o ask Mr. P h i l l i p s t h a t . I 

gave him the f i g u r e s , and what he d i d w i t h them a f t e r t h a t , 

I don't know. 

MR. BRUCE: I f I could j u s t ask Mr. P h i l l i p s , i s 

t h i s what you used, Mr. P h i l l i p s , i n your E x h i b i t 17? 

MR. PHILLIPS: I d i d not use t h i s map. 

MR. BRUCE: You d i d not use t h i s map? 

MR. PHILLIPS: I used Mr. Scolman's map, which i s 

s i m i l a r t o t h i s map. 

MR. BRUCE: So what you used i s n ' t i n evidence, 

Mr. P h i l l i p s ? 

MR. PHILLIPS: That's c o r r e c t . 

MR. BRUCE: Okay. 

MR. PHILLIPS: I t i s very s i m i l a r . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) A couple of t h i n g s on your — do 

you have any — i s your Blue Fin 24 Number 1 p r o d u c t i v e i n 

the Atoka? 

A. (By Mr. Mazzullo) We t e s t e d the Atoka and i t 

t e s t e d non-productive. 
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Q. Okay. I n lo o k i n g a t your map 18-C, Mr. 

Mazzullo, would t h i s i n d i c a t e t h a t — I n o t i c e k i n d of i n 

the middle of the map you have "Main Atoka Pay Zone". 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. That would be t o the west of the Blue F i n w e l l ? 

A. That's how I see i t , yes. 

Q. Now, does your E x h i b i t 18-D, does t h a t p u r p o r t t o 

show what the drainage areas f o r these w e l l s are going t o 

be? 

A. No, t h a t was f o r my own e d i f i c a t i o n . That was 

f o r my own e d i f i c a t i o n and t o give me some idea of the 

r e l a t i v e s izes of these f e a t u r e s . 

Q. Okay. 

A. I make no claim t o what they're going t o — 

whether these are a c t u a l l y , you know, e x a c t l y c o r r e c t or 

not. 

Q. Okay. 

A. My best e s t i m a t i o n . 

Q. So there could be drainage from the Blue F i n 2 4 

Number 1, say, t o the northwest and t o the southeast, and 

i f t h e Blue F i n 25 Number 1 i s completed as a producer, 

t h e r e could be drainage down i n t o the southwest q u a r t e r of 

Section 25? 

A. I f i n d t h a t less l i k e l y because a f t e r I d i d my 

a n a l y s i s by drawing l i n e s and cross l i n e s through these 
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f e a t u r e s I c o n s i s t e n t l y came up w i t h these i n t e r v e n i n g h i gh 

areas t h a t seemed t o me t o prevent any s i g n i f i c a n t 

enlargement of the fe a t u r e s , t o the extent t h a t I've drawn 

them on t h i s map. I t h i n k t h a t ' s about as b i g as they get, 

as f a r as where the productive f a c i e s are going t o be 

s i t t i n g . 

Q. Do you have any data on the Blue F i n 24 l i k e 

bottomhole pressure, p o r o s i t y , e t cetera? 

A. You'd have t o — Oh, p o r o s i t y on the Blue F i n 24, 

I b e l i e v e , i s i n the order of — 24 percent sound about 

r i g h t ? As f a r as bottomhole pressure, I ' d have t o defer t o 

Mr. P h i l l i p s . I don't have t h a t i n f o r m a t i o n r e a d i l y a t 

hand. 

Q. So you're saying the p o r o s i t y i s 24 percent. Do 

you have a water s a t u r a t i o n f o r the we l l ? 

A. No, I haven't c a l c u l a t e d a water s a t u r a t i o n f o r 

the w e l l . I t ' s c u r r e n t l y producing dry gas and condensate. 

Q. And you don't have a bottomhole pressure f o r the 

we l l ? 

A. I don't, Mr. P h i l l i p s might. 

Q. Do you have a thickness of the r e s e r v o i r — 

A. The r e s e r v o i r i s approximately 24 f e e t t h i c k , 24 

and 24. 

Q. Does the r e s e r v o i r thickness change as you move 

away from the wellbore? 
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A. I don't know. We haven't drilled another well, 

and we're not going t o . 

Q. So you don't know? 

A. Se i s m i c a l l y speaking, yes, but how t h i c k I don't 

know. 

MR. BRUCE: Okay. I t h i n k t h a t ' s a l l I have a t 

the present, Mr. Examiner. 

MR. HALL: I have no questions, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Carr? 

MR. CARR: No questions. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any r e d i r e c t ? 

MR. KELLAHIN: One question. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KELLAHIN: 

Q. Having completed t h i s a n a l y s i s , Mr. Mazzullo, was 

th e r e any other involvement w i t h any of the other 

geophysicists? I t h i n k the hypothesis was o r i g i n a l l y done 

by a David Scolman? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Was he involved i n reviewing or l o o k i n g a t any of 

your f i n a l work? 

A. No, he wasn't. 

Q. When we look a t Section 2 5 — and I'm l o o k i n g a t 

E x h i b i t 18-D — 

A. Okay. 
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Q. — am I c l e a r i n understanding t h a t you have 

concluded from t h i s a n a l y s i s , i f these are laydown spacing 

u n i t s — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — we can s u c c e s s f u l l y access both pods w i t h two 

w e l l s ? 

A. That's what I b e l i e v e . 

Q. And i f they're standups, you would end up w i t h a 

competing second w e l l i n the second pod because of a 

d i f f e r e n c e i n ownership? 

A. Yes, you would. 

Q. There would be an i n t e r e s t i n each side t o have a 

w e l l ? 

A. Uh-huh, yes. 

Q. So i n one o r i e n t a t i o n you get two w e l l s and i n 

the other one you get three? 

A. You get — three? 

Q. Well, you have one w e l l , the Blue F i n 25 — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — and i n the second pod i n the south h a l f — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — i f you stand them up, whoever d r i l l s t h a t pod 

f i r s t e i t h e r gets i t a l l — 

A. Right. 

Q. — or you have t o have t h i r d w e l l f o r the other 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

153 

owner? 

A. Yes, you would, and i t ' s a small pod. 

MR. KELLAHIN: Yeah. No f u r t h e r questions. 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER STOGNER: 

Q. Okay. Mr. Mazzullo, I'm going t o r e f e r t o 

E x h i b i t Number 18-E as i n Edward. 

A. E, okay. 

Q. And please focus w i t h me here on the — t h i s 

e r o s i o n d u r i n g an u p l i f t . 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Now, you're showing, the way I understand i t , the 

yel l o w — and I'm going t o look a t the bottom — 

A. Right. 

Q. — drawing or e x h i b i t , and i t ' s my understanding 

t h a t the yellow area here — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — i s the erosion t h a t has occurred due t o a 

f a u l t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Of what material? Sand — 

A. No, what happened a t the end of the M i s s i s s i p p i a n 

i s , you had r e g i o n a l — a t e c t o n i c event t h a t u p l i f t e d 

these f a u l t blocks, okay, and exposed M i s s i s s i p p i a n rocks, 

both Chester and lower M i s s i s s i p p i a n . 
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The Chester, as I said, has completely eroded off 

the h i g h e s t p a r t s of these blocks, exposing lower 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n . This i s a combination of m a t e r i a l d e r i v e d 

from the Chester and the lower M i s s i s s i p p i a n , d e r i v e d from 

t h e erosion of the Chester and the lower M i s s i s s i p p i a n . 

Q. And t h i s was i n a deep marine environment, or 

what k i n d of environment? 

A. This i s i n a r e l a t i v e l y shallow marine t o near-

shore environment, probably. I'm not q u i t e sure, because 

the water depth — You're g e t t i n g i n t o an o f f s h o r e area 

here. So i t was probably i n moderate-depth water t h a t t h i s 

occurred. I t rumbled. I t ' s k i n d of l i k e i f you t h i n k of 

o f f s h o r e C a l i f o r n i a d u r i n g any earthquake, you have a l o t 

of m a t e r i a l sloughing o f f i n t o the canyons and the 

c o n t i n e n t a l s h e l f every time you have a major earthquake 

out t h e r e . 

And I base my i n t e r p r e t a t i o n on sample 

e v a l u a t i o n , I've looked a t these rocks i n a number of w e l l s 

where they e x i s t . 

Q. Okay. Now, when I look a t t h i s d e p i c t i o n , i s 

t h i s upper Mississippian-Chester on the surface, so we 

a c t u a l l y have a f a u l t s l i p p i n g down where t h i s i s being 

eroded o f f i n t o the downthrown area; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yeah, you have an u p l i f t . And then from probably 

shallow marine e r o s i o n a l i n f l u e n c e s , wave a c t i o n and 
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whatnot, you're eroding m a t e r i a l c o n s t a n t l y o f f of the high 

areas, and i t ' s j u s t f a l l i n g down i n t o t h i s low area and 

g e t t i n g c o n t i n u a l l y reworked by bottom c u r r e n t s as w e l l . 

I t ' s a f a i r l y well-winnowed m a t e r i a l , though i t ' s got a l o t 

of what I c a l l geotrash i n i t , a l o t of mixed-up f a c i e s i n 

i t . 

Q. Okay. Now, when I look a t E x h i b i t Number 18-C, 

now, t h i s same m a t e r i a l t h a t you're showing i n y e l l o w i n 

18-E, t h i s i s the white area w i t h the orange t r i a n g l e s — 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. — i n the upper — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — Chester? 

A. Right. 

Q. Now, up on the upthrown p o r t i o n of i t — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — I show a l i t t l e b i t of t h i s area, and I'm 

l o o k i n g from the center of t h i s d e p i c t i o n over t o the 

ri g h t - h a n d side — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — up on the upper-thrown area — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — you've got between the Chester and t h i s upper 

Morrow. 

A. Uh-huh. 
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Q. You show some — a l i t t l e b i t of t h i s ? 

A. Yeah, because what happens i s , these f a u l t s 

were — You n o t i c e t h a t the f a u l t i s w e l l — continue on up 

the s e c t i o n . Okay. These f a u l t s were p e r i o d i c a l l y 

r e a c t i v a t e d . They were a c t i v a t e d — They s t a r t e d i n the 

very lowest paleozoic s e c t i o n and then p e r i o d i c a l l y moved. 

They moved a major event i n the upper M i s s i s s i p p i a n , then 

d u r i n g the Morrow, then d u r i n g various periods o f t h e 

Atoka, and f i n a l l y culminated i n the lower Wolfcamp, as a 

matter of f a c t . Some of these f a u l t s go way up i n t o the 

lower Wolfcamp. 

So those m a t e r i a l s were shed d u r i n g t h a t p e r i o d 

of e r o s i o n and then subsequently f a u l t e d through the l a t e r 

events. 

And the reason I show t h a t i s because we had — I 

t h i n k we repeated a l i t t l e b i t , and I t h i n k the reason why 

we have so much s e c t i o n i s , we may have repeated i n t h a t 

p a r t of the s e c t i o n when we h i t the f a u l t , although t h a t ' s 

unclear t o me r i g h t now, e x a c t l y where the f a u l t c u t i s . 

Q. Okay. Now, I'm going t o switch over t o E x h i b i t 

18-F — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. -- and I'm loo k i n g a t t h i s d e p i c t i o n of the f o l d , 

s t a r t i n g from the TMBR/Sharp Blue Fin 24 Number 1. I f I 

come s t r a i g h t down t o my d e p i c t i o n — 
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A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — one of the t h i n g s t h a t I see i s the f a u l t 

blocks extending a l l the way up i n t o the Atoka, and I'm 

assuming t h a t t h a t would equate t o my d e p i c t i o n i n 18-C; i s 

t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. Now, I'm going t o swi t c h over now t o the 

proposed Blue Fin 25 Number 1. Now, what I see here i s , 

the f a u l t s do not extend up i n t o the Atoka and the 

Morrow — 

A. No. 

Q. — i t ' s — you show i t as down i n the lower 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n and up i n t o the Chester — 

A. Right. 

Q. -- but y e t you're s t i l l showing t h i s — 

A. Are you l o o k i n g a t — You're l o o k i n g a t 18-F? 

I'm s o r r y . 

Q. Yes, 18-F. 

A. Right. Yeah, you're l o o k i n g a t a s e c t i o n t h a t ' s 

e s s e n t i a l l y going down the spine of t h i s low, down the 

spine of the graben. You're not l o o k i n g east t o west a t 

the f a u l t s t h a t are u p l i f t i n g e i t h e r side of the graben. 

So you're l o o k i n g at a l l these s u b s i d i a r y f a u l t s , some of 

which penetrate the e n t i r e s e c t i o n and some of which do 

not. 
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Q. Okay, so t h i s k i n d of gives me — not a f a l s e 

impression, but not an accurate d e p i c t i o n — 

A. Right. 

Q. — or not a f u l l d e s c r i p t i o n ? 

A. Yeah, i f you were t o take — and maybe I should 

have done i t , but i f you were t o take an east-west s e c t i o n 

across here, l i k e the west-east model, you would get 

b a s i c a l l y the same type of c o n f i g u r a t i o n as you do i n 18-E. 

And i t gets r e a l high o f f t o the west and high up t o the 

n o r t h e a s t . 

Q. Okay. And so i f I keep moving over t o the 

northeast of the southwest of 25, where the angle or the — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — the run of the c r o s s - s e c t i o n goes more t o the 

east-west, as opposed t o a north-south, then I'm s t a r t i n g 

t o p i c k up t h i s — 

A. Yeah. 

Q. — f a u l t t h a t extends through the whole area? 

A. Yeah, the f a u l t s are i n f a i r l y close p r o x i m i t y t o 

the l o c a t i o n s — w e l l , a t l e a s t t o the — I t ' s j u s t o f f t o 

the east of the Blue Fin 24 Number 1, beyond the p u r p l e 

envelope, okay, and i t ' s about — probably cuts through the 

northeast of t h i s northwest of 25, comes down t h e r e and 

cuts f a i r l y close t o t h a t other lower pod down a t the 

bottom. 
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Q. Okay. Now, back t o 18-D. I want t o make sure 

t h i s number t h a t I'm loo k i n g a t — now, you mentioned t h a t 

— you're showing some acreages, 3 6.5 — 

A. Right. 

Q. — 54.6 — I s t h a t the blue area or the hachured 

red? 

A. That's the hached area — 

Q. The hached — 

A. — t h a t ' s the hached — 

Q. — red area? 

A. — area, r i g h t . The blue areas are the lowest 

p a r t s of the lows, as you can see from the c o l o r bar. 

Q. Okay, t e l l me about the — I'm going t o r e f e r 

back t o 18-A, and you can c o r r e c t me i f t h i s i s not the 

r i g h t one. This d e p i c t s 2-D seismic, your sky-blue 

hachured mark? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay, and when were those seismic l i n e s run and 

who d i d them? 

A. We bought them i n 1997 or 1998, and the i n i t i a l 

— We d i d n ' t buy them f o r the Chester, we bought them t o 

evaluate the Atoka sands i n t h i s area, and we had a 

ge o p h y s i c i s t i n Midland by the name of Ed Luckabaugh do the 

a n a l y s i s of those f o r us, t o support or t o supplement some 

of t he models t h a t I was developing f o r the Atoka sands i n 
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the area. 

Q. So when d i d you go back again and look a t the 

lower Chester o f f of these l i n e s ? 

A. Well, a f t e r the i n i t i a l blowout of the Ocean w e l l 

and then our subsequent discovery down t o the south, i n 17-

35, t h a t ' s when I decided t o take a look a t t h a t one l i n e 

t h a t j u s t c u t through t h a t l i t t l e area where the Blue F i n 

i s now, and I could see, you know, a d e f i n i t e low s t r u c t u r e 

i n t h e r e . But I had no way of mapping a closed low, 

because you can see t h a t the two key l i n e s t h a t would have 

covered t h a t stopped short of extending f a r enough t o do 

t h a t f o r us. 

Mr. Luckabaugh d i d show s t r u c t u r e d d i p p i n g 

s t e e p l y down i n t h a t d i r e c t i o n , but t h a t ' s as f a r as he 

could take i t w i t h the data t h a t we had. 

Q. Okay. Now, we have made reference s e v e r a l times 

t o t h i s Ocean blowout w e l l . 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Let's i d e n t i f y t h a t . How about going t o E x h i b i t 

18-A — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — and look a t Section 18. This i s where the 

blowout occurred; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Which well? 
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A. I s i t the C a r l i s l e 1-Y? 

Q. Okay, t h a t i s the one t h a t ' s marked w i t h a box 

and — 

A. That was a replacement w e l l , wasn't i t ? Yeah, 

t h a t was the replacement w e l l f o r the w e l l t h a t blew out. 

Q. Okay, so which one i s the a c t u a l blowout? 

A. I t ' s r i g h t next t o i t , as I r e c a l l . How f a r 

d i d — You'd have t o ask Ocean how f a r they skidded o f f t o 

t h a t . 

Q. Okay, I d i d n ' t know i f i t was one of t h e gas 

w e l l s depicted t o the n o r t h and t o the east — 

A. No, those — 

Q. — or was i t the w e l l depicted t o the south — 

A. I t ' s the one w i t h the red box around i t . The 

ones w i t h the red boxes around them are s i g n i f i c a n t Chester 

producers or, i n the case of the Blue F i n 25, a proposed 

Chester w e l l . 

Q. Okay, but the a c t u a l blowout w e l l , because we 

r e f e r r e d t o t h i s several times and I want t o know which one 

i t was — Now, the Ocean C a r l i s l e State 1-Y, the w e l l 

t h a t ' s depicted i n the box; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? — 

A. Right. 

Q. — t h a t was the skidded w e l l or the replacement 

w e l l ? 

A. I b e l i e v e so, yes. 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. Well h o p e f u l l y , Mr. 

Bruce, j u s t f o r a complete record, whenever your witness 

comes up, i f we could reference which w e l l t h a t i s . I know 

i t ' s i n Section 10, but I don't know i f i t ' s the ones — 

MR. BRUCE: We can do t h a t , Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: — up t o the n o r t h and east or 

t o the south and west. This i s j u s t as of — And probably 

we should s t a t e t h a t was a BHP blowout w e l l and not an 

Ocean w e l l ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

MR. BRUCE: UMC. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: UMC, t h a t ' s r i g h t . What d i d I 

say? 

MR. BRUCE: BHP. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Oh, I'm t h i n k i n g of another 

case. 

MR. BRUCE: They're both my c l i e n t s . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I'm t h i n k i n g of another case 

i n which i s spread a l l over my o f f i c e r i g h t now. 

MR. BRUCE: I don't want t o hear t h a t one. 

THE WITNESS: The w e l l — the Ocean C a r l i s l e 

Number 1 has a porous Chester s e c t i o n i n i t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. Are t h e r e any other 

questions of Mr. Mazzullo a t t h i s time? 

FURTHER EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 
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Q. Just one r e a l quick one, Mr. Mazzullo. You sa i d 

t h e p o r o s i t y was, you thought, 24 percent? 

A. Yeah, I might be a l i t t l e b i t o f f on t h a t . 

Q. How was t h a t c a l c u l a t e d , or what l o g — 

A. The lo g t h a t was run was a compensated neutron 

d e n s i t y w e l l — no, i t was sonic — a cased-hole neutron 

l o g , cased-hole neutron l o g , i t ' s estimated. Okay, cased-

hole neutron, compensated neutron l o g . 

MR. BRUCE: Okay. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions of Mr. 

Mazzullo? 

With t h a t , you may be excused. 

Ms. Richardson, or Mr. Kell a h i n ? 

MR. KELLAHIN: That concludes our p r e s e n t a t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. How are we going t o 

proceed from here on? 

MR. BRUCE: I t h i n k I was going t o go next w i t h 

the Ocean p r e s e n t a t i o n i n the west h a l f . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. Would you l i k e a t t h i s 

time t o rearrange the room or keep i t as i t i s ? 

MR. BRUCE: I t ' s f i n e the way i t i s , I t h i n k . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. But I ' l l t e l l you what, 

l e t ' s take about a short five-minute recess, and you can 

get your troops together. 

(Thereupon, a recess was taken a t 3:10 p.m.) 
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(The f o l l o w i n g proceedings had a t 3:25 p.m.) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: This hearing w i l l come t o 

order. 

Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d l i k e t o ask 

something unusual f o r a change. I would l i k e t o ask Mr. 

P h i l l i p s t o come t o the stand so I could ask him some data 

on the Blue F i n w e l l . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I s the r e any ob j e c t i o n ? 

MS. RICHARDSON: No. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: You're not through y e t . 

MR. BRUCE: But i t wasn't h i s a t t o r n e y s . 

MS. RICHARDSON: That's r i g h t , I d i d n ' t — 

MR. BRUCE: And l e t the record r e f l e c t t h a t Mr. 

P h i l l i p s has already been sworn. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. P h i l l i p s , you're s t i l l 

under oath a t t h i s time. 

JEFFREY D. PHILLIPS (Recalled), 

t h e witness h e r e i n , having been p r e v i o u s l y d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Mr. P h i l l i p s , we're t a l k i n g about your Blue F i n 

24-1 w e l l . What i s the — I t h i n k you mentioned the 

c u r r e n t r a t e , and I f o r g o t what you s a i d , the gas r a t e . 
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A. The current gas rate is around 4 million cubic 

f e e t per day. 

Q. And you sa i d a couple hundred b a r r e l s of 

condensate? 

A. 220 b a r r e l s of condensate. 

Q. I s the producing r a t e of t h a t w e l l r e s t r i c t e d ? 

A. I t i s r e s t r i c t e d by wellhead choke. 

Q. Do you have any idea of what i t could produce i f 

you weren't r e s t r i c t e d ? 

A. I don't r i g h t now. We i n i t i a l l y flowed t h e w e l l 

around 7 m i l l i o n cubic f e e t per day, as high as we got i t . 

Q. Okay. 

A. And t h a t was not on a f u l l choke. 

Q. Okay. What i s the cumulative p r o d u c t i o n t o date? 

A. I can't answer t h a t r i g h t now. 

Q. Okay. Has TMBR/Sharp conducted a decline-curve 

estimate of reserves i n t h a t well? 

A. We do not f e e l l i k e we have enough h i s t o r y t o 

estimate reserves from a d e c l i n e curve y e t . 

Q. What about otherwise, any other — 

A. We plan t o i n the near f u t u r e run another 

bottomhole pressure survey so we can do m a t e r i a l balance 

c a l c u l a t i o n s and determine the reserves i n the w e l l . 

Q. Have you done any m a t e r i a l balance c a l c u l a t i o n s 

t o date? 
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A. We have not enough history yet to — We have some 

i n i t i a l pressure p o i n t s , but we don't have enough w i t h the 

corresponding amount of production t o get a good P/Z curve. 

Q. What i s your l a s t bottomhole-pressure f i g u r e , and 

when was t h a t ? 

A. I don't r e c a l l what the amount was or the date. 

I t h i n k i t was March the 6th, was the date — 

Q. Okay. 

A. — but I see so many pressures i n other places I 

don't remember what i t was. I can t e l l you t h a t the 

surface pressure i s d e c l i n i n g , and so t h e r e f o r e the 

bottomhole pressure should be too. 

Q. Do you have the surface pressure? 

A. I n i t i a l l y , the w e l l flowed a t 3400 pounds a t t h i s 

r a t e . 

Q. Okay. 

A. And now i t i s down t o around 1925 pounds. 

Q. Did you have an i n i t i a l bottomhole pressure? 

A. We do. 

Q. What i s t h a t ? 

A. I don't r e c a l l . 

Q. You don't r e c a l l . 

A. That should be i n i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t was f i l e d w i t h 

the OCD. 

Q. Just a couple more. The p o r o s i t y i n the w e l l , do 
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you have an estimate of that? Mr. Mazzullo said 24 

percent, but — 

A. That's a very — a h i g h l y i n t e r p r e t i v e number 

r i g h t now. I mentioned e a r l i e r t h a t we had run the 5-1/2-

inch casing through the Chester. We d i d t h a t w i t h o u t being 

able t o o b t a i n open-hole logs across the Chester, and we 

d i d i t t o get i t under c o n t r o l . 

We subsequently ran a cased hole neutron l o g , I 

b e l i e v e , through t h a t i n t e r v a l , and the p o r o s i t i e s . — and I 

don't r e c a l l what they are, but I do remember t h a t they are 

i n o r d i n a t e l y low, and neutron i s a f f e c t e d by gas. My 

e s t i m a t i o n of p o r o s i t y used i n my c a l c u l a t i o n s was around 

18 percent. 

Q. Okay. 

A. That i s i n t e r p r e t i v e , and i t ' s based on the 

d r i l l i n g r a t e t h a t we encountered w h i l e we d r i l l e d through 

t h i s zone. I t d r i l l e d less than a minute a f o o t f o r the 

e n t i r e i n t e r v a l — 

Q. Okay. 

A. — and i n order t o d r i l l t h a t f a s t , the p o r o s i t y 

would have t o be p r e t t y high, on the order of 18 percent. 

Q. Okay, j u s t a couple more guestions. Do you have 

a w a t e r - s a t u r a t i o n — 

A. The water s a t u r a t i o n s are c a l c u l a t e d from 

r e s i s t i v i t y logs and p o r o s i t y measurements. Again, we do 
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not have open-hole logs in that interval. The cased-hole 

l o g we ran does attempt a water s a t u r a t i o n , but i t i s 

i n o r d i n a t e l y high so we've thrown t h a t i n f o r m a t i o n out. I t 

i n d i c a t e s over 50 percent. The w e l l produces no water, and 

so our e s t i m a t i o n t h a t I've used i n my c a l c u l a t i o n s i s 2 5 

percent. 

Q. And then you mentioned the w e l l i s producing a t 4 

m i l l i o n a day. How long has i t been producing? When was 

i t connected t o the p i p e l i n e , roughly? 

A. I s t h a t i n our t i m e l i n e ? 

MS. RICHARDSON: Look a t Look a t August 6 t h , 

2001. 

THE WITNESS: August the 6th of 2 001. Yes, i n 

the t i m e l i n e i n the e x h i b i t a t August the 6th of 2 001 i t ' s 

noted t h a t " F i r s t production from the Blue F i n 24 Number 

l . . . i s s o l d . " That i s production from the lower 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n and not the Chester i n t e r v a l . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Okay, and when approximately was 

the Chester — what you c a l l the Chester i n t e r v a l , opened 

up, then? 

A. I b e l i e v e i t was — Let me see i f t h a t i s — 

MS. RICHARDSON: I t ' s not i n t h e r e . 

THE WITNESS: I t ' s not i n here? 

MS. RICHARDSON: I don't know. 

THE WITNESS: I t h i n k i t was l a t e February, I 
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t h i n k i t was l a t e February when we e f f e c t e d recompletion, 

or i n February sometime. I r e a l l y don't r e c a l l . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Have you c a l c u l a t e d gas i n place? 

A. We — Yes. 

Q. And what i s that ? 

A. I don't — there are so many moving numbers i n 

here and est i m a t i o n s . I've already t o l d you about the 

p o r o s i t y and water s a t u r a t i o n s . The a r e a l e x t e n t i s 

another guesstimation i n t h i s deal. I have c a l c u l a t e d , t o 

my best r e c o l l e c t i o n , about — I t h i n k i t ' s 4 1/2 t o 5 BCF 

i n place i n the Blue Fin 24. 

Q. And what type of recovery r a t e are you using? 80 

percent? 

A. Roughly 80 percent. I t h i n k i t ' s 4 1/2 BCF. I 

get confused w i t h which f e a t u r e I was c a l c u l a t i n g . 

MR. BRUCE: Just one second, Mr. Examiner. 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) And then on your E x h i b i t 17, 

which i s your p i e c h a r t , I mean, was t h a t based on your 

gas-in-place c a l c u l a t i o n , or what was i t based on? 

A. I t was i n p a r t , because we knew the thic k n e s s of 

the i n t e r v a l i n the Blue Fin 24, we could make some 

assumptions about what thickness we might encounter i n the 

Blue Fin 25, and also the same f o r the p o r o s i t y and the 

water s a t u r a t i o n s . I f those were s i m i l a r , then the only 

d i f f e r e n c e would be the thickness and the a r e a l e x t e n t . 
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Q. Okay. And do you agree w i t h Mr. Mazzullo's 

statement t h a t i n the Blue Fin i t was 24 f e e t t h i c k ? 

A. I am not c e r t a i n i f i t ' s 24 f e e t t h i c k or not. I 

t h i n k on our mud l o g i n t e r v a l i t was 32 f e e t t h i c k . 

Q. I n the what i n t e r v a l ? 

A. The d r i l l i n g break on the mud l o g was 32 f e e t 

t h i c k . 

Q. Okay. Are these the same numbers you used, then, 

i n your p i e chart? 

A. The e s t i m a t i o n of the p i e c h a r t reserves, I t h i n k 

I s t a t e d e a r l i e r today, was 4 m i l l i o n f o r the Blue F i n 25 

bump i n the northwest quarter of Section 25, and 1 m i l l i o n , 

and t h i s i s recoverable reserves. And I t h i n k those 

numbers are close t o what I used i n t h a t . The 25-percent 

water s a t u r a t i o n , 30 f e e t of t h i c k n e s s , 32 f e e t — I 

probably — I may have used 25 f e e t of t h i c k n e s s , or I may 

have used 35 f e e t of thickness, I don't remember. I t comes 

out about 4 BCF recoverable. 

Q. I n the 25-1? 

A. I n the 25-1 i t ' s about 3 1/2 BCF recoverable, i n 

the 24. 

Q. Excuse me, I was a l i t t l e confused. I n the 24-1, 

what's recoverable? 

A. I t h i n k i t ' s about 3 1/2 t o 3.7 BCF recoverable. 

Q. And your estimates on the 25-1 are 4 BCF up? 
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A. 4 BCF recoverable. 

MR. BRUCE: 4 BCF. Thank you very much, Mr. 

P h i l l i p s . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions? 

MR. KELLAHIN: Yes, s i r . 

EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KELLAHIN: 

Q. Mr. P h i l l i p s , when you gave us two pressure 

numbers, you gave us 3400 pounds and 192 5 pounds, you got a 

d i f f e r e n c e of 1475 pounds. Do you draw or a t t a c h any 

s i g n i f i c a n c e as an engineer t o t h a t pressure d i f f e r e n c e ? 

A. Yes, I do. I f these pods are as small as they 

look l i k e they are — 3 1/2 BCF i s a r e l a t i v e l y small pod 

— i t ' s performing, i n my mind, c o n s i s t e n t w i t h t h a t s i z e 

of reserves. I n other words, there should be some pressure 

d e c l i n e when we're d e p l e t i n g reserves a t the r a t e of 4 

m i l l i o n cubic f e e t a day and 220 b a r r e l s , and t h e o i l r a t e 

had been higher than t h a t . 

So we're v o i d i n g — or we're producing t h a t 

hydrocarbon out of the r e s e r v o i r a t a r a t e t h a t you should 

see some pressure d e c l i n e . 

Q. I f Mr. Mazzullo i s c o r r e c t about h i s geologic 

i n t e r p r e t a t i o n , would you expect t o see a pressure drop i n 

the w e l l ? Mr. Mazzullo has defined a c e r t a i n s i z e — 

A. Yes — 
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Q. — and shape — 

A. Yes --

Q. — f o r the 24 w e l l . 

A. — a b s o l u t e l y . 

Q. I s t h i s data c o n s i s t e n t w i t h h i s i n t e r p r e t a t i o n 

of the size? 

A. I t i s i n my mind. 

Q. Let me ask you another question, s l i g h t l y 

d i f f e r e n t t o p i c . 

Under the compulsory p o o l i n g s t a t u t e , the 

D i v i s i o n can allow you t o recover your costs out of f u t u r e 

p r o d u c t i o n . I n a d d i t i o n , the maximum pen a l t y i s 2 00 

percent. 

A. Correct. 

Q. For the r i s k i n v o lved i n w e l l s such as t h i s and 

f o r the w e l l i n Section 25, do you have a p r o f e s s i o n a l 

o p i n i o n about the r i s k associated w i t h the w e l l under those 

terms? 

A. As t o what the penalty should be? 

Q. Yes, understanding the maximum i s cost p l u s 200, 

and t h a t ' s a l l you're going t o get back i f you c a r r y these 

people t h a t you're c a r r y i n g or i f they're a f f o r d e d an 

o p p o r t u n i t y l a t e r t o go nonconsent? 

A. Well, sure I have an op i n i o n , and our r i s k here 

i s even g r e a t e r than normal because of a l l the l i t i g a t i o n , 
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because of our exposure to appeals, to these hearings here; 

I think i t should be higher. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , s i r . I f i t cannot be higher because 

there's a s t a t u t o r y l i m i t , would your o p i n i o n be the 

maximum i s j u s t i f i e d ? 

A. I be l i e v e the maximum would be j u s t i f i e d . 

MR. KELLAHIN: No f u r t h e r questions. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. K e l l a h i n , d i d we s t a t e any 

overhead charges? 

MR. KELLAHIN: We have — I need t o f i n d out f o r 

you because I'm not sure I have those. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, so — 

MR. KELLAHIN: I don't want t o giv e you the wrong 

numbers, I need t o check. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: So when you get ready t o s t a t e 

t h a t --

MR. KELLAHIN: Yes, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: — before t h i s h earing i s 

over, you and Mrs. Richardson can get those. 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER STOGNER: 

Q. One question. You mentioned pods. Mazzullo 

mentioned bowls. Are you t a l k i n g about the same thi n g ? 

A. Well, "pod" may not be the r i g h t word, because 

when I say "pod" I p i c t u r e i n my mind the i n v e r t e d — I t i s 
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a bowl. When I say "pod" I mean — I'm p i c t u r i n g a bowl. 

Q. Okay, j u s t wanted t o c l a r i f y t h a t . 

A. They are bowls. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I f the p r e s i d e n t says "pod", 

then — i f the p r e s i d e n t sa i d i t could be a bowl, then I 

guess i t ' s a bowl. 

Thank you. Any other questions of Mr. P h i l l i p s ? 

MS. RICHARDSON: Mr. Examiner, i f Mr. P h i l l i p s 

can be excused. He knows he's got a very important meeting 

i n the morning and needs t o get back t o Midland, i f he 

could. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. 

MR. BRUCE: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: You may be excused. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you. 

THE WITNESS: Thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: C a l l Mr. Maney t o the stand. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Refresh my memory, Mr. Bruce, 

how many witnesses you have? 

MR. BRUCE: I probably have fo u r witnesses. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Four witnesses. 

MR. BRUCE: I was only o r i g i n a l l y going t o have 

t h r e e , but I ' l l probably have f o u r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, what are the — 
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MR. BRUCE: I w i l l present a landman, g e o l o g i s t , 

a g e o p h y s i c i s t and an engineer. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. 

DEROLD MANEY. 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Would you please s t a t e your f u l l name f o r t h e 

record? 

A. Derold Maney. 

Q. Who do you work f o r ? 

A. Ocean Energy. 

Q. And i n t h e i r Houston o f f i c e ? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. What i s your j o b w i t h Ocean? 

A. I'm a landman. 

Q. Have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before the 

D i v i s i o n ? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And were your c r e d e n t i a l s as an expert petroleum 

landman accepted as a matter of record? 

A. Yes, they were. 

Q. And are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the land matters 

i n v o l v e d i n these various A p p l i c a t i o n s ? 
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A. Yes. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I tender Mr. Maney as 

an expert petroleum landman? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objections? 

MR. KELLAHIN: Let me ask him one questi o n . 

VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KELLAHIN: 

Q. Mr. Maney, what's the p e r i o d of time of your 

involvement f o r Ocean i n t h i s p a r t i c u l a r case? 

A. I've been working Permian Basin since June, J u l y 

of 1999. 

Q. As t o t h i s case, what's the time frame. 

A. From the beginning. 

Q. From Ocean's beginning involvement? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So you were the landman responsible f o r t h a t 

a c t i v i t y ? 

A. Yes. 

MR. KELLAHIN: A l l r i g h t , no o b j e c t i o n , Mr. 

Stogner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, now I'm a l i t t l e 

confused. You said you've been working the Permian Basin 

since 1991, but w i t h Ocean — 

THE WITNESS: 1999. 

MR. BRUCE: 1999. 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: I'm s o r r y , since 1999. Okay. 

Thanks f o r c l a r i f y i n g t h a t . Okay, please proceed. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION (Resumed) 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Mr. Maney, l e t ' s t u r n t o your E x h i b i t 1, the land 

p l a t , and l e t ' s go over t h i s a l i t t l e b i t . Could you f i r s t 

i d e n t i f y what i t i s and describe what the c o l o r - c o d i n g — 

A. Yes, the yellow acreage i s acreage t h a t Ocean has 

a lease on or an i n t e r e s t i n , and the red o u t l i n e i s an 

o u t l i n e of the seismic shoot and an AMI t h a t was created by 

t h a t seismic shoot, and the l i g h t blue i s the acreage t h a t 

a l l t he l i t i g a t i o n i s about. 

Q. Okay. And what we're t a l k i n g about here i s the 

Section 25, which i s over on the f a r east side of your 

p l a t , r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And j u s t t o get t h i s out of the way, the 

southwest quarter of Section 25, Ocean Energy has under — 

i s i t farmouts or term assignments? 

A. Farmouts. 

Q. Farmouts. And those farmouts covered 100 percent 

of t he southwest q u a r t e r ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And Ocean has entered an agreement w i t h David H. 

A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas whereby they would acquire, what, a 
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3 0 percent i n t e r e s t — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — i n the southwest quarter? 

A. Right. 

Q. Now, going back — and t h i s goes back a l i t t l e 

b i t beyond your l a s t t h r e e years i n t h i s area, but when d i d 

Ocean or i t s predecessors f i r s t become a c t i v e i n the 

Townsend area, i f we can r e f e r t o i t as t h a t ? 

A. Well, the Townsend Number 1 was d r i l l e d , I t h i n k , 

i n 1997, e a r l y 1997. 

Q. Okay, and t h a t was up i n Section 2 of t h i s same 

township? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay. Now, since then approximately how many 

w e l l s has Ocean d r i l l e d or p a r t i c i p a t e d i n , i n the west 

Lovington or Townsend or Eidson area, however you want t o 

r e f e r t o t h a t ? 

A. Twenty, plus or minus a few. 

Q. Okay, q u i t e a few? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. I n the more immediate area of the acreage a t 

issue today, has Ocean been a c q u i r i n g acreage over the past 

couple of years? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And I t h i n k Mr. Nearburg went i n t o t h i s , but i f 
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you look at the yellow-coded acreage on the west side of 

t h i s township, how was t h a t acquired? 

A. We purchased t h a t from Ameristate and — Fuel 

Company? 

Q. Fuel Products. 

A. Fuel Products — 

Q. Fuel Products. 

A. — thank you, i n 2000. 

Q. Okay. And i n d e a l i n g w i t h t h a t , you were d e a l i n g 

w i t h Mr. Nearburg and w i t h Tom B e l l , were you not? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How much was spent a c q u i r i n g acreage from Fuel 

Products and Ameristate? 

A. We spent i n excess of a m i l l i o n d o l l a r s — 

Q. Okay. 

A. — on acreage only. 

Q. Now, w i t h respect t o the — I f you look a t the 

Section 17, 20, 28 and 29 acreage, when Ocean acguired 

t h a t , was t h e r e a problem when Ocean agreed t o buy t h a t 

acreage? 

A. Well, there was a l i t t l e b i t of a problem. We 

p o i n t e d out t h a t the lessor — the lease had been signed 

improperly. There was an ownership change, and the lease 

t h a t they had wasn't v a l i d . 

Q. Okay. 
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A. So we requested t h a t they get a new lease. 

Q. Okay. Ocean d i d n ' t go out and t r y t o release 

t h a t acreage? I t informed Mr. Nearburg and h i s cohorts of 

the problem w i t h the acreage? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And a l o t of them could go out and lease i t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. You d i d n ' t attempt t o top lease i t or 

anything else? 

A. No. 

Q. Now, l e t ' s move on more t o the — why we're here 

today on the Section 25. 

As t o the west-half Section 25 w e l l u n i t , could 

you please describe the t i m i n g of Ocean's a c q u i s i t i o n of 

t h a t acreage? And I r e f e r you t o your E x h i b i t 2. 

A. I n March of 2001 I c a l l e d Andy Grooms and began 

n e g o t i a t i n g t o acquire t h e i r i n t e r e s t i n the southwest 

q u a r t e r of Section 25. 

Q. Branex, e t a l . , are the a c t u a l lessees of t h a t 

acreage? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. 

A. And I sent my f i r s t proposal l e t t e r i n A p r i l , 

f o l l o w e d up again i n May w i t h a second proposal l e t t e r , and 

i n June I received a counterproposal from Branex, e t a l . 
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And 7-23-01, the final agreement was sent to all parties 

and subsequently executed. 

There has been a couple of amendments. The f i r s t 

amendment i n August changed the date, the acceptance date. 

We had one p a r t y who had a date when they had t o commit, 

and they'd gone past t h a t date, so — 

Q. Okay. 

A. — and the second amendment was t o change the 

language so t h a t the w e l l d i d not have t o be d r i l l e d on the 

c o n t r a c t lands and the — on the farmout lands, and t h e 

c o n t r a c t depth from 12,500 t o 13,200. 

Q. Okay. Now as you s a i d , as you t e s t i f i e d e a r l i e r , 

David H. A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas owns a p o r t i o n of t h i s 

farmout? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, t h e r e have been some i n t i m a t i o n s i n here 

t h a t t h a t was some s o r t of s p e c i a l deal w i t h A r r i n g t o n , but 

why was A r r i n g t o n o f f e r e d a p o r t i o n of t h a t i n t e r e s t ? 

A. I n i t i a l l y , when we d i d the seismic shoot, he had 

already s t a r t e d on the seismic. I t was a l l w e l l down the 

road, and so the AMI was entered i n t o , and the second group 

of leases were purchased from Fuel Products and Ameristate 

and — 

Q. And l e t me i n t e r r u p t you t h e r e f o r a minute. I f 

you're l o o k i n g a t E x h i b i t 1, the second group of leases 
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you're talking about purchase from Ameristate, et al., is 

what, Sections 22, 27 and 34? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay. 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And then go ahead. 

A. And since t h a t was i n the AMI, A r r i n g t o n had a 

piece of those leases, 50 percent of those leases. 

And the la r g e lease i n the west h a l f of the 

e x h i b i t i s one lease t h a t covers a l l of the acreage, and we 

d r i l l e d one w e l l i n the southwest quarter of Section 20, 

and i t d i d not — i t ' s a Wolfcamp w e l l , so i t w i l l not h o l d 

the acreage. So we needed t o d r i l l an a d d i t i o n a l w e l l . 

Q. That w e l l o r i g i n a l l y , what, had a — was t h a t a 

s o u t h - h a l f or a west-half u n i t ? 

A. I t was a west-half. 

Q. So since t h a t was dry i n the deeper gas 

formations, i t wouldn't hold t h a t lease or t h a t — 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. 

A. So we needed t o d r i l l another w e l l under the 

continuous d r i l l i n g clause, which we proposed the Mustang 

Midge i n Section 28. 

Q. I n the northeast quarter? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Okay. 

A. And t h a t ' s a lease t h a t A r r i n g t o n owns 100 

percent, and we own the northwest qu a r t e r 100 percent, 

because those leases were r e q u i r e d p r i o r t o seismic shoot 

and e n t e r i n g i n t o the AMI. 

Q. Okay. Now, l e t me i n t e r r u p t again. The n o r t h 

h a l f of 2 8 where i t says T.M. B e l l , those are the leases 

t h a t Ocean acquired from Tom B e l l — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — e t al.? And then the northeast q u a r t e r where 

i t says Dale Douglas, t h a t ' s a c t u a l l y an A r r i n g t o n lease? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay, go ahead. 

A. So we proposed the w e l l . And A r r i n g t o n 

nonconsented the d r i l l i n g of the w e l l a t the time, so we 

d i d n ' t want t o take a l l the r i s k and were i n t e r e s t e d i n 

having a p a r t n e r or having A r r i n g t o n change h i s mind a t 

t h a t time. 

And we've been competing out here. Even though 

t h e r e i s an AMI, when we were t r y i n g t o acquire t h e l a r g e 

lease i n the western p o r t i o n A r r i n g t o n was competing w i t h 

us t o acquire i t . 

We p r e v a i l e d and acquired t h a t , and when we were 

t r y i n g t o acquire the Primero Branex farmout agreements, 

d i d not know i t u n t i l a f t e r the f a c t , but A r r i n g t o n was 
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also competing w i t h us the r e . And from day one when we 

came t o our agreement, he had wanted an i n t e r e s t i n t h a t 

farmout t h a t we had. 

Q. The southwest quarter of 25? 

A. Yes. And i t covers a d d i t i o n a l acreage over i n 

Section 26 and Section 35. 

Q. Okay. 

A. And so i t came down t o them wanting t o acquire an 

i n t e r e s t i n t h a t southwest quar t e r , and they would change 

t h e i r e l e c t i o n or d r i l l and p a r t i c i p a t e i n the Mustang 

Midge. And so the d e c i s i o n was made t h a t i n order t o get 

the w e l l d r i l l e d and t o save our lease and not have t o pay 

f o r t he whole t h i n g , take a l l the r i s k , t h a t we would g i v e 

up a p o r t i o n of the southwest quarter farmouts. 

Q. So i n other words, A r r i n g t o n p a i d f o r h a l f of the 

w e l l i n the n o r t h h a l f of Section 28, and t h e r e was an 

exchange of seismic data, and A r r i n g t o n got a p o r t i o n of 

your — 

A. Correct. 

Q. — farmout? 

A. We d i d not have any seismic t o the east of t h a t 

o u t l i n e r i g h t t h e r e . Our seismic i s confined t o t h a t 

o u t l i n e on t h i s e x h i b i t . 

Q. Okay. 

A. And so we exchanged seismic t h a t we have n o r t h i n 
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t h e Morton prospect f o r a l i c e n s e t o t h e i r seismic covering 

Section 25 i n t h e r e , so we would be able t o map i t and — 

Q. Just p a r t of the normal g i v e and take of doing 

business i n the o i l patch? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Now, TMBR/Sharp has j u s t s t a t e d t h a t they showed 

Ocean i t s Big Tuna prospect, and you d i d see i t , d i d you 

not? 

A. We d i d . 

Q. But t h a t Ocean r e a l l y d i d n ' t want t o buy i t 

because they thought g e o l o g i c a l l y i t would be too low and 

too wet, I t h i n k , was the comment. I s t h a t why Ocean 

turned down t h i s prospect? 

A. Well, I don't know about the t e c h n i c a l aspects of 

why we turned i t down. You a l l can leave t h a t f o r the 

other witnesses. But the terms were, we thought, q u i t e 

steep and, you know, the p r i c e t h a t I remember was 

s u b s t a n t i a l l y higher and — 

Q. Now, Mr. Nearburg t e s t i f i e d t h a t the p r i c e he was 

asking was $250 an acre. What do you r e c a l l was the p r i c e ? 

A. I remember paying $750 an acre f o r most of t h i s 

other acreage, and the comment t h a t was made t o me was t h a t 

t h a t ' s k i n d of set the p r i c e f o r t h i s prospect. 

Q. Okay, so t h i s other yellow acreage t o the west 

side of t h i s map you paid $750 bucks an acre f o r ? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. And f o r the blue acreage on t h i s p l a t , t h a t ' s 

what they were asking, plus a higher — plus a higher back-

in? 

A. There was a back-in i n v o l v e d , and again t h i s i s a 

long time ago, but t h a t ' s the way I remember i t . 

Q. Okay. So j u s t from a land s t a n d p o i n t , t h a t 

doesn't meet your economic requirement? 

A. That was p a r t of the d e c i s i o n , I know t h a t . 

Q. Now, i t was also s t a t e d t h a t TMBR/Sharp wouldn't 

have shown Ocean the prospect i f they knew A r r i n g t o n was 

in v o l v e d . Can you comment on t h a t ? 

A. Well, I know they d i d n ' t want A r r i n g t o n i n v o l v e d 

i n t h i s other lease t o the west here, and a t t h e A r r i n g t o n 

wasn't i n v o l v e d . 

But when we were t r y i n g t o get t h i s lease r i g h t 

— the acreage, the other yellow acreage, the second group 

of leases t h a t we bought, I had t o d i s c l o s e t o them t h a t we 

were going t o shoot the seismic w i t h A r r i n g t o n and t h a t we 

were going t o enter i n t o an AMI, so I don't know when t h a t 

was d i s c l o s e d . And they may not have known t h a t when they 

showed us the Big Tuna, I'm not sure, d i d n ' t know a t the 

time. 

Q. You have advised them t h a t you were i n c e r t a i n 

deals t o g e t h e r w i t h Arrington? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Now, w i t h respect t o the west h a l f of Section 25, 

d i d Ocean have an agreement w i t h A r r i n g t o n t h a t A r r i n g t o n 

would operate the west h a l f of 25? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you also inform them t h a t you would a c t on 

your own i f they couldn't get the w e l l d r i l l e d ? 

A. Well, t h a t was our concern, because t h i s — You 

know, we knew t h a t there was going t o be a problem w i t h 

claims of ownership i n here. 

And so when we f i n a l l y decided i n order t o get 

t h i n g s r o l l i n g and get our Mustang Midge w e l l d r i l l e d , we 

were going t o have t o give up a l i t t l e p o r t i o n i n here, 

p a r t of the agreement had t o be t h a t i f they d i d n ' t d r i l l 

the w e l l or cause i t t o be d r i l l e d , t h a t Ocean would be 

allowed t o forc e - p o o l i t i f necessary and t r y t o get a w e l l 

d r i l l e d i n th e r e t o save our farmout. So t h a t was p a r t of 

the agreement. 

Q. So once t h a t t i t l e d i spute on the northwest 

g u a r t e r of Section 2 5 warmed up, s h a l l we say, what d i d 

Ocean do? 

A. Well, we said a t the agreement — I t h i n k had a 

January date, t h a t i f they d i d n ' t f o r c e pool i t and t r y t o 

get t h i n g s going, t h a t Ocean would be allowed t o i n i t i a t e 

i t ourselves and t r y t o get the w e l l d r i l l e d i n order t o 
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save our farmout agreement. 

Q. Could you r e f e r t o your E x h i b i t 3-A and describe 

what t h a t i s ? 

A. That's a proposal l e t t e r t o Ameristate, 

TMBR/Sharp, Fuel Products, Louis Mazzullo and David H. 

A r r i n g t o n . 

Q. From Ocean's check of the land records, were 

those the record owners under e i t h e r lease — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — of the northwest quarter of Section 2 5? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And so you sent out t h a t proposal l e t t e r because 

you have an e x p i r i n g farmout? 

A. Right. 

Q. And are the people l i s t e d — E x h i b i t 3A, the 

people who are the addressees of these l e t t e r s , a l l of the 

people t h a t you seek t o for c e pool i n t h i s case? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, A r r i n g t o n has an i n t e r e s t i n the southwest 

q u a r t e r t h a t i s independent of the northwest quarter? 

A. Correct. 

Q. So you would seek t o f o r c e pool a 50-percent 

working i n t e r e s t i n your proposed well? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. Have you received any response from anyone 
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who you sent the l e t t e r s to? 

A. Louis Mazzullo has sent an e l e c t i o n back not t o 

p a r t i c i p a t e , and t h a t ' s the only — 

Q. I s t h a t marked E x h i b i t 3B? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. Okay. What about — Have you had conversations 

w i t h A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas? 

A. We have. 

Q. And what i s t h e i r p o s i t i o n i n t h i s matter? 

A. I t h i n k they would have p a r t i c i p a t e d i n a west-

h a l f u n i t . 

Q. Okay. Are they w i l l i n g — We'll get i n t o t h i s 

l a t e r about the escrow of funds. Are they w i l l i n g t o 

p a r t i c i p a t e , or have they informed you v e r b a l l y t h a t they 

were w i l l i n g t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n escrow funds? 

A. We haven't gotten t h a t f a r . 

Q. Okay. I n your o p i n i o n , has Ocean made a good-

f a i t h e f f o r t t o o b t a i n the v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r of the p a r t i e s 

i n your proposed w e l l i n the northwest q u a r t e r of Section 

25? 

A. I b e l i e v e we have. 

Q. What i s E x h i b i t 4? 

A. I t ' s the AFE f o r the 25-1 w e l l . 

Q. And what are the dryhole and completed w e l l 

costs? 
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A. Dryhole i s $1,248,000, and completed i s 

$1,783,000. 

Q. And do you agree w i t h what Mr. P h i l l i p s s a i d , 

t h a t the AFEs presented i n these matters are a l l f a i r and 

reasonable estimates of what w e l l s w i l l cost i n t h i s 

area — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — f o r w e l l s of t h i s depth? 

What overhead r a t e s i s Ocean proposing? 

A. $6000 and $600. 

Q. And again, are these r a t e s f a i r and reasonable 

and i n l i n e w i t h the costs other operators use i n t h i s 

area? 

A. I b e l i e v e they are. 

Q. Now, would you r e f e r t o your E x h i b i t 5? Did 

Ocean also propose a west-half u n i t w i t h a w e l l i n the 

southwest quarter? 

A. We d i d , yes. 

Q. And E x h i b i t 5 i s the l e t t e r p e r t a i n i n g t o t h a t 

p a r t i c u l a r w e l l proposal? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I know you have other witnesses, but w i l l t he 

t e c h n i c a l witnesses t e s t i f y t h a t t h a t ' s not the p r e f e r r e d 

l o c a t i o n f o r an i n i t i a l w e l l on the u n i t ? 

A. Yes, they w i l l . 
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Q. Why would the AFE be the same f o r a w e l l i n the 

southwest quarter as a w e l l i n the northwest quarter? 

A. They should be close. I don't know why they 

weren't. 

Q. Now, why d i d you propose a w e l l i n the southwest 

quarter? 

A. There was some remarks made and some issue by the 

Commission about whether or not a w e l l could be d r i l l e d on 

acreage t h a t you d i d n ' t own. 

Q. Okay. 

A. So i n order t o p r o t e c t ourselves, we f e l t l i k e we 

needed t o propose a w e l l on acreage we d i d have c o n t r o l 

over. 

Q. Okay. But what Ocean r e a l l y wants i s a west-half 

u n i t w i t h a w e l l i n the northwest quarter? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. What are E x h i b i t s 6 and 7? 

A. They are the A p p l i c a t i o n t o d r i l l , C-101, C-102. 

Q. Now, l e t ' s look — E x h i b i t 6 i s f o r a w e l l , an 

Ocean w e l l , i n the northwest q u a r t e r , i s i t not? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And E x h i b i t 7 i s f o r an Ocean w e l l i n the 

southwest q u a r t e r ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Were these f i l e d w i t h the Hobbs D i s t r i c t O f f i c e 
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of t h e D i v i s i o n ? 

A. They were. 

Q. Were they approved? 

A. They were not. 

Q. Why were they disapproved — 

A. Because — 

Q. — or returned unapproved, maybe not — 

A. — the r e was e x i s t i n g APD's i n e f f e c t , and th e r e 

was... 

Q. Because of the TMBR/Sharp and A r r i n g t o n APD's — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — d i d the Hobbs D i s t r i c t O f f i c e not approve 

these? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. But they have been f i l e d ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. I f Ocean's A p p l i c a t i o n f o r a west - h a l f 

u n i t i s approved, does i t request the D i v i s i o n t o order the 

Hobbs D i s t r i c t O f f i c e t o approve Ocean's APD's? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, Mr. Maney, obviously there's already a w e l l 

d r i l l i n g . Does Ocean ask t h a t the d r i l l i n g be stopped? 

A. No. 

Q. I t ' s not q u i t e a t the Ocean l o c a t i o n , i s i t ? 

A. No, i t ' s not. 
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Q. But would stopping d r i l l i n g a t t h i s time cost a 

l o t of money? 

A. I t would cost a l o t of money, and they've gone 

too f a r t o — They'd have t o f i n d a place t o put t h a t r i g . 

I t would be enormously expensive f o r them. 

Q. Okay, and you don't wish t o increase the costs 

unduly i n t h i s matter? 

A. No. 

Q. Who should operate the w e l l as i t ' s d r i l l i n g ? 

A. Well, I t h i n k they need t o operate the w e l l as 

i t ' s d r i l l i n g , but I ' d propose t h a t Ocean assume 

ope r a t o r s h i p when the w e l l i s down and completed. As the 

other p a r t i e s are f i g h t i n g over who owns i t , we would l i k e 

t o be able t o produce the w e l l . 

Q. At t h i s p o i n t i n a west-half u n i t , i t ' s c e r t a i n 

t h a t Ocean has an i n t e r e s t i n t h a t w ell? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I n the A p p l i c a t i o n s , you've also asked the 

D i v i s i o n t o auth o r i z e the establishment of escrow accounts. 

Just b r i e f l y , how would t h a t work? 

A. We'd ask t h a t both A r r i n g t o n and TMBR/Sharp put 

t h e i r money i n escrow, and the — h a l f the w e l l costs would 

be p a i d by the escrow fund and the other h a l f — t h e funds 

remaining would be escrowed, and the p a r t y t h a t d i d n ' t 

p r e v a i l i n t h e i r l a w s u i t would get t h e i r money back. 
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Q. Okay. And then the owners of the southwest 

q u a r t e r of Section 25 would put t h e i r money up f r o n t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Would the production proceeds a t t r i b u t a b l e t o the 

northwest q u a r t e r working i n t e r e s t also have t o be placed 

i n escrow? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And was n o t i c e given t o a l l of the i n t e r e s t 

owners of both of Ocean's A p p l i c a t i o n s i n t h i s matter? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And are my a f f i d a v i t s of n o t i c e submitted as 

E x h i b i t s 8 and 9? 

A. They are. 

Q. One f i n a l question, Mr. Maney. TMBR/Sharp has 

sa i d , w e l l , i f A r r i n g t o n and, by i m p l i c a t i o n , Ocean hadn't 

i n t e r f e r e d w i t h t h e i r APD's l a s t f a l l , they would have 

d r i l l e d the w e l l . What type of a c t i o n would Ocean have 

taken l a s t f a l l i f i t knew t h a t t h i s matter was coming t o a 

head a t t h a t time? 

A. Well, I t h i n k we would have been prepared t o 

d r i l l a w e l l also i f we d i d n ' t have the l i t i g a t i o n issue 

s t a r i n g us i n the face. 

Q. Ocean was ready, w i l l i n g and able t o d r i l l l a s t 

f a l l , was i t not? 

A. Yes, i t was. 
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Q. And i t keeps a close eye on t h i s area, i t ' s got a 

l o t of i n t e r e s t s out here, doesn't i t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Mr. Maney, i n your o p i n i o n i s the g r a n t i n g of 

Ocean's west-half spacing u n i t and f o r c e - p o o l i n g i n the 

i n t e r e s t s of conservation and the pr e v e n t i o n of waste? 

A. I t i s . 

Q. And were E x h i b i t s 1 through 9 prepared by you or 

under your s u p e r v i s i o n or compiled from company business 

records? 

A. They were. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d move the admission 

of Ocean E x h i b i t s 1 through 9. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I s the r e any ob j e c t i o n ? 

MR. HALL: No, o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Bruce, I n o t i c e t h a t each 

e x h i b i t doesn't reference a case number. Am I t o assume 

t h a t a l l of these should reference both cases? 

MR. BRUCE: Or a l l f o u r , a t your pleasure, Mr. 

Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, so E x h i b i t s Numbers 1 

through — what d i d we say? 

MR. BRUCE: One through 9. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: One through 9 — I'm j u s t 

going t o mark them 12,860 and 12,841 a t t h i s p o i n t — are 
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hereby admitted i n t o evidence, but the reco r d w i l l show 

t h a t a l l f o u r cases are consolidated f o r purpose of 

testimony. 

MR. BRUCE: Thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. K e l l a h i n , your witness, or 

Ms. Richardson. 

MS. RICHARDSON: Thank you. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RICHARDSON: 

Q. Mr. Maney, the AMI between Ocean and A r r i n g t o n 

which i s represented by the fuchsia o u t l i n e on t h i s f i r s t 

e x h i b i t of yours, when was t h a t entered i n t o , t he AMI? 

A. I don't remember the date, but sometime I b e l i e v e 

i n 2 001, but I'm not sure. 

Q. 2001? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Was i t p r i o r t o the time t h a t Mr. A r r i n g t o n , 

through Mr. Huff, obtained top leases on the Stokes 

Hamilton leases? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. So sometime between January 1 s t , 2001, and 

March 27th, 2001? 

A. Yes, i t was i n e f f e c t a t the time t h a t they 

acquired those leases. 

Q. Was t h i s AMI entered i n t o p r i o r t o your meeting 
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i n Houston w i t h Mr. Nearburg and Mr. Mazzullo, Mr. B e l l , on 

or about January 31st, 2001? 

A. I don't know. I ' d have t o look a t t h e agreement. 

I don't remember when i t was, but I know t h a t we d i s c l o s e d 

t o Mr. Nearburg and Mr. B e l l t h a t we had entered i n t o an 

AMI i n v o l v i n g seismic and acreage acquired a f t e r the date 

of t h e AMI. 

Q. I s i t your testimony t h a t you d i s c l o s e d a t t h a t 

meeting i n Houston — 

A. I don't know i f I disc l o s e d i t a t t h a t meeting i n 

Houston. 

Q. I f t h e i r r e c o l l e c t i o n i s th e r e was no such 

d i s c l o s u r e t h a t Ocean and A r r i n g t o n had an AMI, can you 

c o n t r a d i c t t h a t ? 

A. I can't. 

Q. When d i d Ocean and A r r i n g t o n f i r s t s t a r t t a l k i n g 

about an AMI i n t h i s area? 

A. About the time we bought t h i s b i g lease t h a t we 

were competing against. 

Q. And what b i g lease i s t h a t ? 

A. That's the 960-acre Eidson lease. 

Q. And what was the date of t h a t a c q u i s i t i o n ? 

A. Sometime i n 2000, l a t e i n the year. 

Q. Okay. Was i t a f t e r t h a t a c q u i s i t i o n , was i t 

a f t e r Ocean had already had contact w i t h Mr. Nearburg and 
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Mr. B e l l , t a l k i n g about the Big Tuna prospect i n Section 24 

and 25? 

A. I t h i n k we t a l k e d about the Big Tuna. We had 

already bought both of these leases, I b e l i e v e , a l l the 

leases, from Mr. B e l l and Mr. Nearburg when they showed us 

the Big Tuna. I t h i n k we had already completed t h a t 

t r a n s a c t i o n , and t h i s was another deal t h a t they had t h a t 

was i n the area t h a t they wanted t o show us and we looked 

a t . 

Q. And you agree t h a t there was some communication 

about the Big Tuna prospect on or around October, 2 000? 

A. I don't know. I d i d n ' t say t h a t . 

Q. Well, do you remember when the communication was? 

A. No. No, I don't. 

Q. Okay. Do you remember what was t a l k e d about i n 

the f a l l of 2000 regarding the Big Tuna? 

A. They had a prospect t h a t they wanted t o d r i l l , 

and they showed i t t o us, they d i s c l o s e d the terms. 

Q. Did they t a l k about the seismic i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t 

they had or the geology i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t they had? 

A. Well, yes, they t o l d us what — t h a t they had 

seismic over i t , we were aware t h a t they had the Chesapeake 

seismic and — 

Q. Was Ocean a c t u a l l y i n t e r e s t e d i n p a r t i c i p a t i n g 

w i t h TMBR/Sharp and the whole group i n the f a l l of 2000 i n 
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the Big Tuna prospect? 

A. We wouldn't have looked a t i t i f we weren't 

i n t e r e s t e d i n i t . 

Q. Okay, and why were you i n t e r e s t e d ? 

A. We're i n t e r e s t e d i n t h i s area. I t ' s i n the area 

where we've bought leases and spent a l o t of money, we've 

d r i l l e d w e l l s , as we have up n o r t h also. 

Q. And what prospects were you p a r t i c u l a r l y 

i n t e r e s t e d i n , i n Section 2 4 and 2 5? 

A. I don't know. I t h i n k the one t h a t we were 

l o o k i n g a t was i n Section 24. That was what they were 

showing us. They were showing us t h e i r f i r s t w e l l . 

Q. I n the f a l l of 2000, d i d Ocean have any seismic 

data a v a i l a b l e t o i t on Section 24 and 25? 

A. No, no. 

Q. Did Arrington? 

A. I don't know. We were shooting the seismic 

i n s i d e t h i s o u t l i n e — 

Q. Right. 

A. — and t h a t ' s the only seismic t h a t we had. 

Q. Okay. So i n the f a l l of 2000, Ocean d i d n ' t have 

t h e i r own seismic? 

A. No. 

Q. Whatever i n f o r m a t i o n was provided t o i t by 

TMBR/Sharp was more i n f o r m a t i o n about the area than Ocean 
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had p r e v i o u s l y had? 

A. About t h i s p a r t i c u l a r area. Yes. 

Q. Yes. Okay, and then what — i n January of 2 001, 

what k i n d of i n f o r m a t i o n d i d you request from Mr. Nearburg 

on the land matters? Did you ask him — 

A. I don't remember, but I'm sure I asked him f o r a 

land p l a t w i t h the acreage t h a t they owned. 

Q. Okay. So Ocean a t t h a t time was s t i l l a 

p o t e n t i a l i n v e s t o r w i t h the TMBR/Sharp group i n Section 24 

and 25? 

A. We looked at i t when they brought i t by. I mean, 

whatever the date t h a t they t e s t i f i e d t o , yes. 

Q. Okay. So when they had t a l k e d t o you i n October, 

you had not made a d e c i s i o n t h a t you were going t o 

p a r t i c i p a t e w i t h them? 

A. No. 

Q. A f t e r your discussions i n the f a l l of 2000 w i t h 

B e l l and Nearburg, d i d you discuss Section 24 and 25 w i t h 

A r r i n g t o n O i l and Gas? 

A. No. 

Q. No discussions a t a l l ? 

A. No, we've never had a disc u s s i o n , t o my 

knowledge, w i t h A r r i n g t o n on Section 24 and 25. 

Q. No discussions ever? 

A. Well, I'm t a l k i n g about — You asked me i n 
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October. 

Q. Right. 

A. Yeah, no. Why would we t a l k t o them about a 

prospect we were t r y i n g t o o b t a i n from them? I've already 

t o l d you t h a t we were competitors out here. We wouldn't 

t a l k t o them about i t . 

Q. So your testimony i s t h a t between the October, 

2000 meeting and the e a r l y January, 2000, time you asked 

f o r a land p l a t , you had no discussions, Ocean had no 

discussions w i t h A r r i n g t o n about — 

A. About t h e i r Big Tuna prospect? 

Q. Right. 

A. Not t h a t I'm aware o f . I was never i n v o l v e d i n 

any discussions w i t h them about t h a t . 

Q. And no discussions w i t h A r r i n g t o n about Section 

24 and Section 25? 

A. No. 

Q. Okay. So a f t e r you got the land p l a t — What was 

the purpose of asking f o r the land p l a t ? 

A. To see what they owned. You know, they showed us 

the prospect and I wanted t o see where t h e i r acreage was, 

and so they asked me f o r a land p l a t [ s i c ] — 

Q. And when you — 

A. — and the terms of the deal and — 

Q. Sure. You saw they owned the Stokes Hamilton 
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acreage, which i s i n the northwest q u a r t e r of 25? 

A. Yeah, I mean, they d i s c l o s e d on a map — and I 

can't even t e l l you what i t looked l i k e , but I'm sure i t 

was j u s t a map t h a t showed the acreage c o l o r e d i n . I don't 

t h i n k we asked them f o r leases or anything. I s u r e l y 

d i d n ' t care who the lease was from. 

Q. At t h a t p o i n t had they quoted you a pr i c e ? 

A. They — f o r t h i s — No, I don't t h i n k we t a l k e d 

terms a t t h a t p o i n t . I don't know, I don't remember. But 

I know t h a t the l a s t time we t a l k e d terms i t was a t $750 an 

acre, and t h a t they — the t h i r d f o r q u a r t e r promote on a 

w e l l - b y - w e l l basis and a 25-percent back-in. Those are the 

terms I remember. 

Q. As of the time t h a t you t a l k e d t o TMBR/Sharp i n 

e a r l y January, 2001, you had not seen the seismic data on 

Section 24 and 25? 

A. I had not. 

Q. Had anyone i n Ocean? 

A. I don't know. I don't t h i n k so. 

Q. Okay. Then apparently i n l a t e January, j u s t 

before the NAPE conference, Ocean asked f o r a p r i v a t e 

showing of the Big Tuna prospect? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And t h a t was held a t Ocean's o f f i c e s i n Houston? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. And Mr. S i l v a and Mr. Messa and you and who else 

attended? 

A. I b e l i e v e they s a i d J e r r y Grocock, and I f e e l 

c o n f i d e n t he was th e r e . 

Q. I s t h a t your memory? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And d i d Mr. Mazzullo a t t h a t time have h i s laptop 

w i t h him and show you h i s i n t e r p r e t a t i o n s ? 

A. He d i d have h i s laptop. I d i d n ' t look a t i t . 

Q. But other re p r e s e n t a t i v e s — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — of Ocean did? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How long d i d t h i s p r e s e n t a t i o n l a s t ? 

A. I don't know, i t was — you know, an hour maybe, 

you know — 

Q. So t h a t was r e a l l y the f i r s t d e t a i l e d g e o l o g i c a l 

and seismic data t h a t Ocean had access to? 

A. I b e l i e v e t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Why d i d you a l l ask f o r a p r i v a t e showing? Why 

were you s t i l l i n t e r e s t e d ? 

A. I don't know. I t h i n k they were coming up t o 

show i t and thought, Well, maybe we'd b e t t e r take another 

look a t i t before i t goes out t o the general p u b l i c . 

Q. And the testimony t h a t the comment was made t o 
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them, the reason i t was turned down was t h a t i t was too low 

and too wet, do you r e c a l l those conversations? 

A. I don't r e c a l l t h a t , no, but maybe one of the 

other gentlemen... 

Q. At any time during t h a t meeting or the next day 

a t NAPE, d i d anyone a t Ocean ever suggest t o Nearburg, 

Mazzullo or B e l l t h a t the terms were unacceptable, and 

t h a t ' s why Ocean was not int e r e s t e d ? 

A. I don't b e l i e v e so, but I know t h a t t h a t was p a r t 

of our d e c i s i o n process. 

Q. Was the d e c i s i o n made a t t h a t time by Ocean, 

a f t e r seeing the seismic and g e o l o g i c a l i n f o r m a t i o n , and 

knowing what TMBR/Sharp owned and d i d n ' t own, t h a t then 

Ocean would go out and t r y t o acquire i t s own acreage? 

A. Abs o l u t e l y not. 

Q. What prompted Ocean two months l a t e r , a month and 

a h a l f l a t e r , t o decide t o go s t a r t a c q u i r i n g acreage? 

A. Well, I t h i n k t h e r e was some t a l k about the 

acreage being open out t h e r e , t h a t someone had some acreage 

they were w i l l i n g t o farm out, and we s t a r t e d t a l k i n g and 

we went a f t e r Section 25, southwest — 

Q. So Ocean had learned from the land p l a t i t got 

from TMBR/Sharp what acreage a t l e a s t TMBR/Sharp d i d n ' t 

own? 

A. We knew what TMBR/Sharp owned, we — yeah, we 
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could have — yeah, we knew what they d i d n ' t own. 

Q. Right. And now you had seismic i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t 

you hadn't had before? 

A. We d i d n ' t acquire the seismic i n f o r m a t i o n . 

Q. No, but you saw the data displayed, l i k e these 

k i n d of cartoons we've seen today? 

A. You're going t o have t o ask the s c i e n t i s t s , the 

t e c h n i c a l people, what seismic they saw. I don't know t h a t 

they saw anything over Section 25. I t h i n k i t was l i m i t e d 

t o Section 24, t h e i r prospect. I know t h a t ' s t h e way we 

show our prospects. 

Q. Okay. But when they were showing t h i s prospect, 

TMBR/Sharp was t a l k i n g i n terms of a w e l l on 24, a w e l l on 

25 and a w e l l on 23, correct? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Okay. So you knew they were i n t e r e s t e d i n a l l 

t h r e e sections? 

A. Yes. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. And they had the acreage lease. 

Q. So a t the end of January, 2 001, you had the 

meeting w i t h TMBR/Sharp, and then by March 27th, 2001, you 

made your c a l l t o Andy Grooms w i t h Primero Operating — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — and began n e g o t i a t i o n s t o acquire a f a r m - i n 
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i n t e r e s t i n the southwest quarter of Section 25? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Knowing a t t h a t time t h a t TMBR/Sharp planned t o 

d r i l l a w e l l i n the northwest guarter? 

A. Knowing t h a t they planned t o d r i l l a w e l l i n 

Section 24. 

Q. And 25 and 23? 

A. The f i r s t w e l l was going t o be d r i l l e d i n Section 

24 . 

Q. Sure, but there were subsequent w e l l s planned? 

Right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. What happened between not wanting t o do 

business w i t h TMBR/Sharp i n 24 and 25 and March 27th, 2001? 

What happened t h a t you a l l decided t h a t you would, i n s t e a d 

of p a r t i c i p a t i n g w i t h them, go out and compete w i t h them? 

A. I don't know t h a t we were competing w i t h t h e i r 

Section 24. They — you know, t h a t acreage was out t h e r e 

f o r anybody t o go a f t e r . 

Q. But you were competing w i t h them i n Section 25 

and intended to? 

A. I don't know. The only person t h a t we were 

competing w i t h when we t r i e d t o get t h i s farmout was — I 

know a f t e r the f a c t — was David A r r i n g t o n . He was also 

t r y i n g t o get t h a t farmout. And so t h e r e were two people 
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going a f t e r t h a t lease, and we happened t o p r e v a i l and get 

i t . So I don't understand what you're t r y i n g t o say. 

Q. Well, a t what p o i n t — I'm t r y i n g t o f i g u r e out 

a t what p o i n t you decided t h a t you wanted t o compete w i t h 

TMBR/Sharp i n Section 25. 

A. At some p o i n t i n March, we determined t h a t t h a t 

acreage might be a v a i l a b l e , and we were i n t e r e s t e d i n t h a t 

acreage, so we went out there and t r i e d t o make a deal on 

i t i n Section 25. 

Q. Between the end of January when you saw 

TMBR/Sharp's seismic and geology, and March 27th, d i d you 

see any other seismic or geology? 

A. No. But then again, we're a c t i v e i n t h a t area, 

and we have our own geology f o r the whole area, and we have 

seismic t o the n o r t h , and we were shooting seismic here 

already t h a t was going t o be processed, so we were going t o 

have some a d d i t i o n a l data. 

Q. Okay. When was the f i r s t time you a l l d i d a 

g e o l o g i c a l a n a l y s i s of Section 25? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Was i t before March 27th, 2001? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. I s i t any coincidence — and i f you could take 

the blue book, please s i r , the t i m e l i n e of events which i s 

a f t e r t he index — 
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A. You're going t o go t o the 25th of January date? 

Q. No. 

A. Okay, good. 

Q. No, no, i t ' s r i g h t a t the f i r s t , r i g h t a f t e r the 

index. 

A. Okay. 

Q. Yes, s i r , i t ' s c a l l e d "Timeline of Events". 

A. Okay. 

Q. Okay, Huff acquired top leases from Madeline 

Stokes and Erma Stokes Hamilton which covered acreage i n 2 4 

and 25 on March 27th, 2001. Do you see t h a t ? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. I s i t coincidence t h a t A r r i n g t o n ' s a c q u i r i n g 

acreage i n 24 and 25 through Huff on the same t h a t you a l l 

c a l l Andy Grooms? 

A. Absol u t e l y , yes. 

Q. You a l l hadn't discussed — 

A. Abso l u t e l y not — 

Q. — him t r y i n g t o get some and — 

A. — I — 

Q. — you t r y i n g t o get some? 

A. I r e a l l y don't even l i k e the i m p l i c a t i o n . 

Q. Let me ask you t h i s : Between the end of January, 

2001, and March 27th, 2001, d i d Ocean have any discussions 

w i t h Mr. A r r i n g t o n about a c q u i r i n g any acreage i n 24 and 
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25? 

A. No, no. We d i d not know t h a t he had those top 

leases u n t i l he already had them, and then he had t o o f f e r 

them t o us on the AMI p r o v i s i o n s , and he only o f f e r e d these 

two t r a c t s r i g h t here t h a t you can see are i n t h e AMI, and 

t h a t was the extent of i t . And t h a t was d i s c l o s e d t o us 

a f t e r t he leases — he already had the leases. 

Q. He d i d not o f f e r Ocean any p o r t i o n of the Stokes 

Hamilton acreage i n the northwest q u a r t e r of 2 5? 

A. No. 

Q. Okay. When was the f i r s t you learned t h a t he had 

acquired those top leases? 

A. I don't remember, but i t was a f t e r he thought 

t h a t they invested, because t h a t ' s — he o f f e r e d them t o us 

s h o r t l y t h e r e a f t e r . 

Q. Did you know on March 27th t h a t TMBR/Sharp had a 

permit t o d r i l l on Section 24, had prepared the l o c a t i o n 

and was g e t t i n g ready t o spud on March 29th? 

A. No, I d i d not know t h a t . 

Q. You a l l d i d n ' t know they received a permi t or 

prepared a l o c a t i o n — 

A. No, I d i d n ' t — d i d n ' t watch i t . Maybe some of 

the other guys d i d , but I d i d n ' t — I wasn't aware of i t . 

Q. When d i d you f i r s t become aware t h a t t h e r e was a 

w e l l being d r i l l e d on Section 24? 
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A. When the w e l l s t a r t e d d r i l l i n g , of course, i t was 

i n an area t h a t we watched, and so then I knew t h a t i t was 

d r i l l i n g a t t h a t p o i n t . 

Q. Okay. So you sent your f i r s t proposal l e t t e r t o 

Mr. Grooms on A p r i l 25th, 2001, a f t e r l e a r n i n g t h a t the 

Blue F i n 24 was being d r i l l e d on Section 24? 

A. No, no, i t had nothing t o do w i t h the w e l l or 

anything. We were i n t e r e s t e d i n the area, we wanted t o get 

the lease. Whether t h a t w e l l was d r i l l i n g or not, i t 

wouldn't have mattered. 

Q. But you knew i t was d r i l l i n g when you sent t h i s 

proposal t o Mr. Grooms? 

A. Well, I i n i t i a t e d the conversation w i t h Mr. 

Grooms i n March, and then the next l o g i c a l step i s t o send 

a proposal and t r y t o get the deal. 

Q. Surely. But you knew a t the time you sent him 

the proposal t h a t TMBR/Sharp was d r i l l i n g i t s Section 24 

we l l ? 

A. I don't b e l i e v e — I don't know i f I d i d or I 

d i d n ' t . I may have, I may not have. That wasn't why I 

sent the proposal. 

Q. No, I'm j u s t asking you i f you knew? 

A. I don't remember. 

Q. Were the r e any discussions about the progress of 

the Blue F i n 24 whi l e i t was being d r i l l e d ? Did you t a l k 
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t o anybody, hear anything? 

A. I d i d n ' t , no. 

Q. Anybody i n Ocean? 

A. You'd have t o ask them. 

Q. Was somebody a t Ocean f o l l o w i n g the progress of 

the d r i l l i n g ? 

A. Most of the people t h a t worked a t Ocean know the 

areas t h a t they work, and they f o l l o w them, yes. 

Q. Did Ocean have access t o the d r i l l stem t e s t t h a t 

was run on the TMBR/Sharp w e l l on May 15th, 2001? 

A. I don't know the answer t o t h a t question. 

Q. Did i t have access t o any logs t h a t were done on 

the Blue Fin 24? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. The a c t u a l agreement w i t h Mr. A r r i n g t o n regarding 

the farm-in acreage wasn't a c t u a l l y signed by Ocean u n t i l 

November 14th, 2001, correc t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I t had been sent by A r r i n g t o n , I guess, on or 

about September 10th, 2001? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. Since Section 2 5 was outside the AMI w i t h 

A r r i n g t o n , why d i d A r r i n g t o n and Ocean come t o an agreement 

regar d i n g farm-ins i n the southwest q u a r t e r of Section 2 5? 

A. Well, I j u s t t o l d t h a t s t o r y . Because of the 
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Mustang Midge we wanted t o d r i l l , and as you can see r i g h t 

here, t h i s l e t t e r — as I s t a t e d when Jim asked me the 

question , t o get the Mustang Midge d r i l l e d we entered i n t o 

t h i s agreement so t h a t we could get t h a t w e l l d r i l l e d , and 

we gave up a d d i t i o n a l i n t e r e s t i n Section 25, the southwest 

q u a r t e r , as p a r t of the n e g o t i a t i o n s . 

Q. And when was the Mustang Midge d r i l l e d ? 

A. I t was d r i l l e d s h o r t l y a f t e r November. I t h i n k 

they — Well, no, they spud the w e l l i n September or 

October, I can't remember which. 

Q. September or October of 2001? 

A. Yes. 

Q. When d i d Mr. A r r i n g t o n convey t o Ocean a 

p r o p o r t i o n a t e i n t e r e s t i n the Stokes Hamilton acreage i n 

Section 25? 

A. I don't remember the exact date, but you probably 

have i t t h e r e . 

Q. Was i t about October 31st, 2001? 

A. I don't know. You could t e l l me i f you l i k e , but 

I don't know. 

Q. That's what we have on our t i m e l i n e , i s October 

31st, 2001. Any reason t o disagree w i t h t h a t ? 

A. No. 

Q. And t h a t assignment of the Stokes Hamilton leases 

were a c t u a l l y the top leases, were they not? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And Ocean s t i l l owns those? 

A. We have o f f e r e d t o sign those back. 

Q. But you have not? 

A. No, t h a t hasn't happened y e t . 

Q. Okay. Ocean continues t o cla i m an i n t e r e s t i n 

those top leases? 

A. We cla i m an i n t e r e s t i n a p o r t i o n o f the top 

leases i n Section 23 and Section 26. 

Q. And i s i t Ocean's p o s i t i o n t h a t the t o p leases 

are v a l i d or not y e t v a l i d ? 

A. I t h i n k t h a t ' s up t o the cou r t s t o decide, not 

me. 

Q. Okay. As f a r as you know, Ocean doesn't have a 

p o s i t i o n on the Stokes Hamilton bottom lease or top lease 

v a l i d i t y ? 

A. I t ' s not my place t o — The c o u r t s w i l l decide. 

Q. Okay. With respect t o the agreement t h a t was 

entered i n t o w i t h Mr. A r r i n g t o n about Section 25, A r r i n g t o n 

agreed t h a t he was going t o commence i t s t e s t w e l l before 

J u l y 1 s t , 2002 — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — pursuant t o the farmouts t h a t — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — Ocean had received? 
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Ocean s t a r t e d g e t t i n g those farmouts, a c t u a l l y 

g e t t i n g t h i n g s signed up i n J u l y of 2001? 

A. Right. 

Q. At what p o i n t d i d Ocean know t h a t Mr. A r r i n g t o n 

had obtained a permit t o d r i l l on Section 25? 

A. I don't remember, I don't know. 

Q. When Ocean f i r s t s t a r t e d a c q u i r i n g the farm-ins, 

d i d i t discuss w i t h Mr. A r r i n g t o n what i t s progress was 

and — 

A. No, no, a b s o l u t e l y not. 

Q. Okay. When were the f i r s t discussions regarding 

the farm-ins between Ocean and Arrington? 

A. A f t e r we were successful i n a c q u i r i n g the farm-

i n s , he was i n t e r e s t e d i n a c q u i r i n g the i n t e r e s t and wanted 

t o buy an i n t e r e s t from us, and — 

Q. Well, a l o t of these farm-ins weren't acquired 

u n t i l December, 2 001, were they? 

A. Look a t the dates, you t e l l me. 

Q. Okay, can you i d e n t i f y t h i s package of m a t e r i a l 

which has been marked as TMBR/Sharp E x h i b i t Number 20? 

A. Yes, those are the farmout agreements. 

Q. And i f y o u ' l l look, f o r example, a t B.B.L., L t d . , 

i t ' s dated December 13th, 2 001 — 

A. Right. 

Q. — do you see t h a t one? 
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A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Okay. You have one — I mean, t h e y ' l l speak f o r 

themselves, so we're not going t o go through each one, but 

seve r a l of these weren't acquired u n t i l December, 2001. 

A. But the agreement was made. I had v e r b a l 

assurance t h a t the agreement was made, Andy Grooms spoke t o 

h i s people, and he signed h i s — l e t ' s see, i s t h i s — 

dated November 30th, and i t was a l l s u b j e c t t o the farmout 

l e t t e r t h a t was dated J u l y 23rd. 

So we had the farmout l e t t e r dated back i n J u l y , 

and then we had the a c t u a l long agreement t h a t was dated i n 

November. So you know, back i n J u l y we had the de a l . 

Q. When you t a l k e d t o Branex about what they wanted 

f o r t h e i r acreage — and you said you pai d $750 an acre? 

A. Pardon? 

Q. When you t a l k e d t o Branex about a c q u i r i n g t h e i r 

acreage, d i d you pay $750 an acre? 

A. Branex d i d n ' t pay anything. 

Q. No, no Ocean pay Branex? 

A. We d i d n ' t pay Branex. 

Q. You d i d n ' t pay Branex anything? 

A. No. 

Q. Just got a farmout? 

A. With a commitment t o d r i l l t he w e l l . 

Q. Okay. And a t t h a t p o i n t were t h e r e ever any 
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discussions between you and r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s f o r Branex 

about the Blue Fin 24 and whether i t was a good w e l l , bad 

w e l l , anything about i t ? 

A. I don't remember having a conversation w i t h Andy, 

Mr. Grooms, about the Blue Fin. I know t h a t everybody was 

i n t e r e s t e d i n i t because i t was a d r i l l i n g w e l l i n the 

immediate area. 

Q. By the time you signed t h i s f a r m - i n w i t h Mr. 

Grooms, d i d you a l l have a b e l i e f , d i d Ocean have a b e l i e f , 

t h a t the Blue Fin was a successful w e l l ? 

A. I don't know when i t was down, but I don't t h i n k 

we knew anything i n J u l y when we were g e t t i n g these t h i n g s . 

I don't t h i n k we knew anything. 

Q. I n E x h i b i t 19, i n A r r i n g t o n ' s commitment t o d r i l l 

the T r i p l e Hackle Dragon 25 Number 1 w e l l , and he was going 

t o be the operator, on page 2 of t h a t agreement i t has a 

p r o v i s i o n t h a t " I n the event t h a t the d r i l l i n g t i t l e 

o p i n i o n rendered by a law f i r m l i c e n s e d t o do business i n 

the State of New Mexico s h a l l c o n t a i n t i t l e requirements 

such t h a t A r r i n g t o n or Ocean as a reasonable and prudent 

operator i s unable t o commence d r i l l i n g o p e r a t i o n s . . . 

A r r i n g t o n or Ocean s h a l l no l a t e r than January 5, 2002, 

i n i t i a t e f o r c e p o o l i n g . . . " 

Did A r r i n g t o n get a t i t l e o p i n i o n t h a t contained 

t i t l e requirements? 
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A. There was a t i t l e o p i n i o n on i t , and t h e r e are 

some t i t l e requirements on i t . 

Q. And what were the t i t l e requirements t h a t — 

A. Well, there's a dispute. I t i n d i c a t e d t h e r e ' s a 

t i t l e d i s p u t e , t h a t there are some top leases and — needs 

t o get the leases released. 

Q. When was t h a t t i l e o p i n i o n done f o r Mr. 

Arr i n g t o n ? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. At the time you a l l entered i n t o the agreement i n 

November, d i d you already know t h a t t h e r e were t i t l e 

d i s putes t h a t couldn't be resolved? 

A. Well, I knew when we were o f f e r e d the top lease 

t h a t t h e r e was going t o be a t i t l e d i s p u t e . I knew t h e r e 

was probably going t o be some... 

Q. One of the inherent dangers of top leases i s , you 

don't know when i t becomes v a l i d ? 

A. Right. 

Q. Okay. I n your experience, when you have a top 

lease l i k e t h a t and you don't know when i t becomes v a l i d , 

do people go t o the courthouse, f i l e s u i t f o r d e c l a r a t o r y 

judgment and ask the c o u r t t o declare which lease i s v a l i d ? 

A. I haven't had t o do i t , I'm not an a t t o r n e y , so I 

don't know how they would do i t . 

Q. Sure. I n f a c t , you're not a lawyer? 
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A. Right. 

Q. Don't have any formal l e g a l t r a i n i n g ? 

A. Right. 

Q. And don't have an opinio n about whether 

TMBR/Sharp pooled t h e i r lease or not? 

A. I have an op i n i o n , you asked me e a r l i e r i f Ocean 

had an o p i n i o n . 

Q. Ah, you have an op i n i o n . But i t ' s not an 

o f f i c i a l Ocean opinion? 

A. Abso l u t e l y not. 

Q. Okay, w e l l , t h a t ' s f i n e . You're here as a 

r e p r e s e n t a t i v e of Ocean — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — not i n your own personal capacity? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay, we won't burden the record w i t h t h a t , then. 

Because i t was suspect whether the t o p leases 

were v a l i d , d i d A r r i n g t o n and Ocean decide the next step 

would be t o force-pool them? 

A. The only way we could get our w e l l d r i l l e d i s t o 

fo r c e - p o o l whoever i s clai m i n g t h a t acreage. 

Q. Okay. Since the f i r s t f arm-in came from Mr. 

Grooms i n J u l y of 2001 and he thought everybody was going 

t o s i g n up, why d i d n ' t A r r i n g t o n or Ocean f i l e a f o r c e -

p o o l i n g on Section 25 then, back i n September? 
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A. I don't know. I t h i n k f e l t l i k e t h a t maybe some 

time could run and t h i s t h i n g would solve i t s e l f and we'd 

j u s t see how t h i n g s shook out. And i t became apparent t h a t 

t h i s was going t o be a r e a l long, drawn-out process. 

Q. These farm-ins have a f o r c e majeure p r o v i s i o n , 

don't they? 

A. They do. 

Q. Paragraph 16? 

A. (No response) 

Q. Okay. Since Ocean i s concerned t h a t i t s farm-ins 

may terminate J u l y 1st, 2002, why has Ocean not gone t o the 

courthouse as TMBR/Sharp d i d and get a f o r c e majeure r u l i n g 

p r o t e c t i n g i t from having h i s farm-ins expire? 

MR. BRUCE: And I would o b j e c t i n s o f a r as i t 

r e q u i r e s a l e g a l conclusion from my c l i e n t . I t h i n k t h a t ' s 

f o r the a t t o r n e y s a t Ocean t o decide, but i f he has an 

op i n i o n I would allow him t o go ahead. 

THE WITNESS: Do you want t o ask the question 

again, please? 

Q. (By Ms. Richardson) Sure. I n the TMBR/Sharp-

Huff - A r r i n g t o n l a w s u i t i n Lea County, because TMBR/Sharp 

could not get a permit t o d r i l l i t f i l e d a f o r c e majeure 

summary judgment w i t h the Court, asking the Court t o hol d 

t h a t t h e r e had been a f o r c e majeure event, because i t had 

no permit t o d r i l l a t t h a t p o i n t . Do you know why — and 
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were granted t h a t f o r c e majeure, a t l e a s t u n t i l i t got a 

permit t o d r i l l . 

Do you know why Ocean d i d not go s i m i l a r l y t r y t o 

p r o t e c t i t s own i n t e r e s t i n these farmouts by going t o the 

Court f o r a f o r c e majeure order? 

A. I t was discussed and i t ' s something we may s t i l l 

have t o do. 

Q. Because Ocean s t i l l doesn't have a permi t t o 

d r i l l ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. And however these p o o l i n g cases are r e s o l v e d , 

l i k e l y somebody i n t h i s room w i l l appeal, c o r r e c t ? L i k e l y 

i n your mind? 

A. I suspect the loser w i l l appeal. 

Q. Okay. And i t could take months i f not years 

before a l l these matters are f i n a l l y s o r t e d out? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. I n l i g h t of t h a t , i f a p a r t y has leases e x p i r i n g 

because there's no c u r r e n t end i n s i g h t of a l l these 

c o n t r o v e r s i e s , don't you agree t h a t the prudent operator 

would go out and d r i l l and t r y t o preserve h i s acreage? 

MR. BRUCE: I would o b j e c t . That c a l l s f o r a 

l e g a l conclusion under the prudent operator standard, the 

normal o i l and gas lease. 

MS. RICHARDSON: That's a mixed question of f a c t 
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and law at best. I t ' s r e a l l y a fac t question. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Do you want t o restate your 

question? 

MS. RICHARDSON: Surely. 

Q. (By Ms. Richardson) I s i t understandable t o you, 

Mr. Maney, why i n l i g h t of one p o t e n t i a l expired lease i n 

Section 25 i n March, f i v e more i n July, Stokes Hamilton 

sometime i n the summer — i n l i g h t of tha t f a c t , t h a t 

TMBR/Sharp was looking at expiring leases i n Section 25, 

does i t make sense to you as a land person and as a person 

who understands about preserving leases, does i t make sense 

t o you tha t an operator would want t o go ahead and d r i l l 

under those circumstances? 

A. Would want t o d r i l l or would go ahead and d r i l l ? 

Q. Both. 

A. I would want t o d r i l l , but I don't know tha t I 

would d r i l l under the circumstances i n t h i s s i t u a t i o n . 

Q. Would you l e t the leases expire? 

A. I think I would go to the District Court and try 

to get the force majeure. 

Q. If you had a permit to drill, how could you get a 

force majeure? 

A. Well, again, I don't know. 

Q. Sure. Assume with me that you couldn't get a 

fo rce majeure i f you a permit to d r i l l . Do you agree with 
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me i t would be good t o go forward? 

A. I t ' s a business d e c i s i o n , how much r i s k you want 

t o take, yes. Sure. 

Q. I s the reason A r r i n g t o n and Ocean d i d not t r y t o 

d r i l l Section 25 e a r l i e r i s , i t was too concerned t h a t i t s 

top leases might not be any good? 

A. I can't speak f o r Mr. A r r i n g t o n , but we've been 

t r y i n g t o get the w e l l d r i l l e d from the g i t - g o , and we 

would s t i l l l i k e t o get the w e l l d r i l l e d on a west-half 

standup u n i t and, you know, l e t the l e g a l system determine 

who owns i t , and — 

Q. But the acreage you're proposing t o d r i l l on i s 

not even Ocean acreage, r i g h t ? 

A. The best l o c a t i o n t o d r i l l i s not on Ocean 

acreage. 

Q. I t ' s on TMBR/Sharp acreage? 

A. I t ' s on TMBR/Sharp acreage, or A r r i n g t o n ' s 

acreage, whoever the Court determines. 

Q. Okay. And you are aware of circumstances i n 

which an operator has chosen t o d r i l l a f t e r g e t t i n g a 

per m i t before compulsory pooling? 

A. Well, I've only worked, you know, the Permian 

here f o r a couple years. I haven't seen i t done i n t h a t 

s h o r t l e n g t h of time. But maybe some people do i t . I 

r e a l l y wouldn't f e e l comfortable w i t h t h a t . 
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Q. Okay. I f you'd look a t E x h i b i t Number 7 f o r me, 

paragraph 34? 

A. I n the book? 

Q. Yes, s i r , thank you. 

A. Okay. 

Q. Okay, the f i r s t sentence, f i r s t couple o f 

sentences, " I t has long been the p r a c t i c e i n New Mexico 

t h a t the operator i s f r e e t o choose whether t o d r i l l 

f i r s t . . . " I'm sorry? 

A. I s t h i s Number 7? 

Q. Number 7, uh-huh. 

A. Okay. 

Q. Paragraph 34. 

A. Okay. 

Q. " I t has long been the p r a c t i c e i n New Mexico t h a t 

the operator i s f r e e t o choose whether t o d r i l l f i r s t , 

whether t o pool f i r s t , or whether t o pursue both 

contemporaneously." Do you agree t h a t i s a c o r r e c t 

statement? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. Then i t says, "The O i l and Gas Act 

e x p l i c i t l y permits an operator t o apply f o r compulsory 

p o o l i n g a f t e r the w e l l i s already d r i l l e d . " Do you agree 

w i t h t h a t statement? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Okay. Were you aware t h a t when TMBR/Sharp f i r s t 

attempted t o get a permit t o d r i l l the Section 25 w e l l i n 

August of 2 001, t h a t i t owned approximately 85 percent of 

the acreage i n the n o r t h h a l f of Section 25? 

A. I don't know i f the ownership i s — u n t i l i t was 

d i s c l o s e d t o me today. 

Q. Okay. Does i t sound reasonable t o you i f an 

operator owned 85 percent, c o n t r o l l e d 85 percent and t h a t 

the p a r t i e s owning the acreage i t d i d n ' t c o n t r o l , i t was i n 

l i t i g a t i o n w i t h and u n l i k e l y were going t o be able t o reach 

agreement about the time of day, much less these issues, i s 

i t reasonable t o you t h a t t h a t operator would go ahead and 

d r i l l and then, i f i t couldn't get v o l u n t a r y agreement, go 

ahead and compulsorily pool? 

A. I t h i n k t h a t there's always been an argument as 

t o which o r i e n t a t i o n should be d r i l l e d , and i t would make 

me very nervous t o d r i l l a w e l l u n t i l t h a t was determined, 

i f you have everybody arguing about i t . 

Q. And the o r i e n t a t i o n — i f y o u ' l l look a t E x h i b i t 

14, please s i r , back i n the book — the o r i e n t a t i o n t h a t 

Ocean wants i s a west-half s e c t i o n , west-half p r o r a t i o n 

u n i t . 

A. Okay. 

Q. I s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Yes, okay. And these people shown on here, on 

E x h i b i t 14, you understand, are people t h a t own i n the 

northeast q u a r t e r of Section 25? 

A. Okay. 

Q. Okay, because the Stokes Hamilton lease 

represents the whole of the northwest q u a r t e r of Section 

25? 

A. Okay. 

Q. You r e a l i z e t h a t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. So what Ocean i s asking, even though 

there's a w e l l being c u r r e n t l y d r i l l e d on Section 25 i s , as 

t o a l l of these people, take away any r i g h t s they might 

have i n t h a t Section 2 5 well? 

A. I t h i n k i t needs t o be determined i f there's any 

o i l and gas under t h i s northeast q u a r t e r before they take 

anything away from them. 

Q. Well, l e t me t r y t o ask i t another way so you 

understand. I want t o be sure we understand one another. 

I f Ocean gets i t s way and there's a west - h a l f 

p r o r a t i o n u n i t — correct? — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — a l l of the people who now p o t e n t i a l l y have an 

i n t e r e s t under TMBR/Sharp's Blue Fin 25 l i s t e d here w i l l 

have no i n t e r e s t ? 
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A. I t ' s up t o the Commission t o determine — That's 

what we're t r y i n g t o do here, i s t o determine what 

o r i e n t a t i o n i t should be. And i f i t ' s proven t h a t t he 

northeast quarter i s not prospective f o r what we're 

d r i l l i n g , they shouldn't share i n i t . Why should they 

share i n i t ? 

Q. I t h i n k i t ' s a yes or no. Ocean i s asking t h a t 

these people not have an i n t e r e s t i n the Section 2 5 w e l l 

t h a t ' s being d r i l l e d . 

A. Then i t ' s a no, we're asking t h a t they don't have 

an i n t e r e s t . 

Q. I f you would look a t the l a s t E x h i b i t on E x h i b i t 

7, the a p p l i c a t i o n t o d r i l l the Blue F i n 25 Number 1, f i l e d 

by TMBR/Sharp — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — do you see th a t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay, t h i s was a c t u a l l y a supplemental 

a p p l i c a t i o n regarding t h a t w e l l , same API Number, 

e v e r y t h i n g i s the same. And you look a t the second page on 

the C-102 — 

MR. HALL: Excuse me, which e x h i b i t i s t h a t ? 

MS. RICHARDSON: I t ' s E x h i b i t 7, the C-101 and 

C-102, which are the l a s t couple of pages of the e x h i b i t . 

Did we sh o r t you, Mr. Hall? I'm s o r r y . 
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THE WITNESS: Okay, the C-102? 

Q. (By Ms. Richardson) Right. 

A. Okay. 

Q. Okay. You see t h a t — i n t h a t acreage d e d i c a t i o n 

t h a t was o r i g i n a l l y f i l e d i n August of 2001, you see t h a t 

i t ' s the n o r t h - h a l f s e c t i o n of Section 25 t h a t was 

dedicated? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Yes. Don't you be l i e v e t h a t those people shown 

on E x h i b i t 14 who are i n the n o r t h h a l f of 25 have some 

exp e c t a t i o n now t h a t a permit has been granted d e d i c a t i n g 

t h a t acreage, and a w e l l i s being d r i l l e d , t h a t they would 

l i k e t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n t h a t well? 

A. I'm sure they do. 

Q. Did Ocean give any of those people t h a t ' s l i s t e d 

on E x h i b i t 14 n o t i c e t h a t i t was t r y i n g t o , i n e f f e c t , 

d i s e n f r a n c h i s e them by a west-half u n i t ? 

A. No. 

Q. Going back t o the o f f e r t h a t was made by 

TMBR/Sharp t o Ocean t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n the Big Tuna prospect 

on 24, 25, 23, e t cetera, do you r e c a l l t h a t the acreage 

was o f f e r e d a t $250 w i t h a 75-percent net revenue i n t e r e s t ? 

Do you r e c a l l t h a t ? 

A. No, I don't. And I remember t a l k i n g about $750 

an acre because t h a t ' s what we had pai d out here before, 
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and when t h a t t h i n g was f i r s t shown t o me they were t a l k i n g 

$750 an acre. Now, they may have changed the terms t o $250 

l a t e r on when they showed i t — when we were — when i t was 

f i r s t shown t o me, t h a t ' s the number t h a t jumps out i n 

f r o n t of me, I remember. 

Q. Okay. So i t was $750, you t h i n k , was being 

o f f e r e d before the Blue Fin 24 was being d r i l l e d ? 

A. I b e l i e v e t h a t ' s the terms t h a t they were asking. 

I t wasn't o f f e r e d . 

Q. Well, they were asking $750 — 

A. Right. 

Q. — before the Blue Fin was d r i l l e d , t h a t ' s your 

r e c o l l e c t i o n ? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. Not $250? 

A. No. 

Q. But l a t e r — A l l r i g h t . 

I s n ' t i t t r u e t h a t Ocean's permit t o d r i l l on 

Section 25 was denied i n — w e l l , i t was denied i n A p r i l of 

2001? 2002, I apologize. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Denied i n A p r i l , 2002. I t was denied on the 

basis of the f a c t t h a t A r r i n g t o n had permits on t h a t 

s e c t i o n , wasn't i t ? 

A. No, i t was denied on the basis t h a t those permits 
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were stayed, and now TMBR/Sharp had the — I b e l i e v e t h a t ' s 

r i g h t . 

Q. Well, when was i t denied? 

A. Here j u s t r e c e n t l y . I t h i n k the A p r i l date i s 

c o r r e c t , but again, I — 

Q. You don't r e c a l l when i t was denied? 

A. No. I t was done v e r b a l l y w i t h our r e g u l a t o r y 

person. 

Q. Was i t denied when i t was f i l e d w i t h the — 

A. Yes, yes, i t was denied when we f i l e d i t . 

Q. Okay, and what i s the f i l i n g date? I f you could 

look a t your E x h i b i t Number 6, t e l l me the f i l i n g date f o r 

the T r i p l e Hackle Dragon 25 Number 1. 

A. Okay, Number 6. Let's see, March 28th i s the 

date. I t ' s on the bottom, down here. 

Q. That's when i t was f i l e d ? 

A. That's the date on t h i s piece of paper, yeah. 

And I'm assuming i t was — 

Q. Okay, i s t h a t when i t was denied? 

A. No, i t was a l i t t l e b i t l a t e r . I t was sent t o 

them, i t may have even been faxed t o them, and — 

Q. Like maybe a week l a t e r or — 

A. Again, I don't know the exact time, but i t was 

denied. I was t o l d t h a t i t was denied by a r e g u l a t o r y 

person. 
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Q. Okay, I r e a l l y need you t o t r y t o remember when 

i t was. Was i t a week from the time i t was f i l e d , two 

weeks from the time i t was f i l e d ? 

A. I can't j u s t p u l l a date out, I don't remember. 

I'm s o r r y . 

Q. Do you have a l e t t e r f o r the d e n i a l date? 

A. We d i d not get a l e t t e r , no. 

Q. I t was j u s t v e r b a l — 

A. I t was v e r b a l . 

Q. — communication? 

A. They c a l l e d our r e g u l a t o r y person and t o l d them 

t h a t the permit would not be approved as t h e r e was another 

p e r m i t on th e r e t h a t TMBR/Sharp had f o r the n o r t h - h a l f 

l o c a t i o n . 

Q. Okay. TMBR/Sharp got a t l e a s t one permit on 

March 2 0 t h , and then l a t e r the Commission entered i t s order 

re g a r d i n g the c o n f l i c t i n g permits between A r r i n g t o n and 

TMBR/Sharp on A p r i l 26th. Were you aware of t h a t ? 

A. I knew t h a t had happened. I d i d n ' t know the 

dates, I don't remember the dates. 

Q. Okay. But u n t i l A p r i l 2 6th, you understood t h a t 

t h e r e were c o n f l i c t i n g permits, one f o r A r r i n g t o n and one 

f o r TMBR/Sharp? 

A. Right. 

Q. Right, okay. I s there any reason Ocean hasn't 
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obtained a farmout extension from Branex? 

A. He sent a l e t t e r t o u here a w h i l e back and 

i n d i c a t e d — or j u s t t o l d me t h a t i t was not going t o be 

extended. They expected us t o perform under the agreement. 

Q. But you a l l are s t i l l l e a v i n g open the o p t i o n of 

going t o the Court f o r a f o r c e majeure order of your own? 

A. That's an o p t i o n . 

MS. RICHARDSON: Okay. Nothing f u r t h e r , pass the 

witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Hall? 

MR. HALL: No questions. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Carr? 

MR. CARR: No questions. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Redirect? 

MR. BRUCE: Just a few, Mr. Examiner. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Let's s t a r t o f f w i t h t h i s , Mr. Maney. I hand you 

what's been marked Ocean E x h i b i t 9A. Would you i d e n t i f y 

t h a t f o r the Examiner? 

A. I t ' s a l e t t e r from Branex t o Dale Douglas a t 

David H. A r r i n g t o n ' s o f f i c e ; P h i l Brewer, a t t o r n e y f o r 

TMBR/Sharp; and t o me. And i t references the p o o l i n g 

A p p l i c a t i o n of TMBR/Sharp, and i t t a l k s about the — not 

going t o — w e l l , I guess the important p a r t t o me i s , "We 
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have... 1 1 

Q. Top of page 2? 

A. Yeah, r i g h t , on the bottom [ s i c ] i t says, "We 

have however c a t e g o r i c a l l y s t a t e d and we r e a f f i r m h e r e i n , 

t h a t we w i l l not extend said J u l y 1, 2002 spud date f o r the 

i n i t i a l t e s t w e l l , which w i l l comprise the W/2, Section 25. 

We b e l i e v e t h a t both seismic and geology i n d i c a t e t h a t the 

W/2 spacing u n i t i s appropriate f o r the f i r s t w e l l t o be 

d r i l l e d Section 25. Regardless of the s t a t u s of the 

Arrington/TMBR-Sharp t i t l e d i s p u t e . . . " 

Q. Okay. So you've got a f i r m date of J u l y 1, 2002, 

at t h i s p o i n t ? 

A. That's the way I read i t , yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay. And on t h i s farmout — Ms. Richardson 

handed you E x h i b i t 19, and again t h e r e was g i v e and take 

f o r the execution of t h a t l e t t e r agreement because 

A r r i n g t o n reversed an e a r l i e r nonconsent on a w e l l and 

agreed t o pay 50 percent of the cost of a w e l l i n Section 

28 t o the west? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And t h e i r E x h i b i t 20, t h i s p i l e of 

farmouts, these November l e t t e r s , t h a t ' s a c t u a l l y an 

amendment t o the o r i g i n a l farmout, i s i t not? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And then there's an August 14th amendment t o some 
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of these farmout l e t t e r s also? 

A. Yes. 

Q. A l l the o r i g i n a l farmouts were dated J u l y 2 3rd 

and were dated i n or signed i n l a t e J u l y or sometime i n 

August of 2 001, were they not? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And i s i t f a i r t o say t h a t since you d i d n ' t have 

t o pay any cash up f r o n t you got b e t t e r economic terms on 

these farmouts than was o f f e r e d by TMBR/Sharp e t a l . , on 

the northwest quarter of 25? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Now, regarding t h i s acreage — and you s a i d i t 

covers more — i n loo k i n g a t your e x h i b i t , i t covers what, 

acreage i n Sections 25, 26 and 34? 

A. No, s i r , i t ' s 23, 2 6 and 35. 

Q. The Branex farmout? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I t covers acreage now i n what? 

A. I n Section 25, 26 and 35. 

Q. Okay, okay, s o r r y , I misspoke. 

But w h i l e you were out the r e l o o k i n g f o r t h i s 

farmout, TMBR/Sharp could have gone out and g o t t e n t h i s 

farmout i t s e l f , could i t not? 

A. Yes, they could. 

Q. And t o the best of your knowledge — w e l l , 
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TMBR/Sharp t e s t i f i e d t h a t they showed t h i s prospect a t the 

NAPE convention i n l a t e January, 2001, d i d they not? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So anyone who went t o NAPE and looked a t t h i s 

prospect could have run out t o Lea County and obtained the 

same farmout t h a t you did? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I mean, Ocean wasn't the only one who could go 

look f o r t h i s , could i t ? 

A. No. 

Q. Any operator could go out and check f o r i t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Contact Mr. Grooms and the r e s t of the p a r t i e s 

and get the same deal you have? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You were j u s t f i r s t ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Just one f i n a l question then. Ms. Richardson 

asked you about the E x h i b i t 14 and about these p a r t i e s 

being cut out of the proposed w e l l . You've been here 

throughout the f u l l testimony, haven't you, from 

TMBR/Sharp? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you heard Mr. P h i l l i p s t e s t i f y t h a t there's 

no r e s e r v o i r i n the northeast q u a r t e r , i s there? 
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A. Right. 

MR. BRUCE: So — That's i t , Mr. Examiner. I 

pass the witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions of t h i s 

witness? 

MS. RICHARDSON: Yeah, j u s t a couple t o c l e a r up. 

RECROS S-EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RICHARDSON: 

Q. I f the farmouts covered 26 and 35, why doesn't 

Ocean go d r i l l on those sections? 

A. Best l o c a t i o n i s as we're proposing t h e w e l l . 

That's the one we want t o d r i l l . 

Q. So i t ' s a matter of preference, not necessity? 

A. You don't want t o d r i l l a w e l l — You want t o 

d r i l l t he best w e l l , your best economic shot. 

Q. Sure, sure. 

A. You don't want t o go out t h e r e and j u s t put a 

hole down — 

Q. Right. 

A. — t o hold a lease. 

Q. That would be f o o l i s h , wouldn't i t , j u s t t o — I t 

would be f o o l i s h t o d r i l l a $1.5 m i l l i o n w e l l t o h o l d a 

lease i f you were p r e t t y darn sure i t was going t o be a dry 

hole? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Okay. So do you a l l have l o c a t i o n s a c t u a l l y 

picked out on 2 6 and 3 5? 

A. I don't b e l i e v e so. That's a question f o r some 

of the other witnesses. 

Q. But the reason you want t o d r i l l on 2 5 i s , 

b a s i c a l l y , TMBR/Sharp and Ocean are i n agreement t h a t the 

northwest q u a r t e r i s the most a t t r a c t i v e l o c a t i o n f o r a 

we l l ? 

A. We t h i n k the northwest q u a r t e r i s the best 

l o c a t i o n . 

Q. Right, and these farmout agreements, which are 

E x h i b i t 20, commit t o d r i l l i n g a w e l l on t h a t northwest 

q u a r t e r t o a depth t o t e s t the M i s s i s s i p p i a n f o r m a t i o n or 

t o a depth of 13,200? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Which b a s i c a l l y sounds l i k e much the same k i n d of 

w e l l t h a t TMBR/Sharp i s now d r i l l i n g ? 

A. Yes, i t ' s a d i f f e r e n t l o c a t i o n , t h a t ' s the only 

d i f f e r e n c e . 

Q. Sub s t a n t i v e l y d i f f e r e n t , do you know? 

A. That's not a question I'm w i l l i n g t o answer. 

Q. Okay. With regard t o what people knew and d i d n ' t 

know and what i n f o r m a t i o n Ocean had about 25 they had 

obtained from TMBR/Sharp, you are i n no p o s i t i o n t o t e s t i f y 

t o t h i s Hearing Examiner what TMBR/Sharp showed t o the 
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p u b l i c , as opposed t o what they showed i n your p r i v a t e 

showing? 

A. No, I couldn't — 

MS. RICHARDSON: A l l r i g h t , thank you. Nothing 

f u r t h e r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions of t h i s 

witness? 

MR. BROOKS: Just — Oh, go ahead. 

MR. BRUCE: No, I was going t o seek the 

i n t r o d u c t i o n of our e x h i b i t s , Mr. Brooks. 

EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BROOKS: 

Q. I was j u s t going t o say t h i s — so I won't have 

t o read i t a l l , under the terms of the farmout agreement, 

t h i s acreage could be earned by Ocean d r i l l i n g a w e l l 

anywhere on the farmout acreage? 

A. No, s i r , i n i t i a l l y the farmout agreement was t o 

d r i l l i n the — Let's see, I ' d b e t t e r look a t them before I 

say t h i s . 

( C e l l phone rang) 

MS. RICHARDSON: I'm sor r y , excuse me f o r 

i n t e r r u p t i n g . 

THE WITNESS: I t h i n k a t one p o i n t — and again, 

I ' d have t o go back and look a t these, but a t one p o i n t one 

of the i n d i v i d u a l s wanted us t o d r i l l on the lease — on 
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the premises of the farmout, and we amended t h a t t o d r i l l 

on the premises or on acreage pooled t h e r e w i t h . 

Q. (By Mr. Brooks) Okay, but i t could be anywhere 

on — 

A. Yes. 

Q. I t does not have t o be i n the west h a l f of 2 5? 

A. I t does — Well, Andy Grooms' l e t t e r and some of 

these other l e t t e r s p r e f e r the west-half l o c a t i o n , t h a t 

was — 

Q. But from the p o i n t of view of earning t h e 

acreage, i t could be d r i l l e d anywhere on the farmout 

acreage or acreage p r o p e r l y — 

A. Yes — 

Q. — pooled — 

A. — yes. 

Q. Okay. And of course a west-half — you've 

proposed a southwest-guarter w e l l , t h a t would a l s o earn the 

acreage, would i t not? 

A. Yes, i t would. 

Q. And given t h a t there's an o p t i o n a l i n f i l l w e l l i n 

t h i s u n i t , t h a t would be a l e g a l l o c a t i o n from t h e OCD 

standpo i n t , whether you have a west-half u n i t or a south-

h a l f u n i t , c o r r e c t ? 

A. Right. 

MR. BROOKS: Okay, t h a t ' s a l l I have. 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions? 

MR. BRUCE: No, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, l e t ' s get these 

e x h i b i t s — 

MR. BRUCE: I ' d move the admission of Ocean 

E x h i b i t 9A, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objections? 

MS. RICHARDSON: No, and we'd move admission of 

TMBR/Sharp 19 and 20. 

MR. BRUCE: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, Ocean Energy's E x h i b i t 

Number 9A w i l l be admitted i n t o evidence a t t h i s time, as 

w i l l t he TMBR/Sharp E x h i b i t s 19 and 20. You may be 

excused. 

Let's take a ten-minute recess a t t h i s time. 

And your next witnesses are going t o be — 

MR. BRUCE: My next witness i s a g e o l o g i s t . His 

d i r e c t i s f a i r l y b r i e f , Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. 

(Thereupon, a recess was taken a t 5:00 p.m.) 

(The f o l l o w i n g proceedings had a t 5:15 p.m.) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: This hearing w i l l come t o 

order. 

Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: Okay. The next witness i s Mr. Messa, 
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our g e o l o g i s t , Mr. Examiner. 

FRANK MESSA. 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Would you please s t a t e your f u l l name f o r the 

record? 

A. Frank Messa. 

Q. Where do you reside? 

A. I n Houston, Texas. 

Q. Who do you work f o r and i n what capacity? 

A. I work f o r Ocean Energy as e x p l o r a t i o n g e o l o g i s t . 

Q. Have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before the 

D i v i s i o n ? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And were your c r e d e n t i a l s as an expert petroleum 

g e o l o g i s t accepted as a matter of record? 

A. Yes, they have. 

Q. And are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the geology i n v o l v e d i n 

t h i s prospect? 

A. Yes, I am. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d tender Mr. Messa as 

an expert petroleum g e o l o g i s t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objections? 
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MR. KELLAHIN: No, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Messa i s so q u a l i f i e d . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Mr. Messa, f i r s t o f a l l what i s 

the t o t a l depth t h a t Ocean has proposed f o r a w e l l i n the 

northwest q u a r t e r of Section 25? 

A. 13,200 f e e t . 

Q. And t h a t would t e s t the Mississippian? 

A. Yes, t h a t i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. What are the primary zones of i n t e r e s t i n 

a w e l l i n the southwest q u a r t e r , northwest q u a r t e r of 

Section 25? 

A. Primary zone of i n t e r e s t i s the Atoka sandstone, 

and a secondary o b j e c t i v e would be the A u s t i n Chester. 

Q. Okay, the Mississippian? 

A. The Mi s s i s s i p p i a n . 

Q. Okay. Could you i d e n t i f y E x h i b i t 10 f o r the 

Examiner, please? 

A. This i s a net sand isopach on the lower Atoka 

what we c a l l Brunson sand. 

Q. And l e t me — The Brunson d e s i g n a t i o n , i s t h a t 

used f u r t h e r t o the no r t h i n t h i s township? 

A. Yes, t h i s i s a l o c a l name used f u r t h e r t o the 

n o r t h . I t ' s f a i r l y common among most of the guys t h a t work 

t h i s area, and i t ' s Lou Mazzullo's lower Atoka f l u v i a l 

sand. 
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Q. Okay. Go ahead. 

A. F i r s t o f f , you see two channel systems t h a t are 

t r e n d i n g i n a north-northwest/south-southeast d i r e c t i o n . 

The blue dots are Atoka producers, and the red dots are the 

Austin-Chester-Mississippian producers i n t h i s area. 

I ' d l i k e t o p o i n t out t h a t the A u s t i n — excuse 

me, the Atoka production i s overwhelmingly the l a r g e s t gas 

producer i n t h i s area, and i t i s our c o n t e n t i o n t h a t t h i s 

i s a primary prospect, primary o b j e c t i v e i n t h i s prospect 

and many of the others i n t h i s area. 

Q. Now, l o o k i n g a t t h i s map — and w e ' l l get t o your 

c r o s s - s e c t i o n i n a minute — you have, l i k e you say, t h i s 

northwest-southeast t r e n d i n g sand. I s t h a t the general 

t r e n d of these deeper sands i n t h i s area? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s t r u e , i t ' s very common f o r these 

sands, as w e l l as deeper sands, t o have the same t r e n d . 

Q. Okay. Now, would a w e l l i n the northwest q u a r t e r 

of Section 25, or more p a r t i c u l a r l y i n the southwest of the 

northwest of Section 25, i n your o p i n i o n , adequately t e s t 

the Atoka? 

A. Yes, i t would. 

Q. Now, the w e l l wouldn't go down t o t e s t the 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n . I s a w e l l i n the southwest of the northwest 

of Section 25, w i l l t h a t also t e s t the M i s s i s s i p p i a n 

adequately? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

243 

A. Yes, i t w i l l . 

Q. Okay. Would you move on t o your E x h i b i t 11 and 

i d e n t i f y t h a t f o r the Examiner? 

A. This i s a cross-section t h a t ' s i n d i c a t e d on the 

map as cro s s - s e c t i o n PR-PR1. I t ' s a general n o r t h - s o u t h -

t r e n d i n g c r o s s - s e c t i o n . Beginning a t the n o r t h end i n the 

US Operating Leavelle Number 1 w e l l , i t shows two sands 

t h a t were encountered, and both were p r o d u c t i v e i n t h i s 

w e l l . The lower Atoka-Brunson sand i s p r o d u c t i v e , although 

i t ' s not very w e l l developed, and the lower — w e l l , the 

Mi s s i s s i p p i a n - A u s t i n i s also productive i n t h i s w e l l . 

And then moving t o the next w e l l i s the 

TMBR/Sharp Blue Fin w e l l . This w e l l d i d not encounter 

Brunson sand t h a t I f e l t was pay, so i t ' s mapped as a zero 

f o r Brunson, and i t d i d encounter a very n i c e M i s s i s s i p p i a n 

zone we l o c a l l y c a l l the A u s t i n . 

And then the l a s t w e l l on the c r o s s - s e c t i o n — of 

course, i t goes through the l o c a t i o n t h a t ' s proposed, and 

then the l a s t l o g on the cross-section i s about a m i l e and 

a h a l f t o the southwest, and i t shows another w e l l t h a t had 

a s i m i l a r A u s t i n sand, and t h a t was pro d u c t i v e and i t s cum 

th e r e i s shown as 750 m i l l i o n cubic f e e t of gas, 23,000 

b a r r e l s of condensate. 

The purpose of the c r o s s - s e c t i o n i s t o show some 

of the c o n t i n u i t y t h a t you can see i n the A u s t i n zone. The 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

244 

Leavelle w e l l on the n o r t h end i s less than a m i l e away 

from the TMBR/Sharp w e l l . I t ' s t h i n n i n g i n t h a t d i r e c t i o n , 

i t ' s t h i c k e n i n g a t the TMBR/Sharp l o c a t i o n . Our 3-D 

seismic data shows a c o n t i n u i n g t h i c k e n i n g along the west 

h a l f of Section 25. 

And the l a s t w e l l on the c r o s s - s e c t i o n r e a l l y i s 

j u s t t o show t h a t t h e r e are other A u s t i n producers, i t ' s 

not intended t o show the c o n t i n u i t y between the two w e l l s 

on the l e f t side of the cross-section. 

Q. Now, based on your mapping, i s the Brunson-Atoka 

r e s e r v o i r completely w i t h i n the west h a l f of Section 25? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. And i s the optimum l o c a t i o n f o r a west w e l l i n a 

west-half w e l l u n i t i n the northwest quarter? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. Would one w e l l i n the northwest q u a r t e r — i n the 

southwest q u a r t e r or the northwest q u a r t e r , be the best 

place t o t e s t both the Atoka and the M i s s i s s i p p i a n and any 

other zone? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Would t h a t be the best l o c a t i o n t o t e s t a l l of 

those zones w i t h one well? 

A. Right, t h a t would be the best l o c a t i o n t o t e s t 

the Brunson and the M i s s i s s i p p i a n . I t ' s the only l o c a t i o n 

w i t h i n Section 25 t h a t you can a c t u a l l y get a good shot a t 
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both of those zones. 

Q. Okay. Now, t h i s i s a p r e t t y h i g h - r i s k area, 

i s n ' t i t ? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. And i f p o s s i b l e , you'd l i k e t o be able t o stack a 

couple of prospective zones i n a we l l ? 

A. We always t r y t o stack as many zones as p o s s i b l e 

when we d r i l l these w e l l s , t o lower r i s k and increase the 

economics. 

Q. Okay. Now, j u s t from a geologic s t a n d p o i n t , i s 

i t best t o d r i l l a w e l l i n the northwest q u a r t e r a t one of 

the proposed l o c a t i o n s and then even see i f another w e l l i s 

needed i n t h i s west-half w e l l u n i t ? 

A. Yes, t h a t i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Now, i f you — and our next witness w i l l have 

i n f o r m a t i o n on the M i s s i s s i p p i a n , w i l l he not? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Which you have reviewed? 

A. Yes, I've reviewed. 

Q. I f you're going t o have a w e l l i n the southwest 

q u a r t e r of Section 25, are you r e a l l y j u s t going t o t e s t 

e i t h e r the Atoka or the M i s s i s s i p p i a n , as opposed t o both? 

A. I t h i n k so, the way I have the Brunson sand 

mapped and knowing the s t r u c t u r e a t the M i s s i s s i p p i a n 

l e v e l , I don't t h i n k you can get a s i n g l e l o c a t i o n t h a t 
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w i l l t e s t both zones. 

Q. Okay. And again, you've mapped the Brunson 

because i n t h i s area, t h i s r e a l l y i s the — I mean, t h e r e 

are a couple of zones out here, but t h i s i s the primary 

zone, i s i t not? 

A. This i s the primary zone i n our o p i n i o n . 

Q. Okay, and t h a t ' s based on h i s t o r i c a l p r o d u c t i o n 

t o the north? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. Because of the r i s k i n v o l v e d i n d r i l l i n g 

t h i s , i f anyone goes nonconsent i n the p o o l i n g case, do you 

recommend t h a t the maximum cost-plus-200-percent p e n a l t y be 

assessed against any nonconsenting i n t e r e s t owner? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. And i n your o p i n i o n , i s the g r a n t i n g of Ocean's 

A p p l i c a t i o n i n the i n t e r e s t of conservation and the 

p r e v e n t i o n of waste? 

A. Yes. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d move the admission 

of Ocean E x h i b i t s 10 and 11. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: any obje c t i o n ? 

MR. KELLAHIN: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: E x h i b i t s 10 and 11 w i l l be 

admitted i n t o evidence a t t h i s time. Thank you, Mr. Bruce. 

Mr. Kellahin? 
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MR. KELLAHIN: Thank you, Mr. Examiner. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KELLAHIN: 

Q. Mr. Messa, l e t me have you look a t E x h i b i t 10 

w i t h me. I need t o make sure I understand the nomenclature 

t h a t you're using. 

A. Okay. 

Q. I r e c a l l having been in v o l v e d i n w e l l s f o r the 

Brunson sand up i n Section 10, i n which now Ocean has 

t e s t e d and produced t h a t sand. That nomenclature would 

i d e n t i f y a sand member of the Atoka — 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. — am I c o r r e c t i n understanding t h a t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. When I look a t a l l these Atoka codes on here, 

i t ' s the purple symbol t h a t i s an Atoka w e l l ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Can I d i s t i n g u i s h by t h i s code i n some way which 

ones are s p e c i f i c as t o the Brunson sand? 

A. Every one of these are s p e c i f i c t o the Brunson 

sand, every one. 

Q. Are the r e w e l l s d r i l l e d out here t h a t d i d not 

produce from the Brunson sand? 

A. Yes, there are. 

Q. And would they be Atoka wells? 
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A. Most of these t h a t are not Brunson producers are 

Devonian producers. 

Q. Okay, I want t o make sure I'm l o o k i n g a t a map 

t h a t d e p i c t s the Brunson sand, a l l r i g h t ? And t h a t ' s what 

I see here by lo o k i n g a t the purple dots. 

When I get down i n t o Section 23, t h e r e are two 

pur p l e dots i n the n o r t h h a l f of 23? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Do you see those? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Does your company have any acreage p o s i t i o n i n 

the south h a l f of 23? 

A. Not t h a t I'm aware of. 

Q. I s the south h a l f of 23 a v a i l a b l e f o r d r i l l i n g of 

a w e l l i n which you would have an i n t e r e s t ? 

A. Not t h a t I'm aware o f . 

Q. Are these spacing u n i t s c o n f i g u r e d so t h a t 

t h e y ' r e standups? Do you know th a t ? 

A. I do know t h a t most of these spacing u n i t s out 

here are standups. 

Q. I n Section 23? 

A. Just about every s e c t i o n . 

Q. So when we go from 25 n o r t h , the f i r s t c o n t r o l we 

have f o r the Brunson sand i s i n the n o r t h h a l f of 2 3? 

A. F i r s t c o n t r o l you have i s i n the southwest of 24. 
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Q. But you're not showing t h a t w i t h purple? 

A. I t ' s not productive — 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. — i n the Brunson. 

Q. So i t missed the o p p o r t u n i t y somehow t o produce 

out of the Brunson sand? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. So you see no reason t o put the Brunson channel 

system, i f you w i l l , whatever you c a l l t h i s , i n any p o r t i o n 

of Section 24, r i g h t ? 

A. That's the way I have i t mapped. 

Q. You have defined the Number 24 w e l l , t h e 

TMBR/Sharp w e l l , as being an eastern boundary f o r t h a t sand 

channel, r i g h t ? 

A. Correct, c o r r e c t . 

Q. When we look t o the west of the TMBR/Sharp w e l l 

i n 24, what's your next c o n t r o l p o i n t t o t e l l you t h a t t h i s 

sand member has t h i s c e r t a i n thickness and l o c a t i o n ? 

A. The next subsurface c o n t r o l p o i n t would be the 

TMBR/Sharp w e l l i n the west h a l f of 23. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , l e t me — Don't go too quick f o r me, 

I ' l l f i n d i t . I see the west h a l f of 23, up i n the 

northwest quarter? 

A. Right. 

Q. Right? When we look a t the p o r t i o n of t h e sand 
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you have displayed w i t h a c o n t r o l thickness of 20 f e e t as 

i t moves i n t o the southwest quarter of 25, what i s your 

database f o r b e l i e v i n g t h a t t h a t has got a 20-foot 

t h i c k n e s s through t h a t p o r t i o n of the section? 

A. That's based p r i m a r i l y on experience, p r o x i m i t y 

t o the — 

Q. — i s i t not? 

A. Pardon me? 

Q. You have simply i n f e r r e d by what you see 

elsewhere t h a t i t may have t h a t k i n d of t h i c k n e s s , r i g h t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Yeah. There i s no c o n t r o l p o i n t i n e i t h e r 

Section 24 or 25 t h a t shows us the thickness of the Brunson 

sand, r i g h t ? 

A. I n 24 we do have a c o n t r o l p o i n t . 

Q. I'm s o r r y , i n 25 and 26. 

A. I n 2 6 we have a c o n t r o l p o i n t . 

Q. I n 25 there's no c o n t r o l p o i n t ? 

A. No c o n t r o l i n 25. 

Q. Wouldn't i t help your a n a l y s i s i f we waited u n t i l 

TMBR/Sharp completed the w e l l i n the n o r t h h a l f of 25, and 

then you would know f o r c e r t a i n how accurate t h i s map i s ? 

A. This map i s also constructed w i t h the use of the 

3-D seismic data, t o help c o n t r o l the channel o r i e n t a t i o n s , 

the channel d i r e c t i o n s . 
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An a d d i t i o n a l w e l l would help c o n t r o l the 

t h i c k n e s s , but the data t h a t I have so f a r leads me t o 

b e l i e v e t h a t I would be very close t o these thicknesses a t 

a w e l l d r i l l e d i n Section — w e l l , a t a w e l l d r i l l e d i n the 

20-foot contour. 

Q. Let me understand. TMBR/Sharp's w e l l i n the 

northwest q u a r t e r of 25, the d r i l l i n g w e l l - t h a t ' s d r i l l i n g 

now, i t w i l l v a l i d a t e the accuracy of t h i s map i f i t ' s 

d r i l l e d t o completion through t h a t i n t e r v a l ? We'll have a 

data p o i n t , won't we? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. U n t i l we have t h a t data p o i n t , we do not 

know what the thickness of t h a t sand i s going t o be or 

whether you're p r o p e r l y located i t , r i g h t ? 

A. I t w i l l — yes, i t — h a l f yes, the f i r s t p a r t , 

yes. I do have enough data t o lead me t o b e l i e v e t h a t the 

channel i s t r e n d i n g through here. I don't have enough t o 

t e l l me how t h i c k i t w i l l be. 

Q. I s t h i s the f i r s t map l i k e t h i s you have 

generated i n t h i s area f o r the Brunson i n t e r v a l ? 

A. No. 

Q. Did you have a map of the Brunson i n t e r v a l p r i o r 

t o the d r i l l i n g by TMBR/Sharp of the 24 w e l l i n Section 24? 

A. I t h i n k so. 

Q. Yeah, what d i d i t look l i k e ? 
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A. I t was a l i t t l e b i t wider. 

Q. Uh-huh. 

A. A c t u a l l y , my f i r s t pass was a gross isopach map, 

which would be contoured on the black data values. 

Q. Uh-huh. 

A. This map was generated subsequent t o t h a t w e l l , 

t o narrow i t down t o j u s t the net sands t h a t appear i n the 

red. 

Q. And your p o r o s i t y c u t o f f value, your net i s 

achieved by using 8-percent p o r o s i t y ? 

A. Eight-percent d e n s i t y p o r o s i t y . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Did you use any other c u t o f f s i n 

generating a net component t o the map? 

A. Yes, the gamma-ray also has t o be less than 60 

API — 

Q. Okay. 

A. — i n order t o be q u a l i f i e d as a sand. 

Q. Where would be the best l o c a t i o n t o attempt a 

w e l l f o r the Brunson sand i n Section 25 t h a t under your 

i n t e r p r e t a t i o n would have the o p p o r t u n i t y f o r the g r e a t e s t 

thickness? 

A. I n the southwest quarter of Section 25. 

Q. I n the southwest quarter? Your preference i s t o 

be a t the t h i c k e s t p o i n t , i s i t not? 

A. Yes, i t would. But I would also consider 
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m u l t i p l e pay zones, and I would spot a w e l l t h a t would come 

close t o g e t t i n g as many pay zones as p o s s i b l e . 

Q. I haven't gotten q u i t e t h a t f a r w i t h you. Give 

me a chance t o get t h a t f a r . I'm l o o k i n g a t the Brunson 

i n t e r v a l , I'm l o o k i n g a t the Brunson i n t e r v a l alone. 

I s t h a t i n t e r v a l , when i t ' s s u c c e s s f u l , 

s u f f i c i e n t i n terms of p r o d u c t i v i t y t o support the costs of 

the w e l l and make them p r o f i t a b l e w i t h o u t secondary support 

from any other formation? 

A. Occasionally. This area has been h i g h l y d r i l l e d , 

and t h e r e are d e p l e t i o n issues out here. 

Q. Okay. I s there a d e p l e t i o n r i s k i n t h e southwest 

q u a r t e r of 25 f o r the Brunson sand? 

A. Probably not. 

Q. There's no one near i t t o deplete i t , r i g h t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . I f there i s a s o u t h - h a l f o r i e n t a t i o n 

t o t h e Brunson sand o p p o r t u n i t y i n Section 25, t h a t w e l l 

could be located a t a standard l o c a t i o n even f o r a south-

h a l f spacing u n i t , r i g h t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. And t h a t would s t i l l be w i t h i n the g r e a t e s t p o i n t 

of contour thickness as displayed on t h i s map? 

A. Yes, i t would, f o r t h i s sand only. 

Q. Okay. When we go t o the A u s t i n gas w e l l symbol, 
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the red symbols, what are we meaning by t h a t terminology? 

A. I t means t h a t gas was produced and s o l d from the 

A u s t i n . 

Q. Where i s t h i s A u s t i n i n r e l a t i o n t o Mr. 

Mazzullo's Chester? I s i t d i f f e r e n t ? 

A. No, t h i s i s one and the same. 

Q. Okay, so when you heard Mr. Mazzullo's testimony 

about how he has determined these Chester bowls, are the 

pur p l e symbols i n d i c a t i o n of accessing those Chester bowls? 

A. No. 

Q. I'm s o r r y , I've got my symbols wrong, i t ' s t he 

red symbols. 

A. Right, but the answer i s no. 

Q. Why no? Why i s i t no? 

A. The bowls are an area where you would f i n d a 

maximum th i c k n e s s , t h a t ' s t r u e , but i t ' s not the only place 

where the sands w i l l be deposited. 

Q. Looking on t h i s map by i t s e l f , I see no 

o p p o r t u n i t y displayed on t h i s map f o r access t o t h i s 

Chester bowl i n the south h a l f of 25. 

A. That's r i g h t , we cannot d r i l l a w e l l i n 25 t h a t 

w i l l get the Chester Bowl and the Brunson sand. 

Q. Can you p i c k out of the Brunson w e l l s the w e l l s 

t h a t are successful as being economic? 

Let me r e s t a t e t h i s . 
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When we look a t the purple w e l l s , are we l o o k i n g 

a t w e l l s t h a t produce from the Brunson sand? Right? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. They were, i n f a c t , productive? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Which ones have been successful economically? 

A. Most every one of them. 

Q. Okay. I s there a c e r t a i n net minimum thickness 

of Brunson sand necessary i n order t o make the w e l l 

economic? 

A. We found two f e e t i s p r o d u c t i v e and commercial. 

Q. Okay. I s there a r e l a t i o n s h i p between t h e 

p r o d u c t i v i t y of the w e l l and the thickness of the 

r e s e r v o i r ? 

A. I n some cases yes, some cases no. 

Q. That's not t r u e i n a l l instances? 

A. Not t r u e i n a l l instances. 

Q. Show me an example of a w e l l t h a t has a two-foot 

thickness t h a t i s a commercially successful w e l l . 

A. Have t o go o f f the map i n t o Section 28. I t ' s not 

on t h i s map. 

Q. So none of these w e l l s on t h i s map w i l l s a t i s f y 

the economic c r i t e r i a i f they're two feet ? 

A. Two f e e t , probably not. Not w i t h i n t h i s small 

postage-stamp map of the e n t i r e area. 
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Q. I s t h e r e a water component t o the Brunson sand 

p r o d u c t i v i t y ? 

A. Not i n t h i s area, now. 

Q. So the presence or absence of water i n the 

Brunson sand i n t e r v a l w i l l not a f f e c t i t s p r o d u c t i v i t y ? 

There's not a water component? 

A. There's not a water d r i v e or a water l e g — 

Q. I'm t a l k i n g about water s a t u r a t i o n s . 

A. There are no w e l l s t h a t have been wet w e l l s — 

Q. That's what I'm t a l k i n g about. 

A. — on t h i s w e l l — on t h i s map. 

Q. There i s not a s t r u c t u r a l component t o the 

r e s e r v o i r t h a t matters? 

A. There i s a p a l e o s t r u c t u r a l component, not a 

present-day s t r u c t u r a l component. 

Q. Did you use the seismic data t o help you d e f i n e 

the Brunson sand i n t e r v a l ? 

A. Not t o d e f i n e the i n t e r v a l , t o d e f i n e the channel 

o r i e n t a t i o n . 

Q. Other than d e f i n i n g the channel o r i e n t a t i o n , are 

you able t o use the seismic data t o f o r e c a s t the thickness? 

A. Not very r e l i a b l y . 

Q. To what extent i s the use of seismic i n f o r m a t i o n 

important t o you i n t h i s mapping conclusion? 

A. I t ' s very c r i t i c a l i n understanding the 
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s t r u c t u r a l c o m p l e x i t i e s , as Lou has mentioned, but not t o 

determine the thickness of the sands. 

Q. So we can't use the seismic t o g i v e us a cl u e 

about the thickness i n the immediate v i c i n i t y of Section 

25, can we? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. The seismic i n f o r m a t i o n we're t a l k i n g about, 

what•s the source of t h a t data? 

A. V i b r a - s e i s seismic. 

Q. Where d i d you get i t ? 

A. We made an arrangement w i t h David A r r i n g t o n f o r 

h i s seismic data. 

Q. So independently of Mr. A r r i n g t o n ' s seismic data, 

Ocean d i d not have any 3-D seismic data? 

A. We had 3-D seismic data up t o the 26-25 s e c t i o n 

l i n e boundary. 

Q. 26-25. What, going n o r t h of t h a t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. So your data set stops a t the southern 

boundary of Sections 23 and 24? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. Any other seismic data source, other than through 

Mr. Arrington? 

A. None. 

Q. Do you know where Mr. A r r i n g t o n got h i s seismic 
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data? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Where? 

A. He shot i t . 

Q. This i s A r r i n g t o n ' s data? 

A. P r o p r i e t a r y seismic data, yes. 

Q. Did he get i t i n any arrangement w i t h Chesapeake? 

A. No. 

Q. This i s independent of the Chesapeake data? 

A. I t was a j o i n t shoot between Ocean and David 

A r r i n g t o n , and the o u t l i n e of the AMI which was presented 

e a r l i e r was the o u t l i n e of the 3-D data t h a t A r r i n g t o n and 

Ocean shot together. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. The a d d i t i o n a l 3-D t h a t we acguired from 

A r r i n g t o n was outside of the AMI. I t was not o f f e r e d t o us 

a t the time when the data was shot. 

Q. I'm t r y i n g t o understand the d i f f e r e n t c a t e g o r i e s 

of 3-D data t h a t you u t i l i z e d , or was u t i l i z e d by Ocean. 

Did you u t i l i z e the same database t h a t Mr. Mazzullo had 

a v a i l a b l e f o r him? 

A. No, a b s o l u t e l y not. 

Q. You d i d n ' t u t i l i z e the seismic data t h a t was 

acquired through Chesapeake? 

A. No. 
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Q. Have you i d e n t i f i e d any other o p p o r t u n i t i e s f o r 

deep gas produc t i o n i n Section 25, other than t h e Brunson 

sand and t h i s Chester zone? 

A. Yes, we have. 

Q. What zones? 

A. We b e l i e v e there's a Morrow s e c t i o n t h a t looks 

extremely prospective a t t h i s l o c a t i o n a l s o . 

Q. Did you present a Morrow map? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you have a Morrow map? 

A. This w i l l be presented w i t h the next witness. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , t h a t ' s p a r t of your p r e s e n t a t i o n , 

includes a Morrow analysis? 

A. I t includes seismic data t h a t r e l a t e s t o the 

Morrow, the M i s s i s s i p p i a n and the Atoka. 

Q. Give me a l i s t , Mr. Massa — 

A. Messa. 

Q. — of the zones — I'm s o r r y , Messa — of the 

zones t h a t you're t a r g e t i n g , t h a t Ocean i s t a r g e t i n g . 

A. The primary, number-one t a r g e t i s the Atoka 

Brunson sand — 

Q. Uh-huh. 

A. — the secondary i s the Austin-Chester-

M i s s i s s i p p i a n zone, and a t h i r d p o t e n t i a l zone would be the 

Morrow. 
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Q. And w e ' l l have presentations from Ocean on a l l 

t h r e e of those, r i g h t ? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Do you see any other deep gas o p p o r t u n i t y , other 

than those three? 

A. Not of commercial q u a n t i t i e s . 

Q. Okay. Are any of those, i n your experience, 

s u f f i c i e n t enough t o stand alone? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Which ones would stand alone? 

A. A c t u a l l y , the Brunson sand and the Morrow sand. 

We have not seen the Au s t i n sands t o be commercial enough 

t o stand on i t s own. 

MR. KELLAHIN: A l l r i g h t . Thank you, Mr. 

Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you, Mr. K e l l a h i n . 

Any other questions on r e d i r e c t ? 

MR. BRUCE: A few r e d i r e c t questions, j u s t some 

clean-up, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Yes. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Looking a t your E x h i b i t 10, Mr. Messa, where you 

map the Brunson-Atoka t o the west of the Blue F i n 24-1 

w e l l , Mr. Mazzullo also had the same t h i n g on h i s maps, d i d 
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he not, showing the main Atoka pay zone t o the west of the 

Blue F i n w e l l ? 

A. I don't r e c a l l . 

Q. You don't remember? 

A. No. I don't t h i n k I've seen a Brunson map from 

Mr. Mazzullo. 

Q. Okay. Well, j u s t t o — Okay. Now, does your map 

show any Brunson-Atoka r e s e r v o i r i n the southeast q u a r t e r 

of 25? 

A. No, i t does not. 

Q. Or i n the northeast quarter of 25? 

A. No, i t does not. 

Q. Once again, i f you're d r i l l i n g i n the southwest 

q u a r t e r , based on what you've seen, can you h i t both the 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n and the Brunson-Atoka i n the same wellbore? 

A. No, we cannot. 

Q. And j u s t one f i n a l t h i n g . As f a r as the seismic 

t h a t Mr. K e l l a h i n asked you about t h a t Ocean had, the 

d i v i d i n g l i n e i s a c t u a l l y a north-south d i v i d i n g l i n e 

between Sections 26 and 25, i s i t not? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. I t runs n o r t h and south, and you had seismic t o 

the west of t h a t l i n e ? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s r i g h t . 

Q. Okay. 
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MR. KELLAHIN: Do t h a t again f o r me, Jim, would 

you? 

MR. BRUCE: Just the s e c t i o n l i n e between 

Sections 2 5 and 26. 

MR. KELLAHIN: To the west of t h a t — 

MR. BRUCE: To the west of t h a t — 

MR. KELLAHIN: — i s the Ocean data? 

MR. BRUCE: — i s the data Ocean had. 

MR. KELLAHIN: Okay. 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) I s t h a t c o r r e c t , Mr. Messa? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

MR. BRUCE: Okay. That's a l l I have, Mr. 

Examiner. 

MR. KELLAHIN: I have a fo l l o w - u p , Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Kell a h i n ? 

RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KELLAHIN: 

Q. Let's look i n Section 28. I n the nor t h e a s t 

q u a r t e r there's an Ocean Energy Primero — and I can't 

q u i t e see t h a t — Primero 26-1. What i s t h a t ? 

A. I n Section 26 — 

Q. Yeah. 

A. — or 28? 

Q. I'm lo o k i n g a t 26. 

A. Okay, I thought I heard 28. 
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Q. Well, I have a l i t t l e t r o u b l e w i t h numbers here, 

you have t o bear w i t h me. Twenty-six. 

A. Okay. I n which l o c a t i o n are you r e f e r r i n g to? 

Q. I n the northeast qua r t e r . Do you see t h a t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I t ' s on the 20-foot contour l i n e . 

A. Yeah, t h a t ' s a l o c a t i o n t h a t I have put on my map 

where I b e l i e v e t o be a good place t o d r i l l f o r the Atoka 

sand. 

Q. I s t h a t on any type of d r i l l i n g schedule? 

A. No, i t ' s not. 

Q. Has i t been proposed t o the operators or i n t e r e s t 

owners? 

A. No, i t has not. 

Q. Okay. I f I look a t the yellow, am I l o o k i n g a t 

Ocean's acreage p o s i t i o n ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. I n the south h a l f of 28, do you have a 

producing gas w e l l i n t h a t Brunson sand? 

A. I n the south h a l f of — 

Q. I'm s o r r y , 26. 

A. Yes, t h a t w e l l i s pr o d u c t i v e . 

Q. Okay. And the spacing u n i t f o r t h a t w e l l ? 

A. I t i s a standup. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , so the east h a l f of 26 i s a v a i l a b l e as 
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a spacing u n i t , r i g h t ? 

A. Right. 

Q. And you would have 50 percent of t h a t , or 

whatever f r a c t i o n a l i n t e r e s t you have out of the southeast 

quarter? 

A. By v i r t u e of the southeast q u a r t e r . 

Q. Yeah. 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s r i g h t . 

Q. When I look a t the southeast q u a r t e r , I also see 

the Ocean Energy Primero 28-2 w e l l . I s t h a t a l o c a t i o n ? 

A. That i s a l o c a t i o n . 

Q. Did you recommend t h a t l o c a t i o n ? 

A. No, I put i t on my map. 

Q. Well, where d i d i t come from? 

A. I t came from my previous map. As I mentioned 

e a r l i e r , I had a gross map and then I r e f i n e d t h i s map t o a 

net map. 

Q. Does Ocean propose t o d r i l l on your 

recommendation of a Brunson sand t h a t appears t o be less 

than two feet? 

A. No. 

Q. No? So we're going t o take t h i s dot o f f of here? 

A. No, we're going t o move i t n o r t h about a qu a r t e r 

m i l e . 

Q. Okay. And you're going t o d r i l l t he Number 1? 
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A. We'll d r i l l two w e l l s there i f we need t o . 

Q. Uh-huh. The f i r s t primar choice i s i n t h e 

northeast q u a r t e r of t h a t section? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Were you involved i n any of the conversations 

w i t h TMBR/Sharp rep r e s e n t a t i v e s about Section 23, 24, 26 

and 25? 

A. Yes, I was. 

Q. Uh-huh. How come Ocean d i d n ' t agree t o 

p a r t i c i p a t e w i t h TMBR/Sharp i n the d r i l l i n g of t h a t 

a c t i v i t y f o r the Big Tuna well? 

A. We f e l t t h a t the terms of the — t h e terms t h a t 

were o f f e r e d t o us would not meet our economic c r i t e r i a and 

t h a t we could not a f f o r d t o d r i l l a w e l l . 

Q. Did your land department discuss w i t h you 

coun t e r i n g any of those terms t o see i f you could come t o 

some agreement w i t h TMBR/Sharp about p a r t i c i p a t i o n ? 

A. Not, not t h a t I'm aware of or t h a t I r e c a l l . 

Q. Was Ocean's r e j e c t i o n of p a r t i c i p a t i o n i n the Big 

Tuna prospect conditioned a t a l l on the o p p o r t u n i t y t o be 

i n t he Chesapeake i n t e r v a l a t a p o s i t i o n t h a t you 

c h a r a c t e r i z e t o be too low and too wet? I'm s o r r y , i n the 

Chester, too low and too wet? 

A. No, t h i s prospect was never showed t o us as a 

Chester prospect. As I r e c a l l , the primary prospect was 
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Brunson. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , you disagree w i t h Mr. Mazzullo about 

what you were shown? 

A. Well, t o be honest, t h i s area has always been a 

Brunson prospect area. I f the A u s t i n was brought t o the 

t a b l e as prospective, i t would have been discounted 

immediately, i n my opi n i o n , because i t i s not a very s o l i d 

producer i n t h i s area. 

Q. So — 

A. When were lo o k i n g a t i t — I t may have been shown 

t o us t h a t way, but we were only g i v i n g value and ran 

economics on the Brunson. 

Q. Were you involved i n the meetings i n Houston? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You went there? 

A. (No response) 

Q. Were you shown by Mr. Mazzullo any i n t e r p r e t a t i o n 

o ther than h i s i n t e r p r e t a t i o n about the Chester bowls? 

A. I don't remember. 

Q. At t h a t time d i d you have an o p i n i o n or 

recommendation f o r Ocean about the Morrow or about t h e 

Brunson sand i n the section? 

A. I thought t h a t the Brunson was p r o s p e c t i v e . 

Q. Well, why d i d n ' t you accept the deal on the basis 

of your s t r e n g t h of b e l i e f f o r the Morrow and f o r t h e 
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Brunson sand? 

A. I would not have been able t o convince anyone t o 

d r i l l t he w e l l under those terms, and so i t would not have 

been economic. On a risked-reserve basis, which i s the way 

we put value t o these t h i n g s , i t would never have worked. 

Q. Do you know what terms were proposed? 

A. $750 an acre i s what I r e c a l l , a t h i r d f o r a 

qu a r t e r , a 25-percent back-in on every w e l l . And we j u s t 

thought t h a t was too expensive. 

Q. And i t wasn't r e j e c t e d f o r any d i f f e r e n c e of 

op i n i o n about the t e c h n i c a l m e r i t s of the TMBR/Sharp 

proposal? 

A. No. 

Q. And i t ' s your c l e a r and d i s t i n c t r e c o l l e c t i o n 

t h a t Mr. Mazzullo showed you a Brunson i n t e r p r e t a t i o n ? 

A. I be l i e v e so. 

Q. Okay. Did he show you a Morrow i n t e r p r e t a t i o n ? 

A. I don't r e c a l l . 

Q. Did he show you the Chester i n t e r p r e t a t i o n ? 

A. I don't r e c a l l . 

Q. A l l r i g h t , s i r . 

A. I honestly don't. 

MR. KELLAHIN: Thank you, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, any r e d i r e c t ? 

MR. BRUCE: No, s i r . 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions of t h i s 

witness? 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER STOGNER: 

Q. R e f e r r i n g t o E x h i b i t Number 10, the channel t h a t 

you're showing t o the west, the skinny one t h e r e — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — okay, you only have one c o n t r o l , or a c t u a l l y 

two c o n t r o l p o i n t s t o the south. Where do I — I f I keep 

f o l l o w i n g t h i s channel, where do I h i t the next one? 

A. On the western channel, i f you go south, the HNG 

Shoe Bar Ranch Number 1 would be the next w e l l t h a t t h a t 

channel would encounter. 

Q. Okay, but how about i f I go north? 

A. Well, i t goes o f f my map. Let's see, Section 15, 

Section 16 — There i s c o n t r o l i n Section 16 t h a t c a r r i e s 

i t t o the n o r t h and west. 

Q. Okay. I s t h i s mapped j u s t on w e l l c o n t r o l , or 

does i t have seismic i n f o r m a t i o n also? 

A. This one has seismic i n f o r m a t i o n a l s o . 

Q. I s t h i s what we u s u a l l y — or do these channels 

u s u a l l y t r e n d i n t h i s manner i n the Atoka, or are they k i n d 

of every which way depending on where you're at? 

A. No, p r e t t y much throughout the Morrow and Atoka 

d e p o s i t i o n a l basin, they p r e t t y much t r e n d north-south. 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions of t h i s 

witness? You may be excused. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Bruce, l e t ' s go ahead and get 

s t a r t e d on your next one. 

ROBERT SILVER. 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Would you please state your name f o r the record? 

A. Robert Silver. 

Q. And where do you reside? 

A. Houston, Texas. 

Q. Who do you work for? 

A. Ocean Energy. 

Q. What's your job with Ocean? 

A. I'm a geoscience advisor, e s s e n t i a l l y a 

geo p h y s i c i s t . 

Q. Have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before the D i v i s i o n 

as a geophysicist? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And were your c r e d e n t i a l s as an expert accepted 

as a matter of record? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the geophysics i n v o l v e d i n 
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the w e l l s proposed or d r i l l i n g i n Section 25 and the nearby 

area? 

A. Yes, I am. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d tender Mr. S i l v e r 

as an expert geophysicist. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any obje c t i o n ? 

MR. KELLAHIN: No, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. S i l v e r i s so q u a l i f i e d . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Let's run through your e x h i b i t s , 

Mr. S i l v e r . What i s E x h i b i t 12? 

A. E x h i b i t 12 i s a t i m e - s t r u c t u r e map on the lower 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n limestone. 

Q. And what does i t show? 

A. I t shows a r e g i o n a l low t h a t trends i n 

e s s e n t i a l l y a north-south d i r e c t i o n , i n the western h a l f of 

Section 25. 

Q. Does the yellow o u t l i n e — I s t h a t the west h a l f 

of Section 25? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And you've got l i n e s 123 and 142 on t h a t . 

W i l l we get t o those i n a minute? 

A. Yes, we w i l l . 

Q. Okay. Now, t h i s map, i t shows what, i n Section 

24 t o the n o r t h the Blue Fin 24 Number 1? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 
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Q. And then what you have as the Number 1 T r i p l e 

Hackle Dragon, which was Ocean's and A r r i n g t o n ' s proposed 

l o c a t i o n , r i g h t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . And apparently i t ' s a l i t t l e 

b i t d i f f e r e n t l o c a t i o n than the TMBR/Sharp l o c a t i o n . 

Q. Apparently a couple hundred f e e t away from the 

w e l l t h a t i s now d r i l l i n g ? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. Okay. I n l o o k i n g a t t h i s , does t h i s i n d i c a t e 

where the r e s e r v o i r i s i n t h i s west h a l f of 25? 

A. Yes, i t does. 

Q. And could you e x p l a i n where t h a t r e s e r v o i r i s , 

j u s t by — and how you d e r i v e t h a t from your geophysical 

survey? 

A. Well, t h a t would be a l i t t l e b i t e asier t o 

e x p l a i n when we look a t the seismic l i n e s next, but i t 

b a s i c a l l y shows i n t h a t blue area the approximate low 

f e a t u r e t h a t i s also the t h i c k e s t f e a t u r e , and t h a t would 

be where we would f i n d the r e s e r v o i r s t h a t we're l o o k i n g 

f o r . 

Q. And although i t bleeds over a l i t t l e i n t o the 

southeast q u a r t e r of 25, b a s i c a l l y what, 90 percent of the 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n r e s e r v o i r i s i n the west h a l f of Section 25, 

i s i t not? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 
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Q. And there's v i r t u a l l y nothing i n the northeast 

q u a r t e r of Section 25? 

A. Nothing. 

Q. Why don't you move on t o your next two e x h i b i t s 

t o g e t h e r , your 13 and 14, those two l i n e s we discussed, and 

t h a t way you can describe i n more d e t a i l how you d e r i v e d 

your E x h i b i t 12? 

A. Okay, the f i r s t one i s Line 142, t h a t ' s the 

northernmost l i n e . I t goes through our T r i p l e Hackle 

Dragon l o c a t i o n and approximately would be f a i r l y close t o 

the TMBR/Sharp w e l l , the Blue Fin 25. 

And I have labeled on here the v a r i o u s horizons 

t h a t correspond w i t h the black peaks t h a t are associated 

t h e r e . There's a l i t t l e b i t of nomenclature d i f f e r e n c e 

between what we've labeled and what TMBR/Sharp would l a b e l , 

but they can be explained. 

You can see the top one i s l a b e l e d as t h e Strawn, 

and then there's an Atoka lime, a Morrow limestone event 

t h a t ' s got a red l i n e t h a t goes through i t , and j u s t above 

t h a t there's a l i t t l e black o u t l i n e t h a t ' s c o l o r e d y e l l o w 

i n the center t h a t says the Brunson sand. That's not 

saying t h a t t h a t i s e x a c t l y the Brunson sand, but t h a t ' s 

where i t would f a l l i n the seismic. 

And then below t h a t i s an A u s t i n lime, which i s 

the upper c y c l e of the Chester. And what I have l a b e l e d as 
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Chester lime would be the lower cycle i n the Chester. So 

both A u s t i n lime and Chester lime together would c o n s t i t u t e 

what Lou Mazzullo c a l l s the Chester. 

And then the Lower Miss, lime i s the bottom 

h o r i z o n . I t ' s k i n d of pink, but i t ' s the bottom one t h a t ' s 

marked t h e r e , and t h a t i s what the f i r s t map was t h a t we 

looked a t . 

Q. Okay. And when you're l o o k i n g a t t h i s , t h e r e are 

some v e r t i c a l l i n e s , s o l i d red l i n e s and dashed red l i n e s . 

Those l i n e s do not i n d i c a t e the w e l l l o c a t i o n , do they? 

A. No, the s o l i d l i n e i s the c e n t e r l i n e of the 

s e c t i o n . 

Q. Of Section 25? 

A. Of Section 25. So i f you were l o o k i n g a t a 

standup u n i t , t h a t would be the boundary of t h e center of 

the s e c t i o n . 

The dashed l i n e s i n each case, as t h e y ' r e l i s t e d 

above, are 660 f e e t e i t h e r west of center or east of t h e 

c e n t e r l i n e . So t h a t would be l e g a l l o c a t i o n s . 

Q. Okay. 

A. That would be as close t o the c e n t e r l i n e w i t h a 

l e g a l l o c a t i o n as you could get. 

Q. Okay. 

A. And what t h a t p o i n t s out i s t h a t , as you go t o 

the east you are d e f i n i t e l y g e t t i n g out of the low and 
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g e t t i n g up on the s t r u c t u r e and g e t t i n g t h i n n e r and out of 

the prospect area. 

And you can look a t the same t h i n g on the next 

l i n e , which i s Cross Line 12 3, and i t shows t h a t the 

s t r u c t u r e has moved a l i t t l e b i t c l o s e r t o the center of 

the s e c t i o n , but y e t you s t i l l could not get a l e g a l 

l o c a t i o n i n the southeast of the s e c t i o n , southeast of 

Section 25, t h a t would h i t the prospective horizons. 

Q. Okay, so t a k i n g your E x h i b i t s 13 and 14 and then 

your E x h i b i t 12 and comparing t h a t w i t h Mr. Messa's E x h i b i t 

10, what you're saying i s t h a t i n the northwest q u a r t e r of 

Section 25, a t a w e l l i n the southwest q u a r t e r of t h e 

northwest q u a r t e r , you can t e s t a t l e a s t a couple of 

d i f f e r e n t zones w i t h one well? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Can you do the same t h i n g i n the southwest 

q u a r t e r of Section 2 5? 

A. Not r e a l l y . You'd have a hard time g e t t i n g 

e v e r y t h i n g i n one wellbore. I mean, there's l o c a t i o n s , but 

i t would take more than one w e l l t o — 

Q. To t e s t the best Brunson sand, you have t o move 

toward the west side of the southwest q u a r t e r , c o r r e c t ? 

A. Right. 

Q. And t o t e s t the best M i s s i s s i p p i a n , you have t o 

move toward the east side of the southwest quarter? 
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A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. So you r e a l l y don't want t o compromise between 

those two? 

A. No. 

Q. You r e a l l y have t o d r i l l two w e l l s i n the 

southwest qu a r t e r t o adequately t e s t the Atoka and the 

Mis s i s s i p p i a n ? 

A. That's the way we have i t mapped. 

Q. Okay. Now, we've t a l k e d about other zones. What 

does E x h i b i t 15 show? 

A. E x h i b i t 15 i s again a t i m e - s t r u c t u r e map on the 

Morrow lime, and e s s e n t i a l l y t h a t j u s t shows t h a t t h i s 

s t r u c t u r e p e r s i s t s up through time and i t has e s s e n t i a l l y 

the same shape as you move up the s e c t i o n . 

Q. Okay, i t ' s k i n d of the same shape as t h e 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n r e s e r v o i r ? 

A. Yes, very s i m i l a r . 

Q. W i l l a w e l l i n the southwest q u a r t e r , northwest 

q u a r t e r of Section 2 5 also have a chance t o t e s t the 

Morrow? 

A. Say t h a t one again? 

Q. W i l l a w e l l — And t h i s doesn't have a y e l l o w 

o u t l i n e — 

A. Right. 

Q. — of the h a l f - s e c t i o n on i t , but w i l l a w e l l i n 
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the southwest of the northwest of Section 25 a l s o have a 

chance t o t e s t the Morrow? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. Once again, a t l e a s t as t o the Morrow, you 

can't get the Morrow and the Atoka i n the same w e l l , 

apparently, i n the southwest quarter? 

A. I n the southwest, no, you cannot. 

Q. Okay. And you agree w i t h the other witnesses who 

have presented, these are h i g h - r i s k prospects out here? 

A. Well, yeah. I mean, when you say " h i g h - r i s k " , 

t h a t ' s a — 

Q. Well, I mean, you know, i f you were p o o l i n g you'd 

ask f o r the maximum — 

A. Of course. 

Q. — cost-plus-200-percent penalty? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Okay. And E x h i b i t s 12 through 15 were prepared 

by you or under your supervision? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay, l e t ' s j u s t touch on a couple more t h i n g s . 

Do you have a couple of Mr. Mazzullo's e x h i b i t s w i t h you? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Which ones, f o r the Examiner, so he can get 

those? 

A. 18-D and 18-F. 
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Q. Okay. And before we get t o those, how much 3-D 

i n f o r m a t i o n does Ocean have i n t h i s general area? 

A. Contiguous t o t h i s p a r t i c u l a r area, we would have 

around 45 square miles. 

Q. To the best of your knowledge, i s t h a t more than 

was a v a i l a b l e t o TMBR/Sharp? 

A. I t h i n k t h a t they t e s t i f i e d t h a t they had s i x t o 

seven. 

Q. Okay. Now, l o o k i n g a t Mr. Mazzullo's e x h i b i t s , 

could you comment on those? I n p a r t i c u l a r , w i t h respect t o 

l o o k i n g a t Section 25, are the M i s s i s s i p p i a n r e s e r v o i r s i n 

the west h a l f of 25, are they i n your o p i n i o n i s o l a t e d ? 

A. No, they're not. And I t h i n k one of the comments 

I wanted t o say on t h a t i s , i f you look a t h i s c o l o r bar, 

a t the very bottom he goes k i n d of a b r u p t l y from k i n d of a 

pu r p l e i n t o a s o l i d blue. And so when you look a t the map 

i t makes i t look l i k e these l i t t l e holes are j u s t very 

d i s t i n c t i n s t e a d of grading i n t o them n a t u r a l l y . 

Q. I t ' s a bigger v i s u a l impact? 

A. Yeah, i t gives a b i g v i s u a l impact, but i t ' s 

somewhat deceiving. 

Q. Okay, then go t o E x h i b i t 18-F. And i f I 

understand t h i s , l o o k i n g a t i t , i t shows the Blue F i n 2 4-1, 

and i t ' s colored yellow, which i s what, the M i s s i s s i p p i a n 

where t h a t w e l l i s producing from, i f I understand t h a t ? 
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A. Yes, r i g h t on top of t h a t magenta h o r i z o n which 

he has l a b e l e d as the Chester he has i t col o r e d i n i n 

yel l o w . 

Q. I n yellow. And then moving over t o the r i g h t , 

you're moving t o the south, i f I understand i t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And i t ' s got a yellow — I guess i t was r e f e r r e d 

t o as a bowl or — I can't remember r i g h t now — which 

would be where the 25-1 w e l l i s , c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And then over t o the r i g h t there's another yellow 

bowl, and t h a t would be — 

A. Well, he has three yellow bowls — 

Q. And t h a t t h i r d y ellow bowl would be i n your 

E x h i b i t 12, the southeasternmost — 

A. Right. 

Q. — spots — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — r e s e r v o i r areas? Could you — 

A. Could I comment on those? 

Q. Yes, please comment. 

A. Okay. One t h i n g t h a t I would l i k e t o back up and 

gi v e a l i t t l e b i t of an explanation about t h i s . And maybe 

t o help e x p l a i n , I picked up a couple o f pamphlets from out 

i n the h a l l on one of the s t a t e parks here i n New Mexico, 
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the Bottomless Lakes State Park, down near — i s t h a t 

Carlsbad or — 

MR. HALL: Roswell. 

THE WITNESS: Yeah. Anyway on t h a t f i r s t page, 

i t t a l k s about sinkholes. And a t the bottom of the f i r s t 

page i t says, These lakes, a c t u a l l y sinkholes ranging i n 

depth from 17 t o 90 f e e t , were formed when c i r c u l a t i n g 

underground water di s s o l v e d s a l t and gypsum deposits t o 

form subterranean caverns. When the r o o f s of the caverns 

collapsed from t h e i r own weight, sinkholes r e s u l t e d and 

soon f i l l e d w i t h water. 

I f you t h i n k of Carlsbad Caverns and some other 

very l a r g e caves down there, t h a t i s a c t u a l l y what i s 

o c c u r r i n g here t h a t causes these low spots on the seismic 

t h a t we see. And you can see a l l the events from the 

Strawn down t o the Chester p r e t t y much m i r r o r and f o l l o w 

the same f e a t u r e . 

There was a recent paper w r i t t e n by the Texas 

Bureau of Economic Geology, Bob Hardigen, Charles Cairnes, 

t h a t described t h i s i n d e t a i l i n the Boonesville f i e l d near 

F o r t Worth, which has been peer-reviewed and accepted by 

the geophysical and g e o l o g i c a l community, t a l k i n g about the 

co l l a p s e of these cave features t h a t were i n deeper 

horizons and how everything collapses i n . 

Well, the important p o i n t and why I b r i n g t h i s up 
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i s t h a t the time of d e p o s i t i o n of the Chester, i t wasn't 

n e c e s s a r i l y a t the very bottom of a bowl. Maybe i t was 

j u s t s t a r t i n g t o form, but i t wasn't completed. 

And i f you do a l i t t l e seismic t r i c k here and 

take another piece of paper and measure the thi c k n e s s or 

the time i n t e r v a l between the two horizons t h a t were picked 

t h a t are on Sal's [ s i c ] c r o s s - s e c t i o n , seismic cross-

s e c t i o n here — 

MR. MAZZULLO: Lou, Lou. 

THE WITNESS: Lou, I'm s o r r y , I apologize. 

— Lou's cross-section, you can measure t h a t . 

And then you can s l i d e on down or up t o the t o p of the 

s t r u c t u r e and you can measure t h a t again, and you can see 

j u s t a l i t t l e t i n y b i t of t h i n n i n g ; where i f you look down 

on h i s c r o s s - s e c t i o n , what he has labeled as Morrow — and 

i t i s col o r e d l i g h t blue — i t shows a four-to-one increase 

i n t h ickness between the top of the Morrow and the top of 

the gray Chester. 

The seismic does not show anywhere near t h a t much 

t h i n n i n g , so t h a t ' s k i n d of h i g h l y exaggerated and somewhat 

misleading t o have t h a t much t h i n n i n g shown on h i s cross-

s e c t i o n t h e r e . 

And the importance of t h a t i s t h a t the r e s e r v o i r s 

a c t u a l l y extend beyond the very low p a r t s t h a t you see on 

the seismic here. And you can't j u s t c o l o r i n t h a t y e l l o w , 
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you have t o extend t h a t beyond, because the s t r u c t u r e d i d 

not form u n t i l the l a t e r collapse of some caves below t h i s , 

i n which case everything f e l l a l l a t once. 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) I n s h o r t , l o o k i n g a t your E x h i b i t 

12, then i n your o p i n i o n there'd be r e a l l y no separa t i o n 

between the w e l l t h a t ' s c u r r e n t l y being d r i l l e d and then 

what they c a l l the bowl t o the southeast of t h a t l o c a t i o n ? 

A. Well, t h e r e could be a small amount of separa t i o n 

because i t i s a l i t t l e b i t lower, but again t o say t h a t the 

l i m i t s of the pay i s s t r i c t l y l i m i t e d t o those blue dots on 

Lou's map i s misleading. 

Q. They're not n e c e s s a r i l y separated? 

A. Yes, r i g h t . 

Q. I n your o p i n i o n , Mr. S i l v e r , i s the g r a n t i n g of 

Ocean's A p p l i c a t i o n i n the i n t e r e s t s of conservation and 

the p r e v e n t i o n of waste? 

A. Yes. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d move the admission 

of Ocean E x h i b i t s 12 through 15. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objections? 

MR. KELLAHIN: No, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: E x h i b i t s 12 through 15 w i l l be 

admitted i n t o evidence a t t h i s time. 

Thank you, Mr. Bruce. 

Mr. Kellahin? 
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MR. KELLAHIN: Thank you, Mr. Stogner. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KELLAHIN: 

Q. Mr. S i l v e r , would you look a t E x h i b i t Number 10, 

the Ocean e x h i b i t ? 

A. Okay. 

Q. Are the r e Morrow gas producers on t h i s map? 

A. They're not h i g h l i g h t e d . I don't — Most of the 

Morrow w e l l s t h a t I am f a m i l i a r w i t h i n p r o d u c t i o n are j u s t 

o u t s i d e of the boundaries of t h i s map, and w i t h o u t a key 

t h a t would h i g h l i g h t i t I can't j u s t look a t one r i g h t away 

and say t h a t t h a t ' s a Morrow w e l l . There's a l o t of Atoka 

w e l l s and some Chester or Au s t i n w e l l s . 

Q. When we look a t your E x h i b i t Number 12, t h i s i s 

your a n a l y s i s of the Morrow? I s t h a t the wrong map? 

A. E x h i b i t Number 12? 

Q. No, I've got the wrong one. 

A. Okay. 

Q. I want the Morrow map. I t ' s 15, r i g h t ? 

A. Yeah, 15 i s j u s t a t i m e - s t r u c t u r e map on the top 

of t h e Morrow, i t ' s not n e c e s s a r i l y saying where the sands 

would be. 

Q. Have you asked Ocean's g e o l o g i s t t o prepare an 

isopach of the Morrow i n t e r v a l through t h i s area? 

A. I have pe r s o n a l l y done an isochron of the Morrow 
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i n t e r v a l i n t h i s area. 

Q. Do you have i t w i t h you? 

A. Yes, but I'm not sure t h a t I'm prepared t o submit 

t h a t as evidence. 

Q. Okay. Where do we have t o go t o f i n d t h e nearest 

Morrow gas producer, i f I'm l o o k i n g a t E x h i b i t 10? 

A. I f you're lo o k i n g a t E x h i b i t 10 — and i f my 

colleagues want t o c o r r e c t me, I would c e r t a i n l y accept 

t h a t , but as f a r as a Morrow producer I know t h a t j u s t 

n o r t h of Section 11, i n Section 3, there's a bunch of 

Morrow producers t h e r e , Section 2, there's Morrow 

producers. As you go — I t h i n k the David H. A r r i n g t o n 

w e l l i n 22 had a show i n the Morrow, but I don't t h i n k i t 

produced from t h a t . 

Are t h e r e any other Morrow — 

Q. Did I hear Mr. Messa r i g h t a w h i l e ago when he 

t e s t i f i e d t h a t the Brunson sand and the Morrow sand were 

the two best o p p o r t u n i t i e s t h a t you could package togethe r 

i n t h i s area? 

A. I t h i n k you heard t h a t r i g h t , and we do f e e l very 

s t r o n g l y t h a t the Morrow sand i s h i g h l y p r o s p e c t i v e i n t h i s 

p a r t i c u l a r area. What I term as the Morrow sand, I 

couldn't p o i n t t o some s p e c i f i c — 

Q. Do I have t o go o f f of E x h i b i t 10 t o f i n d any of 

these? 
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A. Not very f a r . 

Q. Well, f a r enough away from Section 2 5 t o be s i x 

miles away, r i g h t ? Five miles away? 

A. Four miles. Well, f o u r miles n o r t h , probably 

less than t h a t i f you went west. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , help me understand E x h i b i t 15. 

A. 15? 

Q. 15 i s the Morrow map. 

A. Yes. 

Q. I f I want t o know where the s e c t i o n l i n e s f o r 25 

are — 

A. They're black. 

Q. They're the black o u t l i n e s ? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. And i f I subdivide Section 25 i n a n o r t h - h a l f , 

s o u t h - h a l f s u b d i v i s i o n — r i g h t ? — 

A. A l l r i g h t . 

Q. — l a y down your spacing u n i t — 

A. A l a y down? 

Q. I've got a n o r t h - h a l f laydown and a sou t h - h a l f 

laydown. 

A. Okay. 

Q. When I do t h a t , and I want t o access what looks 

t o be your best l o c a t i o n i n the northwest q u a r t e r of 

Section 2 5 f o r the Morrow — r i g h t ? — 
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A. Okay. 

Q. — I'm going t o be i n t h a t f e a t u r e you have 

dis p l a y e d i n the northwest quarter of Section 25? 

A. Okay. Do you want t o — j u s t t o make sure I'm 

seeing the same t h i n g — 

Q. I've subdivided, I'm l o o k i n g a t the center of 

t h i s — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — blue or purple b u l l ' s eye, r i g h t ? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. What p o r t i o n of t h a t Morrow o p p o r t u n i t y i s 

contained i n the northwest quarter of 25? 

A. I'm not q u i t e sure I understand what you're — 

Q. I f I subdivide Section 25 i n t o q u a r t e r 

sections — 

A. Right, uh-huh. 

Q. — have I contained t h i s Morrow f e a t u r e i n the 

northwest quarter? 

A. I t ' s i n the northwest, not i n the no r t h e a s t , f o r 

sure, there's s t i l l some i n the south h a l f of the s e c t i o n . 

Q. I'm t r y i n g t o f i n d some. I f I'm l o o k i n g a t the 

southwest quarter of 25, I see a d i f f e r e n t blue area, 

r i g h t ? 

A. Right. 

Q. This i s the area I'm l o o k i n g a t — 
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A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — i s the center blue area. I s not the center 

blue area t o t a l l y w i t h i n the northwest q u a r t e r of 25? 

A. Yes, t h a t i s t o t a l l y w i t h i n the northwest 

q u a r t e r , but t h a t smaller sinkhole f e a t u r e t h a t ' s j u s t 

under the number "25" — 

Q. Uh-huh. 

A. — p o s s i b l y could have Morrow p o t e n t i a l as w e l l . 

Q. Okay. Are you suggesting t h a t t h e r e i s any 

connection between those two f e a t u r e s i n Section 2 5? When 

I look a t t h i s , I have two o p p o r t u n i t i e s i n Section 25, one 

i n the center of the south h a l f and one i n the center of 

the northwest quarter. Can you t e l l me i f they are 

connected? 

A. The low t h a t runs through t h e r e , you can see, you 

know, t h a t t h i s i s the lowest p o i n t here and t h i s i s the 

lowest p o i n t here, but there i s a general t r e n d low t h a t 

runs a l l the way through here. I don't t h i n k t h a t we can 

say where the sand s i t s , I mean the l i m i t s i n a north-south 

d i r e c t i o n . I t h i n k i t ' s p r e t t y easy t o confine what the 

p o t e n t i a l of the sand would be i n an east-west d i r e c t i o n . 

North-south, I don't know t h a t I could do t h a t . 

Q. Has Ocean s u c c e s s f u l l y used your Morrow 

i n t e r p r e t a t i o n f o r any w e l l w i t h i n the area d i s p l a y e d on 

E x h i b i t Number 10? 
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A. Well, seeing as how there's no Morrow producers 

i n the area on Section 10, no. But we have done t h a t j u s t 

o u t s i d e of the map. 

Q. For any of these w e l l s t h a t d i d n ' t produce out of 

the Morrow, t h a t produce out of the Brunson sand, d i d they 

use your a n a l y s i s t o t r y t o l o c a t e Morrow, as a package t o 

the Brunson? I f your s t r a t e g y i s t o m u l t i p l y the 

o p p o r t u n i t i e s — 

A. Yes. Well, okay, l e t me... 

Q. I ' l l ask you again. 

A. Okay. 

Q. I f you want t o package the Brunson sand — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — w i t h a Morrow o p p o r t u n i t y — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — have you t r i e d t h a t s t r a t e g y i n the area 

di s p l a y e d on E x h i b i t 10 w i t h any of these w e l l s t h a t are 

now only productive out of the Brunson sands? 

A. Yes, I would have t o say yes, we have. We've 

always t r i e d t o maximize our, you know, p o t e n t i a l pay 

zones. 

But the chance t h a t we would give the Morrow 

depends upon the seismic and the f e a t u r e s and whether 

there's something on the seismic t h a t would i n d i c a t e i t s 

presence or not, you know, the approximate — the 
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t h i c k e n i n g i n the r i g h t zone. And i n some of those areas, 

we — Well, i n Section 25 we see some i n d i c a t i o n t h a t t h a t 

might be very good. I n some of these other s e c t i o n s i t 

hasn't been t h a t way, so we would give i t less credence i n 

the other w e l l s t h a t we have d r i l l e d out here. 

Q. Were you present i n Houston a t your o f f i c e s i n 

January on — approximately the 31st of l a s t year, when Mr. 

Mazzullo and Mr. Nearburg made a p r e s e n t a t i o n t o your 

company? 

A. Yes, I was. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Was Mr. Mazzullo c o r r e c t i n h i s 

r e c o l l e c t i o n and h i s testimony about the f a c t t h a t you had 

r e j e c t e d h i s concept of the Chester bowls because they were 

r e g i o n a l l y too downdip and would p o t e n t i a l l y be wet? 

A. I would l i k e t o e x p l a i n t h a t , since my name has 

been used g u i t e a b i t w i t h t h a t . I would l i k e t o g i v e you 

my s t o r y on e x a c t l y what was said and — 

Q. W i l l your response deal w i t h the f a c t t h a t Mr. 

Nearburg also t e s t i f i e d t o t h a t same p o i n t ? 

A. Yes, because — I would have t o say t h a t even 

w i t h i n our own company, w i t h i n Ocean, we are not i n 

complete agreement as t o the r i s k of water, and I f e l t t h a t 

t h e r e was some r i s k t h a t the Brunson, the Atoka sand, might 

be wet. I also recognize t h a t any s o r t of a c r o s s - f a u l t 

would separate t h a t sand and make i t so t h a t t h a t would be 
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an acceptable r i s k . 

But t h e r e are two w e l l s j u s t o f f t h i s map t h a t 

have encountered the Brunson wet, t h a t are i n approximately 

t h i s same s t r u c t u r a l i n t e r v a l . That's the APK 4 and the 

G i l l e s p i e w e l l i n Section 2. 

And so t h a t was a concern of mine. 

Frank p e r s o n a l l y d i d n ' t t h i n k t h a t t h a t was a 

r i s k , but I d i d . And so I expressed t o Mark t h a t I thought 

t h e r e was some r i s k of i t being wet. And t h a t was my 

op i n i o n , and i t may not nec e s s a r i l y represent Ocean's 

o p i n i o n . 

Q. I understand t h a t . I j u s t wanted t o see i f you 

had any disagreement w i t h Mr. Nearburg or Mr. Mazzullo 

about t h e i r r e c o l l e c t i o n s of your statements concerning 

your r e j e c t i o n of the o p p o r t u n i t y i n the Chester. 

A. No. Well, w a i t a minute, t h a t was wrong what you 

sa i d . That was not w i t h respect t o the Chester, t h a t was 

w i t h respect t o the Atoka. I never made any statement 

whatsoever about the Chester being wet, only the Atoka. 

Q. Did Mr. Mazzullo show you any Brunson sand map a t 

t h a t meeting i n Houston, or any i n t e r p r e t a t i o n of the 

Brunson sand i n t e r v a l ? 

A. I don't remember the s p e c i f i c maps t h a t he showed 

i n Houston, so I can't t e s t i f y t h a t I saw a Brunson map. 

But I know t h a t the Brunson was the major reason t h a t we 
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were i n t e r e s t e d i n t h e i r p r e s e n t a t i o n a t the time t h a t they 

made i t . 

Q. Were you not also i n t e r e s t e d i n t h e i r 

p r e s e n t a t i o n i n terms of Mr. Mazzullo's a n a l y s i s of these 

o p p o r t u n i t i e s f o r accessing what you c h a r a c t e r i z e as these 

Chester bowls? 

A. We have always thought t h a t the lows out here 

were places t o d r i l l i n the primary spots t o accumulate 

Atoka and Chester sands. 

Q. Was the review of Mr. Mazzullo's seismic 

i n t e r p r e t a t i o n i n January of l a s t year your f i r s t 

o p p o r t u n i t y t o see seismic data on Section 25? 

A. On the exact square of Section 25, yes, I would 

not have seen other seismic data t h a t crossed Section 25, 

but i n a r e g i o n a l p i c t u r e I was very f a m i l i a r w i t h t he area 

and have looked a t seismic a l l around the area and knew 

what the g r a i n i n the f a b r i c was. 

Q. At the time you met w i t h Mr. Mazzullo, your data 

f o r seismic stopped on the eastern boundary of Section 26, 

r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, but the trends are s t i l l t h e r e , and you can 

p r o j e c t them i n t o 25. 

Q. When d i d you have a v a i l a b l e t o you the seismic 

t h a t Mr. A r r i n g t o n had? 

A. The seismic data t h a t Mr. A r r i n g t o n has was made 
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a v a i l a b l e t o us approximately near — I would guess 

approximately near the end of 2001. I t might have been the 

beginning of 2002, three t o s i x months ago, something l i k e 

t h a t . 

Q. Do you know Mr. Dave — 

A. — Scolman? 

Q. — Scolman? Do you know him? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. What a s s o c i a t i o n does he have w i t h Ocean? 

A. A c t u a l l y , I took h i s place. When he refused t o 

move from Denver t o Houston, I was h i r e d t o f i l l t h a t 

p o s i t i o n . 

Q. Okay. Did you understand Mr. Scolman had a 

b e l i e f and opi n i o n about the o p p o r t u n i t y t o access the 

Chester out of t h i s concept t h a t Mr. Mazzullo has 

presented? 

A. I had many conversations w i t h Dave Scolman p r i o r 

t o him being a consultant f o r Nearburg about t h i s area and 

about the prospective areas. He was s t i l l on r e t a i n e r w i t h 

Ocean when I f i r s t — when we t a l k e d a l o t about t h i s area 

and the p o t e n t i a l s , and we had many discussions t h a t would 

be — not ne c e s s a r i l y w i t h respect t o Section 25 but w i t h 

respect t o the general area. 

Q. A f t e r you met w i t h Mr. Mazzullo, d i d you contact 

Mr. Scolman about h i s i n t e r p r e t a t i o n of the Chester? 
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A. About the i n t e r p r e t a t i o n of the Chester? 

Q. With regards t o the f o u r - s e c t i o n area f o r the Big 

Tuna prospect? 

A. I saw Dave at the NAPE convention, and we had a 

conversation. 

Q. Did you have a conversation about the TMBR/Sharp 

pr e s e n t a t i o n t h a t you had seen the day before w i t h regards 

t o the f o u r - s e c t i o n area? 

A. I r e c a l l t a l k i n g about the Townsend area i n 

general. I don't r e c a l l t a l k i n g about the Nearburg 

p r e s e n t a t i o n per se, other than t h a t he was c o n s u l t i n g f o r 

them. 

Q. Was Mr. Mazzullo t r u t h f u l i n h i s testimony when 

he s a i d t h a t Ocean had r e j e c t e d the o p p o r t u n i t y a f f o r d e d 

them t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n t h i s play f o r the Big Tuna because 

you had recommended t h a t the area was too low and 

p o t e n t i a l l y too wet? 

A. I had expressed my opinion t h a t I thought i t was 

too low, but the company's p o s i t i o n was t h a t i t wasn't a 

w e l l t h a t we could d r i l l immediately, and i t was too r i s k y 

f o r the p r i c e t h a t was being — and since Frank and I i n 

our own conversations d i d n ' t agree, the company thought 

t h e r e was too much r i s k . 

So i t ' s — I mean, I spoke and I s a i d I thought 

i t might be wet i n the Atoka, and t h a t added t o the r i s k of 
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the prospect. 

Q. Let's look a t the Chesapeake map — Chester. 

Where i s t h a t ? I'm hold i n g on t o i t . 

A. Okay, which map are you l o o k i n g at? 

Q. I'm lo o k i n g a t Number 12. 

A. Okay, t h a t ' s the lower — okay, lower 

M i s s i s s i p p i a n lime s t r u c t u r e map — 

Q. Right. 

A. — t i m e - s t r u c t u r e . 

Q. Yeah. Am I lo o k i n g a t an a n a l y s i s t h a t equates 

t o what Mr. Mazzullo showed us e a r l i e r today, i n terms of 

l o o k i n g a t t h i s Chester opportunity? 

A. This i s a t i m e - s t r u c t u r e map t h a t ' s very s i m i l a r 

as h i s , but the i n t e r p r e t a t i o n of the Chester would be, you 

know, your own i n t e r p r e t a t i o n . That's j u s t s t r i c t l y a 

t i m e - s t r u c t u r e map t h a t would show, you know, the c u r r e n t 

present-day s t r u c t u r e i n time. 

Q. Do you have any disagreement w i t h Mr. Mazzullo's 

i n t e r p r e t a t i o n t h a t he presented e a r l i e r today? 

A. Yes, I have some disagreements w i t h i t . 

Q. Show me where they are. 

A. Well, I mean, I t a l k e d about some of those, about 

how the thickness change i s very l i m i t e d on the seismic 

versus how h i s cross-section shows a dramatic change. You 

know, t h a t ' s one example of a d i f f e r e n c e of o p i n i o n . 
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Q. A l l r i g h t . Let's look a t E x h i b i t 12, then, your 

e x h i b i t — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — and look a t Section 25 — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — and Section 25 has been o u t l i n e d f o r us by the 

yello w o u t l i n e t o show us the west h a l f , r i g h t ? 

A. Correct. 

Q. I f we also o u t l i n e d what would be a laydown 

spacing u n i t , c o n s i s t i n g f i r s t of the n o r t h h a l f and then 

another one c o n s i s t i n g of the south h a l f of Section 2 5 — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. -- when I look a t t h i s map and do t h a t , what 

percentage of t h i s i n t e r v a l t h a t you've shown i n the 

northwest quarter exceeds the l i m i t s of the northwest 

q u a r t e r of Section 25? Do you see the f e a t u r e I'm l o o k i n g 

at? 

A. I t h i n k so. 

Q. What percentage of t h a t f e a t u r e i s i n the 

northwest quarter? 

A. Probably 60 t o 7 0 percent, and the r e s t would be 

i n the south. 

Q. When we look a t the second bowl — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — what Mr. Mazzullo has c a l l e d the second bowl 
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i n the south h a l f , i n your opini o n i s i t going t o be 

necessary t o lo c a t e a w e l l t o access t h a t Chester bowl? 

A. I don't t h i n k t h a t a w e l l can h i t t h a t low spot 

t h a t ' s l e g a l . 

Q. Pardon? 

A. I don't t h i n k t h a t there's a l e g a l l o c a t i o n t h a t 

h i t s t h a t . 

Q. What i f i t ' s a south-half spacing u n i t ? 

A. I'm not sure, I ' d have t o check w i t h the landman 

whether you could get more than 660 from t h a t l i n e . 

Q. I n a r e g i o n a l sense, Mr. S i l v e r — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. K e l l a h i n — 

MR. KELLAHIN: Sorry, Steve. 

Q. (By Mr. Ke l l a h i n ) — why d i d Ocean propose t o 

have i t s w e l l located i n the northwest g u a r t e r of Section 

25, as i n d i c a t e d by your f i l i n g s ? I t ' s j u s t a l i t t l e b i t 

o f f of where TMBR/Sharp's a c t u a l l y d r i l l i n g . 

A. Well, i t i s — 

Q. What's the p o i n t of doing t h a t ? 

A. The p o i n t of doing t h a t i s , i t ' s the deepest p a r t 

and t h i c k e s t p a r t a v a i l a b l e i n the whole s e c t i o n . I t 

combines both what we say i s the Chester p o t e n t i a l , as w e l l 

as the Atoka p o t e n t i a l , are stacked together a t t h a t 

l o c a t i o n , and t h a t i s probably the only l o c a t i o n where you 

can stack a l l of the p o t e n t i a l t a r g e t s t o g e t h e r i n one 
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spot. 

Q. Can I s a t i s f y the c o n d i t i o n s of s t a c k i n g by 

t a k i n g the Brunson sand map — do you see t h i s one? — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — and loo k i n g i n the southwest q u a r t e r and 

s t a y i n g w i t h i n the 20-foot contour l i n e i n the southwest 

q u a r t e r , and also access i n the southwest q u a r t e r the 

Morrow o p p o r t u n i t y t h a t you're d i s p l a y i n g on E x h i b i t Number 

12? 

A. To stay i n the Brunson or the Atoka t h i c k , you 

can't r e a l l y do t h a t and get i n t o the maximum p a r t of the 

low where we t h i n k the Chester might be pr o d u c t i v e i n the 

south. You know, there might — You know, i f you d r i l l a 

w e l l , you know, you might p o s s i b l y do i t , but i t ' s hard t o 

p r e d i c t t h a t you would do t h a t based on t h i s i n f o r m a t i o n . 

Q. Mr. S i l v e r , when we look a t E x h i b i t 12 — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — can we approximate, as Mr. Mazzullo d i d , what 

you b e l i e v e t o be the l i m i t s of t h a t o p p o r t u n i t y shown on 

t h i s map? 

A. For which zone? 

Q. For the zone t h a t ' s shown on E x h i b i t 12. 

A. I t h i n k t h a t ' s maybe where there's a l i t t l e b i t 

of confusion. This i s n ' t showing n e c e s s a r i l y a thic k n e s s 

of the pay, t h i s i s j u s t showing the s t r u c t u r a l g r a i n of 
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the present-day s t r u c t u r e . 

Q. Okay. So you don't have a map t h a t ' s e q u i v a l e n t 

t o the way Mr. Mazzullo made a p r e s e n t a t i o n on h i s map — 

or h i s E x h i b i t 18-D? This one? 

A. I disagree w i t h the way Lou made h i s anomalies 

and pay anomalies. That's why I t e s t i f i e d t o e a r l i e r t h a t 

the s t r u c t u r a l change, i f those s o l u t i o n - c o l l a p s e f e a t u r e s 

occurred a f t e r the d e p o s i t i o n , they don't have a whole l o t 

of bearing on the — you can't say t h a t the p a r t i c u l a r lows 

and the pays are e x a c t l y c o i n c i d e n t and t h a t they don't 

extend any f u r t h e r . 

Q. Do you accept h i s hypothesis t h a t these lows or 

these bowls are going t o be unique unto themselves? 

They're not going t o be connected? 

A. I do not accept t h a t hypothesis — 

Q. Okay. 

A. — they're not connected. 

Q. I know you disagree w i t h Mr. Mazzullo. Can I 

take your E x h i b i t Number 12 — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — and have you show me what you expect t o be the 

s i z e of the bowl? 

A. I would — I mean, my best guess would be the 

o u t l i n e of the blue or, you know, one contour below t h a t . 

But of course, u n t i l — I mean, t h a t ' s — The most 
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d e f i n i t i v e map would a c t u a l l y be an isochron map between 

the — say, the Morrow and the top of the Chester or the 

top of the M i s s i s s i p p i a n , and t h a t isochron would probably 

be the best map t o look a t . 

Q. Have you done that? 

A. I have done t h a t , but I do not have i t — 

Q. You don't have i t f o r p r e s e n t a t i o n today? 

A. I don't have t h a t f o r p r e s e n t a t i o n . I d i d n ' t 

r e a l i z e t h a t was going t o be such an issue. 

MR. KELLAHIN: No f u r t h e r questions, Mr. Stogner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Redirect? 

MR. BRUCE: Just a couple, Mr. Examiner. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Looking a t Mr. Mazzullo's E x h i b i t 18, Mr. S i l v e r , 

you do not agree t h a t the size of these bowls defines what 

the s i z e o f the r e s e r v o i r is? 

A. No, I do not agree w i t h t h a t . 

Q. Okay. And then j u s t one foll o w - u p question on 

Mr. Messa's map, and t h i s gets back t o something the 

Examiner asked before. Up i n Section 10, i n the southwest 

q u a r t e r where the C a r l i s l e w e l l i s mentioned, the o l d UMC 

w e l l — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — there's two l i t t l e s t a r s put together i n the 
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northeast q u a r t e r , southwest quarter of t h a t s e c t i o n . That 

would be the C a r l i s l e Number 1 and the C a r l i s l e Number 1-Y, 

would i t not? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Probably only 100-plus f e e t apart from each 

other? 

A. Yeah, 100 or 150, p r e t t y close. 

Q. And one t h i n g w i t h respect t o Mr. Mazzullo. Mr. 

Mazzullo s a i d t h a t t h a t was the w e l l t h a t keyed him o f f on 

the Chester. 

Do you agree t h a t the c o r r e l a t i o n i s the same 

between the Blue Fin and the C a r l i s l e w e l l ? 

A. No, i t ' s not the same, and we have 3-D seismic 

over t h a t whole area, and i t would show t h a t t he p r o d u c t i v e 

zone i n the C a r l i s l e 1-Y i s a sand t h a t would a c t u a l l y be 

loca t e d s t r a t i g r a p h i c a l l y j u s t above the limestone t h a t i s 

pro d u c t i v e i n the TMBR/Sharp w e l l . 

Q. Okay, so t h a t ' s a limestone as opposed t o a sand? 

A. Right. 

MR. BRUCE: Thank you. I have not h i n g f u r t h e r of 

t h i s witness, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER STOGNER: 

Q. Okay, I have a question, l e t me make sure I get 

t h i s s t r a i g h t . 
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I'm r e f e r r i n g now t o E x h i b i t Number 10. 

A. Okay. 

Q. I n Ocean's proposed w e l l s , the f i r s t one being i n 

the northwest quar t e r , t h a t would be p r i m a r i l y f o r the 

Chester or the A u s t i n ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. No, i t ' s — I would say i t ' s a dual o b j e c t i v e f o r 

the Chester-Austin and f o r the Atoka-Brunson. 

Q. Okay. How about the w e l l i n the southwest 

quarter? Would t h a t be — Would the r e be any chance t h a t 

t h a t one would h i t the Chester or Austin? 

A. Very l i m i t e d . I t would be — The one i n the 

southwest quarter would be p r i m a r i l y an Atoka-Brunson w e l l , 

and you would have t o move way over t o almost the s e c t i o n 

l i n e t o get the Chester-Austin. 

Q. The s e c t i o n l i n e ? 

A. Yeah, the north-south s e c t i o n l i n e . Remember 

t h a t hole t h a t we've been t a l k i n g about, i t ' s r i g h t on the 

s e c t i o n l i n e . You'd have t o move over. 

Q. To the east? 

A. To the east. 

Q. No, the s e c t i o n l i n e would take you over t h e r e 

t o ~ 

A. I'm s o r r y , the center s e c t i o n l i n e , I apologize. 

Center s e c t i o n l i n e , I'm so r r y . I saw the l i n e on t h i s map 

and I s a i d s e c t i o n l i n e . I meant c e n t e r l i n e . 
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Q. So your proposal would e s s e n t i a l l y leave t h a t 

lower bowl untapped? 

A. Our proposal i n the northwest? 

Q. I n the southwest. 

A. I n the southwest? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Which proposal i n the southwest? I'm not — 

Q. Case Number 12,860. 

A. Yeah, make sure t h a t I understand what — 

MR. BRUCE: I f I could, Mr. Examiner, I'm j u s t 

handing Mr. S i l v e r what i s Marked Ocean E x h i b i t 7, which i s 

the APD f o r the Number 2 w e l l , which — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Oh, okay. 

MR. BRUCE: — i s the case t h a t the Examiner i s 

t a l k i n g about. I'm so r r y , Mr. Examiner. 

THE WITNESS: Okay, I was not sure e x a c t l y what 

you were t a l k i n g about there. 

The w e l l i n the southwest, the Number 2 w e l l t h a t 

I'm l o o k i n g a t r i g h t here, I be l i e v e i t would have a shot 

a t both zones, but i t looks t o me a l i t t l e b i t r i s k i e r than 

the one i n the northwest quarter of the s e c t i o n . 

Q. (By Examiner Stogner) The w e l l i n the southwest 

q u a r t e r , what's the primary zone of i n t e r e s t f o r t h a t w ell? 

I s i t s t i l l the Atoka? 

A. I b e l i e v e so. 
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Q. But you're only going t o get about f i v e t o t e n 

f e e t — i s t h a t what you're proposing? — of t h i c k n e s s , 

according t o the map, E x h i b i t Number 10? 

A. Well, t h a t l o c a t i o n would be t h e r e t o t r y t o get 

both zones, and so you'd be g i v i n g up a l i t t l e b i t of 

thi c k n e s s i n the Brunson i n order t o have a p o s s i b i l i t y a t 

the Chester. 

But i t would probably s t i l l be p r o d u c t i v e . 

Q. What would happen i f I t r i e d t o go f o r the 20-

f o o t s e c t i o n i n the southwest quarter of 2 5 and go f o r the 

middle of the south h a l f and go a f t e r t h a t blue i n t e r v a l ? 

How would t h a t — Would t h a t be a good idea? 

A. You're saying stay w i t h i n the 2 0-foot contour on 

the Atoka and then — 

Q. Yeah, go a f t e r the center of your Morrow and your 

Miss i s s i p p i a n ? 

A. You're g e t t i n g a l i t t l e b i t close t o the edge of 

the hole but — you know, I ' d have t o a c t u a l l y stack those 

two together t o see i f you're okay, but i t looks l i k e i t ' s 

close. 

Q. That would be do-able, do you reckon? 

A. I t might be. I ' d sure l i k e t o put t h a t contour 

on the s t r u c t u r e map and make sure t h a t I'm, you know, 

measuring i t a p p r o p r i a t e l y . 

But i t looks l i k e — a c t u a l l y , i t looks l i k e i t 
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would be p r e t t y — you'd miss the deepest p a r t of the hole. 

I ' d be a l i t t l e b i t concerned. 

Q. Why would I miss i t ? Because i f I had a south-

h a l f development, couldn't I get r i g h t i n the middle of i t , 

almost? 

A. Well, i f I'm lo o k i n g a t what you're t r y i n g t o do 

on these two maps i t looks l i k e t o stay w i t h i n the 2 0-foot 

contour you're going t o be almost t o the green area i n the 

low. P r e t t y close. I t would be k i n d of r i g h t on t h a t dark 

l i n e . 

Q. Why would I need t o move over t h e r e t o the green? 

A. I'm j u s t t r y i n g t o stack the two anomalies. 

Since they're d i f f e r e n t scales, t h a t ' s a l i t t l e b i t hard 

t o . . . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. Any other questions of 

t h i s witness? 

MR. KELLAHIN: No, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: You may be excused. 

Let's take a ten-minute recess. 

(Thereupon, a recess was taken a t 6:40 p.m.) 

(The f o l l o w i n g proceedings had a t 6:55 p.m.) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: This hearing w i l l come t o 

order. 

Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: One more witness, Mr. Examiner, and 
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then w e ' l l q u i t . 

RAY PAYNE. 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Would you please s t a t e your name f o r the record? 

A. Ray Payne. 

Q. Where do you reside? 

A. Houston, Texas. 

Q. Who do you work f o r and i n what capacity? 

A. Ocean Energy, I'm a petroleum engineer 

s p e c i a l i z i n g i n r e s e r v o i r engineering. 

Q. Have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before the New 

Mexico O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n ? 

A. No, I have not. 

Q. Would you summarize your educational and 

employment background? 

A. I graduated from Texas A&M w i t h a BS i n petroleum 

engineering i n 1985 and subseguent t o t h a t worked f o r 

Marathon O i l Company i n south Texas and o f f s h o r e Louisiana 

and Texas f o r nine years, also east Texas and mid-continent 

r e g i o n ; l e f t t o work w i t h Sonat/El Paso f o r the next s i x 

and a h a l f years and working p r i m a r i l y mid-continent and 

east Texas; and r e c e n t l y came t o work w i t h Ocean Energy, 
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about a year ago i n June of 2 001, and working the Permian 

Basin and Rockies p r o p e r t i e s as a r e s e r v o i r engineer. 

Q. So your area of r e s p o n s i b i l i t y a t Ocean includes 

t h i s p a r t i c u l a r area of New Mexico? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Now, your involvement i n t h i s p a r t i c u l a r case i s 

f a i r l y new, i s i t not, Mr. Payne? 

A. Yes, I wasn't p r i v y t o a l l the h i s t o r y t h a t ' s 

been l a i d out here. 

Q. Okay. And were you present d u r i n g the second set 

or maybe the t h i r d set of testimony from TMBR/Sharp's 

pr e s i d e n t when he discussed the r e s e r v o i r p r o p e r t i e s i n the 

Blue Fin 24-1 well? 

A. Yes, I was. 

Q. And have you made c a l c u l a t i o n s regarding drainage 

from those numbers t h a t were given t o you? 

A. Yes, s i r , and — 

Q. And — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

MR. BRUCE: Yes, you have. Okay. 

With t h a t , Mr. Examiner, I would tender Mr. Payne 

as an expert r e s e r v o i r engineer. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objections? 

MR. KELLAHIN: No, s i r . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I've got a couple of 
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questions. 

When you were w i t h Marathon d i d you have any New 

Mexico pro p e r t y you oversaw? 

THE WITNESS: No. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: How about w i t h Sonat/El Paso? 

THE WITNESS: I was involved w i t h j u s t a smidgeon 

of New Mexico, but not much. Very l i t t l e . Not u n t i l I 

worked w i t h the c u r r e n t job a t Ocean Energy d i d I have 

s i g n i f i c a n t Permian Basin exposure i n New Mexico. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: What p a r t of New Mexico d i d 

Sonat/El Paso operate in? 

THE WITNESS: I t was Amazon D i t c h F i e l d s , as I 

r e c a l l . I t was a f i e l d review t h a t I went on, and q u i t e 

h o n e s t l y I don't remember a l o t of the d e t a i l s . I do 

remember the f i e l d name. Amazon D i t c h , yeah, t h a t ' s r i g h t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, so q u a l i f i e d . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Okay. Mr. Payne, can you t e l l 

the Examiner what you d i d w i t h the numbers t h a t were given 

by TMBR/Sharp, and could you look a t what i s TMBR/Sharp's 

E x h i b i t 18-D and discuss the drainage c a l c u l a t i o n s you made 

from those numbers and how they r e l a t e t o E x h i b i t 18-D? 

A. Yes, s i r , t h i s i s — You know, one of my jobs i s 

working w i t h the geophysicists and g e o l o g i s t s , t r y t o take 

the engineering data and r e c o n c i l e t h a t w i t h the geologic 

and geophysical data, t r y t o help tune i n how b i g these 
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r e s e r v o i r s are. And t h i s i s an a n a l y s i s t h a t I've been 

doing i n the area on other cases and have come t o the 

conclusion t h a t these r e s e r v o i r s are not i s o l a t e d t o the 

sink h o l e s , and t h a t ' s based on the reserve a n a l y s i s of the 

w e l l s , compared t o the volumetric a n a l y s i s of these holes. 

And I d i d a s i m i l a r a n a l y s i s based on data — I 

was not p r i v y t o a l o t of the Blue Fin 24-1 data, but based 

on the i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t Mr. P h i l l i p s provided i n e a r l i e r 

testimony, I t r i e d t o frame up what the p o s s i b l e reserve 

and acreage, drainage acreage p o t e n t i a l f o r the Blue Fin 

24-1 i s and t r i e d t o demonstrate t h a t these r e s e r v o i r s 

extend s i g n i f i c a n t l y outside the holes, the pods or bowls, 

however you want t o frame the accommodation area. 

Based on Mr. P h i l l i p s ' estimate t h a t he f e e l s 

l i k e the 24-1 has 5 BCF of reserves i n place, and assuming 

some of the o p t i m i s t i c parameters t h a t TMBR/Sharp t r i e d t o 

e x p l a i n , I t h i n k there was some u n c e r t a i n t y as t o what 

numbers they a c t u a l l y used i n t h e i r v o l u m e t r i c 

c a l c u l a t i o n s . 

But you know, t o k i n d of summarize those, a 

p o r o s i t y of 2 4 percent, water s a t u r a t i o n of 2 5 percent, a 

net t h i c k n e s s , based on a mudlog, of 3 2 f e e t , and a 

recovery f a c t o r of 80 percent. 

And assuming a bottomhole pressure of 6100, 6200 

pounds and 5 BCF of gas i n place, my best estimate of the 
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r e s e r v o i r s i z e i s 80 acres, which i s double the s i z e of the 

anomaly t h a t the Blue Fin 24-Number 1 — i s i n d i c a t e d on 

E x h i b i t 18-D where they note the r e s e r v o i r i s 36.5 acres i n 

s i z e . 

Now, i f you use more r e a l i s t i c parameters, 

being — the p o r o s i t y from Blue Fin, I t h i n k , i s d i f f i c u l t 

t o i n t e r p r e t w i t h a cased-hole neutron l o g . But i f you use 

p o r o s i t y logs i n the area, and they range 15 t o 20 percent, 

or 12 t o 2 0 percent, and then e f f e c t i v e p o r o s i t y , a f t e r you 

take out c l a y volumes and whatnot, I f e e l l i k e a reasonable 

estimate of p o r o s i t y i n the area i s 15 percent, you know, 

as a whole r e s e r v o i r . 

Water s a t u r a t i o n of 2 5 percent I agree w i t h . 

Average thickness over the e n t i r e anomaly of 2 0 f e e t I 

t h i n k i s aggressive but p o s s i b l e . And a recovery f a c t o r of 

75 percent makes b e t t e r sense. 

With 5 BCF i n place, t h a t gives you a s i z e of 219 

acres, which i s f a r i n excess of any one of these 

anomalies, these holes. 

Q. So on E x h i b i t 18-D you wouldn't agree t h a t f o r 

the Blue Fin 24 Number 1 t h a t the area being drained i s 

3 6.5 acres? 

A. I t does not seem p r a c t i c a l a t a l l . 

Q. Using those same r e a l i s t i c parameters f o r the 

Blue Fin 25-1 as i t i s on t h i s map, would you t h i n k i t ' s 55 
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acres or s u b s t a n t i a l l y l a r g e r than t h a t ? 

A. Yes, s i r , I t h i n k t h a t the p o t e n t i a l i s much 

l a r g e r than t h a t 55 acres. 

Q. So i t wouldn't be d r a i n i n g j u s t t he northwest 

q u a r t e r of Section 25? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. And assume they make a w e l l out of i t . Chances 

are, i t w i l l be d r a i n i n g the southwest q u a r t e r of Section 

25? 

A. The sand trends are c l e a r l y along t h i s 

accommodation area i n the northwest, and so yes — 

Q. Northwest-southeast trend? 

A. Yes, s i r . Yes. 

Q. Do you have anything f u r t h e r i n t h i s matter? 

A. Yeah, I would l i k e t o make some observations i n 

t h a t t he net-pay thickness on these r e s e r v o i r s does not 

n e c e s s a r i l y , i n my observations i n working t h i s area, do 

not n e c e s s a r i l y coincide w i t h the sinkholes. The holes, 

the bowls, provide an o p p o r t u n i t y w i t h a high degree of 

confidence i n the seismic data t o l o c a t e places where we 

f e e l t h a t there's sand present, but i t does not n e c e s s a r i l y 

mean t h a t the maximum thickness of the pay s e c t i o n i s 

w i t h i n those holes. 

Q. Okay, one f i n a l question. Did you have anything 

t o do w i t h the January, 2001, meeting between Mr. Mazzullo 
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and Ocean? 

A. No, s i r , I d i d not. 

Q. I n your op i n i o n , i s the g r a n t i n g of Ocean's 

A p p l i c a t i o n i n the i n t e r e s t of conservation and the 

pre v e n t i o n of waste? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I pass the witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Kel l a h i n ? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KELLAHIN: 

Q. Mr. Payne, i f we look back a t Mr. Mazzullo's 

E x h i b i t 18-D, by your c a l c u l a t i o n using these v a r i a b l e s , 

you say t h a t the bowl t h a t i s being d r i l l e d by the Blue Fin 

25 w e l l — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — i n your best judgment, based upon these 

assumptions, would be 219 acres? 

A. No, s i r , I was — 

Q. What was the number? 

A. I was r e f e r r i n g t o the p o t e n t i a l i n the Blue Fin 

24-1 — 

Q. Okay. 

A. — and t r y i n g t o r e l a t e t h a t as analogous t o the 

p o t e n t i a l i n the Blue Fin 25-1, based on — 

Q. I'm sor r y , I f o r g o t . So t e l l me how b i g an area 
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i s a f f e c t e d by the w e l l i n 24. 

A. Based on the performance and the data t h a t we 

have t o date on the Blue Fin 24-1, the most reasonable 

estimate of drainage i s 219 acres. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , 219 acres. I f we take those same 

assumptions and move them down t o 25 where the bowl i s 

being accessed by the Blue Fin 25 w e l l , then Mr. Mazzullo 

has underestimated the size of t h a t bowl when he says i t ' s 

only 54 acres, r i g h t ? I s t h a t the argument? 

A. No, s i r . I want t o make i t c l e a r t h a t t h i s i s 

not an isopach map. These bowls i n d i c a t e areas of 

p r e f e r e n t i a l d e p o s i t i o n of the pay sand. The thic k n e s s of 

the sand does not nec e s s a r i l y have t o co i n c i d e w i t h these 

bowls. The pay sand i s an o p p o r t u n i t y f o r us t o l o c a t e 

l o w - r i s k d r i l l i n g o p p o r t u n i t i e s , where we f e e l a h i g h 

degree of confidence t h a t the pay sand would be t h e r e . I t 

does not ne c e s s a r i l y represent the t h i c k e s t p a r t of the 

r e s e r v o i r . 

Q. Well, l e t me — 

A. V o l u m e t r i c a l l y , i t ' s — 

Q. — go back t o my question. 

A. — You're t r y i n g t o t i e the vo l u m e t r i c s of the 

r e s e r v o i r t o the si z e of the hole, and I'm saying t h a t 

t h a t ' s i n v a l i d . 

Q. What I'm t r y i n g t o say i s , you've made the 
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assumption t h a t there i s 5 BCF of — i s t h a t recoverable 

gas or gas i n place? 

A. That was gas i n place, and t h a t was what was 

t e s t i f i e d e a r l i e r by Mr. P h i l l i p s . 

Q. As t o what pod? 

A. As t o what they f e l t l i k e the recoverable gas i n 

place — where the gas-in-place f i g u r e s were on the Blue 

Fin 24-1 t h a t ' s c u r r e n t l y producing. 

Q. Well, i f h i s gas-in-place assumptions are r i g h t , 

then he's a f f e c t i n g , under your a n a l y s i s , 219 acres w i t h 

the 24 w e l l ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t , and t h a t 219 acres could extend 

n o r t h as w e l l as i t does south. 

Q. I f the Blue Fin 25 w e l l pod i s underestimated, i n 

order t o have the o p p o r t u n i t y t o produce t h i s volume of gas 

i n t h a t spacing u n i t , t h a t r e s e r v o i r w i l l s p i l l over i n t o 

the southwest quarter of 25, won't i t ? 

A. No, s i r , based on the i n f o r m a t i o n I'm g e t t i n g 

from the — Oh, the southwest q u a r t e r , yes, t h a t ' s c o r r e c t , 

I'm s o r r y . 

Q. What I'm t r y i n g t o do i s take your values — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — and analyze whether or not we can put gas i n 

place w i t h i n the 54 acres of the pod f o r the Blue F i n 25 

w e l l . Your o p i n i o n i s , i f t h a t ' s done i n a manner s i m i l a r 
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t o how you d i d the southwest quarter of 24, the co n t a i n e r 

i s t oo small? 

A. The reserves were estimated on the 24, based on 

the performance, and t h a t ' s j u s t based on the e v a l u a t i o n 

t h a t Mr. P h i l l i p s d i d . 

Q. A l l r i g h t , i f you use those values and move them 

t o t he w e l l i n 25 — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. -- what happens? 

A. You get the same drainage area. I t would be 219 

acres, but — 

Q. A l l r i g h t , t h a t ' s only — 

A. But we don't know what those values are. That 

l o c a t i o n has not been d r i l l e d y e t , so the s i z e of t h a t 

r e s e r v o i r has y e t t o be determined. 

Q. I'm t r y i n g t o make sense of what you're saying. 

I f I use the c a l c u l a t i o n f o r the 24 w e l l and make the 

infe r e n c e t h a t those values w i l l give me gas i n place and 

t h e r e f o r e recoverable gas f o r the Blue F i n 2 5 pod, or t h a t 

bowl, TMBR/Sharp has underestimated the s i z e of the bowl? 

A. No, s i r , the size of the bowl does not r e l a t e t o 

the s i z e of the r e s e r v o i r , i s what I'm saying. The bowl i s 

the accommodation area, i t i s not the sand. The sand l i e s 

w i t h i n t h i s accommodation area. 

Q. Now, your c a l c u l a t i o n i s going t o assume uniform 
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thickness? 

A. We make some judgment on the thickness of the 

r e s e r v o i r — 

Q. Well, i t ' s inherent i n the c a l c u l a t i o n ? 

A. Yes, a b s o l u t e l y . 

Q. And your assumption i s 2 0 f e e t of net thickness? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. So you're assuming a container of a c e r t a i n s i z e , 

u niform thickness and p r o p e r t i e s , t h a t has a sharp edge t o 

i t , t h a t contains a c e r t a i n area of gas? 

A. Yes, s i r , and I f e e l l i k e t h a t ' s probably an 

o p t i m i s t i c number, based on the f a c t t h a t the Blue F i n 

24-1 c u t by some estimates 24 f e e t of pay. The g e o l o g i s t 

t e s t i f i e d t o t h a t e a r l i e r . 

A. Well, i f we take Section 25 and have laydown 

spacing u n i t s , and you are re q u i r e d t o c o n s o l i d a t e the 

south h a l f and exercise t h i s o p p o r t u n i t y i n the southwest 

q u a r t e r , i f the Blue Fin Chester pod i s bigger than we have 

shown, you also have t h a t o p p o r t u n i t y t o share i n t h a t gas 

w i t h a second well? 

A. Well, as you're seeing the performance i n the 

Blue F i n 24-1, these sands can be of very good q u a l i t y , and 

the need f o r two w e l l s i n t h a t — th r e e — standup west-

h a l f u n i t may not be necessary. 

Q. What s i g n i f i c a n c e do you a t t a c h t o the pressure 
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data t h a t Mr. P h i l l i p s t e s t i f i e d to? 

A. Well, what you see — the w e l l i s making over 200 

b a r r e l s of condensate, and t h a t ' s a very important number. 

As the r e s e r v o i r pressure d e c l i n e s , or a c t u a l l y 

your f l o w i n g bottomhole pressure, you drop the f l o w i n g 

bottomhole pressure and you have f l u i d s t h a t drop out i n 

the r e s e r v o i r , the r e l a t i v e p e r m e a b i l i t y t o f l u i d s moving 

i n t he r e s e r v o i r d e c l i n e s , i t ' s smaller. 

So the de c l i n e i n t u b i n g pressure may or may not 

be d i r e c t l y r e l a t e d t o a d e p l e t i o n i n the r e s e r v o i r . 

Obviously, you take out 1 MCF out of a r e s e r v o i r , you're 

going t o have some d e p l e t i o n , pressure i s going t o d e c l i n e 

some. 

But the magnitude of the pressure d e c l i n e on a 

f l o w i n g t u b i n g pressure measurement may not be r e l a t e d t o a 

drainage, based on — i f you c a l c u l a t e the reserves i n 

place v o l u m e t r i c a l l y , u s i n g t h i s 36-1/2-acre number, you 

only come up w i t h 1 1/2 BCF i n place. I doubt t h a t 

TMBR/Sharp would be lo o k i n g t o develop these o p p o r t u n i t i e s 

a t 1 1/2 BCF. 

Q. Well, l e t me ask you t h i s . I f we do the 

c a l c u l a t i o n i n the manner you've suggested, t h e r e are 

methods t o v a l i d a t e the r e l i a b i l i t y of your end product, 

are t h e r e not? 

A. Yes, s i r . And — 
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Q. We would do i t w i t h the m a t e r i a l balance, you 

would do i t P/Z, the r e was a way t o judge the performance 

of the w e l l and u l t i m a t e l y determine the s i z e and the shape 

of the r e s e r v o i r ? 

A. Yes, s i r , t h a t ' s why I t r y t o bracket i n between 

t h i s 80 t o 219 acres. At t h i s p o i n t my reasonable range i s 

p r e t t y wide, but — 

Q. At t h i s p o i n t , w i t h the c u r r e n t l e v e l of data, 

wouldn't t h i s be s o r t of j u s t a guessology, i s i t not? 

A. I'm r e l y i n g g u i t e h e a v i l y on Mr. P h i l l i p s ' 

estimate of reserves i n place, and he's more p r i v y t o a l l 

the data than I am, so t h a t assumption i s , I f e e l l i k e , the 

best t h i n g I can work w i t h . 

And also w i t h the knowledge t h a t 5-, 10-, 15-BCF 

w e l l s i n t h i s t r e n d , i n the general area w i t h i n s i x t o 

e i g h t miles from our prospect, are not uncommon. So I 

t h i n k a 5-BCF estimate i s not an unreasonable number a t 

a l l , based on the performance of t h i s w e l l . 

MR. KELLAHIN: I wonder i f I might do t h i s , Mr. 

Examiner: Rather than prolong the d i s c u s s i o n , perhaps Mr. 

Payne can over the evening provide a c a l c u l a t i o n f o r us 

where he gives us the conventional v o l u m e t r i c p r e s e n t a t i o n , 

we get t o see h i s choice of parameter values, we get t o see 

the c a l c u l a t i o n and the end product? And i f we can do 

t h a t , I'm happy t o stop. 
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MR. BRUCE: That's f i n e w i t h me, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, so something i n the 

morning, we can have t h i s witness — r e c a l l him — 

MR. BRUCE: Just r e c a l l him very b r i e f l y and l e t 

Mr. K e l l a h i n ask a few questions. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: With t h a t , then — 

THE WITNESS: I f I could make one statement, i s 

t h a t my data i s predicated a l o t on data t h a t TMBR/Sharp 

provided today, and they may very w e l l have much c l e a r e r , 

much more exact data t h a t has not been presented t o us, 

so. . . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: But you're pre p a r i n g 

i n f o r m a t i o n i n which you have a t t h i s p o i n t — 

MR. KELLAHIN: Yes. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: — and t h a t ' s not 

unreasonable. And since everybody's agreed t o i t , I t h i n k 

w e ' l l c a l l i t a n i g h t . 

However, before I go o f f the record f o r t o n i g h t I 

have asked you a couple of times, Mr. K e l l a h i n , about the 

overhead charges. And f o r the record, I ' d l i k e t o a t l e a s t 

have those on the t r a n s c r i p t . 

MR. KELLAHIN: We can do i t i n several ways. One 

i s , E x h i b i t 6 already has been introduced. I t ' s the j o i n t 

o p e r a t i n g agreement, and i t shows $5000 d r i l l i n g and $500 

producing w e l l r a t e s , and t h a t would be our request, and I 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

318 

can c a l l one of these witnesses t o say t h a t i f you l i k e . 

I t ' s already i n the record. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Do you see any reason t o a t 

t h i s p o i n t ? 

MR. HALL: We'll s t i p u l a t e t o t h a t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay. Let's make i t p a r t of 

the r e c o rd, so w e ' l l take i t a t t h a t . 

MR. KELLAHIN: A l l r i g h t , thank you. 

MS. RICHARDSON: I t ' s on page 4 of the COPAS 

accounting procedure attached as E x h i b i t "A" t o the 

Operating Agreement, which i s E x h i b i t 6. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: The record w i l l so r e f l e c t . 

With t h a t , we're adjourned u n t i l 8:15 i n t h e 

morning. 

(Evening recess taken a t 7:15 p.m.) 

* * * 
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